WD85800

Index of Attachments to Notice of Appeal

	Title	Issue Date
A	Order Denying Applications for Rehearing	October 12, 2022
В	Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or	September 30, 2022
	Application for Rehearing	
С	Amended Report And Order	September 22, 2022
D	Notice of Errata to Motion for Reconsideration or	August 31, 2022
	Clarification and/or Application for Rehearing	
Е	Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or	August 27, 2022
	Application for Rehearing	
F	Report and Order	August 18, 2022

Attachment A

STATE OF MISSOURI PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

At a session of the Public Service Commission held at its office in Jefferson City on the 12th day of October, 2022.

In the Matter of the Petition of The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for Qualified Extraordinary Costs))))	File No. EO-2022-0040
In the Matter of the Petition of The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for Energy Transition Costs Related to the Asbury Plant))))	File No. EO-2022-0193

ORDER DENYING APPLICATIONS FOR REHEARING

Issue Date: October 12, 2022 Effective Date: October 12, 2022

On September 22, 2022, the Commission issued an amended report and order regarding Liberty's request for a financing order that authorizes the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds. That amended report and order became effective on October 2, 2022. The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty, Evergy Metro, Inc. d/b/a Evergy Missouri Metro and Evergy Missouri West, Inc. d/b/a Evergy Missouri West, and the Office of the Public Counsel filed timely applications for rehearing.

Section 386.500.1, RSMo (2016), indicates the Commission shall grant an application for rehearing if "in its judgment sufficient reason therefor be made to appear." In the judgment of the Commission, the applicants have not shown sufficient reason to rehear the amended report and order. The Commission will deny the applications for rehearing.

THE COMMISSION ORDERS THAT:

- 1. The Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or Application for Rehearing of The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty is denied.
- 2. Evergy Missouri Metro and Evergy Missouri West's Application for Rehearing is denied.
 - 3. Public Counsel's Second Application for Rehearing is denied.
 - 4. This order shall be effective when issued.



BY THE COMMISSION

Morris L. Woodruff Secretary

Silvey, Chm., Rupp, Coleman, Holsman, and Kolkmeyer CC., concur.

Woodruff, Chief Regulatory Law Judge

STATE OF MISSOURI

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

I have compared the preceding copy with the original on file in this office and I do hereby certify the same to be a true copy therefrom and the whole thereof.

WITNESS my hand and seal of the Public Service Commission, at Jefferson City, Missouri, this 12th day of October, 2022.

SION OF THE OF T

Morris L. Woodruff Secretary

MISSOURI PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION October 12, 2022

File/Case No. EO-2022-0040 and EO-2022-0193

Missouri Public Service Commission

Staff Counsel Department 200 Madison Street, Suite 800 P.O. Box 360 Jefferson City, MO 65102 staffcounselservice@psc.mo.gov

Office of the Public Counsel

Marc Poston 200 Madison Street, Suite 650 P.O. Box 2230 Jefferson City, MO 65102 opcservice@opc.mo.gov

Liberty (Empire)

Diana C Carter 428 E. Capitol Avenue, Suite 303 Jefferson City, MO 65101 Diana.Carter@LibertyUtilities.com

Liberty (Empire)

Dean L Cooper 312 East Capitol P.O. Box 456 Jefferson City, MO 65102 dcooper@brydonlaw.com

Liberty (Empire)

Sarah Knowlton 116 North Main Street Concord, NH 03301 sarah.knowlton@libertyutilities.com

Midwest Energy Consumers Group

Tim Opitz 308 E. High Street, Suite B101 Jefferson City, MO 65101 tim.opitz@opitzlawfirm.com

Midwest Energy Consumers Group Missouri Public Service

David Woodsmall 1650 Des Peres Road, Suite 303 Des Peres, MO 63131 dwoodsmall@cswrgroup.com

Commission

Curtis Stokes 200 Madison Street, Suite 800 P.O. Box 360 Jefferson City, MO 65102 curtis.stokes@psc.mo.gov

Renew Missouri

Alissa Greenwald P.O. Box 413071 Kansas City, MO 64141 alissa@renewmo.org

Renew Missouri

Andrew J Linhares 3115 S. Grand Ave Suite 600 St. Louis, MO 63118 Andrew@renewmo.org

Enclosed find a certified copy of an Order or Notice issued in the above-referenced matter(s).

Sincerely,

Morris L. Woodruff Secretary

Recipients listed above with a valid e-mail address will receive electronic service. Recipients without a valid e-mail address will receive paper service.

Attachment B

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI

In the Matter of the Petition of The Empire District)	
Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a)	
Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of)	Case No. EO-2022-0040
Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for)	
Qualified Extraordinary Costs)	
In the Matter of the Petition of The Empire District)	
Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a)	
Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of)	Case No. EO-2022-0193
Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for Energy)	
Transition Costs Related to the Asbury Plant)	

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OR CLARIFICATION AND/OR APPLICATION FOR REHEARING

COMES NOW The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty ("Liberty" or "Company") and, pursuant to RSMo. §386.500, submits its Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or Application for Rehearing concerning the *Amended Report and Order* issued by the Missouri Public Service Commission ("Commission") in the above-captioned matter on September 22, 2022.

The Commission previously issued a *Report and Order* in this matter on August 18, 2022. On August 27, 2022, Liberty filed a Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or Application for Rehearing. Because Liberty understands the Commission's prior *Report and Order* to be superseded by its September 22, 2022 *Amended Report and Order*, Liberty submits this new Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or Application for Rehearing reiterating arguments from its earlier August 27, 2022 Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or Application for Rehearing.

The Amended Report and Order (the "Order") is unlawful, unreasonable, unjust, arbitrary, and an abuse of discretion for one or more or all of the reasons hereinafter set forth. For the reasons

stated in the following paragraphs, the decision of the Commission should be reconsidered or reheard, and the Order should be amended or superseded to address and correct the matters of error raised by the Company.

The Commission's careful consideration of this rehearing application is especially important given that the Order is the first time that the Commission has applied the securitization statute that the Missouri legislature enacted in 2021. See RSMo. §393.1700. What the Commission does here not only has a serious effect on Liberty and its customers but also sets a precedent for how the Commission will implement §393.1700 and what costs other Missouri utilities will be allowed to securitize. Liberty has identified a number of errors—including an objective error as to the "ADIT offset," Order, p. 52—in the Commission's approach to the new statute, which in total result in an improper reduction of the amount to be securitized here of more than \$72 million. If the Commission permits those errors to stand, then the incentive for Liberty to issue securitized bonds, which has very significant advantages for customers, is greatly reduced. See RSMo. §393.1700.3(5) (permitting a utility to choose to "abandon[] the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds under the financing order"). And the incentive for other utilities to seek authorization to proceed under the securitization statute is likewise greatly reduced. That seriously increases the risk that the benefits that the legislature intended to confer on customers (and others) through enactment of the securitization statute will be lost.

I. The Commission's Calculation of the ADIT Offset Amount is Contrary to Law and is Unreasonable

The Order addresses accumulated deferred income taxes ("ADIT") only briefly and conclusorily. The Order adopts the calculation of Staff's witness, which results in a "net present value of Liberty's ADIT offset of \$17,134,363." Order, p. 52 (Finding of Fact 107); see id. at 54. And the Order agrees with that witness that "Liberty's calculation of the net present value of its

ADIT offset effectively and inappropriately discounted the ADIT twice by discounting the yearly amounts related to the remaining balance of ADIT, and then discounting the sum of the yearly amounts again." Order, pp. 52-53. The Order recognizes that the exact amount of the ADIT offset will vary depending on the Commission's resolution of other issues affecting the starting point of the Asbury Energy Transition Cost Balance, the bond interest rate, and other inputs. Order, pp. 52-53 (Findings of Fact 106, 110). By adopting the Staff calculation methodology, however, the Order deprives Liberty of the ability to securitize a substantial portion of energy transition costs that the Commission agrees are otherwise fully appropriate for securitization under §393.1700—approximately \$14.1 million, by the Company's estimation.

The excessive ADIT offset the Order adopts reflects taxes that the Company will owe, and that customers have previously funded in rates, but that the Order effectively gives back to customers. The Order deprives the Company of the source of revenue for paying taxes that will be owed as customers pay principal on the securitized bonds.

That outcome is objectively wrong. The securitization statute does not shift the obligation to fund the payment of taxes as a cost of electric service from customers to the Company. But by deducting the full amount of Liberty's ADIT balance (discounted to present value), rather than deducting the *tax benefits* associated with that balance (discounted to present value), the Order does just that, contrary to the clear language of the securitization statute. That statute permits deduction only of the present value of the tax benefits associated with ADIT, namely, the deferral of the obligation to pay taxes. The statute provides step-by-step instructions for arriving at that value, which reflects the time value of that deferral, measured by the interest rate on the bonds. Staff's erroneous calculation plainly deviates from that statutory directive. The Order also reaches

an unreasonable, unjust, and arbitrary result that amounts to an abuse of the Commission's discretion and will have seriously harmful consequences.

A. Statutory Violation

The flaw in the Order's treatment of ADIT is made manifest by the end result. Absent securitization, the amounts the Company has collected in rates, reflected in the ADIT balance, would be available as a source of funds to pay taxes. In contrast, the Order takes that ADIT balance away, meaning the Company would not recover its tax expense in full. That difference is due to the Order's erroneous decision to offset from the securitization principal the full amount of the ADIT balance, discounted to present value. In effect, that decision returns to customers the full amount of taxes that the Company will pay in the future.

The securitization statute directs the Commission to reduce the amount of energy transition costs to be securitized "by applicable *tax benefits* of accumulated . . . deferred income taxes." RSMo. §393.1700.1(7)(a) (emphasis added); *see* RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(m) (stating that ADIT "shall be excluded from rate base in future general rate cases and the *net tax benefits* relating to amounts that will be recovered through the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds shall be credited to retail customers by reducing the amount of such securitized utility tariff bonds that would otherwise be issued") (emphasis added).

There is no question that the "tax benefits" associated with the ADIT balance are distinct from, and less than, the accumulated amount of that balance. ADIT arises because of a timing

¹ In an effort to explain how ADIT works as fully and straightforwardly as possible, the Company respectfully submits along with this rehearing request an affidavit from Bradley M. Seltzer, a tax attorney and former Global and U.S. Tax Leader for Energy and Natural Resources at Deloitte who is a recognized expert in how ADIT works. *See* **Exhibit A** (Seltzer affidavit). Even an otherwise highly qualified accountant likely would not have occasion to fully master ADIT-related issues, but Mr. Seltzer has done so. In submitting the affidavit, the Company does not in any way suggest that the nature of the Commission's error with respect to the ADIT offset is not

difference between when the Company collects revenue necessary to cover tax costs and when the Company uses that revenue to pay taxes. ADIT balances occur if, for a period of time after an asset goes into service, the depreciation or amortization expense for determining the revenue requirement for customers is smaller than the corresponding depreciation or amortization expense used for calculating taxable income. The result is that customers pay more to the Company during that period for the Company to use in paying taxes than the Company actually pays in taxes, and an ADIT balance accumulates. *See Missouri-Am. Water Co. v. Missouri Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 602 S.W.3d 252, 255 (Mo. Ct. App. 2020) (ADIT represents the "difference between what is being paid by customers attributable to [the utility's] tax liability, and the amount actually being paid by [the utility] for taxes given the effect of accelerated depreciation").

But an ADIT balance with respect to a given asset is always temporary, and it always reflects an amount that the Company still will owe in taxes in the future. Over time, such an ADIT balance unwinds as the depreciation or amortization expense used for determining the revenue requirement for customers exceeds the depreciation or amortization expense used for calculating taxable income. When ratemaking depreciation/amortization expense exceeds tax depreciation/amortization expense, the Company collects less revenue than it needs to pay its taxes, which reduces the ADIT balance; eventually, the asset is fully depreciated or amortized. At that point, the total amount of revenue collected from customers to pay tax equals the total amount of taxes paid by the Company, and the ADIT balance declines to zero. See, e.g., State ex rel. Util.

already apparent from the securitization statute's language, the ADIT-related material in the existing record, and past decisions of Missouri courts and of this Commission discussing ADIT. Rather, the Company submits the affidavit to further aid the Commission's understanding of the nature of the error here and to underscore the importance of this issue to the Company and to all Missouri utilities.

Consumers Council of Missouri, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 606 S.W.2d 222, 224 (Mo. Ct. App. 1980) ("UCC").

For the period that it exists, an ADIT balance is, in effect, a "cost-free addition to capital," *UCC*, 606 S.W.2d at 224, because the Company can access the funds at no cost until such point as they are paid in taxes. The net benefit of ADIT is the time value of money—the ability to hold funds that a utility has collected in rates for purposes of paying a tax before the tax is due.

In traditional ratemaking, a utility gives customers the benefits of the ADIT balance by crediting them with an amount equal to the authorized rate of return multiplied by the ADIT balance. See Order, p. 34 (Finding of Fact 54) ("Customers do not receive the recorded amount of the ADIT liability, instead, they benefit because ADIT liability reduces rate base and customers are charged a lower revenue requirement reflecting the lower cost of capital" (emphasis added)); UCC, 606 S.W.2d at 224 ("The [ADIT] reserve therefore inures to the benefit of the ratepayers in that the rates do not reflect any cost for the use of the money."); see also State ex rel. KCP & L Greater Missouri Operations Co. v. Missouri Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 408 S.W.3d 153, 166 (Mo. Ct. App. 2013) (same). In this way, the benefit of holding ADIT is passed onto customers. Table 1 below shows how this ratemaking adjustment is implemented. The table uses, as an illustration, the \$93.6 million investment balance and \$22.3 million ADIT balance used by Staff recovered over 13 years:²

² The Company disagrees with the investment and ADIT balances used by Staff. As noted, the actual amount of the investment and ADIT balances will depend on the Commission's resolution of other issues raised in this application. The total tax benefit shown in Table 1 is nominal (not present valued). As discussed below, the securitization statute requires the Commission to use the present value of the ADIT tax benefits as an offset.

			Table 1			
		Tax Benefit of A	DIT - Tradition	nal Ratemaking		
	Investment	Revenue	Тах		Authorized	Tax
Year	Balance	(taxable income)	Liability	ADIT Balance	Return	Benefit
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	(G) = (E)*(F)
0	93,567,922			(22,306,686)		
1	86,370,390	7,197,532	1,715,899	(20,590,787)	6.77%	(1,393,996)
2	79,172,857	7,197,532	1,715,899	(18,874,888)	6.77%	(1,277,830)
13	(0)	7,197,532	1,715,899	=	6.77%	=
Total		93,567,922	22,306,686			(9,060,976)

In the securitization context, the benefits of ADIT are measured in an analogous way. The Company must record as taxable income the principal payments on the bonds received from customers. *See* Order, p. 34 (Finding of Fact 53); Ex. 103, Bolin Surreb., p. 5, lines 2-9; IRS Revenue Procedure 2005-62. As the Company incurs a tax liability on that income, the ADIT balance is unwound. Once the bonds are fully repaid, the ADIT balance reduces to zero. The benefit of the ADIT balance is the utility's possession of the cash previously collected in rates to cover the cost of taxes before the Company incurs those tax liabilities.

The securitization statute makes clear that customers will be credited with the benefit of ADIT in the same way as under traditional ratemaking—by multiplying the ADIT balance by the applicable financing cost, which is the bond interest rate instead of the authorized rate of return. Table 2 below shows how this operates, using the same \$93.6 million investment balance and \$22.3 million ADIT balance recovered over 13 years:

			Table 2						
	Tax Benefit of ADIT - Securitization								
	Investment	Revenue	Тах		Authorized	Тах			
Year	Balance	(taxable income)	Liability	ADIT Balance	Return	Benefit			
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	(G) = (E)*(F)			
0	93,567,922			(22,306,686)					
1	86,370,390	7,197,532	1,715,899	(20,590,787)	2.47%	(508,592)			
2	79,172,857	7,197,532	1,715,899	(18,874,888)	2.47%	(466,210)			
13	(0)	7,197,532	1,715,899	-	2.47%	-			
Total		93,567,922	22,306,686			(3,305,851)			

The securitization statute requires one further step to implement the ratemaking adjustment. Instead of providing that benefit as an ongoing credit on customer bills equal to the ADIT balance times the bond interest rate (which would be the precise analog to traditional ratemaking), the securitization statute gives customers that benefit up front by reducing the securitization amount by the present value of that stream of future benefits. *See* RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)m ("the net *tax benefits*" of ADIT "relating to amounts that will be recovered through the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds shall be credited to retail customers by reducing the amount of such securitized utility tariff bonds that would otherwise be issued") (emphasis added). That is illustrated in Table 3 below, which is the same as Table 2 except for the addition of a final column showing the net present value calculation.

			Та	ble 3				
	Tax Benefit of ADIT - Securitization - with NPV							
	Investment	Revenue	Tax		Authorized	Tax		
Year	Balance	(taxable income)	Liability	ADIT Balance	Return	Benefit	NPV	
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	(G) = (E)*(F)	(H)	
0	93,567,922			(22,306,686)				
1	86,370,390	7,197,532	1,715,899	(20,590,787)	2.47%	(508,592)	(496,333)	
2	79,172,857	7,197,532	1,715,899	(18,874,888)	2.47%	(466,210)	(444,005)	
13	(0)	7,197,532	1,715,899	-	2.47%	-	0	
Total		93,567,922	22,306,686			(3,305,851)	(2,957,485)	

The securitization statute contains detailed, step-by-step instructions for implementing that ratemaking adjustment. Specifically, the statute states that the net present value of the tax benefits

that reduces the securitization amount is to be "calculated using [1] a discount rate equal to the expected interest rate of the securitized utility tariff bonds, for the estimated accumulated and excess deferred income taxes at the time of securitization including [2] timing differences created by the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds amortized over the period of the bonds [3] multiplied by the expected interest rate on such securitized utility tariff bonds." RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)m.

That statutory language directs the calculation to proceed through the following steps:

- 1. Use a "discount rate equal to the expected interest rate of the securitized utility tariff bonds." RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)m. That means that the ADIT balance in a particular year must be multiplied by the bond interest rate, yielding an amount representing the tax benefits *for that year*. In traditional ratemaking, the multiplier instead would be the allowed rate of return.
- 2. Consider "timing differences created by the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds amortized over the period of the bonds." RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)m. That means that the ADIT balance is unwound over the period the bonds are amortized, because that is the period over which the utility incurs tax liability. The statute recognizes that this time period may be different from the time period that would be relevant in traditional ratemaking. An ADIT balance is unwound in traditional ratemaking over the period the asset is depreciated or amortized, which could be different from the period the bonds are amortized. For each of the 13 years the bonds will be outstanding, the ADIT benefit is the remaining ADIT balance times the bond interest rate (see step 1).
- 3. Determine, and credit customers with, the "present value" of ADIT benefits, which represents the ADIT offset. RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)). The amount equals the sum of the ADIT benefits for each of the 13 years the bonds will be outstanding (steps 1 and 2), discounted to present value determined by applying "the expected interest rate on such securitized utility tariff bonds." *Id*.

Table 4 shows this three-step procedure. The table is identical to the previous table, except that it labels each of the three steps:

			Tal	ole 4			
		Tax Ben	efit of ADIT - S	ecuritization - with NP	V		
					Step 1		
	Investment	Revenue	Tax		Authorized	Tax	
Year	Balance	(taxable income)	Liability	ADIT Balance	Return	Benefit	NPV
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	(G) = (E)*(F)	(H)
0	93,567,922			(22,306,686)			
1	86,370,390	7,197,532	1,715,899	(20,590,787)	2.47%	(508,592)	(496,333)
2	79,172,857	7,197,532	1,715,899	(18,874,888)	2.47%	(466,210)	(444,005)
13	(0)	7,197,532	1,715,899	-	2.47%	-	0
Total		93,567,922	22,306,686			(3,305,851)	(2,957,485)
					Step 2		Step 3

Staff's calculation, as adopted by the Commission, entirely *skips* the critical statutory steps of calculating the *tax benefits* of the ADIT balance (steps 1 and 2). Instead, as shown in Table 5, Staff's calculation simply takes the full amount of the ADIT balance, which is not equivalent to the tax benefits of that balance, and discounts the full amount to present value using the interest rate of the securitized bonds (step 3). *See*, *e.g.*, Tr. Vol. 3, p. 241 (Bolin); Tr. Vol. 2, p. 59 (Staff counsel describing Staff's calculation). That is why the amount that Staff's calculation yields is far too large, producing a result that is unfair to the Company and irreconcilable with the statute.

			Table 5					
Staff Position								
					Step 1 (OMITTI	D)		
	Investment	Revenue	Tax		Authorized	Тах		
Year	Balance	(taxable income)	Liability	ADIT Balance	Return	Benefit	NPV	
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	(G) = (E)*(F)	(H)	
0	93,567,922							
1	86,370,390	7,197,532	1,715,899				1,649,903	
2	79,172,857	7,197,532	1,715,899				1,586,445	
13	(0)	7,197,532	1,715,899				1,030,524	
otal		93,567,922	22,306,686				17,134,363	
				Step 2 (OMITTED)			Step 3	

With that understanding of ADIT in mind, it is clear that Staff's witness's criticism of the Company's calculation, which faults the Company for supposedly "discount[ing] the ADIT twice by discounting the yearly amounts related to the remaining balance of ADIT, and then discounting

the sum of the yearly amounts again," Order, pp. 52-53, is objectively incorrect. The Company's calculation does *exactly what the statute provides*: it first determines the tax benefits of the ADIT balance and then discounts those benefits to present value. *See* Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., pp. 14-15.

As shown in Tables 1 and 2, steps 1 and 2 track the traditional ratemaking approach. Multiplying the ADIT balance by the bond interest rate for each of the thirteen years the bonds will be outstanding determines the amount of revenue to be credited to customers for each year to reflect the tax benefits of the ADIT balance—precisely the same as crediting customers the ADIT balance times the authorized rate of return in conventional ratemaking. The only difference between steps 1 and 2 and traditional ratemaking is that the bond interest rate is used instead of the authorized rate of return. As shown in Table 3, step 3 is needed to translate that stream of future credits into a present value that reduces the securitization amount. In other words, step 3 determines the present value of the total tax benefits by using the bond interest rate to discount back to present value each of the thirteen annual amounts of the tax benefits of the ADIT balance. The total present value is the "ADIT offset." Order, p. 52; see RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)m.

The Company's methodology does not discount the ADIT balance twice, as the Order finds. Order, pp. 52-53. Steps 1 and 2 use the bond interest rate to quantify the ADIT benefit; Step 3 uses the bond interest rate to discount that benefit to present value. Step 3 is the first and only time discounting takes place. Using the same interest rate for two different purposes does not constitute discounting twice.

The proper calculation of the "ADIT offset," Order, p. 52, is not a matter for the Commission's discretion; it is a matter of statutory command, combined with basic mathematics. And in accepting Staff's erroneous calculation, the Commission has committed an indisputable error. Notably, the Commission did not purport to interpret the securitization statute to require the

return to customers of the *full amount* of the ADIT balance (discounted to present value)—nor could the Commission have done so, because the plain language of the statute does not allow for any such interpretation. *See*, *e.g.*, *Truman Med. Ctr.*, *Inc. v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.*, 597 S.W.3d 362, 367 (Mo. App. W.D. 2020) (the "primary rule of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the legislative intent as reflected in the plain language of the statute at issue"). The Commission's error therefore reflects a grave misapplication of the securitization statute, as well as a fundamental misunderstanding what an ADIT balance is and what role it plays in the Company's finances.

The result of the error is that the Order permits the Company to securitize far less than the amount of its otherwise-approved Asbury-related energy transition costs. And that means that the Company is effectively being forced to return to customers amounts that customers have paid for taxes that the Company will *continue to owe in taxes*. *See, e.g.*, Tr. Vol. 3, p. 232 (Bolin agreeing that "those taxes will eventually be paid"). That outcome is far worse for the Company than the outcome under conventional ratemaking, in which the utility recovers from customers the full amount of its tax liabilities.

The securitization statute is not written to require that absurd result—and there is no possible way to interpret it to provide for such an absurdity. To the contrary, statutory interpretations that yield such absurd results are not permissible. *See, e.g., Townsend v. Jefferson Cnty. Sheriff's Dep't*, 602 S.W.3d 262, 265 (Mo. Ct. App. 2020), *reh'g and/or transfer denied* (June 18, 2020).

B. Unreasonableness

In addition to violating the statute, the Commission's treatment of the ADIT offset is unreasonable, unjust, arbitrary, and an abuse of discretion, for a number of reasons.

First, the Commission purports to be crediting customers with "net tax benefits relating to amounts that will be recovered through the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds," RSMo.

§393.1700.2(3)(c)m, while evincing no recognition that the Order fails to do so. Instead, as explained above, the Order credits customers with the full amount in the ADIT balance (discounted to present value)—that is, the full amount collected by the Company in order to make tax payments—and that amount does not represent "net tax benefits." The Commission's order therefore makes an arbitrary, unreasonable, and unjust mistake about how to perform a tax-benefit calculation. *Cf.*, *e.g.*, *Spire Missouri*, *Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 618 S.W.3d 225, 236 (Mo. 2021); *State ex rel. Missouri Power & Light Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of State of Mo.*, 669 S.W.2d 941, 945 (Mo. Ct. App. 1984).

Second, the Commission's conclusion is not supported by the evidence in the record and the Commission's explanation of that conclusion is not adequate. *See State ex rel. Monsanto Co. v. PSC*, 716 S.W.2d 791, 795 (Mo. banc 1986) ("Findings of fact that are completely conclusory, providing no insights into how controlling issues were resolved are inadequate."). In assessing whether there is sufficient evidence in the record to support a conclusion, the question is not simply whether there is *any* evidence in the record that points in the direction of the Commission's result. Rather, the question is whether there is "competent and substantial evidence upon the *whole* record." *State ex rel. Pub. Couns. v. Missouri Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 289 S.W.3d 240, 251 (Mo. Ct. App. 2009); *see also, e.g., Spire*, 618 S.W.3d at 236 ("Viewed in isolation, there was evidence to support the PSC's decision in this respect, but this Court's review does not use this approach. . . . Instead, the PSC's decision must be supported by competent and substantial evidence on the whole record, including the evidence the PSC rejected.").

Here, the testimony of Staff witness Bolin, on which the Commission relied (without explaining her testimony in the body of the Order itself), is not sufficient to sustain the Commission's result in light of the whole record. Notably, witness Bolin's testimony on the

Company's supposed ADIT double-discounting—which is the sole basis provided in the Order for deciding that the Company's ADIT offset calculation is incorrect—is entirely conclusory. Bolin's testimony mechanically states that Liberty multiplied by the securitization yield at two different points in the offset calculation, but does not even attempt to explain why doing so is inconsistent with what the statute requires or is otherwise improper as a matter of regulatory policy. *See* Ex. 102, Bolin Reb., p. 11, lines 10-14, *cited in* Order, p. 53 n.139; Tr. Vol. 3, p. 246 (Bolin); *see also id.* at p. 230 (Bolin describes herself as "*somewhat* of a tax authority" because she has "worked tax issues . . . on other rate cases") (emphasis added); *id.* at p. 234 (Bolin states that she is "*somewhat* familiar" with tax normalization rules) (emphasis added).

In contrast, witness Emery's testimony clearly and cogently explains why Bolin's accusation of double-discounting is just wrong in light of the statutory requirement that only the tax benefits of ADIT be deducted from the amount to be securitized. See Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., pp. 14-15. As witness Emery stated, "[i]t appears that Ms. Bolin believes that Liberty is discounting ADIT twice because the Company removed the ADIT applicable to securitization and multiplied it by the securitization yield and then adjusted it again to obtain the [net present value]. However, this approach is correct, because it reflects the anticipated cash in-flows associated with the benefits of ADIT. This aligns with the approach taken in calculating an annual revenue requirement where Liberty customers receive the benefit of the requested rate of return and not the full amount of the ADIT, which is the amount paid to the IRS." Id. (emphasis added). The Commission failed entirely to grapple with witness Emery's explanation or to provide any reasoning for why that explanation is wrong. Indeed, given the objectively incorrect nature of witness Bolin's critique, no reasoned basis for rejecting witness Emery's explanation exists.

Third, the Commission's decision punishes the Company by forcing it to effectively return to customers amounts that it has collected from customers to pay a tax bill that the Company will continue to owe. The Company estimates that the amount at issue is nearly \$14.1 million—the difference between the Company's correct calculation of the ADIT offset and the Commission's erroneous conclusion that the ADIT offset is \$17,134,363 (representing an amount equal to the entire ADIT balance discounted to present value)—though the precise amount will be a function of the Commission's resolution of other issues and the bond interest rate. Applying the Commission's enormous offset number to prevent the Company from securitizing nearly \$14.1 million in energy transition costs that the Commission has otherwise found fully recoverable and securitizable is a severe, arbitrary, and unjust penalty. And it is likewise arbitrary and unjust to force the Company to return to customers the full amount of the ADIT balance, even though the Company will later owe that amount in taxes—which is exactly why the amount was collected from customers in the first place. In particular, the Commission's mistake arbitrarily and unjustly penalizes the Company for seeking recovery of its costs under the securitization statute rather than under some other authority, even though nothing about securitization itself or the statute authorizing securitization here warrants that result.

Finally, the consequences of the Commission's error on the ADIT offset are severe for utilities in Missouri more generally. As noted above, this is the first Commission decision about ADIT under the new securitization statute, which the legislature enacted in 2021 as a way to allow utilities to recover costs in a manner that is less expensive and burdensome for customers than traditional ratemaking approaches. If the Commission does not rehear the Order and correct the error, then the Order will create serious disincentives for *all* utilities—each of which carries an ADIT balance for a particular asset for a period of time after that asset goes into service—to use

the securitization statute with respect to qualified costs. That will, in turn, deprive customers of the benefits that the legislature intended the securitization statute to confer on the public.

The Company urges the Commission to reconsider, clarify, and/or rehear the Order as it relates to the ADIT offset and to order that the offset should be calculated pursuant to the methodology recommended by the Company, consistent with the securitization statute.

II. The Order's Application of Liberty's 95/5 Fuel Adjustment Clause to Fuel and Purchased Power Costs from Winter Storm Uri is Arbitrary and Contrary to the Terms of the Securitization Statute

The Order addresses sub-issues 2.A-D as a single topic and limits Liberty's recovery, through securitization, of fuel and power purchase costs from Winter Storm Uri to only 95% of Liberty's incurred costs. The Order does not find that any of those costs were imprudent; on the contrary, it states that "prudence is not relevant" to the recovery of these costs. Order, p. 22. In other words, the Order reasons that 5% of these costs should be disallowed even assuming that 100% of the costs were prudently incurred.

The Commission reached that result by applying to the securitization process what it deemed the 95/5 "sharing mechanism" or "sharing provision" that applies under the Fuel Adjustment Clause ("FAC") from Liberty's tariff. And the Commission based its decision to apply the 95/5 mechanism here on two theories: (1) that Liberty should not be permitted to recover more than it would through "traditional methods of rate making," which the Commission asserts would exclude 5% under the FAC, and (2) that disallowing Liberty's recovery of 5% of its fuel and purchased power costs is "just and reasonable." Order, pp. 21-22.

The Commission's decision deprives the Company of the ability to securitize \$9,670,110 in costs. That decision is legally erroneous as well as unreasonable, unjust, and arbitrary. The decision rests on a misapplication of the principles underlying the FAC and a misreading of the

securitization statute. The decision ultimately results in an arbitrary and systematic denial of costs prudently incurred for the benefit of ratepayers.

A. In the Securitization Context, the 95/5 "Sharing Provision" Results in an Arbitrary Denial of Costs

It is a fundamental principle of public utilities law that "a public utility is entitled to recover from ratepayers all its costs (plus a reasonable return on its investments)," usually through ratemaking. *Spire Missouri*, 618 S.W.3d at 232. A utility is not legally entitled to recover imprudently incurred costs. But the utility must be given a reasonable opportunity to recover in full costs that were prudently incurred in order to provide service to customers. *See, e.g., State ex rel. Associated Nat. Gas Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of Missouri*, 706 S.W.2d 870, 873 (Mo. Ct. App. 1985) (noting "the ratemaking function must provide sufficient income to cover the utility's operating expenses and debt service"); *see also, e.g., Fed. Power Comm'n v. Hope Nat. Gas Co.*, 320 U.S. 591, 603 (1944) (recognizing that it is important "that there be enough revenue not only for operating expenses but also for the capital costs of the business").

Under ordinary circumstances, the 95/5 mechanism contained within Liberty's FAC, which is derived from language found in RSMo. §386.266.1 permitting "incentives to improve the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of [a utility's] fuel and purchased-power procurement activities," preserves the Company's ability to recover in full its fuel and purchased power costs. The FAC functions to reconcile differences between estimated and actual fuel costs. Rates are initially calculated using a base cost, which is a forecast of future fuel and purchased power costs. The base costs then are adjusted up or down twice yearly based on the difference between the base fuel costs and actually incurred fuel costs. *See* File No. ER-2019-0374 (*Amended Report and Order*, issued July 23, 2020), p. 60. Because actual costs may be higher *or lower* than the base costs, the fact that 5% of the differential in costs is not reconciled through the FAC process does not result

in a *per se* disallowance of costs. Those ups and downs tend to net out over time, with the utility and ratepayers approximately breaking even. In 2020, the Commission noted that, over the previous 11 years, Liberty had collected (by various estimates) over 99.5% of FAC costs allocated to customers. *See id.* at p. 64. As a result, the utility continues to retain the opportunity to recover its costs under the normal operation of the 95/5 tariff provision, even as its 5% stake provides an incentive to manage fuel costs efficiently. Order, p. 18; *see* RSMo. §386.266.1; Tr. Vol. 3, p. 289, lines 18-25.

As the Order acknowledges, consistent with the incentive-based rationale behind an FAC, "extraordinary costs are not to be passed through the company's FAC." Order, p. 20; see 20 CSR 4240-20.090(8)(A)2.A(XI). By definition, an "extraordinary cost" represents a fuel and purchased power cost that is greater than the base cost forecast. The Company has no opportunity to offset extraordinary costs with equally substantial cost under-runs compared to forecast. Extending the 95/5 mechanism to "extraordinary costs" thus would systematically deprive the Company of the opportunity to fully recover its prudently incurred costs. In other words, applying a 95/5 mechanism to "extraordinary costs" will always result in a partial disallowance of recovery of such costs incurred for the benefit of ratepayers, however prudently incurred. That outcome is contrary to the operation of the FAC and to basic principles of ratemaking.

For that reason, under traditional ratemaking, "extraordinary costs" are not subject to the FAC and instead are tracked in an AAO and reviewed in the utility's next rate case. The Order cites no precedent, and the Company is not aware of any, in which the Commission denied recovery of fuel and purchased power costs recorded in an AAO absent a finding that such costs were imprudently incurred.

The Order's suggestion that it is just and reasonable to disallow 5% of the Winter Storm Uri extraordinary fuel costs, even assuming those costs were prudently incurred, is arbitrary. Under the FAC, the potential 5% disallowance is counterbalanced by the possibility of actual fuel and purchased power costs being lower than the base cost forecast—but no similar opportunity exists with respect to extraordinary costs like those at issue here. Instead, extending the 95/5 mechanism to these costs imposes an arbitrary partial disallowance of an entire category of prudently incurred costs without even the possibility for recovery, which is contrary to the most basic principles of justness and reasonableness in the utility context. *See Hope Nat. Gas Co.*, 320 U.S. at 603.

The Order's reliance on *Spire Missouri, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 618 S.W.3d 225 (Mo. 2021), to conclude that utilities do not have a general right to recover prudently incurred costs is misplaced. Order, p. 21. The issue in that case was the Commission's disallowance of costs incurred by a utility in connection with the development of ratemaking proposals that benefitted shareholders. *Spire*, 618 S.W.3d at 229, 233. The Commission assumed that those costs were prudent, in the sense that the utility reasonably managed the amount spent on those activities. The Commission nevertheless concluded that it was just and reasonable to disallow those costs, because they were solely for shareholder benefit. *See id.* In affirming that conclusion, the Missouri Supreme Court ruled that the Commission did not err in refusing to permit recovery of expenses that "served only to benefit shareholders and minimize shareholder risk with no accompanying benefit (or potential benefit) to ratepayers," because requiring ratepayers to pay costs solely for the benefit of shareholders would not be "just and reasonable." *Id.* at 233. Nothing in *Spire* upsets the general rule that a utility must be permitted at least the opportunity to recover operating

expenses prudently incurred for the benefit of ratepayers. Id.; see Hope Nat. Gas Co., 320 U.S. at 603.

In contrast to the costs at issue in *Spire*, the fuel and purchased power costs at issue here were unquestionably incurred for the benefit of customers. The Order specifically finds that "Liberty incurred [its] extraordinary fuel costs for its Missouri customers during Winter Storm Uri." Order, p. 17. And the Order concludes that Liberty's fuel and purchased power costs, *as a category of costs*, are recoverable through securitization. Order, pp. 12-15, 31-33. But the Order simply imposes a categorical 5% disallowance on that category of costs. Neither *Spire* nor any other authority supports the proposition that it is "just and reasonable" for the Commission to propose a blanket partial disallowance on recovery of a category of costs prudently incurred for the benefit of ratepayers.

B. The Commission's Decision to Import a 95/5 "Sharing Provision" Into the Securitization Statute is Flawed on Additional Grounds

The Order's imposition of a 95/5 "sharing provision" in this context is also fatally flawed for a number of additional reasons.

First, Liberty's FAC, as it exists for purposes of ratemaking, is a creature of a statute that is very different than the statute at issue here. RSMo. §386.266.1 authorizes the Commission to "include in such rate schedules features designed to provide the electrical corporation with incentives to improve the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of its fuel and purchased-power procurement activities." No similar language exists in the securitization statute to authorize the Commission to adopt rules such as a 95/5 sharing mechanism. The legislature knew how to authorize a sharing mechanism in the securitization statute if it wanted to, but it chose not to do so.

The legislature's decision not to include language authorizing a cost-sharing mechanism similar to the 95/5 mechanism in the securitization statute is consistent with the purpose of that statute as a whole. Contrary to the Commission's conclusion (Order, pp. 17-18), the purpose of a cost-sharing mechanism—to create incentives for efficient cost management—does not hold in the context of extraordinary costs, which by definition arise from extraordinary events that are extremely hard to predict and plan for and that will naturally lead to higher-than-expected costs no matter how well a utility manages its costs in normal circumstances. And because there is no corresponding opportunity for the utility to *profit* from a sharing mechanism for extraordinary costs, applying a 95/5 rule to extraordinary costs results in a systematic and arbitrary cost disallowance for the utility—which is not a balanced incentive feature.

Second, the Commission's reliance on the notion that the securitization statute "direct[s]" the Commission to calculate the Company's recovery by "compar[ing] the results of the securitization to the results of a recovery of those costs using traditional (non-securitization) method," Order, pp. 20-20; see id. at pp. 21-22, is misplaced. Even if the statute called for that comparison, the Order does not conclude that, under traditional ratemaking, 5% of prudently incurred extraordinary costs booked in an AAO would be disallowed. As noted, the 95/5 mechanism applies only to the FAC, which would not apply to the Winter Storm Uri costs. In addition, the provision cited by the Order does not support the Commission's conclusion. The comparison language on which the Commission relied is found in Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)(b), which states that a financing order shall include "[a] finding that the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of a securitized utility tariff charge are just and reasonable and in the public interest and are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized

utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds." That provision is *separate* from the immediately preceding provision calling on the Commission to make a determination of whether it is just and reasonable for the utility to "recover[]" a certain "amount" of those costs. RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(a). The mandated comparison therefore cannot be understood to go to the amount; it goes only to the question whether *securitization*, and the associated bond issuance and customer charges, is just and reasonable. In other words, the statute does not make the comparison a *measure* of how much the Company should recover. Rather, the comparison is a mechanical one that is required only insofar as it provides confirmation that securitization is more beneficial to customers than alternatives would be—and here, there is no dispute that securitization is more beneficial. *See* Order, p. 78.

Finally, the Commission's application of a 95/5 "sharing provision" is unjust, unreasonable, and arbitrary not only for the reason that the 5% disallowance is itself arbitrary but also for various other reasons, which individually and in combination are fatal to the Commission's conclusion. The Commission has imported into the securitization context a mechanism authorized by a different statute and implemented through a specific tariff that has no reasonable application under the different circumstances presented here. The Commission has suggested that the Company could somehow be incentivized *post hoc* to lower its fuel and purchased power costs incurred in connection with a truly extraordinary and unpredictable storm, which is an irrational conclusion.³ The Commission's decision *acknowledges* that under customary methods of ratemaking extraordinary costs like these would *not* be subject to the 95/5 tariff provision under the FAC because such costs would not pass through the FAC—but then immediately and

³ See https://www.smithsonianmag.com/smart-news/how-winter-storm-uri-has-impacted-us-180977055/ (Winter Storm Uri was "extreme" event with unprecedented effects on provision of power to customers in many parts of the country).

contradictorily uses the procedures under the FAC as the basis for a comparison to what would happen under those customary methods, stating vaguely only that in that hypothetical world "Liberty would recover its Winter Storm Uri related fuel and purchased power costs by *starting with* its FAC." Order, p. 21 (emphasis added). In the end, the decision undermines the securitization statute by telling Liberty and other utilities that they will *never* recover the full amount of their extraordinary fuel and purchased power costs under that statute.

III. Certain of the Commission's Determinations with Respect to Carrying Charges are Contrary to Law and are Unreasonable

A. The Commission's Exclusion of Carrying Charges for Asbury for the Period Between Plant Retirement and June 2022 is Contrary to Law and is Unreasonable

In the Order, the Commission rejects Liberty's argument that carrying charges as to the Asbury plant "should be recovered for the period after the property was retired through the issuance of the securitized bonds." Order, p. 70. The Commission acknowledges that "the securitization statute specifically includes carrying costs within the definition of energy transition costs that can be recovered through securitization," but states that "nothing i[n] the statute . . . *mandates* that they be included for recovery." *Id.* at p. 72 (emphasis added). The Commission then concludes that it is not just and reasonable for Liberty to "recover its full carrying costs on a generation facility that has not been used and useful since its effective retirement" and that "a more limited recovery of carrying costs for the period after the Asbury plant was removed from Liberty's rates, beginning in June 2022[,] is just and reasonable." *Id.* at p. 72.

That conclusion, which deprives Liberty of a substantial amount in carrying charges, violates the securitization statute. That statute cannot be read to permit a finding that recovery of

carrying charges as to a retired plant is not just and reasonable *merely because* that plant is retired.⁴ Any such finding is contrary to the plain language and underlying purpose of the securitization statute relating to securitization of energy transition costs. The Commission's conclusion is also unreasonable, unjust, arbitrary, and an abuse of discretion. Among other things, the Commission has permitted carrying charges from June 2022 through bond issuance (projected to be December 2022), without justifying why carrying charges are permissible for that particular period but not for the earlier period from plant retirement through May 2022. After all, the plant could have been no more used and usable in the later period than it was in the earlier one.

1. Statutory Violation

The legislature enacted the securitization statute in 2021 in order to permit utilities to obtain "a financing order to finance energy transition costs" or qualified extraordinary costs "through an issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds." RSMo. §393.1700.2(1). The statute defines "energy transition costs" as costs that arise "with respect to a retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility . . . where such early retirement or abandonment is deemed reasonable and prudent by the commission." RSMo. §393.1700.1(7)(a). And the statute specifically states that such costs include (among other things) "accrued carrying charges." *Id.* When this Commission issues a financing order, that order "shall include . . . [t]he amount of . . . costs to be financed using securitized utility tariff bonds and a finding that recovery of such costs is just and reasonable and in the public interest." RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(a).

Those provisions relating to the recovery and financing of carrying charges must be read together so that they work in harmony and all parts of the statute are given full effect. *See*, *e.g.*,

⁴ Liberty also seeks rehearing of the Commission's conclusion about the date of the Asbury plant's retirement, but discusses that issue separately below. *See* p. 39, *infra*. This section assumes, purely for purposes of argument, that the Commission's selection of the retirement date was correct.

Anderson ex rel. Anderson v. Ken Kauffman & Sons Excavating, L.L.C., 248 S.W.3d 101, 107 (Mo. Ct. App. 2008) ("[a] provision in a statute must be read in harmony with the entire section") (citation omitted); id. at 108; State ex rel. Evans v. Brown Builders Elec. Co., 254 S.W.3d 31, 35 (Mo. banc 2008). The ultimate aim is "to ascertain the intent of the legislature from the language used." Anderson, 248 S.W.3d at 106 (citing United Pharmacal Co. of Mo., Inc. v. Mo. Bd. of Pharmacy, 208 S.W.3d 907, 909 (Mo. banc 2006)); see Williams v. Nat'l Cas. Co., 132 S.W.3d 244, 249 (Mo. banc 2004) ("All canons of statutory construction are subordinate to the requirement that the court ascertain and apply a statute in a manner consistent with the legislative intent.").

Here, it is clear that the legislature expected that carrying charges can be recovered with respect to a retired plant, even though such a plant is *by definition* no longer used and useful. The legislature can be presumed to have been aware of case law in this state, predating the 2021 enactment of the securitization statute, discussing in the context of a general rate case whether a property must be used and useful in order for a return to be appropriate. *See* Order, p. 71 (citing a 1988 decision). But the legislature nevertheless included carrying charges in the securitization statute as among the costs that a utility can recover.

To be sure, the statute does ask this Commission to determine whether "recovery of such costs is just and reasonable and in the public interest." RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(a). It cannot be the case, however, that carrying charges are not just and reasonable *merely because of the fact* that they relate to a retired plant. If the Commission were to take that approach across the board as a matter of principle, the result would be that a utility could *never* securitize carrying charges for a retired asset. Such a self-defeating interpretation would place the provision asking for a "just and reasonable" determination in irreconcilable tension with the provision defining "energy transition costs" as costs that can be recovered in connection with a retired plant, rather than reading those

provisions in harmony with each other. It also would render the statutory reference to carrying charges, and to energy transition costs more generally, entirely superfluous. The legislature could not have intended such a "meaningless act." *Anderson*, 248 S.W.3d at 109 (citing *Missouri ex rel. Bouchard v. Grady*, 86 S.W.3d 121, 123 (Mo. App. E.D. 2002)).

Read as a whole, the securitization statute reflects a different legislative intent: to recognize that where a utility saves customers money by prudently retiring an uneconomic asset, the utility should not be penalized for doing so. *See* Ex. 16, Graves Dir., pp. 4, 46-47; Ex. 17, Graves Surreb., Sched. FCG-2, pp. 6-16; Ex. 17, Graves Surreb., pp. 3-19. To be sure, that does not mean that recovery of carrying charges always will be just and reasonable; there may conceivably be reasons why claimed carrying charges might be flawed under the circumstances in a particular case. But none of those reasons exist here, where the Commission specifically found that the retirement of the Asbury plant was prudent, *see* Order, pp. 48-49, and made no suggestion that the carrying charges at issue were in any way unusual or questionable. The Commission's only reason for denial of the carrying charges for an extended period of time after retirement was the *fact* of retirement, and that is the one reason for denial that is plainly impermissible under the securitization statute.

The Commission's citation of *State ex rel. Union Elec. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of State of Mo.*, 765 S.W.2d 618, 622 (Mo. App. W.D. 1988), *cited in Order*, p. 71, does not change that analysis. That case obviously does not involve interpretation of the securitization statute, which the legislature enacted many years after the case was decided; as noted, the fundamental purpose of the securitization statute is to encourage utilities to retire and replace uneconomic and environmentally challenged utility assets, which means allowing a carrying cost on retired assets as a cost of service to the utility. The case is also distinguishable on additional grounds. The

utility in that case sought cancellation costs for a facility that it had begun construction on but had never completed. *Union Electric*, 765 S.W.2d at 620-23. Thus, the facility in that case was *never* used and useful at any point in time. That is a very different circumstance than the one presented here, where the question is a determination of recovery "in the context of existing assets that were used for many years, that were long deemed used and useful and that were generating customers benefits, but which have been retired once they became uneconomic due to changing economic circumstances." Ex. 17, Graves Surreb., Sched. FCG-2, p. 7.

2. Unreasonableness

The Commission's conclusion as to the carrying charges associated with the Asbury plant is also unreasonable, unjust, arbitrary, and an abuse of discretion. *See generally* Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., p. 24 ("Liberty has committed capital to funding the deferred fuel cost collections and the regulatory asset associated with Asbury that are the subject of this securitization application, and that commitment of capital warrants a reasonable return on capital until such time as Liberty's capital is paid off by the proceeds from securitization.").

First, the Order does not explain why carrying charges as to the period from plant retirement through May 2022 are unjust and unreasonable on the ground that the retired plant was not used and useful, but carrying charges as to the period from June 2022 through bond issuance are just and reasonable even though the plant was not used and useful at that time either. That distinction is arbitrary and unjust. The retired plant certainly is not more used and useful at a *later* date than it was at an *earlier* one. And the Commission's decision as to the later period demonstrates that the mere fact that a plant is retired is not, standing on its own, sufficient reason to deem recovery of carrying charges impermissible.

Second, the Order does not explain why June 2022 is the correct moment in time at which to draw a line between carrying charges that are recoverable and those that are not. That line-

drawing is also arbitrary and unjust. Staff originally suggested that particular dividing line, on the ground that the carrying charges for Asbury were collected in rates from the date of plant retirement through May 2022. *See, e.g.*, Tr. Vol. 3, pp. 214-16 (McMellen); Tr. Vol. 2, p. 61 (Staff counsel stating that "Asbury was included in rates all the way up through May of 2022"). But that rationale for the Commission's recoverability determination is a red herring, and the Order—which rests instead on the distinct idea that a retired plan is not used and useful—ultimately does not rely on Staff's rationale in any meaningful way. *But see* Order, p. 72 (referring in passing to "the period after the Asbury plant was removed from Liberty's rates, beginning in June 2022").

Nor could the Order reasonably do so. At Staff's urging, the Commission has *deducted* the amount of previously collected carrying charges from the amount of plant that the Company can securitize, by treating those carrying charges as part of an AAO liability balance. That deduction effectively forces the Company to *write off* carrying charges for the entire period from plant retirement through May 2022. *See* Tr. Vol. 2, p. 216 (McMellen) (agreeing that in Staff's view the return for Asbury that was built into rates up through May 2022 is "included in the Asbury liability" and therefore should be deducted from the amount to be securitized). Accordingly, the notion that the Company has already collected carrying charges through May 2022 cannot possibly serve as a justification for an effective disallowance of carrying charges for the period of time covered by the AAO. Because the Order appears to reflect reasoning that is constructed to adopt the date that Staff suggested, but without adopting Staff's (erroneous) rationale for choosing that date, the Order is arbitrary and unreasonable.

Indeed, had the Commission adopted Staff's rationale, then the outcome could not have been to prohibit recovery of carrying charges prior to June 2022. The Commission could have adopted the Company's primary recommendation, which was to allow the Company to keep the

carrying charges it had collected in rates from plant retirement through May 2022, by removing the previously collected carrying charges from the AAO liability so that the Company could securitize the full amount of undepreciated plant consistent with the securitization statute. Or the Commission could have adopted the Company's alternative recommendation, which was to order the Company to refund the carrying charges collected for the period up through May 2022 and to add that same amount of carrying charges to the regulatory asset to be securitized. See Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., pp. 20-21. That alternative approach would give effect to the statutory directive to include "accrued carrying charges" in the amount to be securitized. The carrying charges collected in rates represent the "accrued" carrying charges which, if refunded, would be securitized. The Order, however, follows neither path and instead denies the Company recovery of those carrying charges away entirely. That outcome is inconsistent with the securitization statute.

Third, the Order penalizes the Company millions of dollars despite the fact that the Company behaved prudently and protected customers by retiring a plant that is now uneconomic to operate. The Commission's determination that a significant (but arbitrary) amount of carrying charges as to a retired plant is unrecoverable precisely *because* the plant is retired discourages that kind of prudent decision making by the Company and by other utilities and therefore will deprive customers of better and less costly alternatives. *See* Ex. 16, Graves Dir., p.4; *see also, e.g., id.* at p. 51 ("Utility regulators and courts have long concluded that a utility may include prudent investments no longer being used to provide service in its rate base as long as the regulator

⁵ The Company requested in this proceeding that the amount of the carrying charges for that period not effectively be deducted from the amount to be securitized by treating those charges as part of an AAO liability balance. *See, e.g., Response to Commission Order*, pp. 3-4, EFIS Item No. 179 (filed August 9, 2022).

reasonably balances consumers' interest in fair rates against investors' interest in maintaining financial integrity."); see also State ex rel. Missouri Off. of Pub. Couns. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of State, 293 S.W.3d 63, 76 (Mo. Ct. App. 2009) (utility may continue amortizing cost of software no longer in use); Town of Norwood, Mass. v. FERC, 80 F.3d 526, 531 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (noting that a "utility may include prudent but canceled investments in its rate base as long as the Commission reasonably balances consumers' interest in fair rates against investors' interest in maintaining financial integrity and access to capital markets) (internal quotation marks omitted); p. 25, supra (distinguishing 1988 decision addressing the "used and useful" concept on which the Order relies).

For all of those reasons, the Commission should rehear the carrying charges issue discussed above and determine that the Company is entitled to recover carrying charges on Asbury from the date of retirement to the date when the bonds are issued. At a minimum, the Commission should clarify that the Company is entitled to seek recovery in a future proceeding of the carrying charges associated with the Asbury plant that are tracked in the AAO, without being prejudiced by any determination made in this proceeding.

B. The Commission's Rejection of the WACC as the Rate of Return to Be Applied to Carrying Charges is Contrary to Law and is Unreasonable

As discussed above, the securitization statute specifically provides for recovery of carrying charges. The statute defines "qualified extraordinary costs" as costs for the "purchase of fuel or power, inclusive of carrying charges, during anomalous weather events." RSMo. §393.1700.1(13). And the statute defines "energy transition costs," which are costs relating to retired or abandoned facilities, as including "accrued carrying charges." RSMo. §393.1700.1(7)(a).

Here, the Commission ruled that carrying charges both as to Winter Storm Uri and as to Asbury should be calculated at Liberty's long-term debt rate of 4.65 percent rather than at the

Company's weighted average cost of capital ("WACC"). Both rulings are legally erroneous. Both rulings also are unreasonable, unjust, and arbitrary.

1. Winter Storm Uri

As to carrying charges related to Winter Storm Uri, the Commission stated that "[t]he Winter Storm Uri costs are operating costs, not capital improvements or replacements to existing plant and equipment. It is inappropriate for Liberty to be allowed a profit on expenditures for the purchase of energy, as it would if carrying costs were calculated using its WACC." Order, p. 36. The Commission concluded that "Staff's proposal to calculate carrying costs for Winter Storm Uri related costs at Liberty's long-term debt rate of 4.65 percent is most appropriate because the costs to be securitized are not capital costs and there is no reason Liberty should be allowed to earn a profit on those costs." *Id.* at p. 36.

The Order's conclusion is contrary to the securitization statute and is arbitrary, unjust, and unreasonable. The phrase "carrying charges," as used in RSMo. §393.17001.(7)(a), should be interpreted in accordance with its ordinary meaning: a "cost associated with holding" an asset. See https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/carryingcharge.asp; see also Matter of Amend. of Commission's Rule Regarding Applications for Certificates of Convenience & Necessity, 618 S.W.3d 520, 528 (Mo. 2021), reh'g denied (Apr. 6, 2021). The statute therefore directs the Commission to permit securitization of an amount that reflects the Company's cost of financing the Winter Storm Uri costs.

The Order's observation that the Winter Storm Uri costs are not capital costs is misplaced. The relevant question is not whether the underlying costs, as to which application of carrying charges is necessary, are capital or operating costs, but rather the *time period* over which they are financed, which in turn determines how they are financed. In some cases, costs that will be recovered quickly may be expected to be financed at short-term debt rates. That is not the case

here. The Winter Storm Uri costs were incurred in early 2021. Since then, the balance has been a component of Liberty's balance sheet, and Liberty has not been able to deploy the capital elsewhere, where it could have earned its authorized return. That state of affairs has been the expectation since the time that those costs were incurred. *See* Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., p. 22. As such, those costs were necessarily financed with long-term capital, and the cost to Liberty is based on its authorized rate of return. Indeed, the Order itself acknowledges that these are long-term costs by authorizing a carrying cost based on the long-term debt rate rather than on a short-term debt rate.

The Order errs in allowing only a *portion* of the cost of financing long-term capital, namely, the cost of debt. The record shows without contradiction that the Company's long-term capital is financed with a combination of debt and equity. *See* Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., p. 22 ("[T]he Company "relies on a balanced mix of debt and equity to fund intermediate term and longer-term investments, operations, and emergencies, like Storm Uri. Short term sources of funding provide utilities with access to capital between long-term financings. They are one of a utility's sources of capital, not the entire source of capital."); *see also* Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p. 19. The actual carrying cost of Winter Storm Uri costs, like any other long-term financing, is therefore the Company's WACC. The long-term financing of those costs solely with long-term debt would undermine the Company's compliance with its authorized capital structure. *See* Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., p. 22 (referring to the Company's "balanced mix of debt and equity"); Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p.19.

The statutory language therefore clearly dictates use of the WACC here. But to the extent the relevant statutory language were to be deemed ambiguous, understanding "carrying charges" to refer to something other than the WACC is also inconsistent with the legislature's purpose in

enacting the securitization statute. *See Anderson*, 248 S.W.3d at 106. The legislature intended to encourage utilities to use the securitization procedure so as to ensure greater benefits to customers than would be available in other kinds of cost-recovery proceedings. The Commission's ruling discourages use of securitization, since absent securitization the Company would "recover the carrying costs it incurred between now and the time of the recovery, which would be calculated at its authorized WACC." Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p. 12; *see* Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., pp. 22-23.

In addition to running afoul of the "carrying charges" language in the securitization statute, the Commission's interpretation is arbitrary, unjust, and unreasonable. Using the WACC here is most consistent with principles regarding "fair return of capital deployed on behalf of customers." Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p. 20 (citing Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., pp. 21-22). Using the WACC also accords with the way that the Company actually funds emergencies like Winter Storm Uri—which means that using the long-term debt rate instead is unreasonable and gives rise to an arbitrary penalty. The Commission has previously used the WACC in calculating carrying charges for deferred storm expense balances that are analogous to the extraordinary costs related to Winter Storm Uri. In Case No. ER-2019-0374, the Commission approved the Company's recovery of deferred costs associated with the Joplin tornado using the WACC, by approving inclusion of the unamortized balance of storm costs in the Company's rate base. *See* Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p. 20; Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., p. 23. The Order provides no explanation for its failure to follow the same approach. In addition, the Commission's ruling creates an unjust and harmful disincentive to utilities' use of the securitization statute to recover and securitize extraordinary costs like the ones at issue here.

For all of those reasons, the Order should be corrected to permit the Company to securitize the costs it actually incurred to finance the Winter Storm Uri costs, which requires a calculation of those costs using the WACC.

2. Asbury

As to carrying charges related to Asbury, the Commission pointed to the same 1988 decision discussed above in connection with the period of time for which the Commission allowed recovery of Asbury carrying charges (see pp. 25-26, supra): State ex rel. Union Elec. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of State of Mo. 765 S.W.2d 618 (Mo. App. W.D. 1988), which ruled that cancellation costs as to construction of a facility that was never completed were not just and reasonable because the facility was not "used and useful." Id. at 622; see Order, pp. 71-72. The Commission noted that "the securitization statute specifically includes carrying costs within the definition of energy transition costs that can be recovered through securitization." Id. at p. 72. Nevertheless, the Commission concluded that "full recovery" of those charges is not "just and reasonable" because "Liberty is seeking to recover its full carrying costs on a generation facility that has not been used and useful since its effective retirement in December 2019." Id. at p. 72. For that reason, the Commission stated, it is "just and reasonable to allow Liberty to recover those carrying costs at its 4.65 percent cost of long-term debt rather than at [the] WACC." Id.

That decision is both legally erroneous and unreasonable for many of the same reasons discussed above in connection with the Commission's ruling on the period of time for which Asbury carrying charges are recoverable, and Liberty incorporates those reasons here by reference. The securitization statute cannot be interpreted to permit a finding that recovery of costs is unjust and unreasonable *precisely because* a plant is retired—and yet that is the only basis for the Commission's ruling that Liberty should recover carrying charges at the 4.65% cost of long-term debt rather than at the higher WACC. The "used and useful" concept has no application under the securitization statute, which the legislature intended to permit recovery of charges *specifically* with respect to assets that are not used or useful by definition. *See* p. 25, *supra*. And the statutory

authorization of recovery of carrying costs should be interpreted to correspond to the costs the Company incurs to finance the assets in question, which is the WACC.

In addition, even if the Commission's determination that Liberty should not make a full recovery of its carrying charges were otherwise supportable, the decision to cut back Liberty's recovery by choosing a lower percentage rate is unreasonable. That decision is an arbitrary one because there is no rationale for reducing the Company's recovery by the specific amount the Commission chose: the differential between application of the long-term debt rate and the WACC. The decision is not supported by the evidence in the record, since that evidence showed that using the WACC to calculate the carrying charges for the capital costs at issue is consistent with the Company's capital structure and with fundamental principles of fair return. See Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., pp. 22-24; Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p. 20. The decision is arbitrary because Asbury is clearly a capital investment as to which carrying charges would typically be calculated using the WACC, see Order, pp. 35-36, was used and useful for many years, and (as the Commission found) was prudently retired. And the decision is arbitrary and unjust because the precedent set by the Commission in choosing the long-term debt rate will serve to discourage Liberty and other utilities from retiring plants that are uneconomic or have problematic environmental impacts, which in turn harms the public. See Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., pp. 21-22. In contrast, securitization of the carrying charges using the WACC has significant benefits for customers. See Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p. 20.

The decision is also legally erroneous and unreasonable for many of the same reasons discussed above in connection with the Commission's ruling on use of the long-term debt rate to calculate costs for Winter Storm Uri, and Liberty incorporates those reasons here by reference as well. Most notably, because the statute directs the Commission to permit securitization of an amount that reflects the Company's cost of financing, *see* p. 31, *supra*, the Commission's decision

to use a different rate in its carrying-charge calculation, under the rubric of a "just and reasonable" determination, puts the portion of the statute calling for such a determination into serious tension with the statutory language stating that "accrued carrying charges" are part of the energy transition costs that a utility can recover and securitize. That conclusion is underscored in the context of energy transition costs, because as to those costs the securitization statute uses the term "accrued carrying charges," RSMo. §393.1700.1(7)(a), and the Asbury carrying charges were in fact accrued in an AAO.

IV. Additional Issues

A. Carrying Costs for Abandoned Environmental Capital Projects (Issue 3.P)

The Commission found that Liberty could include in its securitization balance costs related to two Asbury environmental projects that were abandoned when the plant was closed. Order, pp. 66-67. However, the Commission decided that those costs "would not be includible in Liberty's ratebase and thus it may not recover a return on those investments." *Id.*, p. 67.

The Commission's decision to not permit a return on those investments is based on a statement in *State ex rel. Union Electric Co. v. Public Service Commission of State of Missouri.*, 765 S.W.2d 618 (Mo. App. W.D. 1988), that "[t]he utility property upon which a rate of return can be earned must be utilized to provide service to its customers. That is, it must be used and useful." *Id.* at 622; *see* Order, p. 67.

The Commission's reliance on *Union Electric* is erroneous. That decision does not address the securitization statute, and the court's determination was made within the context of a traditional general rate case. The securitization statute was enacted to provide a process of recovery separate and apart from a general rate case. And, as discussed above in connection with the carrying charges argument covered in Part III.A of this rehearing request, *see* pp. 23-27, *supra*, that statute necessarily contemplates that the investments associated with energy transition costs will concern

a "retired or abandoned" "electric generating facility"—a facility that is by definition no longer "used and useful." RSMo. §393.1700.1(7)(a). The statute nevertheless requires inclusion of "accrued carrying charges" as part of "energy transition costs." *Id.* Thus, the "used and useful" concept as applied in general ratemaking does not carry over to decisions about energy transition costs made pursuant to the securitization statute.

Accordingly, the Commission should reconsider or grant rehearing as to this issue and, thereafter, issue its order providing for carrying costs as to the abandoned environmental capital projects.

B. Retirement Date of Asbury for Purposes of Calculating Depreciation Expense to Be Included in the Asbury AAO Liability (Issue 3.S)

The Commission erred in its determination of when Asbury should be deemed retired, and that error rendered incorrect the Commission's calculation of depreciation expense to be included in the Asbury AAO liability. The Commission's decision in this regard is legally erroneous because it cannot be reconciled with the Commission's own regulations. The decision is also unreasonable because it is contrary to undisputed facts in the record.

The Commission described its decision to use the Staff's calculation of depreciation expense associated with the Asbury plant as follows: "Asbury was *effectively retired* in December 2019, when it ceased producing electricity. Therefore, Staff's calculation of depreciation, which includes the months of January and February 2020, is appropriate and is adopted." Order, p. 70 (emphasis added). The Commission appears to rely on the finding that "Asbury's last day of generating power was December 12, 2019, when its [useable] coal supply was exhausted." *Id.*, p. 69.

That is not the appropriate test for determining when a plant is retired. The Uniform System of Accounts ("USOA"), as adopted by the Commission in 20 CSR 4240-20.030(1), defines

"property retired" and states that the term, "as applied to electric plant, means property which has been removed, sold, abandoned, destroyed, or which for any cause has been withdrawn from service." Part 101, Definitions; No. 28. The USOA nowhere mentions the concept of a plant being "effectively" retired.

Here, under the applicable definition of retirement, Asbury was retired on March 1, 2020, and not before, because prior to that date it was not "removed, sold, abandoned, destroyed, or . . . for any cause . . . withdrawn from service." Part 101, Definitions; No. 28. It is true that Asbury last generated electricity in December of 2019. But it stood ready to do so after that date as well. As Liberty witness Doll explained, in testimony that is uncontradicted in the record, at all times up until March 1, 2020, "Asbury was staffed and available to operate if economic fuel could have been procured in that timeframe." Ex. 4, Doll Surreb., p. 5. Moreover, "[t]he Company continued to monitor conditions, forward market prices, and evaluate economical fuel procurement options. If market conditions and forward market prices created an opportunity for Liberty to procure fuel at a price allowing Asbury to operate economically, fuel would have been purchased and the unit would have been offered to the market." *Id.*; *see id.* ("[s]imply because forward indications didn't warrant additional purchases and the Company did not believe it would be prudent to take additional coal deliveries and risk raising customers costs for unburned coal does not" indicate that the facility was retired at that time).

Consistent with that testimony, the record reflects that although in August 2019 Liberty notified the Southwest Power Pool ("SPP") of Asbury's coming retirement, Asbury was not officially de-designated as a network resource until March 1, 2020. Ex. 3, Doll Dir., p. 15. That was the earliest possible retirement date for Asbury per the SPP guidelines that were in place at

the time. *See id.* And that is the earliest date on which Asbury could be deemed "removed" or "withdrawn from service." Part 101, Definitions; No. 28.

The Commission's decision as to the appropriate date of retirement for Asbury therefore cannot stand. The decision is both unlawful and unreasonable.

C. Designated Staff Representatives; Conditions to be Included in the Financing Order (Issues 6 and 7)

Finally, Liberty seeks a clarification as to the part of the Order identifying the written certifications required in connection with the submission of the issuance advice letter. The Order states that "Liberty and the lead underwriters for the securitized utility tariff bonds shall provide a written certificate to the Commission certifying, and setting forth all calculations and assumptions used to support such calculations and certificate," as to four items. Order, pp. 85-86 and pp. 124-125 (Ordering para. 7) (emphasis added). The items that must be certified to are (i) compliance with the Financing Order; (ii) compliance with all other legal requirements; (iii) "that the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition of the securitized utility tariff charges are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery... absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds," and (iv) "that the structuring, marketing, and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds will result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced and the terms of this Financing Order." *Id.* The certificates are "a condition precedent to the submission of the issuance advice letter to the Commission." *Id.* at p. 86.

It is Liberty's expectation that the four items identified by the Commission would be addressed by a combination of certificates provided by Liberty and the lead underwriters. Liberty would provide a written certificate concerning all four items. However, the lead underwriters would provide a certificate only as to item (iv), regarding whether the structuring and pricing of

the bonds results in the lowest securitized utility charges consistent with market conditions at the time of bond pricing and with the Order itself. (*See* Ex. 19, Niehaus Dir. (EO-2022-0193), Sched. KN-4, p. 39 of 87 (para. 69)).

In contrast, requiring the lead underwriters to certify as to all four items could create an untenable situation. The lead underwriters are not qualified to speak to legal issues such as compliance with the Commission's Order or with other applicable legal requirements. Nor are they qualified to certify as to the calculation of quantifiable net present benefits as compared to recovery of costs absent issuance of the bonds, since the latter question involves complex calculations based on information that is not in the lead underwriters' possession.

Nothing in the securitization statute requires the lead underwriters to provide any certification at all, let alone as to those items that are outside of their experience and knowledge. That is not surprising, given that underwriters would not commonly provide a certificate related to compliance with the financing order, compliance with state statutory requirements, or calculation of quantifiable net present value benefits.

In addition, nothing in the record suggests that the lead underwriters should be required to provide that broad set of certificates. Requiring certification by the lead underwriters only as to whether "the structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds will result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions" and the terms of the Order would be consistent with the evidence before the Commission, because that is the only certification that anyone told the Commission would in fact be provided by the lead underwriters. (*See* Ex. 19, Niehaus Dir. (EO-2022-0193), Sched. KN-4, p. 39 of 87 (para. 69)).

Liberty interprets the Order to permit a combination of certificates from the Company and the underwriters to satisfy Ordering Paragraph 7. Out of an abundance of caution, Liberty expresses that understanding now. Liberty respectfully suggests that, for the complete avoidance of doubt, the Commission confirm that Liberty's interpretation of the identified certification requirements is correct or, in the alternative, reconsider or rehear the matter and issue a decision making clear that the lead underwriters are required to provide a certificate only as to item (iv) noted above.

WHEREFORE, The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty respectfully submits this *Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or Application for Rehearing* for the Commission's consideration and requests that the Commission issue such orders as it should find to be reasonable and just.

Respectfully submitted,

ATTORNEYS FOR THE EMPIRE DISTRICT ELECTRIC COMPANY D/B/A LIBERTY

Sarah B. Knowlton #71361 General Counsel, Liberty Utilities 116 North Main Street Concord, New Hampshire 03301 Telephone: (603) 724-2123

E-Mail: sarah.knowlton@libertyutilities.com

/s/ Diana C. Carter

Diana C. Carter MBE #50527 The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty 428 E. Capitol Ave., Suite 303 Jefferson City, Missouri 65101 Joplin Office Phone: (417) 626-5976 Cell Phone: (573) 289-1961

E-Mail: Diana.Carter@LibertyUtilities.com

Dean L. Cooper MBE #36592 BRYDON, SWEARENGEN & ENGLAND P.C. 312 E. Capitol Avenue P. O. Box 456 Jefferson City, MO 65102 Telephone: (573) 635-7166

E-mail: dcooper@brydonlaw.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that the above document was filed in EFIS on this 30th day of September, 2022, and sent by electronic transmission to all counsel of record.

/s/ Diana C. Carter

Attachment C

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI



District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for Energy Transition Costs Related to the Asbury Plant

File No. EO-2022-0193

AMENDED REPORT AND ORDER

Issue Date: September 22, 2022

Effective Date: October 2, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CC	U	NSEL6			
PF	ROC	CEDURAL HISTORY7			
DE	SC	RIPTION OF SECURITIZATION8			
SE	PA	RATE FINANCING ORDERS?11			
CONTESTED ISSUES12					
1)		HAT AMOUNTS SHOULD THE COMMISSION AUTHORIZE LIBERTY TO NANCE USING SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF BONDS?12			
	A)	WHAT AMOUNTS OF QUALIFIED EXTRAODINARY COSTS SHOULD THE COMMISSION AUTHORIZE LIBERTY TO FINANCE FOR WINTER STORM URI?			
	B)	WHAT AMOUNTS OF ENERGY TRANSITION COSTS SHOULD THE COMMISSION AUTHORIZE LIBERTY TO FINANCE FOR ASBURY?15			
2)	WI	NTER STORM URI17			
	A)	WHAT AMOUNT OF COSTS, IF ANY, THAT LIBERTY IS SEEKING TO SECURITIZE WOULD LIBERTY RECOVER THROUGH CUSTOMARY RATEMAKING?			
	B)	WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE METHOD OF CUSTOMARY RATEMAKING ABSENT SECURITIZATION17			
	C)	UNDER RSMO 393.1700.2(2)(E), WHAT IS THE "CUSTOMARY METHOD OF FINANCING"? WHAT ARE THE COSTS THAT WOULD RESULT "FROM THE APPLICATION OF THE CUSTOMARY METHOD OF FINANCING AND REFLECTING THE QUALIFIED EXTRAORDINARY COSTS IN RETAIL CUSTOMER RATES"?			
	D)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY INCLUDE MORE THAN 95% OF FUEL AND PURCHASED POWER COSTS?17			
	E)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT AN OFFSET BASED ON HIGHER THAN NORMAL CUSTOMER REVENUES RECEIVED BY LIBERTY DURING WINTER STORM URI?			

	F)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT AN OFFSET BASED ON REVENUES THAT LIBERTY'S RIVERTON 11 UNIT SHOULD HAVE GENERATED DURING WINTER STORM URI, AND IF SO, HOW MUCH?24
	G)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT A DISALLOWANCE BASED ON LIBERTY'S RESOURCE PLANNING?31
	H)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT A DISALLOWANCE FOR INCOME TAX DEDUCTIONS FOR WINTER STORM URI COSTS?33
	I)	WHAT ARE THE APPROPRIATE CARRYING COSTS FOR WINTER STORM URI?35
	J)	WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCOUNT RATE TO USE IN CALCULATING THE NET PRESENT VALUE OF WINTER STORM URI COSTS THAT WOULD BE RECOVERED THROUGH CUSTOMARY RATEMAKING?37
3)	AS	SBURY38
	A)	HOW MUCH OF THE AMOUNTS, IF ANY, THAT LIBERTY IS SEEKING TO SECURITIZE FOR ASBURY WOULD LIBERTY RECOVER THROUGH TRADITIONAL RATEMAKING?
	B)	WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE METHOD OF CUSTOMARY RATEMAKING ABSENT SECURITIZATION?39
	C)	UNDER RSMO 393.1700.2(1)(F), WHAT IS THE "TRADITIONAL METHOD OF FINANCING"? WHAT ARE THE COSTS THAT WOULD RESULT "FROM THE APPLICATION OF THE TRADITIONAL METHOD OF FINANCING AND RECOVERING THE UNDEPRECIATED INVESTMENT OF FACILITIES THAT MAY BECOME SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF COSTS FROM CUSTOMERS?
	D)	WHAT IS THE NET BOOK VALUE OF THE RETIRED ASBURY PLANT40
	E)	WAS IT REASONABLE AND PRUDENT FOR LIBERTY TO RETIRE ASBURY?42
	F)	WHAT IS THE VALUE OF THE ASBURY ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATORY ASSETS?49
		WHAT IS THE VALUE OF THE ASBURY FUEL INVENTORIES?50 SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY INCLUDE BASEMAT COAL AT ASBURY?50

H) WHAT ARE THE VALUES OF THE ACCUMULATED DEFERRED INCOME TA (ADIT) AND EXCESS ADIT?5
I) WHAT IS THE VALUE OF THE ASBURY AAO REGULATORY LIABILITY?5
J) WHAT ARE THE LIKELY ASBURY DECOMMISSIONING COSTS?5
K) WHAT ARE THE LIKELY ASBURY RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS?5
L) WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE AMOUNT FOR CASH WORKING CAPITAL
M) SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT A DISALLOWANCE OF TH REMAINING COST OF THE AIR QUALITY CONTROL SYSTEM (ACQS), AN IF SO, HOW MUCH?6
N) SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT A DISALLOWANCE FO INCOME TAX DEDUCTIONS FOR ASBURY ABANDONMENT?6
O) SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT A DISALLOWANCE FOR LABO AT ASBURY?6
P) SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY INCLUDE AMOUNTS FOR ABANDONE ENVIRONMENTAL CAPITAL PROJECTS?6
R) SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY INCLUDE NON-LABOR ASBUR RETIREMENT COSTS?
S) WHAT IS THE AMOUNT OF DEPRECIATION EXPENSE6
T) WHAT ARE THE APPROPRIATE CARRYING COSTS FOR ASBURY?7
U) WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE RATE(S) OF RETURN THAT SHOULD BE USE TO CALCULATE THE AMOUNT OF RECOVERY?7
V) WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCOUNT RATE TO USE TO CALCULAT THE NET PRESENT VALUE OF ASBURY COSTS THAT WOULD B RECOVERED THROUGH TRADITIONAL RATEMAKING?7
WHAT ARE THE ESTIMATED UPFRONT AND ONGOING FINANCING COST ASSOCIATED WITH SECURITIZING QUALIFIED EXTRAORDINARY COST ASSOCIATED WITH ASBURY?

4)

Í (WOULD ISSUANCE OF SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF BONDS AND IMPOSITION OF SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF CHARGES PROVIDE QUANTIFIABLE NET PRESENT VALUE BENEFITS TO CUSTOMERS AS COMPARED TO RECOVERY OF THE SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF COSTS THAT WOULD BE INCURRED ABSENT THE ISSUANCE OF BONDS?			
,	A) WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCOUNT RATE TO USE TO CALCULATE NET PRESENT VALUE OF SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF COSTS THAT WOULD BE RECOVERED FOR WINTER STORM URI AND ASBURY THROUGH SECURITIZATION?			
, 	REGARDING ANY DESIGNATED STAFF REPRESENTATIVES WHO MAY BE ADVISED BY A FINANCIAL ADVISOR OR ADVISORS, WHAT PROVISION OR PROCEDURES SHOULD THE COMMISSION ORDER TO IMPLEMENT THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 393.1700.2(3)(H)?79			
ĺ	WHAT OTHER CONDITIONS, IF ANY, ARE APPROPRIATE AND NOT INCONSISTENT WITH SECTION 393.1700 RSMO SUPP. 2021, TO BE INCLUDED IN THE FINANCING ORDER?79			
	HOW SHOULD SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF CHARGES BE INITIALLY ALLOCATED AMONG RETAIL CUSTOMER CLASSES?86			
NON-CONTESTED ISSUES90				
ORDERED PARAGRAPHS122				

COUNSEL

THE EMPIRE DISTRICT ELECTRIC COMPANY D/B/A LIBERTY:

Sarah B. Knowlton, General Counsel, Liberty Utilities, 116 North Main Street, Concord, New Hampshire 03301

Diana C. Carter, The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty, 428 E. Capitol Ave., Suite 303, Jefferson City, Missouri 65101.

Dean L. Cooper, BRYDON, SWEARENGEN & ENGLAND P.C., 312 E. Capitol Ave., P.O. Box 456, Jefferson City, Missouri 65102

STAFF OF THE MISSOURI PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION:

Curtis Stokes, Chief Deputy Counsel, Post Office Box 360, Governor Office Building, 200 Madison Street, Jefferson City, Missouri 65102.

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC COUNSEL:

Nathan Williams, Chief Deputy Public Counsel, Post Office Box 2230, Jefferson City, Missouri 65102.

MIDWEST ENERGY CONSUMERS GROUP:

Tim Opitz, Opitz Law Firm, LLC, 308 E. High St., Suite B101, Jefferson City, Missouri 65101.

RENEW MISSOURI ADVOCATES D/B/A RENEW MISSOURI:

Alissa Greenwald, P.O. Box 413071. Kansas City, Missouri 64141

CHIEF REGULATORY LAW JUDGE: Morris L. Woodruff

FINANCING ORDER

Procedural History

On January 19, 2022,¹ The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty (Liberty) filed a verified petition for financing order seeking authority to issue securitized utility tariff bonds regarding the extraordinary costs incurred by Liberty during the anomalous weather event of February 2021 commonly known as Winter Storm Uri. That petition was assigned Commission File No. EO-2022-0040.

Similarly, on March 21, Liberty filed a verified petition for financing order seeking authority to issue securitized utility tariff bonds to recover energy transition costs associated with retirement of Liberty's Asbury coal-fired generating plant. That petition was assigned Commission File No. EO-2022-0193.

Liberty filed a motion on April 18, asking the Commission to consolidate the two cases for all purposes. The Commission responded on April 27 with an order consolidating the two cases for purposes of the hearing and procedural schedule, but reserving the question of whether to issue one financing order for both cases, or to issue a separate financing order for each case.

The Midwest Energy Consumers' Group (MECG) was allowed to intervene in both cases. Renew Missouri Advocates d/b/a Renew Missouri (Renew Missouri) was allowed to intervene in EO-2022-0193, but did not apply to intervene in EO-2022-0040.

The parties prefiled direct, rebuttal, and surrebuttal testimony. An evidentiary hearing was held on June 13 through June 16. The parties filed post-hearing briefs on July 13, and reply briefs on July 20.²

¹ At dates refer to 2022, unless otherwise indicated.

² The case is considered submitted as of the date of the final brief. 20 CSR 4240-2.150(1).

The Commission issued its Report and Order on August 18, 2022, to be effective on August 28, 2022. Liberty, Public Counsel, and Evergy Metro, Inc. d/b/a Evergy Missouri Metro and Evergy Missouri West, Inc. d/b/a Evergy Missouri West (collectively Evergy) filed timely applications for rehearing. In addition, Union Electric Company d/b/a Ameren Missouri filed an *amicus curiae* brief advocating for a correction in the order. Staff responded to Liberty, Evergy, and Ameren Missouri, and Liberty responded to Public Counsel on September 8, 2022.

After reviewing the filings of the parties, the Commission has decided that one aspect of its Report and Order must be amended. The calculated total of Liberty's energy transition costs related to the retirement of its Asbury electrical generating plant is described in the decision section of issue 1 B of the August 18 order as \$81,241,471. The correct total, based on the decisions embodied in the order, is \$82,921,331. That figure is corrected in this order. That is the only substantive change being made in this order.

This Amended Report and Order will be effective in ten days. If anyone believes that rehearing, reconsideration, or clarification is needed, they must file a new or renewed application for rehearing, reconsideration, or clarification before the effective date of this order.

Description of Securitization

Findings of Fact

1. Securitization is a financing technique in which certain assets are legally isolated within a special purpose entity. Investors then purchase securities that represent either debt or equity interest in the special purpose entity.³

³ Niehaus Direct, Ex. 18, Page 2, Lines 17-20.

- 2. The special purpose entity will issue bonds backed primarily by a statutory and regulatory right to receive a charge to be paid by a utility's customers. The securitized bonds are non-recourse to and bankruptcy remote from any operating company, in this case, Liberty.⁴
- 3. Securitization is a process authorized for the first time in Missouri by the legislature in the 2021 general legislative session.⁵
- 4. As authorized by the securitization statute, Liberty seeks authority from the Commission to create one or more wholly-owned special purpose entities, which will be incorporated as Delaware limited-liability companies with Liberty as the sole member. The special purpose entity, or entities, will serve as the issuer of the bonds. Liberty will then create and sell the right to impose, bill, and receive Securitized Utility Tariff Charges to the special purpose entities as issuer of the bonds. The special purpose entities will pay Liberty for the right to impose, bill, and receive the Securitized Utility Tariff Charges by issuing bonds, thereby acquiring all of Liberty's right, title, and interest to collect the Securitized Utility Tariff Charges from Liberty's ratepayers.⁶
- 5. The goal of securitization is to structure the securities in a way that will allow them to achieve the highest bond rating possible. That will allow the issuer to set the price for those bonds at the lowest interest rate possible, thus saving ratepayers money compared to the amount they would have to pay if a traditional method of financing, at a higher interest rate, were used.⁷

⁴ Niehaus Direct, Ex. 18, Page 3, Lines 2-3.

⁵ HB 734, Section 393.1700, RSMo, effective August 28, 2021.

⁶ Niehaus Direct, Ex. 18, Page 8, Lines 12-20.

⁷ DeCourcey Direct, Ex. 5, Page 6, Lines 7-13.

Conclusions of Law

- A. Liberty is an electric corporation as defined in Section 386.020(15), RSMo 2016.
- B. Section 393.1700.2(1) allows an electrical corporation, which includes Liberty, to petition the Commission for a financing order to allow for issuance of "securitized utility tariff bonds" to finance "energy transition costs."
- C. "Energy transition costs" are defined by Section 393.1700.1(7) as including all of the following:
 - (a) Pretax costs with respect to a retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility that is the subject of a petition for a financing order filed under this section where such early retirement or abandonment is deemed reasonable and prudent by the commission through a final order issued by the commission, include, but are not limited to, the undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith, costs of decommissioning and restoring the site of the electric generating facility, other applicable capital and operating costs, accrued carrying charges, and deferred expenses, with the foregoing to be reduced by applicable tax benefits of accumulated and excess deferred income taxes, insurance, scrap and salvage proceeds, and may include the cost of retiring any existing indebtedness, fees, costs, and expenses to modify existing debt agreements or for waivers or consents related to existing debt agreements;
 - (b) Pretax costs that an electrical corporation has previously incurred related to the retirement or abandonment of such an electrical generating facility occurring before August 28, 2021;
- D. Liberty sought to securitize "energy transition costs" associated with the retirement of its Asbury coal-fired electric generating plant in its petition in File No. EO-2022-0193.
- E. Section 393.1700.2(2) allows an electrical corporation, which includes Liberty, to petition the Commission for a financing order to allow for issuance of "securitized utility tariff bonds" to finance "qualified extraordinary costs."

F. "Qualified extraordinary costs" are defined Section 393.1700.1(13) as:

Costs incurred prudently before, on, or after August 28, 2021, of an extraordinary nature which would case extreme customer rate impacts if reflected in retail customer rates recovered through customary ratemaking, such as but not limited to purchases of fuel or power, inclusive of carrying charges, during anomalous weather events;

G. Liberty sought to securitize "qualified extraordinary costs" associated with the anomalous weather event of February 2021, known as Winter Storm Uri, in its petition in File No. EO-2022-0040.

Should the Commission issue separate financing orders for Liberty's petition for securitization of energy transition costs and its petition for securitization of qualified extraordinary costs? Or should it issue a combined financing order for the two petitions?

This issue was not identified by the parties. Rather it was raised by the Commission in deciding that the two petitions filed by Liberty would not be consolidated for all purposes.

Findings of Fact

6. Larger utility securitization issuances tend to benefit from improved investor marketability and secondary liquidity, which can support lower pricing of the issuance, resulting in lower costs for ratepayers.⁸

7. In addition, there are a number of transaction costs associated with the issuance of the securities that are fixed costs that do not vary with the amount being securitized. Issuing a single bond issue in a combined transaction would avoid duplication

⁸ Davis Rebuttal, Ex. 107, Page 9, Lines 20-21. See also, Ex. 24 and Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 530, Lines 12-18.

of those fixed costs.⁹ Avoiding the duplication of those fixed transaction costs could save over \$1 million in transaction costs.¹⁰

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

Decision

Given the likelihood of increased costs that would result from separate securitizations, the Commission will issue a single financing order regarding both energy transition costs and qualified extraordinary costs.

The Issues

The securitization statute¹¹ mandates that the Commission's order regarding the petitions for securitization authority include certain findings and other provisions. This order will meet all requirements of the statute. Not all of those requirements are contested. The order will first address the issues contested by the parties and then will address the additional statutory requirements that were not contested.

1) What amounts should the Commission authorize Liberty to finance using securitized utility tariff bonds?

Findings of Fact

This issue is simply a summation of all other issues identified in this order. As such there are no additional findings of fact applicable to this issue.

⁹ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 530, Lines 5-12., *See also*, Ex. 24 and Davis Rebuttal, Ex. 107, Pages 9-10, Lines 22-23, 1-2.

¹⁰ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 545, Lines 3-7. See also, Ex. 24.

¹¹ Section 393.1700, RSMo 2016

Conclusions of Law

H. Section 393.1700.2(3)k RSMo requires this securitization order to include:

"[a] statement specifying a future ratemaking process to reconcile any differences between the actual securitized utility tariff costs financed by securitized utility tariff bonds and the final securitized utility tariff costs incurred by the electrical corporation or assignee provided that any such reconciliation shall not affect the amount of securitized utility tariff bonds or the associated securitized utility tariff charges paid by customers.

Decision

This amount is the sum of the amounts of qualified extraordinary costs determined in issue 1A and the amount of energy transition costs determined in issue 1B, plus the amount of upfront financing costs determined in issue 4. That total is \$290,382,903.

A) What amounts of qualified extraordinary costs should the Commission authorize Liberty to finance for Winter Storm Uri?

Findings of Fact

- 8. Between February 13 and 20, 2021, three severe winter storms struck portions of the United States. That winter weather event has been termed Winter Storm Uri. Much of the Midwest, including Liberty's service area, experienced unseasonably cold temperatures, resulting in rolling electrical blackouts and extreme natural gas price spikes.¹²
- 9. During the peak price period of February 16 and 17, the price of natural gas escalated because of high demand and limited availability of natural gas due to production problems resulting from the extreme cold. Similarly, power prices for electricity with the Southwest Power Pool (SPP) also surged during Winter Storm Uri. SPP on-peak day ahead locational marginal prices for February 15 through 19 averaged 11,280 percent

.

¹² Olsen Direct, Ex. 9, Schedule JO-3, Page 6.

higher than the five-year average for the period, hitting \$3,821.05 per megawatt hour for February 18 delivery.¹³

- 10. During Winter Storm Uri, Liberty experienced natural gas pressure limitations that affected production at its natural gas-powered electrical production units.¹⁴
- 11. Liberty incurred approximately \$193 million in extraordinary fuel costs for service to Missouri customers arising from Winter Storm Uri. 15 Liberty seeks to recover those extraordinary fuel costs as "Qualified Extraordinary Costs" under the securitization statute.
- 12. Recovery of those fuel costs under the six-month recovery period established in Liberty's Fuel Adjustment Clause would create extreme customer rate impacts.¹⁶
- 13. In total, Liberty seeks authority to securitize \$221,645,532 for costs related to Winter Storm Uri. This amount includes approximately \$193,402,000 for fuel costs, \$24,169,000 for Carrying Costs, \$419,000 for Deferred Legal Costs, and \$3,655,000 for Upfront Costs.¹⁷

Conclusions of Law

I. Section 393.1700.1(13) defines "Qualified Extraordinary Costs as:

Costs incurred prudently before, on, or after August 28, 2021, of an extraordinary nature which would cause extreme customer rate impacts if reflected in retail customer rates recovered through customary ratemaking, such as but not limited to those related to purchases of fuel or power, inclusive of carrying charges, during anomalous weather events.

¹³ Olsen Direct, Ex. 9, Schedule JO-3, Page 15.

¹⁴ Olsen Direct, Ex. 9, Schedule JO-3, Pages 27-35.

¹⁵ Doll Direct, Ex. 2, Page 13, Lines 4-6.

¹⁶ DeCourcey Direct, Ex. 5, Page 5, Lines 1-8.

¹⁷ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 10, Figure CTE-2.

J. Section 393.1700.2(2), RSMo sets out the content that must be included in a utility's petition for a financing order to finance qualified extraordinary costs.

Decision¹⁸

The Commission finds that Liberty's cost in the amount of \$199,561,572 incurred by Liberty in relation to Winter Storm Uri are prudently incurred costs of an extraordinary nature that would cause extreme customer rate impacts if reflected in customer rates recovered through customary ratemaking and as such are "Qualified Extraordinary Costs" as defined in Section 393.1700.1(13), RSMo. The Commission further finds that Winter Storm Uri was an "anomalous weather event" within the meaning of that statutory definition.

B) What amounts of energy transition costs should the Commission authorize Liberty to finance for Asbury?

Findings of Fact

- 14. Asbury Unit 1 was a coal-fired Babcock & Wilcox cyclone steam generator that was commissioned in 1970. When it began operations, it had a nominal rating of 206 MW and sourced its coal onsite via mine mouth operation. In 1990, the plant was converted to use a blend of low-sulfur Wyoming coal and local bituminous coal¹⁹
- 15. A selective catalytic reduction system was installed at Asbury in 2008 to reduce nitrogen oxide emissions. In 2014, the Asbury plant was retrofitted with an Air Quality Control System (AQCS) to comply with federal environmental regulations.²⁰

¹⁸ The number indicated in this section is derived from the Commission decisions on particular issues described subsequently in this order.

¹⁹ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 3, Lines 12-18.

²⁰ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 4, Lines 11-20.

- 16. Asbury was retired near the beginning of 2020, and decommissioning and dismantling of the plant is ongoing.²¹
- 17. Liberty seeks to recover \$140,774,376 in energy transition costs for Asbury.²²

Conclusions of Law

- K. Section 393.1700.1(7) defines "Energy Transition Costs" as including all of the following:
 - (a) Pretax costs with respect to a retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility that is the subject of a petition for a financing order filed under this section where such early retirement or abandonment is deemed reasonable and prudent by the commission through a final order issued by the commission, include, but are not limited to, the undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith, costs decommissioning and restoring the site of the electric generating facility, other applicable capital and operating costs, accrued carrying charges, and deferred expenses, with the foregoing to be reduced by applicable tax benefits of accumulated and excess deferred income taxes, insurance, scrap and salvage proceeds, and may include the cost of retiring any existing indebtedness, fees, costs, and expenses to modify existing debt agreements or for waivers or consents related to existing debt agreements:
 - (b) Pretax costs that an electrical corporation has previously incurred related to the retirement or abandonment of such an electric generating facility occurring before August 28, 2021.
- L. Section 393.1700.2(1), RSMo sets out the content that must be included in a utility's petition for a financing order to finance energy transition costs.

²¹ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 5, Lines 15-20.

²² Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 1, Lines 20-21.

Decision²³

The Commission finds that Liberty's energy transition costs related to the retirement of its Asbury electrical generating plant in the amount of \$82,921,331 may be financed using securitized utility tariff bonds and recovery of such is just and reasonable.

2) Winter Storm Uri

- What amount of costs, if any, that Liberty is seeking to securitize would Liberty recover through customary ratemaking?
- What is the appropriate method of customary ratemaking absent securitization?
- Under RSMo 393.1700.2(2)(e), what is the "customary method of financing"? What are the costs that would result "from the application of the customary method of financing and reflecting the qualified extraordinary costs in retail customer rates"? and
- Should Liberty's recovery include more than 95% of fuel and purchased power costs?

These four sub-issues are interrelated and the Commission will address them together.

Findings of Fact

- 18. Liberty incurred approximately \$193 million in extraordinary fuel costs for its Missouri customers during Winter Storm Uri.²⁴
- 19. Absent securitization, Liberty would recover its fuel and purchased power costs through a combination of its general rates and the Fuel Adjustment Clause (FAC) which is established within its tariff.²⁵
- 20. Liberty's FAC does not allow the company to recover 100 percent of its fuel and purchased power costs. Rather, the FAC includes a 95/5 sharing mechanism by

²³ The number indicated in this section is derived from the Commission decisions on particular issues described subsequently in this order.

²⁴ Doll Direct, Ex. 2, Page 13, Lines 4-6.

²⁵ Mastrogiannis Rebuttal, Ex. 104, Pages 7-8, Lines 20-21, 1-2.

which the company is allowed to recover only 95 percent of its fuel and purchased power costs through the FAC.²⁶

- 21. The Commission included the 95/5 sharing mechanism in Liberty's FAC to provide the company an incentive to operate at an optimal efficiency while still providing the company an opportunity to earn a fair return on its investment.²⁷
- 22. The same sharing incentive would give Liberty an incentive to plan for and to efficiently manage extraordinary events that could lead to a request to securitize extraordinary fuel costs.²⁸
- 23. Because of the extraordinary amount of the fuel and purchased power costs associated with Winter Storm Uri, Liberty did not seek to recover those costs through its FAC. Instead, it requested an Accounting Authority Order (AAO) in Commission File No. EU-2021-0274, seeking recovery of the Winter Storm Uri related costs as well as the remaining five percent of those February 2021 fuel and purchased power costs, carrying costs and other storm related costs, including outside legal fees. Following the passage of the securitization statute, Liberty sought to recover those costs it would have deferred through the AAO through the securitization proposed in this case.²⁹ Liberty's request for an AAO remains pending before the Commission, but is being held in abeyance pending resolution of this case.³⁰
- 24. Under an AAO, the utility is allowed to defer extraordinary costs for possible recovery in a future rate case. The Commission could allow recovery under an

²⁶ Mastrogiannis Rebuttal, Ex. 104, Page 8, Lines 2-18.

²⁷ Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 289, Lines 18-25.

²⁸ Mantle Rebuttal, Ex. 200, Page 29, Lines 13-16.

²⁹ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 3, Lines 2-21.

³⁰ See, EU-2021-0274, Order Directing Filing, Issued April 4, 2022.

appropriate amortization period with the utility being allowed appropriate carrying costs during the period of amortization. Under these circumstances, Staff would likely recommend at least a ten-year amortization period, with carrying costs calculated at the company's long-term debt rate.³¹

25. If an AAO was established, Staff would not recommend deferral or recovery of the five percent of the utility's share of fuel and purchased power costs under the FAC. Staff contends it is appropriate to expect Liberty's shareholders to share in the financial impact of Winter Storm Uri.³²

Conclusions of Law

M. Section 386.266.1, RSMo allows an electrical corporation to apply to the Commission to approve rate schedules that allow for "periodic rate adjustments outside of general rate proceedings to reflect increases and decreases in its prudently incurred fuel and purchased power costs." That section also allows the Commission to "include in such rate schedules features designed to provide the electrical corporation with incentives to improve the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of its fuel and purchased power procurement activities." The 95/5 sharing provision in Liberty's FAC tariff is designed to provide such an incentive.

N. In its report and order that initially established Liberty's FAC, the Commission found that "a prudence review can be expected to evaluate the major decisions a utility makes. However, a utility makes thousands of small decisions every

³¹ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 4, Lines 1-19.

³² Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Pages 4-5, Lines 20-23, 1-8.

hour regarding fuel, purchased power, and off-system sales. It is not practical to expect a prudence review to uncover and evaluate every one of those decisions."³³

- O. Commission Rule 20 CSR 4240-20.090(8)(A)2.A(XI) provides that extraordinary costs are not to be passed through the company's FAC.
- P. The securitization statute, Section 393.1700.2(3)(c) requires a financing order issued by the Commission to include all of the following elements:
 - a. The amount of securitized utility tariff costs to be financed using securitized utility tariff bonds and a finding that recovery of such costs is just and reasonable and in the public interest. The commission shall describe and estimate the amount of financing costs that may be recovered through securitized utility tariff charges and specify the period over which securitized utility tariff costs and financing costs may be recovered;
 - b. A finding that the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of a securitized utility tariff charge are just and reasonable and in the public interest and are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds. Notwithstanding any provisions of this section to the contrary, in considering whether to find the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of a securitized utility tariff charge are just and reasonable and in the public interest, the commission may consider previous instances where it has issued financing orders to the petitioning electrical corporation and such electrical corporation has previously issued securitized utility tariff bonds; ...

(emphasis added)

There are two important provisions of this section of the statute that should be noted. First, the section explicitly requires the Commission to determine that the imposition and collection of the utility tariff charge that will result from the securitization of these costs will be just and reasonable and in the public interest. Second, in making its determination as to whether the securitization of these costs is just and reasonable and in the public

³³ In the Matter of The Empire District Electric Company's Tariffs to Increase Rates for Electric Service Provided to Customers in the Missouri Service Area of the Company, 17, Mo. P.S.C. 631, 667 (2008)

interest, the Commission is directed to compare the results of the securitization to the results of a recovery of those costs using traditional (non-securitization) methods.

Q. Liberty asserts that it has a general right to recover all prudently incurred costs. The Missouri Supreme Court has found otherwise. In a 2021 case, *Spire Missouri, Inc. v. Public Service Commission*,³⁴ Spire Missouri challenged the Commission's decision to disallow a portion of the company's prudently incurred cost of pursuing its general rate case. In upholding the Commission's decision, the Supreme Court said:

In terms of their reasonableness, these expenditures were entitled to a presumption of prudence, and the *prudence* of the expenditures was never called into question. Nonetheless, the PSC concluded that including all of these expenditures in setting Spire's future rates was not *just* because some of the expenses were not fair to ratepayers in that they were incurred to benefit (if anyone) Spire's shareholders. Implicit in Spire's argument is an assertion that it is entitled to recover all prudent expenditures in its rates. This is not so. In setting rates the PSC has broad discretion to include or exclude expenditures to arrive at rates it deems to be 'just and reasonable,' subject, of course, to judicial review that the PSC's conclusions are supported by competent and substantial evidence and not arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion. (Internal citations omitted. Emphasis in original.)

Decision

Under customary methods of ratemaking, Liberty would recover its Winter Storm Uri related fuel and purchased power costs by starting with its FAC. Liberty's FAC includes a 95/5 sharing provision by which the company recovers 95 percent of those costs. In the rate cases in which Liberty's FAC was established, the Commission found that the sharing mechanism was necessary to ensure the company had sufficient financial incentive and motivation to operate at maximum efficiency. The same financial incentives and motivations apply in the situation facing Liberty during Winter Storm Uri.

³⁴ 618 S.W.3d 225 (Mo. banc 2021).

The prudence of Liberty's decisions relating to Winter Storm Uri will be addressed in subsequent issues, but for this issue, prudence is not relevant. The securitization statute specifically requires the Commission to compare the results of securitization to the results under traditional methods of cost recovery. It also requires the Commission to find that the imposition and collection of the utility tariff charge resulting from the securitization of these costs will be just and reasonable and in the public interest.

The Commission finds that allowing Liberty to use securitization to recover the five percent of its fuel and purchased power costs related to Winter Storm Uri that it would not be permitted to recover under traditional methods of rate making is not just and reasonable, nor is it in the public interest.

E) Should Liberty's recovery reflect an offset based on higher than normal customer revenues received by Liberty during Winter Storm Uri?

Findings of Fact

26. During the abnormally cold weather resulting from Winter Storm Uri, Liberty sold more electricity than it would have sold during a normal February. Staff compared Liberty's actual revenues to its expected revenues during a normal February and concluded that Liberty collected \$2,760,686 in "excess" revenues. Staff proposes to use this amount of "excess" revenue to partially offset the "Qualified Extraordinary Costs" incurred by Liberty.³⁵

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

³⁵ Lange Rebuttal, Ex. 108, Page 33, Lines 11-16. *See also,* McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 5, Lines 12-17.

Decision

As the Commission previously concluded, the securitization statute requires the Commission to find that the recovery of costs to be financed using securitized utility tariff bonds is just and reasonable and in the public interest. Staff seeks to use this requirement to justify the offset of \$2,760,688 in "excess" revenues. Staff's proposal is not justified.

The securitization statute defines what is to be treated as a qualified extraordinary cost and that definition does not call for any offset of revenues against those costs. This is the same argument that Liberty raised against the inclusion of a five percent reduction in fuel and purchased power discussed in the previous issue. But that argument is applicable here, while it was not in the other circumstance.

The difference is that Staff's theory of offsetting revenue would not be a part of the company's recovery under traditional ratemaking. In traditional ratemaking no revenue adjustment is made for the effect of past weather. If a summer is hot and an electric company sells a lot of electricity to run air conditioners, no adjustment is made to reduce the company's rates to retroactively claw back that "excess" revenue. Similarly, the company would not be allowed to increase its rates to remedy the shortfall in expected revenue that would result from a cooler than normal summer. Going forward a company's future rates would be normalized to account for the effect of weather, but that weather normalization would affect future rates, and would not be used to balance out the effect on revenue resulting from past weather.

Staff's proposal is not founded in traditional ratemaking and the proposed offsetting of qualified extraordinary costs eligible for securitization under the securitization statute would not be just and reasonable. Staff's proposed offset is rejected.

F) Should Liberty's recovery reflect an offset based on revenues that Liberty's Riverton 11 unit should have generated during Winter Storm Uri, and, if so, how much?

Findings of Fact

- 27. Riverton Unit 11 is a 1966 Westinghouse W191 dual fuel turbine that Liberty purchased used. The turbine was placed into service in 1988 at the Riverton generating station in Riverton, Kansas.³⁶
- 28. Riverton Unit 11, and its sister unit, Riverton Unit 10, each with a generating capacity of 15 MW, run on natural gas as a primary fuel, but are capable for running on fuel oil (diesel) as a backup fuel source.³⁷
- 29. Due to air permit restrictions imposed by the Kansas Department of Health and Environment, Riverton Units 10 and 11 do not routinely operate on fuel oil.³⁸
- 30. The use of fuel oil in Riverton Units 10 and 11 is permitted only under the following conditions:
 - a. The natural gas delivery system must break down and the required gas supply become unavailable to Liberty;
 - b. The power requirements from the Riverton station cannot be assumed by power generating equipment other than Unit 10 and Unit 11; and
 - c. The owner or operator shall be permitted to use distillate fuel oils as needed to meet the black start testing requirements by any Federal or State regulatory agency. Water injection will not be required during black start testing. None of the electricity produced during the black start testing shall be sold on the bulk electric system.³⁹

³⁶ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 5, Lines 1-3.

³⁷ Hull Rebuttal, Ex. 105, Page 2, Lines 3-7.

³⁸ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 5, Lines 20-26.

³⁹ Hull Rebuttal, Ex. 105, Page 3, Lines 12-22. These limitations are found in the Kansas air permit, pages 11-12. That permit is attached to Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Schedule BM-2.

- 31. Riverton Unit 10 was on forced outage beginning on February 8, 2021, before Winter Storm Uri, and was not available for use at any time during the storm.⁴⁰
- 32. On February 12, 2021, at the start of Winter Storm Uri, Riverton Unit 11 was forced into outage due to a limited natural gas supply.⁴¹
- 33. Liberty notified the Kansas Department of Health and Environment of the emergency conditions on the morning of February 15, 2021, and the Kansas authorities authorized the use of fuel oil to power Riverton Unit 11 at that time.⁴²
- 34. After receiving permission to use fuel oil to power Riverton Unit 11, Liberty unsuccessfully attempted to start that unit, beginning at 12:01 p.m. on February 15, 2021. Liberty tried to start the unit another 26 times over the next 28 hours but it would not start.⁴³
- 35. At the time Liberty began trying to start Riverton Unit 11 the temperature as measured by the plant's weather station was -0.7 degrees Fahrenheit. These are difficult conditions in which to start a turbine on diesel fuel.⁴⁴ The extreme cold was likely the reason the unit would not start.⁴⁵
- 36. Electric production from Riverton Unit 11 would have been very valuable during Winter Storm Uri. Staff calculated that Liberty had enough fuel oil in storage at Riverton to allow Riverton Unit 11 to run for a set number of hours during Winter Storm Uri. Staff then calculated a price for that available run time from February 15 using hourly day ahead locational market prices published by the SPP integrated resource market at

⁴⁰ Hull Rebuttal, Ex. 105, Page 3, Lines 3-5.

⁴¹ Hull Rebuttal, Ex. 105, Page 3, Lines 6-7.

⁴² Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 7, Lines 11-15.

⁴³ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 7, Lines 11-17

⁴⁴ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 7, Lines 18-24.

⁴⁵ Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 197, Lines 6-13.

Liberty's Riverton node. Staff took the sum of the prices for the amount of hours Riverton Unit 11 could have run and multiplied it by the 15 MW of electricity that the unit could have produced if it has been able to start, and calculated that Liberty had lost the opportunity to earn several million dollars in sales revenue for its customers if Riverton Unit 11 had been able to start.⁴⁶ Staff proposed that the amount that Liberty might have earned if Riverton Unit 11 had been started be disallowed from Liberty's recovery because Liberty's failure to tune the unit for operation in winter ambient temperatures was imprudent.⁴⁷

- 37. Public Counsel noted that Staff's proposed disallowance was based on the number of hours that Riverton Unit 11 could have run using the amount of available fuel oil. The fuel oil tanks at Riverton were not full at the start of Winter Storm Uri. If the fuel oil tanks had been full, Riverton Unit 11 could have been run longer and earned more money. On the basis that Liberty's failure to keep its fuel oil tanks full was imprudent, Public Counsel calculated that the disallowance proposed by Staff should have been substantially larger. Public Counsel proposed a disallowance in that larger amount. ⁴⁸
- 38. Liberty's witness, Dr. Brian Mushimba, who is the Senior Director for Generation Operations Central Region for Liberty, and holds a Ph.D. in engineering,⁴⁹ credibly explained:

⁴⁶ Hull Rebuttal, Ex. 105, Page 7, Lines 3-17. The description of the disallowance proposed by Staff and Public Counsel is deliberately vague because the details of Liberty's black start capabilities and the related numbers are designated as confidential or highly confidential.

⁴⁷ Hull Rebuttal, Ex. 105, Page 8, Lines 8-11.

⁴⁸ Robinett Surrebuttal, Ex. 211, Pages 4-5, Lines 3-22, 1-18.

⁴⁹ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 1, Lines 12-13. In contrast to Dr. Mushimba's training as an engineer and experience regarding operation of electrical generating units, Staff's witness, Jordan T. Hull, has a degree in biological engineering, and has never been responsible for tuning or starting a combustion turbine such as Riverton Unit 11. Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 310, Lines 16-19.

tuning a generation turbine is a complex task of adjustment or modification of the internal combustion of the engine of the unit to yield optimal performance and efficiency at given ambient temperatures. It's an iterative process that ensures that at a given ambient temperature, the fuel-oxygen ratio and the subsequent combustion is optimal and the resultant energy output is maximized while controlling undesirable byproducts of the combustion, such as emissions.⁵⁰

- 39. The tuning process requires several months of advance planning to implement.⁵¹ Further, in order to tune the unit for use at a particular temperature, the ambient air must be at that temperature. In other words, to tune the unit to sub-zero temperatures, the air temperature must be sub-zero.⁵²
- 40. Tuning a unit to operate on natural gas does not improve the performance of the unit when operating on fuel oil.⁵³
- 41. Liberty's air permit from the Kansas Department of Health and Environment did not authorize the burning of fuel oil for the purpose of tuning Riverton Unit 11.⁵⁴
- 42. As previously found, Liberty's air permit does allow for the burning of fuel oil to meet black start testing requirements.⁵⁵
- 43. A black start is a circumstance in which a utility must restart its electrical generating system after a blackout. Most electrical generating units require flowing electricity to be able to start. In a total blackout no flowing electricity will be available, so a black start unit must be able to begin generating electricity on its own, which it can then send into the distribution system to restart additional generation units.⁵⁶

⁵⁰ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 5, Lines 5-12.

⁵¹ Transcript, Vol. 3, Pages 202-203, 2-25, 1-6.

⁵² Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 194, Lines 3-10.

⁵³ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 7, Lines 1-10.

⁵⁴ Mushimba, Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 6, Lines 6-7.

⁵⁵ As previously indicated much of the testimony surrounding black start capabilities is confidential or highly confidential

⁵⁶ Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 192, Lines 13-22.

- 44. Black start testing is not the same as tuning and is an involved process that cannot be undertaken in an emergency situation.⁵⁷
- 45. Riverton Unit 11 was not designated with SPP as a black start unit at the time of Winter Storm Uri.⁵⁸

Conclusions of Law

R. The disallowance proposed by Staff and Public Counsel challenges the prudence of Liberty's decision not to tune Riverton Unit 11 to operate at the extremely cold temperatures experienced during Winter Storm Uri. The Commission has described its prudence standard as follows:

The company's conduct should be judged by asking whether the conduct was reasonable at the time, under all circumstances, considering that the company had to solve its problems prospectively rather than in reliance on hindsight. In effect, our responsibility is to determine how reasonable people would have performed the tasks that confronted the company.⁵⁹

S. The Commission's prudence standard also presumes that a utility's costs have been prudently incurred. However, that presumption does not survive a showing of inefficiency or improvidence. If some other participant in the proceeding creates "a serious doubt as to the prudence of an expenditure, then the applicant has the burden of dispelling these doubts and proving the questioned expenditure to have been prudent." 60

⁵⁷ Transcript, Vol. 4 (confidential), Pages. 3-15. Dr. Mushimba described the black start testing requirements in detail during in camera portions of the hearing.

⁵⁸ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Pages 8-9, Lines 7-24, 1-16. Dr. Mushimba provides much more detail about the designation of black start units in his testimony, but that testimony is designated as confidential. ⁵⁹ In the Matter of Union Electric Company of St. Louis, Missouri, for authority to file tariffs increasing rates for electric service provided to customers in the Missouri service area of the Company, and In the Matter of the determination of in-service criteria for the Union Electric Company's Callaway Nuclear Plant and Callaway rate base and related issues, 27 Mo. P.S.C. (N.S.) 164, 194 (1984), quoting, In re. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. 45 P.U.R., 4th, 1982. ⁶⁰ Union Electric, at 193

- T. The Commission's prudence standard has subsequently been recognized by reviewing courts.⁶¹
- U. Liberty's witness, John J. Reed, provides a succinct description of the regulatory prudence standard in his surrebuttal testimony. The Commission will adopt that description:

The standard for the evaluation of whether costs are, or are not, prudently incurred is built on four principles. First, prudence relates to actions and decisions. Costs themselves are neither prudent nor imprudent. It is the decision or action that led to cost incurrence that must be reviewed and assessed, not the results of those decisions. In other words, prudence is a measure of the quality of decision-making, and does not reflect how the decisions turned out. The second feature is a presumption of prudence, which is often referred to as a rebuttable presumption. The burden of showing that a decision is outside of the reasonable bounds falls, at least initially, on the party challenging the utility's actions. The third feature is the total exclusion of hindsight from a properly constructed prudence review. A utility's decisions must be judged based upon what was known or reasonably knowable at the time of the decision being made by the utility. Information that was not known or reasonably knowable at the time of the decision being made cannot be considered in evaluating reasonableness of a decision and subsequent information on "how things turned out" cannot influence the evaluation of the prudence of a decision. The final feature is that decisions being reviewed need to be compared to a range of reasonable behavior; prudence does not require perfection, nor does prudence require achieving the lowest possible cost. This standard recognizes that reasonable people can differ and that there is a range of reasonable actions and decisions that is consistent with prudence. Simply put, a decision can only be labelled as imprudent if it can be shown that such a decision was outside the bounds of what a reasonable person would have done under those circumstances.⁶²

⁶¹ See, e.g., State ex rel. Associated Natural Gas Co. v. Pub. Serv. Com'n, 954 S.W. 2d 520 (Mo. App. W.D. 1997. See also. Office of Public Counsel v. Mo. Pub. Serv. Com'n, 409 S.W.3d 371 (Mo. banc 2013) (A presumption of prudence is appropriately applied in arms-length transactions, but not in transactions with affiliates.)

⁶² Reed Surrebuttal, Ex. 1, Pages 7-8, Lines 5-24, 1-2.

Decision

Liberty could have made substantial off-system sales if it had been able to start operating Riverton Unit 11 on fuel oil during the supply disruptions and resulting high electricity market prices occasioned by Winter Storm Uri. Staff and Public Counsel argue that Liberty would have been able to start that unit on fuel oil if it had properly tuned the unit on fuel oil to the type of temperatures likely to be encountered in the winter months. That argument is not supported by the evidence.

First, Liberty's air permit from the Kansas Department of Health and Environment did not allow Liberty to burn fuel oil in Riverton Unit 11 except in specified emergency conditions, the most important being that the natural gas supply for the turbine must have become unavailable. During Winter Storm Uri the natural gas supply did indeed become unavailable and the Kansas authorities responded by allowing Liberty to burn fuel oil in that unit. Unfortunately, despite repeated efforts, Liberty was unable to start the unit on fuel oil.

The Kansas air permit did allow Liberty to burn fuel oil to "meet the black start testing requirements by any Federal or State regulatory agency." However, Riverton Unit 11 was not designated as a black start unit with SPP at the time of Winter Storm Uri, so no black start testing requirements would have been applicable to that unit. As a result, the exceptions contained in the Kansas air permit would not have applied, and Liberty was forbidden to burn fuel oil in the unit.

In any event, black start testing is not the same as tuning. There was no evidence that black start testing would have to be done at any particular time of the year. Thus, black start testing could have been performed during the summer, or even during more moderate winter weather, and Liberty still would not have discovered that the unit would not start on fuel oil at sub-zero temperatures.

In summary, Liberty's air permit from Kansas authorities did not allow Liberty to burn fuel oil in Riverton Unit 11 for purpose of tuning that unit to operate during extremely cold weather. The Commission will not find that Liberty was imprudent for failing to violate that air permit. Even if Liberty had been permitted to tune the unit using fuel oil rather than natural gas, there is no indication that tuning the unit would have made any difference in Liberty's ability to start the unit on fuel oil in sub-zero temperatures.

Public Counsel's argument that Liberty was imprudent in not ensuring that its fuel oil tanks at Riverton were kept full before Winter Storm Uri is an extension of Staff's argument that Liberty was imprudent in failing to tune Riverton Unit 11 to operate in winter weather conditions. Since Staff's argument fails, Public Counsel's extension of that argument must also fail.

There was no evidence presented that would support a finding of imprudence, and the Commission will make no adjustments on that basis.

G) Should Liberty's recovery reflect a disallowance based on Liberty's resource planning?

Findings of Fact

- 46. Liberty is a member of the Southwest Power Pool (SPP).
- 47. Utilities that are members of an RTO commonly rely on market purchases as one source of generation in their portfolio.⁶³

⁶³ Reed Surrebuttal, Ex. 1, Page 15, Lines 16-17.

- 48. Liberty is in compliance with SPP's Resource Adequacy requirements,⁶⁴ meaning Liberty needs to have accredited capacity 12 percent greater than its forecasted peak load.⁶⁵
- 49. SPP uses complex and accepted methodologies to develop its resource adequacy requirements, including a biennial Loss of Load Expectation study with a "one day in ten year" criterion for determining reserve margins for resource adequacy requirements.⁶⁶
- 50. Near the start of 2020,⁶⁷ Liberty retired its 200 MW Asbury coal plant.⁶⁸ The prudence of that retirement will be addressed in more detail later in this order with regard to securitization of Energy Transition Costs.
- 51. Liberty undertook an analysis of Asbury's economics in both 2017 and 2019, finding in its 2019 Integrated Resource Plan that retiring Asbury would result in significant savings for Liberty's customers.⁶⁹

Conclusions of Law

V. The Commission's electric utility resource planning rule, 20 CSR 4240-22.010(2) states in part:

The fundamental objective of the resource planning process at electric utilities shall be to provide the public with energy services that are safe, reliable, and efficient, at just and reasonable rates, in compliance with all legal mandates, and in a manner that serves the public interest and is consistent with state energy and environmental policies. ...

⁶⁴ Doll Direct, Ex. 2, Page 8, Lines 4-5.

⁶⁵ Mantle Rebuttal, Ex. 200, Page 24, Lines 6-7.

⁶⁶ Doll Surrebuttal, Ex. 4, Page 17, Lines 11-14.

⁶⁷ The exact retirement date is at issue in other aspects of this case.

⁶⁸ Doll Surrebuttal, Ex. 4, Page 4, Line 20.

⁶⁹ Doll Direct, Ex. 3, Page 3, Lines 20-22.

Decision

Public Counsel argues that Liberty's decision to retire its Asbury coal-fired plant was imprudent. The aspect of that decision that is at issue regarding Liberty's recovery of Winter Storm Uri fuel costs is Public Counsel's allegation that Liberty imprudently failed to plan to secure and retain sufficient capacity that it controls to meet the needs of its customers independent of its membership in, and purchases from, SPP. Public Counsel points to the unique circumstances that occurred during Winter Storm Uri to argue that Liberty should not have relied on the collective capacity available in the SPP market to serve its load, because, as shown by the events of Uri, that capacity can become very expensive when SPP's available capacity becomes strained.

No doubt, if Liberty had more capacity available to sell into the SPP market during Winter Storm Uri, it could have earned enough from those sales to offset the fuel costs that it now seeks to securitize. But that fact is entirely based on perfect hindsight. Liberty planned to have sufficient capacity to meet all requirements established by SPP. Other than showing a bad result, Public Counsel has not demonstrated any imprudence in Liberty's planning process. The Commission will not impose the disallowance proposed by Public Counsel.

H) Should Liberty's recovery reflect a disallowance for income tax deductions for Winter Storm Uri costs?

Findings of Fact

52. Public Counsel asserts that Liberty expects to claim a Missouri jurisdictional tax deduction of \$204,500,939 on the 2021 consolidated income tax return,⁷⁰ resulting in a tax savings due to the Winter Storm Uri loss of \$48,753,024. Public Counsel would

⁷⁰ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 21, Lines 10-11.

gross that amount up to \$64,012,720 and add carrying charges to bring the total reduction to \$68,346,382.⁷¹ Public Counsel argues this tax benefit should be recognized as a reduction in the amount of securitization.⁷²

53. Public Counsel incorrectly asserts that the proceeds Liberty will receive from the securitization bonds are not taxable, so the company will be compensated, yet still enjoy a tax break for the loss.⁷³ In fact, the charges that will be used to pay the bonds is taxed as income to the utility.⁷⁴ Public Counsel's witness acknowledged that fact in his testimony at the hearing.⁷⁵

54. The tax treatment of Winter Storm Uri losses may create a tax timing issue that will result in an adjustment of Accumulate Deferred Income Tax (ADIT) as an offset to Liberty's rate base. Customers do not receive the recorded amount of the ADIT liability, instead, they benefit because ADIT liability reduces rate base and customers are charged a lower revenue requirement reflecting the lower cost of capital.⁷⁶

Conclusions of Law

W. Public Counsel's witness cites two provisions of the securitization statute to support his suggestion to use Liberty's asserted tax deduction as an offset to the amount to be securitized for Qualified Extraordinary Costs related to Winter Storm Uri. First, he cites the definition of "Energy Transition Costs" in Section 393.1700.1(7), RSMo, which includes some provisions relating to tax benefits of accumulated and excess deferred income taxes. However, the Winter Storm Uri costs are Qualified Extraordinary Cost, not

⁷¹ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 21, Lines 15-19.

⁷² Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 21, Lines 12-13

⁷³ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 22, Lines 11-13.

⁷⁴ Bolin Surrebuttal, Ex. 103, Page 5, Lines 5-9.

⁷⁵ Transcript, Vol. 5, Page 391, Lines 6-14.

⁷⁶ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 38, Lines 12-19.

Energy Transition Costs, and the definition of such costs, found at Section 393.1700.1(13), RSMo, contains no provisions regarding income taxes.

- X. Public Counsel's witness also cites Section 393.1700.1(8), RSMo, which includes various taxes within the definition of "Financing Costs." Again, the costs in question are qualified extraordinary costs, not financing costs.
- Y. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)m calls for special treatment of ADIT, but only for energy transition costs and qualified extraordinary expenses that include retired or abandoned facility costs. Those provision do not apply to Winter Storm Uri costs.
- Z. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)k, RSMo. requires that this order provide for a reconciliation process that would require Liberty to account for any potential tax benefits that may lower its actual securitized utility tariff costs associated with Winter Storm Uri through a future rate case.

Decision

Public Counsel's proposal that income tax deductions for Winter Storm Uri costs be disallowed from the costs to be securitized is not supported by the facts or the law, and the Commission will not make that disallowance.

I) What are the appropriate carrying costs for Winter Storm Uri? Findings of Fact

55. Liberty incurred Winter Storm Uri costs in February, 2021, but has not yet recovered those costs from its customers. The securitization statute allows Liberty to securitize and recover carrying costs. Liberty contends those carrying costs should be

calculated at its Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC), 6.77 percent, which the Commission set in Liberty's 2019 rate case, File No. ER-2019-0374.⁷⁷

- 56. Staff agrees that Liberty must be allowed to recover carrying costs for Winter Storm Uri, but contends those carrying costs should be calculated using Liberty's long-term debt rate of 4.65 percent.⁷⁸
- 57. The Winter Storm Uri costs are operating costs, not capital improvements or replacements to existing plant and equipment. It is inappropriate for Liberty to be allowed a profit on expenditures for the purchase of energy, as it would if carrying costs were calculated using its WACC.⁷⁹
- 58. Public Counsel contends carrying costs should be recovered at Liberty's short-term cost of debt as they will, in fact be carried for less than two years.⁸⁰
- 59. Public Counsel argues the short-term debt rate used should be Liberty's parent company's (LUCo's) average short-term debt rate for each month, starting with the financing of Winter Storm Uri costs in February 2021 until the securitized bonds are issued.⁸¹

Conclusions of Law

AA. Section 393.1700.1(13), which defines "qualified extraordinary costs" for purposes of the securitization statute, specifically states that such costs include carrying charges. The statute does not further define carrying charges.

⁷⁷ Hall Direct, Ex. 6, Page 4, Lines 14-20.

⁷⁸ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 4, Lines 11-16. (As corrected at Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 211.)

⁷⁹ Murray Rebuttal, Ex. 206, Page 3, Lines 20-23.

⁸⁰ Murray Rebuttal, Ex. 206, Page 6, Lines 1-17.

⁸¹ Murray Rebuttal, Ex. 206, Pages 7-8, Lines 12-15, 1-4. (As corrected at Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 501.)

Decision

The Commission believes that Staff's proposal to calculate carrying costs for Winter Storm Uri related costs at Liberty's long-term debt rate of 4.65 percent is most appropriate because the costs to be securitized are not capital costs and there is no reason Liberty should be allowed to earn a profit on those costs. Public Counsel's proposal to use monthly short-term debt rates for the purposes of calculating carrying costs is also inappropriate as the term to which the short-term debt rates would be applied is a period approaching two years.

J) What is the appropriate discount rate to use in calculating the net present value of Winter Storm Uri costs that would be recovered through customary ratemaking?

Findings of Fact

60. Staff's witness, Mark Davis, an investment banker, offered his opinion that a reasonable discount rate to use for Winter Storm Uri costs is the company's long-term cost of debt of 4.65 percent.⁸²

Conclusions of Law

BB. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)b requires that this financing order make a finding that the proposed securitization is expected to "provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers" as compared to recovery of those costs without the issuance of the securitized bonds. In order to make that comparison, the Commission must determine the appropriate discount rate to be used in the calculations of the amounts that would be recovered without securitization.

⁸² Transcript, Vol. 7, Pages 614-615, Lines 22-25-1.

Decision

This issue simply asks what discount rate should be plugged into a formula to determine whether securitization would be a benefit to Liberty's customers. It does not have a direct impact on the amount that Liberty should be allowed to recover through securitization. The Commission believes the appropriate discount rate to use in calculating the net present value of Winter Storm Uri costs that would be recovered through customary ratemaking is Liberty's long-term debt rate of 4.65 percent as proposed by Staff witness Mark Davis.

3) Asbury

A) How much of the amounts, if any, that Liberty is seeking to securitize for Asbury would Liberty recover through traditional ratemaking?

Findings of Fact

61. Staff witness Amanda McMellen testified that Liberty's total energy transition costs, including carrying costs, should be \$66,107,823.83

Conclusions of Law

CC. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)b, RSMo requires the Commission to find that the securitization process are expected to provide net present value benefits to customers when compared to recovery of costs through other, traditional methods of ratemaking.

Decision

It is not clear why this question was identified as a separate issue by the parties. Staff suggests that Liberty should not be allowed to recover energy transition costs aside from what it would be able to recover through traditional ratemaking. Staff then argues that the amount Liberty should be allowed to recover will be determined by the answers

⁸³ Ex. 113, Page 1, Line 1.

to the other identified issues. No other party addresses this issue in their briefs. The Commission agrees that the total energy transition costs will be determined by the answers to the other identified issues and concludes a separate finding about this particular issue is not needed.

- B) What is the appropriate method of customary ratemaking absent securitization? and
- C) Under RSMo 393.1700.2(1)(f), what is the "traditional method of financing"? What are the costs that would result "from the application of the traditional method of financing and recovering the undepreciated investment of facilities that may become securitized utility tariff costs from customers"?

Findings of Fact

- 62. In compliance with the Commission's order in the company's 2019 rate case, File No. ER-2019-0374, Liberty established a regulatory liability account to track the costs associated with the retiring of Asbury.⁸⁴
- 63. In traditional ratemaking, Liberty would include the various components of the Asbury retirement costs as regulatory asset and liability balances in its rate base total or in its proposed revenue requirements. Those costs would be amortized over a period of time.⁸⁵ Liberty suggests that amortization would be over a thirteen-year period,⁸⁶ and that amortization period was accepted by Staff.⁸⁷

Conclusions of Law

DD. Section 393.1700.2(1)(f) requires a petition to securitize energy transition costs to include:

A comparison between the net present value of the cost to customers that are estimated to result from the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds

⁸⁴ Emery Direct, Ex. 7, Page 6, Lines 4-24.

⁸⁵ Emery Direct, Ex. 7, Page 7, Lines 8-16.

⁸⁶ Emery Direct, Ex. 7, Page 20, Lines 5-9.

⁸⁷ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 8, Lines 18-19.

and the costs that would result from the application of the traditional method of financing and recovering the undepreciated investment of facilities that may become securitized utility tariff costs from customers. The comparison should demonstrate that the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition of securitized utility tariff charges are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers.

EE. Similarly, Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)b, RSMo requires the Commission to find that the securitization process is expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers when compared to recovery of costs through other, traditional methods of ratemaking.

Decision

The question presented in these issues is essentially the same, so they will be addressed together. The traditional method of ratemaking would occur through a general rate case and would entail amortization of the costs to be recovered over a period of years with the company being allowed to recover its carrying costs during the period of amortization. In this case, the parties agree that a thirteen-year amortization would be appropriate. The amount that would be recovered will be determined through the answers to subsequent issues. The net present value comparison required by the statute will be addressed in issue number five.

D) What is the net book value of the retired Asbury plant?

Findings of Fact

64. Liberty's witness, Charlotte Emery, credibly testified that the net book value of the retired Asbury plant is \$159,414,474. That number is comprised of a net retired

plant balance of \$157,740,873, and \$1,673,601 representing the value of two Asbury environmental capital projects that were abandoned when the plant was retired.⁸⁸

- 65. Staff accepts the net book value amount proposed by Liberty.89
- 66. Public Counsel's witness, John S. Riley, proposed to use a net book value of \$155,044,297. He took that number from testimony submitted by a Liberty witness in the company's recent rate case.⁹⁰
- 67. Liberty's witness testified that the number referenced by Public Counsel represented the company's projection of how much of the Asbury generating plant would be retained compared to the actual net book value of the plant as of January 2020.⁹¹
- 68. The net book value of the Asbury plant is a factor in the calculation of the Asbury securitization revenue requirement.⁹²

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

Decision

The \$159,414,474 net book value of the Asbury plant proposed by Liberty and accepted by Staff is the more reasonable calculation of that value. Public Counsel's reliance on an alternative number drawn from testimony in another case that is not part of the record in this case, is not reliable.

⁸⁸ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 26, Lines 1-13. The environmental capital projects are addressed in issue 3 P of this order.

⁸⁹ Ex. 113, Page 2, Line 1.

⁹⁰ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 7, Lines 10-13.

⁹¹ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 25, Lines 14-23.

⁹² Ex. 113, Page 2, Line 1.

E) Was it reasonable and prudent for Liberty to retire Asbury? Findings of Fact

- 69. Asbury Unit 1 was a coal-fired Babcock & Wilcox cyclone steam generator that was commissioned in 1970. When it began operations, it had a nominal rating of 206 MW and sourced its coal onsite via mine mouth operation. In 1990, the plant was converted to use a blend of low-sulfur Wyoming coal and local bituminous coal⁹³
- 70. A selective catalytic reduction system was installed at Asbury in 2008 to reduce nitrogen oxide emissions at a cost of \$33 million.⁹⁴ In 2014, the Asbury plant was retrofitted with an AQCS to comply with the federal Mercury Air Toxic Standards and the Cross State Air Pollution Rule.⁹⁵
- 71. The AQCS included the addition of a circulating dry scrubber to reduce sulfur dioxide emissions, a pulsejet fabric filter to reduce particulate emissions, powder activated carbon injection to control mercury emissions, conversion from forced draft to balanced draft, a new stack, and the upgrade of the steam turbine to increase efficiency. The upgraded steam turbine increased nominal output of the unit to 218 MW.⁹⁶
 - 72. The AQCS cost \$141 million in 2014.97
- 73. Asbury was de-designated from the SPP and officially retired in March of 2020.98

⁹³ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 3, Lines 12-18.

⁹⁴ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 6, Lines 8-9.

⁹⁵ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 4, Lines 11-20.

⁹⁶ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 4, Lines 15-20.

⁹⁷ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 6, Line 10.

⁹⁸ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 5, Lines 15-17.

- 74. Both the selective catalytic reduction system and the AQCS were reviewed by the Commission and allowed into Liberty's rate base.⁹⁹ Together, these systems account for 73 percent of Liberty's total undepreciated investment in Asbury.¹⁰⁰
- 75. Liberty's 2016 Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) study favored continued operation of Asbury until 2035. But, beginning in 2017, studies showed less economic support for continued operation of Asbury. By 2019, Liberty's IRP showed that retirement of Asbury became the less expensive option when compared to continuing to operate the plant. According to that study, retiring Asbury resulted in savings over maintaining Asbury until its end of life, 94 percent of the time, on a probability-weighted basis. Calculated savings ranged from \$18 million to \$144 million, with an estimated savings of \$93 million on a 20-year expected value basis.
- 76. In 2019, when the decision was made to retire Asbury, Liberty had a winter peak reserve margin of 391 MW, about 35 percent more than is typically needed. That meant that if Asbury were retired, Liberty would still have reserve margins above the reliability requirement throughout the projected 20-year planning window.¹⁰³
- 77. Power plants are scheduled and dispatched to collectively provide the right amount of power needed across a large area at any instant in time. The market system, operated by SPP, generally dispatches the least costly generating plant to satisfy total load. The result of this process is generally to dispatch the cheapest plants first. Hydro power or renewables such as wind and solar, which have no fuel costs, are often

⁹⁹ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 6, Lines 17-18.

¹⁰⁰ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Pages 6-7, Lines 22, 1-2.

¹⁰¹ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Pages 9-10, Lines 9-23, 1-16.

¹⁰² Doll Direct, Ex. 3, Page 16, Lines 15-21.

¹⁰³ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 14, Lines 5-14.

dispatched first, followed by nuclear and whichever coal or efficient gas plant is next cheapest. Finally, relatively inefficient, older plants will be dispatched. In a market region like SPP, the marginal costs of the last plant dispatched in any hour sets the market price paid to all the units then operating.¹⁰⁴

78. Asbury's position on the SPP supply curve grew progressively worse between 2010 and 2019, primarily due to decreasing natural gas prices and declining cost and increasing penetration of renewable generation. ¹⁰⁵ In addition, Asbury's marginal cost to operate had become higher than the majority of coal units in SPP. That meant it had become uneconomic for Liberty to run Asbury for much of the time. ¹⁰⁶

79. Before 2016, Liberty had self-committed Asbury to operate as a baseload plant. It did that to meet the obligations of its coal transportation contract, which required Liberty to take minimum delivery quantities. In 2016, Liberty renegotiated its coal transportation contract to remove the minimum delivery requirements. Thereafter, Asbury was dispatched in response to market signals.¹⁰⁷

80. Self-commitment allowed Asbury to operate more consistently, but it also increased the risk that the unit would operate uneconomically. When a utility self-commits a particular unit, it is telling the market that this unit will run no matter what. That commitment also means that the self-committed unit will be paid at the market rate, not at its actual cost to operate. So, if the market rate is set by a lower-cost unit, such as a renewable resource, the self-committed unit will operate at a loss.¹⁰⁸

¹⁰⁴ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 17, Footnote 19.

¹⁰⁵ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Pages 26-27, Lines 15-19, 1-7.

¹⁰⁶ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 27, Lines 8-12.

¹⁰⁷ Rooney Direct, Ex. 11, Page 4, Lines 1-10.

¹⁰⁸ Transcript, Page 175-176, Lines 17-25, 1.

- 81. By 2015, Asbury was showing negative net operating margins, and Liberty stopped self-committing Asbury in October 2016.
- 82. After it discontinued self-committing Asbury, the unit's annual capacity factor began to decline as the market selected units with better heat rates, lower fuel costs, shorter start durations, shorter minimum downtimes, and faster ramp rates.¹¹¹
- 83. Despite efforts to improve its efficiency,¹¹² by 2019, Asbury's net capacity factor (a measure of how much a unit generates over time compared to how much it could generate if it ran at the top of its net capacity in that time) had dropped to 46.97 percent, compared to 76.42 percent in 2010.¹¹³
- 84. Based on heat rate, Asbury was the least efficient coal-fired unit in Liberty's fleet.¹¹⁴
- 85. The market forces that made Asbury's operation increasingly uneconomic also apply to other coal plants in the United States, such that a third of the U.S. coal fleet that was operating in 2012 has now retired.¹¹⁵
- 86. Liberty's 2019 IRP found that retiring Asbury in 2019 and replacing it with a mix of solar and storage would result in savings amounting to \$93 million on a 20-year expected value basis.¹¹⁶
- 87. Electric utilities choose resource options because they are expected to have the lowest costs in most, but not all circumstances. A prudent resource plan should be

¹⁰⁹ Doll Direct, Ex. 3, Page 8, Lines 18-13.

¹¹⁰ Doll Direct, Ex. 3, Page 8, Lines 10-14.

¹¹¹ Rooney Direct, Ex. 11, Page 4, Lines 10-13.

¹¹² Doll Direct, Ex. 3, Page 12, Lines 6-20.

¹¹³ Doll Direct, Ex. 3, Page 11, Table AJD-2 and Lines 3-9.

¹¹⁴ Rooney Surrebuttal, Ex. 12, Page 2, Lines 19-20. See also, Transcript, Page 177, Lines 10-11.

¹¹⁵ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 29, Lines 11-13.

¹¹⁶ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 21, Lines 10-18.

understood to be partially exposed to other alternatives that turn out to have lower costs in some, but not the majority of reasonably foreseeable planning scenarios.¹¹⁷

- 88. A utility's level of earnings is subject to periodic review and approval by regulators. If investments made by a utility result in unexpected gains through avoided costs or reduced risks, the utility will not be able to keep the upside profits beyond its next rate case. As a result, it would be unfair to assign downside losses to the utility simply because the investment loses its economic advantages before its costs are fully recovered from ratepayers, even if the particular investment is no longer used and useful.¹¹⁸
- 89. Had Liberty continued to operate Asbury, it was reasonable to anticipate that its customers would have paid more for the plant's increasingly higher costs relative to alternative resources. 119
- 90. Had Asbury continued to operate, Liberty would have had to spend an additional \$20 million to upgrade its coal ash handling facilities to comply with federal regulations. That additional investment was avoided when Asbury was closed. 120
- 91. A study relied upon by Liberty determined that by the time the decision was made to close Asbury, the plant had a \$134 million negative valuation, meaning if it were sold, Liberty would have to pay the "buyer" a substantial sum to purchase and operate the facility and assume all associated liabilities.¹²¹

¹¹⁷ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 43, Lines 13-21.

¹¹⁸ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Pages 45-46, Lines 20-24, 1-3.

¹¹⁹ Graves Surrebuttal, Ex. 17, Page 13, Lines 18-20.

¹²⁰ Landoll Surrebuttal, Ex. 14. Page 8, Lines 5-16.

Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 11, Lines 7-11. The valuation number was described as confidential in Landoll's testimony, but was revealed in Doll Surrebuttal, Ex. 4, Page 5, Lines 13-16.

- 92. Staff believes the early retirement of Asbury was just, reasonable and in the public interest, and the costs of that retirement should be recovered through securitization. 122
- 93. Renew Missouri believes securitizing the unrecovered costs related to the early retirement of Asbury serves the public interest and should be approved. 123

Conclusions of Law

The Commission's prudence standard was previously described in the Conclusions of Law relating to Winter Storm Uri costs in issue 2(F). That description will not be repeated here.

FF. The Commission's Electric Utility Resource Planning Rule, 20 CSR 4240-22, (the IRP rule), requires Missouri's investor-owned electric utilities, including Liberty, to file triennial reports identifying a preferred resource plan and resource acquisition strategy. The rule also requires the electric utilities to file annual update reports about those plans.

GG. The definition of "Energy Transition Costs" found in Section 393.1700.1(7)(a), RSMo requires that to qualify as such a cost, the retirement or abandonment of the subject electric generating facility must have been deemed reasonable and prudent by the commission through a final order issued by the commission.

HH. The definition of "Energy Transition Costs" found in Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) specifically states that such costs include the "undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating

¹²² McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 6, Lines 1-3.

¹²³ Owen Surrebuttal, Ex. 400, Page 21, Lines 11-13.

facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith ..." That means such costs can be recovered through securitization even if a plant was retired or abandoned before its cost was fully depreciated because of an early retirement.

II. Missouri's anti-CWIP statute, Section 393.135, RSMo, does not preclude the Commission from allowing recovery of the cost of abandoned utility property. 124

Decision

The Commission's prudence standard requires that the prudence of Liberty's decision to close the Asbury plant be judged by asking whether the conduct was reasonable at the time it was made, based on the knowledge available to the decision makers while they were making their decision. A decision does not need to be perfect. Rather, that decision must fall within a range of reasonable decisions.

The facts, as the Commission has found them, demonstrate that Asbury was a fifty-year old coal-fired generating plant that could no longer effectively compete in the electrical generation marketplace. As a result, its continued operation had become uneconomic and a drain on both the company and its ratepayers.

The prudence of Liberty's decision to retire Asbury is challenged only by Public Counsel. Public Counsel argues in broad terms that Liberty deliberately chose to make Asbury uncompetitive in the SPP energy marketplace so that it could justify the building of what it describes as competing wind generation resources in order to pump up the utility's rate base. In addition, Public Counsel, largely relying on hindsight, contends that Liberty imprudently failed to account for the need for reliably dispatched generation in a

¹²⁴ State ex rel. Union Elec. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Com'n, 687 S.W.2d 162 (Mo. banc. 1985)

Winter Storm Uri type situation. Neither argument is supported by the evidence in the record.

Based on the evidence that is in the record, the Commission deems Liberty's decision to retire Asbury when it did to be reasonable and prudent.

F) What is the value of the Asbury environmental regulatory assets? Findings of Fact

- 94. The amount at issue relates to the amounts paid by Liberty for removal of asbestos at Asbury, and costs associated with the operation of ash ponds at Asbury. 125 Liberty recorded them in its books as a regulatory asset as it was ordered to do by the Commission in an earlier rate case. Since these were costs spent by Liberty for environmental activities at the Asbury plant, Staff agrees with Liberty that they be included in the Asbury securitized balance. 126
- 95. Public Counsel's witness, John S. Riley, did not oppose recovery of these costs, but expressed concern that this amount is also included in an Asset Retirement Obligation (ARO) related to Coal Combustion Residual impoundment for which Liberty is also seeking recovery.¹²⁷
- 96. An ARO is an obligation, legal or non-legal, associated with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset for the cost of returning a piece of property to its original condition. AROs can be recognized either when the asset is placed in service or during its operational life when its removal obligation is incurred.¹²⁸

¹²⁵ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 27, Lines12-14.

¹²⁶ Bolin Surrebuttal, Ex. 103, Page 2, Lines 1-20.

¹²⁷ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Pages 9-10, Lines 3-13, 1-9.

¹²⁸ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 9, Lines 8-11.

- 97. In her surrebuttal testimony, Liberty's witness, Charlotte Emery, explained that the amount at issue is related to the Asbury environmental regulatory asset costs that have been settled and paid by Liberty. The other ARO described by Public Counsel's witness represents additional costs Liberty expects to incur to complete the ARO for the coal ash ponds. The amount at issue will not be included in the other ARO.¹²⁹
 - 98. The amount at issue, updated through May 2022, is \$1,643,357.¹³⁰

Conclusions of Law

JJ. The securitization statute, Section 393.1700.2,(3)(c)k allows the Commission to "specify a future rate making process to reconcile any differences between the actual securitized utility tariff costs financed by securitized utility tariff bonds and the final securitized utility tariff costs incurred by the electrical corporation. ..."

Decision

The Commission finds it is appropriate to allow Liberty to include the amount of \$1,643,357 in its securitized costs for Asbury environmental regulatory assets, as that amount is not also included in another ARO.

- G) What is the value of the Asbury fuel inventories? and
- Q) Should Liberty's recovery include basemat coal at Asbury?

These are the same issue stated in different ways and the Commission will address them together.

Findings of Fact

99. The coal pile at Asbury, or any other coal-fired generating facility includes a mat upon which the coal is piled. That mat is initially constructed of packed rock and or

¹²⁹ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 28, Lines 12-18.

¹³⁰ Ex. 21. Schedule CTE-9 Asbury.

clay. The coal that is piled on the mat will, over the years, compress and mix into the mat as more coal is piled on top of the old coal.¹³¹

- 100. Basemat coal is the coal that has become compressed and mixed into the mat. As the utility scrapes the bottom of the pile it gets into the basemat coal/rock/clay mixture and the mixture can no longer be safely burned in the unit.¹³²
- 101. The cost of the coal that mixed into the basemat was incurred while the plant was operational, was necessary to operation of the plant, and its cost would not otherwise be recovered by Liberty.¹³³
- 102. There was no usable coal remaining at Asbury when it retired, but there was \$1,924,886 of basemat coal, of which the Missouri jurisdictional portion is \$1,532,832.¹³⁴ Liberty proposes to include this amount in the securitized costs associated with Asbury.
- 103. In Liberty's 2019 rate case, just before Asbury closed, the Commission allowed \$3,947,465 as coal inventory within the company's rate base, representing a 60-days burn of fuel. 135
- 104. In a stipulation and agreement in File No. ER-2020-0311, approved by the Commission on October 7, 2020, the parties agreed to defer the unrecoverable coal to FERC Account 182.3 for future ratemaking consideration.¹³⁶
- 105. Staff contends Liberty used the proper amount of \$1,532,832 as the value of the basemat coal to offset the \$3,947,465 coal inventory value within the AAO.¹³⁷

¹³¹ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 31, Lines 7-18.

¹³² Transcript, Vol. 2, Page 110, Lines 1-10.

¹³³ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 31, Lines 16-18.

¹³⁴ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 31, Line 1.

¹³⁵ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Pages 11-12, Lines 23-25, 1-2.

¹³⁶ McMellen Surrebuttal, Ex. 101, Page 3, Liines 3-7.

¹³⁷ McMellen Surrebuttal, Ex. 101, Page 2, Lines 6-7.

Conclusions of Law

KK. Energy transition costs as defined at Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) include "the undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned ... electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith."

Decision

There was no usable coal supply at Asbury at the commencement of the AAO tracker, but the unusable basemat coal was still there. The basemat coal was acquired by Liberty over the years and was included in the company's rate base along with the rest of its coal pile inventory. It would have recovered the value of that coal as an expense when the coal was burned. But, since the basemat coal was never burned, Liberty never recovered its cost. Consequently, the value of the basemat coal, \$1,532,832, falls within the statutory definition of energy transition costs and may be securitized.

H) What are the values of the Accumulated Deferred Income Tax (ADIT) and Excess ADIT?

Findings of Fact ADIT

- 106. The amounts calculated for the level of ADIT will vary depending upon the starting point of the calculated Asbury Energy Transition Cost Balance.¹³⁸
- 107. Staff's witness, Kimberly K. Bolin, who is an accountant and serves as Director of the Financial and Business Analysis Division for the Commission, calculated a net present value of Liberty's ADIT offset of \$17,134,363.
- 108. Bolin credibly explained that Liberty's calculation of the net present value of its ADIT offset effectively and inappropriately discounted the ADIT twice by discounting

¹³⁸ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 10, Lines 16-22.

the yearly amounts related to the remaining balance of ADIT, and then discounting the sum of the yearly amounts again.¹³⁹

- 109. Public Counsel's witness, John S. Riley, testified that in his "uninformed" opinion the requirements of the securitization statute are not applicable at this time. 141
- 110. Until all inputs, including the interest rates that the securitized bonds will carry, are determined, it is not possible to calculate the exact amount of ADIT offset at this time.¹⁴²

Excess ADIT

- 111. Excess ADIT represents an amount to be returned to customers as established in Liberty's 2019 rate case, ER-2019-0374. That offset should reflect the value established in that case reduced by the customer collections received for that amount while rates established by that case were in effect, a period between September 16, 2020 and June 1, 2022.¹⁴³
- 112. Staff and Liberty agree that the Excess ADIT offset should be \$12,313,459.144
- 113. Public Counsel proposed that the Excess ADIT offset should be \$16,934,393, which is the amount established in ER-2019-0374 without any adjustment for amounts collected in the rates established in that rate case. Public Counsel asserts

¹³⁹ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 11, Lines 10-14.

¹⁴⁰ Riley testified that "I see this recalculation as a confiscatory act, but that is my uninformed opinion as I have not sought the advice of counsel regarding what this new law requires or allows". Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 13, Lines 6-8.

¹⁴¹ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 13, Lines 6-10.

¹⁴² Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 236, Lines 4-9.

¹⁴³ Bolin Surrebuttal, Ex. 103, Page 4, Lines 15-22.

¹⁴⁴ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 12, Lines 6-8. See also, Transcript, Vol 3, Page 237, Lines 6-8.

that "[o]nce the plant associated with the deferred taxes is retired, the clock stops on the deferred taxes as well." Public Counsel cites no authority for that statement. 145

Conclusions of Law

LL. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)m requires a financing order to include:

[A] procedure for the treatment of accumulated deferred income taxes and excess deferred income taxes in connection with the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility, or in connection with retired or abandoned facilities included in qualified extraordinary costs. The accumulated deferred income taxes, including excess deferred income taxes, shall be excluded from rate base in future general rate cases and the net tax benefits relating to amounts that will be recovered through the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds shall be credited to retail customers by reducing the amount of such securitized utility tariff bonds that could otherwise be issued. The customer credit shall include the net present value of the tax benefits, calculated using a discount rate equal to the expected interest rate of the securitized utility tariff bonds, for the estimated accumulated and excess deferred income taxes at the time of securitization including timing differences created by the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds amortized over the period of the bonds multiplied by the expected interest rate on such securitized utility tariff bonds.

This provision ensures that ADIT and Excess ADIT are excluded from Liberty's ratebase in future general rate cases. Thus, ratepayers no longer benefit from the ADIT and Excess ADIT balance in future rate cases after receiving a credit for those balances in this securitization case.

Decision

The ADIT offset to the Asbury Energy Transition Cost balance is properly calculated using the methodology used by Staff witness Kim Bolin. Public Counsel's witness proposes to simply ignore the requirements of the statute, and the Commission finds his testimony to be not credible.

¹⁴⁵ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 14, Lines 8-12.

The Excess ADIT offset is \$12,313,459. Public Counsel's suggestion that the Excess ADIT amount established in ER-2019-0374 should not be adjusted by the amounts collected in the rates established in that case is not supported by the law or the facts.

I) What is the value of the Asbury AAO regulatory liability?

Findings of Fact

114. When Asbury ceased generating power the costs associated with operating it had been included in the rates established in Liberty's 2019 general rate case, ER-2019-0374. The financial impact of the closure was unknown at that time so a stipulation and agreement approved by the Commission listed specific rate elements that were to be tracked by Liberty to reflect the impact of the closure of Asbury, beginning January 1, 2020.¹⁴⁶

115. The rate components included in the AAO liability are the return on the unrecovered Asbury investment, depreciation expense, all non-fuel/non-labor operating and maintenance expenses, property taxes, and non-labor Asbury retirement/decommissioning costs.¹⁴⁷

116. The return on the Asbury component of the regulatory liability should be used to offset Liberty's net balance of costs to be securitized. Including that component recognizes that Liberty's customers have been paying a full return on Asbury in rates since the unit was effectively retired in December 2019, and that amount should be returned to customers.¹⁴⁸

¹⁴⁶ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Pages 8-9, Lines 21-23, 1-2.

¹⁴⁷ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 9, Lines 5-7.

¹⁴⁸ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 9, Lines 13-20.

117. Public Counsel challenged Liberty's calculation of the amount of property taxes to be included in the AAO regulatory liability. Public Counsel contended three full years of taxes should be included in the calculation, even though recovery from ratepayers for those taxes only occurred for 29 months during the pendency of the rates established in ER-2019-0374.¹⁴⁹ Public Counsel abandoned this position in its initial brief and now accepts the amount of taxes calculated by Liberty.¹⁵⁰

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

Decision

This issue is largely a determination of a number to be used to offset a portion of the Asbury related energy transition cost balance to reflect the costs that were recovered from ratepayers after the unit was closed. The number will be impacted by resolution of several other issues addressed in this order. Based on the decisions made regarding those other issues, the value of the Asbury AAO regulatory liability is \$78,691,414.

J) What are the likely Asbury decommissioning costs?

Findings of Fact

118. Although Asbury is closed, Liberty is still working to decommission and dismantle the plant.¹⁵¹

119. Liberty developed a three-phase plan for final disposition of the Asbury facility. Phase 1 was a study phase, Phase 2 includes development of work plans, schedules, engineering plans and specifications, etc., concluding with bid documents for

¹⁴⁹ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Pages 18-19, Lines 23-25, 1-2.

¹⁵⁰ The Office of the Public Counsel's Initial Brief, Page 28.

¹⁵¹ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 5, Lines 19-20.

the demolition of the selected facilities. Phase 3 is planned to include finalization of bid documents, revision of cost estimates, bid administration, construction management, demolition of the facilities, reporting, and project accounting. Phase 3 is tentatively scheduled to be completed in 2024.¹⁵²

- 120. Liberty provided estimates of costs for Phase 2 and Phase 3.¹⁵³ Those estimates are \$4 million for Phase 2 (\$3,541,054 Missouri jurisdictional) and \$6.4 million in direct costs (\$5,665,687 Missouri jurisdictional) for Phase 3.¹⁵⁴
- 121. Liberty's cost estimates for Phase 3 do not include a salvage value that Liberty will receive for the demolished assets. 155
- 122. Staff proposes to include \$4 million for Phase 2 costs, but would partially offset the Phase 3 costs with the salvage value estimated in a study prepared by Black & Veatch. 156
- 123. Liberty does not necessarily oppose inclusion of salvage value, but suggests it may be more beneficial to ratepayers to not include the salvage value in the securitization bond amount and instead allow for its recovery in a future rate case.¹⁵⁷
- 124. Public Counsel proposed to include \$5,665,687 (Missouri jurisdictional) for Phase 3, offset by the salvage value. Or in the alternative, Public Counsel would exclude Phase 3 costs entirely. 158

¹⁵² Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Pages. 9-10, Lines 19-24, 1-14.

¹⁵³ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 15, Lines 10-11.

¹⁵⁴ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Schedule CTE-2 Asbury.

¹⁵⁵ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 8, Lines 2-3.

¹⁵⁶ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 8, Lines 6-7. The number used by Staff is confidential, but it can be found in Black & Veatch's report, which is found at Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Schedule DWL-2, Page 8 of 9. See also, Landoll Surrebuttal, Ex. 14, Page 5, Lines 10-11.

¹⁵⁷ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 13, Lines 9-18.

¹⁵⁸ The Office of the Public Counsel's Initial Brief, Page 26.

Conclusions of Law

MM. The definition of "energy transition costs" in Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) includes "costs of decommissioning and restoring the site of the electric generating facility."

NN. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)k, RSMo, requires that this order provide for a reconciliation process that would require Liberty to reconcile any differences between the actual securitized utility tariff costs financed by securitized utility tariff bonds and the final securitized tariff costs incurred by the utility through a future rate case.

Decision

The numbers associated with this issue are only estimates for inclusion in the securitized costs. The actual costs will be reconciled in a future rate case. There is no disagreement among the parties about inclusion of the estimated decommissioning costs for Phase 2. The only disagreement about Phase 3 decommissioning costs is whether to partially offset those anticipated costs with anticipated salvage proceeds. The Commission finds that it is appropriate to offset the estimated decommissioning costs with the anticipated salvage proceeds rather than waiting to credit those proceeds to ratepayers in a future rate case. If not offset, the Commission would be asking ratepayers to pay now for money Liberty may not spend for several years, but would be making them wait until a future rate case to have the salvage proceeds credited to them.

K) What are the likely Asbury retirement obligations?

Findings of Fact

125. An Asset Retirement Obligation (ARO) is an obligation, legal or non-legal, associated with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset for the cost of returning a

piece of property to its original condition. AROs can be recognized either when the asset is placed in service or during its operational life when its removal obligation is incurred.¹⁵⁹

- 126. Liberty included AROs in the total amount of \$21,282,684 (Missouri jurisdictional) for asbestos removal and coal combustion residuals impoundment in its proposed securitization balance for the retirement of Asbury. 160
- 127. Staff initially opposed inclusion of either the asbestos or the coal combustion residuals ARO in the securitization balance. However, after reviewing the surrebuttal testimony of Liberty, Staff agreed that Liberty should be allowed to include an ARO for the coal combustion residuals in the amount of \$16,995,561.¹⁶¹
- 128. The AROs are estimates of future costs. Any variance from actual costs incurred will be tracked by Liberty and reconciled in a future rate case. 162
- 129. Inclusion of the AROs in the securitization balance will benefit ratepayers in that if Liberty recovered these costs through traditional ratemaking it would also recover carrying costs until the time of recovery. 163

Conclusions of Law

The conclusions of law for this issue are the same as for issue 3J and will not be repeated.

Decision

Staff and Public Counsel continue to oppose inclusion of the ARO for asbestos removal, arguing that the amount of the ARO has not been properly documented.

¹⁵⁹ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 9, Lines 8-11.

¹⁶⁰ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Schedule CTE-2 Asbury.

¹⁶¹ Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 231, Lines 17-21.

¹⁶² Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Pages 12-13, Lines 23-24, 1-4.

¹⁶³ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 12, Lines 9-16.

However, the estimates and the actual costs incurred will be reconciled, and allowing Liberty to recover these costs through securitization will reduce the amount that would be paid by ratepayers if they are not securitized. The Commission will allow Liberty to include AROs totaling \$21,282,684 within its securitization balance.

L) What is the appropriate amount for Cash Working Capital?

Findings of Fact

- 130. The Commission's order in Liberty's 2019 rate case that established an AAO directed Liberty to track the monthly impact of Asbury's retirement on cash working capital.¹⁶⁴
- 131. Since Liberty did not have an authorized cash working capital amount specific to Asbury, it made a reasonable estimate by taking the Asbury baseline revenue requirement amounts and determining what percentage it was of the total base rate revenue requirement amount authorized in that prior rate case. Liberty then applied that percentage to the total amount of cash working capital approved in that rate case to determine the amount of cash working capital in base rates that was associated with Asbury.¹⁶⁵
- 132. Public Counsel's witness, John S. Riley, calculated a cash working capital amount by making multiple assumptions and adjustment to calculate a new cash working capital value for the retired Asbury plant. 166

¹⁶⁴ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Pages 29-30, Lines 24, 1-2.

¹⁶⁵ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 30, Lines 2-9.

¹⁶⁶ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 8, Lines 1-20.

133. Public Counsel's calculation of cash working capital is inappropriate in that it does not factor in what Liberty's customers were actually paying for cash working capital related to Asbury during the period covered by the AAO.¹⁶⁷

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

Decision

The AAO that directed Liberty to track the costs associated with the retirement of Asbury was intended to allow future rate adjustments to compensate ratepayers for costs included in rates to pay for operation of the closed Asbury plant. For that reason, the calculation of the cash working capital associated with Asbury must take into account the actual amounts paid by ratepayers and should not be an attempt to recalculate a hypothetical cash working capital amount for the closed plant as was performed by Public Counsel's witness. The Commission finds that the amount of cash working capital calculated by Liberty and accepted by Staff is appropriate.

M) Should Liberty's recovery reflect a disallowance of the remaining cost of the Air Quality Control System (ACQS), and if so, how much?

Findings of Fact

134. A selective catalytic reduction system was installed at Asbury in 2008 to reduce nitrogen oxide emissions at a cost of \$33 million. In 2014, the Asbury plant was retrofitted with an AQCS to comply with the federal Mercury Air Toxic Standards and the Cross State Air Pollution Rule.

¹⁶⁷ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 30, Lines 9-11.

¹⁶⁸ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 6, Lines 8-9.

¹⁶⁹ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 4, Lines 11-20.

- 135. The AQCS included the addition of a circulating dry scrubber to reduce sulfur dioxide emissions, a pulsejet fabric filter to reduce particulate emissions, powder activated carbon injection to control mercury emissions, conversion from forced draft to balanced draft, a new stack, and the upgrade of the steam turbine to increase efficiency. The upgraded steam turbine increased nominal output of the unit to 218 MW.¹⁷⁰
 - 136. The AQCS cost \$141 million in 2014.¹⁷¹
- 137. Asbury was de-designated from the SPP and officially retired in March of 2020.¹⁷²
- 138. Both the selective catalytic reduction system and the AQCS were reviewed by the Commission and allowed into Liberty's rate base.¹⁷³ Together, these systems account for 73 percent of Liberty's total undepreciated investment in Asbury.¹⁷⁴
- 139. Public Counsel did not challenge the prudence of Liberty's decision to invest in the AQCS and other environmental upgrades at the time and does not challenge the prudence of that decision now.¹⁷⁵
- 140. Public Counsel challenges Liberty's recovery of the costs of the AQCS on principles of "used and useful", matters of equity and fairness, and because the retirement was entirely the result of actions taken by Liberty's management from the excess capacity it momentarily created.¹⁷⁶

¹⁷⁰ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 4, Lines 15-20.

¹⁷¹ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 6, Line 10.

¹⁷² Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 5, Lines 15-17.

¹⁷³ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 6, Lines 17-18.

¹⁷⁴ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Pages 6-7, Lines 22, 1-2.

¹⁷⁵ Marke Rebuttal, Ex. 204, Page 8, Lines 8-10.

¹⁷⁶ Marke Rebuttal, Ex. 204, Page 45, Lines 14-18.

Conclusions of Law

OO. The definition of "Energy Transition Costs" found in Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) specifically states that such costs include the "undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith ..." That means such costs can be recovered through securitization even if a plant was retired or abandoned before its cost was fully depreciated because of an early retirement.

Decision

The Commission has previously determined that Liberty's decision to retire Asbury was prudent (see issue 3E). This issue is just a statement of the means by which Public Counsel asks the Commission to remedy the alleged imprudence of the decision to retire Asbury. As such, there is no need for the Commission to revisit that decision. Consistent with its decision in issue 3E, the Commission will not disallow the remaining cost of the AQCS.

N) Should Liberty's recovery reflect a disallowance for income tax deductions for Asbury abandonment?

Findings of Fact

141. Public Counsel asserts that Liberty has enjoyed a tax benefit because it wrote-off Asbury in 2020 and the last three months of 2019. Public Counsel asserts this is a benefit directly associated with the retirement of Asbury and should be included in the AAO totals established to track the costs associated with that retirement. Public Counsel calculated a tax benefit of \$16.5 million, which it applied to the AAO liability.¹⁷⁷

¹⁷⁷ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 19, Lines 7-16.

142. This tax benefit is a normal timing item that is treated the same as any ADIT item in rates. A regulatory asset was established for the net book value of Asbury. This regulatory asset has deferred taxes associated with it. As this regulatory asset gets amortized, the amortization expense is added back for taxable income purposes with no corresponding tax deduction because Asbury qualified as an abandonment for tax purposes already.¹⁷⁸

Conclusions of Law

PP. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)m requires a financing order to include:

[A] procedure for the treatment of accumulated deferred income taxes and excess deferred income taxes in connection with the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility, or in connection with retired or abandoned facilities included in qualified extraordinary costs. The accumulated deferred income taxes, including excess deferred income taxes, shall be excluded from rate base in future general rate cases and the net tax benefits relating to amounts that will be recovered through the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds shall be credited to retail customers by reducing the amount of such securitized utility tariff bonds that could otherwise be issued. The customer credit shall include the net present value of the tax benefits, calculated using a discount rate equal to the expected interest rate of the securitized utility tariff bonds, for the estimated accumulated and excess deferred income taxes at the time of securitization including timing differences created by the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds amortized over the period of the bonds multiplied by the expected interest rate on such securitized utility tariff bonds.

Decision

Public Counsel's proposed disallowance for income tax deductions for Asbury abandonment is unnecessary and will not be imposed.

¹⁷⁸ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 37, Lines 1-12.

O) Should Liberty's recovery reflect a disallowance for labor at Asbury? Findings of Fact

143. In the 2019 rate case, ratepayers funded labor expenses at Asbury that were not incurred after the plant was closed. That expense was tracked in the AAO and Public Counsel argues those costs should be included in the amount of the AAO offset to securitized costs.¹⁷⁹ Public Counsel calculated the amount of the proposed disallowance as \$6,988,710.¹⁸⁰

144. All Asbury employees were retained and were either transferred to other departments within the company or stayed at Asbury to work on the decommissioning. These employees filled positions elsewhere at Liberty that were needed to provide safe and adequate service to ratepayers. 182

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

Decision

The labor costs identified by Public Counsel were not spent to provide service to ratepayers at an operating Asbury plant. But those costs were still used to provide service to those ratepayers through other operations of Liberty. Public Counsel's proposed disallowance for labor at Asbury is unnecessary and will not be imposed.

¹⁷⁹ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 18, Lines 7-14.

¹⁸⁰ Riley Surrebuttal, Ex. 209, Schedule JSR-S-01, Page 2.

¹⁸¹ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 36, Lines 6-8.

¹⁸² McMellen Surrebuttal, Ex. 101, Page 4, Lines 2-5.

P) Should Liberty's recovery include amounts for abandoned environmental capital projects?

Findings of Fact

145. In addition to the net retired plant balance for the Asbury plant, Liberty included in its proposed securitization balance the amount of \$1,673,601 in costs related to two Asbury environmental projects that were abandoned when the plant was closed. These costs were included in both construction work in progress (CWIP) and removal work in progress (RWIP) accounts.¹⁸³

146. Public Counsel's witness, John S. Riley, contends these amounts are CWIP that was abandoned and should be excluded from Liberty's recovery by authority of Section 393.135, RSMo.¹⁸⁴

Conclusions of Law

QQ. Section 393.135, RSMo, 2016 states:

Any charge made or demanded by an electrical corporation for service, or in connection therewith, which is based on the costs of construction in progress upon any existing or new facility of the electrical corporation, or any other cost associated with owning, operating, maintaining, or financing any property before it is fully operational and used for service, is unjust and unreasonable, and is prohibited.

RR. The Missouri Supreme Court has held that Section 393.135, RSMo, 2016 does not "have the purpose, and does not have the effect, of divesting the Commission of the authority to make any allowance at all on account of construction which is definitely abandoned.¹⁸⁵

¹⁸³ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 26, Lines 3-6.

¹⁸⁴ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 6, Lines 5-10.

¹⁸⁵ State ex rel. Union Elec. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Com'n, 687 S.W.2d 162, 168 (Mo. banc 1985). (emphasis in original).

- SS. The Missouri Court of Appeals has held that "the utility property upon which a rate of return can be earned must be utilized to provide service to customers. That is, it must be used and useful." 186
- TT. The fact that a cost item is no longer used and useful does not prevent a utility from recovering the cost of that item so long as it is not seeking to earn a return on that investment.¹⁸⁷
- UU. Energy transition costs as defined at Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) include "the undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned ... electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith."

Decision

The cost of the abandoned environmental projects at Asbury meet the definition of energy transition costs as defined by the securitization statute. As such those costs may be recovered through securitization. However, those costs would not be includible in Liberty's ratebase and thus it may not recover a return on those investments

Q) Should Liberty's recovery include basemat coal at Asbury?

This issue was previously considered and resolved along with issue 3G.

¹⁸⁶ State ex rel. Union Elec. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Com's of State of Mo. 765 S.W.2d 618, 622 (Mo. App. W.D. 1988.

¹⁸⁷ State ex rel. Missouri Office of Pub. Counsel v. Pub. Serv. Com'n, 293 S.W.3d 63 (Mo. App. S.D. 2009_

R) Should Liberty's recovery include non-labor Asbury retirement costs? Findings of Fact

147. Liberty and Staff included \$3,936,502 in the AAO balance as non-labor Asbury Retirement Decommissioning Costs. Liberty was ordered to track those costs in Liberty's 2019 rate case, ER-2019-0374.¹⁸⁸

148. Public Counsel did not challenge the number, but offered an opinion that the costs should not be included in the final AAO calculation, but should instead be addressed in Liberty's next general rate case.¹⁸⁹

Conclusions of Law

VV. The definition of "energy transition costs" in Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) includes "costs of decommissioning and restoring the site of the electric generating facility."

Decision

The non-labor Asbury retirement costs fall within the statutory definition of energy transition costs that may be recovered through securitization. Other than a bare statement, Public Counsel has not offered any explanation of why they should not be recovered in that manner. The Commission will allow these costs to be recovered through securitization.

S) What is the amount of depreciation expense?

Findings of Fact

149. In Liberty's 2019 rate case, ER-2019-0374, the Commission ordered Liberty to establish an AAO to track costs associated with the recently closed Asbury plant.

¹⁸⁸ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 36, Lines 18-23.

¹⁸⁹ Riley Surrebuttal, Ex, 209, Page 6, Lines 9-13.

Among the items to be tracked was accumulated depreciation, starting January 1, 2020.¹⁹⁰

- 150. Staff calculated accumulated depreciation for that period as (\$24,349,929.)¹⁹¹
- 151. Liberty calculated the amount of depreciation expense to be included in the Asbury regulatory liability to be (\$23,480,289). 192
- 152. Asbury's last day of generating power was December 12, 2019, when its coal supply was exhausted. 193
- 153. Asbury was officially retired on March 1, 2020, after Liberty notified SPP of the planned retirement.¹⁹⁴
- 154. Staff included January and February 2020 Asbury costs and benefits in its calculations of the Asbury AAO asset and liability.¹⁹⁵
- 155. Public Counsel calculated depreciation using Staff's depreciation rates from Liberty's 2019 rate case of \$11,179,375 per year, less the remaining plant expense established in the 2021 case of \$314,035 per year. The result is \$10,865,340 per year. Taking the monthly average and extending it out for 30 months provides a total depreciation expense for the AAO period of \$27,163,350.¹⁹⁶
- 156. Public Counsel's calculation improperly utilizes the remaining plant balance established in the 2021 rate case, which does not represent the amount embedded in the

¹⁹⁰ Emery Direct, Ex 7, Page 6, Lines 6-24.

¹⁹¹ Ex. 113, Page 3, Line 14, Column f and Ex. 116, Page 2, Line 14.

¹⁹² Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 36, Lines 9-16. Ex 21, Schedule CTE-6

¹⁹³ Mantle Rebuttal, Ex. 200, Page 19, Footnote 13.

¹⁹⁴ Doll Surrebuttal, Ex. 4, Page 4, Lines 19-22.

¹⁹⁵ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex, 100, Page 6, Lines 13-14.

¹⁹⁶ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Pages 17-18, Lines 22-24-1-2.

rates established in the 2019 rate case that were the basis for the AAO.¹⁹⁷ In addition, the period of the AAO was from January 1, 2020 through May 2022, a period of 29, not 30 months.

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

Decision

The Commission finds that Asbury was effectively retired in December 2019, when it ceased producing electricity. Therefore, Staff's calculation of depreciation, which includes the months of January and February 2020, is appropriate and is adopted.

T) What are the appropriate carrying costs for Asbury?

U) What is the appropriate rate(s) of return that should be used to calculate the amount of recovery?

These two issues are closely related and will be addressed together.

Findings of Fact

157. Liberty proposes to include within the energy transition costs to be recovered through securitization carrying charges based on its WACC, which the Commission set at 6.77 percent in Liberty's 2019 rate case, File No. ER-2019-0374. Liberty contends those carrying charges should be recovered for the period after the property was retired through the issuance of the securitized bonds. 199

158. Staff agrees that Liberty should be allowed to recovery carrying costs, but contends recovery at Liberty's long-term debt rate of 4.65 percent is more appropriate for

¹⁹⁷ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 36, Lines 13-16.

¹⁹⁸ Emery Direct, Page 15, lines 11-13.

¹⁹⁹ Emery Surrebuttal, Page 20, Lines 17-19.

the relatively short period of time the carrying costs would be applied. Staff proposes that the carrying costs be allowed only beginning in May 2022 until the issuance of the securitized bonds.²⁰⁰

159. Public Counsel proposes that Liberty should not be allowed any carrying costs on Asbury undepreciated assets.²⁰¹

Conclusions of Law

WW. The definition of "energy transition costs" found in Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) RSMo, includes "accrued carrying charges" as a cost that may be recovered.

XX. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)a RSMo, requires that a financing order issued by the Commission include a finding that recovery of securitized utility tariff costs to be financed using securitized utility tariff bonds is "just and reasonable".

YY. In a 1988 case, the Missouri Court of Appeals upheld a Commission decision to deny rate recovery of \$106.3 million for cancellation costs related to the abandoned Callaway II nuclear plant. The Commission had found that such cancellation costs were not a just and reasonable expense to be placed in rates and charged to ratepayers. In upholding the Commission's decision, the Court of Appeals held that "the utility property upon which a rate of return can be earned must be utilized to provide service to customers. That is, it must be used and useful." 202

Decision

There are three issues to be resolved. The first is whether Liberty should be allowed to include any carrying costs within its securitization. The second is the rate of

²⁰⁰ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 8, Lines 1-3.

²⁰¹ Murray Rebuttal, Ex. 206, Page 9, Lines 1-11.

²⁰² State ex rel. Union Elec. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Com's of State of Mo. 765 S.W.2d 618, 622 (Mo. App. W.D. 1988.

return that should be applied to any allowed carrying costs. The third is a determination of the period for which carrying costs will be recovered through the securitization.

As the Commission has concluded above, Missouri law generally holds that for a utility to be able to recover a return on a property, that property must be used and useful. However, the securitization statute specifically includes carrying costs within the definition of energy transition costs that can be recovered through securitization. Nevertheless, nothing is the statute defines carrying costs or mandates that they be included for recovery through securitization. Further, the securitization statute also requires the Commission find that the amount to be securitized is just and reasonable.

Here, Liberty is seeking to recover its full carrying costs on a generation facility that has not been used and useful since its effective retirement in December 2019. The Commission finds that such full recovery is not just and reasonable. Under these circumstances a more limited recovery of carrying costs for the period after the Asbury plant was removed from Liberty's rates, beginning in June 2022 is just and reasonable.

For the same reason, the Commission finds it just and reasonable to allow Liberty to recover those carrying costs at its 4.65 percent cost of long-term debt rather than at is WACC.

V) What is the appropriate discount rate to use to calculate the net present value of Asbury costs that would be recovered through traditional ratemaking?

Findings of Fact

160. Liberty uses its WACC of 6.77 percent to calculate the net present value of Asbury cost that would be recovered through traditional rate making.²⁰³

²⁰³ Emery Direct, Ex. 7, Page 20, Lines 1-9.

- 161. Staff concurred in the use of Liberty's WACC of 6.77 percent to make that comparison.²⁰⁴
- 162. Public Counsel argues the comparison should be made using a discount rate based on the bond rate on the securitized bonds. This comparison would show little value to the securitization.²⁰⁵

Conclusions of Law

ZZ. Section 393.1700.2(1)(f) requires an applicant for authority to securitize energy transition costs to include in their application:

A comparison between the net present value of the costs to customers that are estimated to result from the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the costs that would result from the application of the traditional method of financing and recovering the undepreciated investment of facilities that may become securitized utility tariff costs from customers. This comparison should demonstrate that the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition of securitized utility tariff charges are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers.

Liberty fulfilled this legal requirement and its net present value comparison showed a benefit to customers of approximately \$48.3 million.²⁰⁶

AAA. Section 393.1700.2(2)(e) imposes a similar requirement on an applicant for authority to securitize qualified extraordinary costs. Liberty fulfilled this legal requirement and its net present value comparison showed a benefit to customers of approximately \$65.6 million.²⁰⁷

BBB. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)b requires that this order include:

A finding that the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of a securitized utility tariff charge are just and reasonable and in the public interest and are expected to provide

²⁰⁴ Davis Rebuttal, Ex. 107, Page 5, Lines 4-7.

²⁰⁵ Murray Rebuttal, Ex. 206, Page 15, Lines 1-14.

²⁰⁶ Emery Direct, Ex 7, Page 20, Line 8.

²⁰⁷ Hall Direct, Ex. 6, Page 10, Lines 6-7.

quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds. ...

Decision

The purpose of the net present value comparison required by the statute is to estimate what, if any, savings will be delivered to customers if the securitization proceeds. To accomplish that purpose a reasonable discount rate should be used in the net present value calculation of the estimated costs for traditional financing absent securitization. Public Counsel's suggested discount rate would not result in a reasonable comparison and is rejected. The WACC of 6.77 percent suggested by Liberty and Staff is appropriate and is adopted.

4) What are the estimated upfront and ongoing financing costs associated with securitizing qualified extraordinary costs associated with Winter Storm Uri and the energy transition costs associated with Asbury?

Findings of Fact

163. Liberty estimates that the upfront financing cost associated with securitizing the Winter Storm Uri costs is \$3,655,297, excluding the cost of the Commission's consultants. Liberty estimated the ongoing financing costs to be \$410,850 per year, or \$34,237 per month.²⁰⁸

164. Liberty estimates that the upfront financing costs associated with securitizing the Asbury costs is \$3,264,961, excluding the cost of the Commission's consultants. The ongoing financing costs for Asbury were estimated to be \$343,039 per year, or \$28,587 per month.²⁰⁹

²⁰⁸ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Schedule CTE-1 Storm Uri.

²⁰⁹ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Schedule CTE-1 Asbury.

- 165. Liberty is seeking to securitize only the upfront financing costs, not the ongoing financing costs.²¹⁰
- 166. It is customary to include upfront financing costs in the principal amount of securitized utility tariff bonds.²¹¹
- 167. Upfront and ongoing financing costs of securitization are comprised of a mix of costs that are fixed and less dependent on deal size and costs that are variable and tied to the size of the deal.²¹²
- 168. Considering that the Commission has ordered lower securitization amounts and will be issuing a single, combined financing order, the upfront financing costs should be somewhat lower than originally estimated by Liberty. Liberty estimates that upfront financing cost associated with consolidating the securitization of Asbury and Winter Storm Uri costs range from \$5.4 million to \$5.6 million, excluding the cost of the Commission's consultants.²¹³
- 169. Staff estimates that the costs of its consultants are approximately \$2.3 million.²¹⁴
- 170. Combined, Staff estimates total upfront financing costs of approximately \$6.2 million, plus approximately \$37,000 per month in on-going financing costs.²¹⁵

²¹⁰ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex 8, Schedule CTE-2

²¹¹ Davis Rebuttal, Ex. 107, Page 6, Lines 6-8.

²¹² Davis Rebuttal, Ex 107, Page 6, Lines 11-13.

²¹³ Ex. 24.

²¹⁴ Ex. 113.

²¹⁵ Davis Rebuttal, Ex 107, Schedule MD-1.

Conclusions of Law

CCC. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)a RSMo, requires the Commission to include in its securitization order a description and estimate of the amount of financing costs that may be recovered through securitized utility tariff charges.

DDD. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)e RSMo, requires the Commission to include in its securitization order:

A formula-based true-up mechanism for making, at least annually, expeditious periodic adjustments in the securitized utility tariff charges that customers are required to pay pursuant to the financing order and for making any adjustments that are necessary to correct for any overcollection or undercollection of the charges or to otherwise ensure the timely payment of securitized utility tariff bonds and financing costs and other required amounts and charges payable under the securitized utility tariff bonds.

EEE. A list of items meeting the definition of "Financing Costs" is found at Section 393.1700.1(8) RSMo.

FFF. Section 393.1700.1(16) RSMo includes "financing costs" as items that may be included in a "securitized utility tariff charge." Subsection 393.1700.1(16)(f) authorizes the Commission to employ financial advisors and legal counsel to assist it in processing a financing application and to include the associated costs as financing costs.

Decision

As previously concluded, the securitization statute requires only an estimate of financing costs. The final financing costs will not be known until the bonds are issued. The Commission will use Liberty's estimate that reflects the benefits of consolidation in the amount of \$5.6 million for upfront financing costs plus Staff's estimate of the upfront financing costs associated with their consultant in the amount of \$2.3 million for a total of

\$7.9 million in estimated upfront financing costs. The Commission will use approximately \$37,000 per month in ongoing financing costs.

5) Would issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and imposition of securitized utility tariff charges provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the securitized utility tariff costs that would be incurred absent the issuance of bonds?

Findings of Fact

171. In its direct testimony, filed along with its application, Liberty calculated a benefit to customers from securitizing energy transition costs amounting to approximately \$48.3 million.²¹⁶

172. In its direct testimony, filed along with its application, Liberty calculated a benefit to customers from securitizing qualified extraordinary costs amounting to approximately \$65.6 million.²¹⁷

173. Staff concurred that in most of the scenarios it analyzed, customers will benefit from securitizing energy transition costs and qualified extraordinary costs, including benefits from consolidating securitization of those costs in a single bond offering.²¹⁸

Conclusions of Law

GGG. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)b requires that this order include:

A finding that the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of a securitized utility tariff charge are just and reasonable and in the public interest and are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds. ...

²¹⁶ Emery Direct, Ex. 7, Page 20, Line 8.

²¹⁷ Hall Direct, Ex. 6, Page 10, Lines 6-7.

²¹⁸ Ex. 118.

The statute does not require the order to include a quantification of the amount of savings.

Rather, it simply requires a finding that there will be expected savings.

Decision

Based on the calculations prepared by Liberty and Staff, the Commission finds that the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers has compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds. This conclusion remains true despite the Commission's decisions to use inputs that differ from those proposed by the parties, as demonstrated in the multiple scenarios described by Staff.

A) What is the appropriate discount rate to use to calculate net present value of securitized utility tariff costs that would be recovered for Winter Storm Uri and Asbury through securitization?

Findings of Fact

174. The bond markets are continuing to change and as a result, the actual bond rates are not yet knowable and will likely change between now and when the bonds are issued. By the time of the hearing in June 2022, the expected weighted bond interest rate, which was 2.47 percent in January 2022, had risen to 4.28 percent.²¹⁹

175. Staff suggests the discount rate for Winter Storm Uri costs should also be evaluated based on the short-term or long-term cost of debt, and the discount rate for Asbury should be evaluated based on the authorized WACC of 6.77 percent, resulting in a weighted blended interest rate of 5.16 percent.²²⁰

²¹⁹ Transcript, Vol. 7, Pages 525-526, Lines 23-25, 1-21.

²²⁰ Ex. 118.

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

Decision

The Commission finds that the weighted blended interest rate of 5.16 percent proposed by Staff is appropriate.

- 6) Regarding any designated staff representatives who may be advised by a financial advisor or advisors, what provision or procedures should the Commission order to implement the requirements of Section 393.1700.2(3)(h)?
- 7) What other conditions, if any, are appropriate and not inconsistent with Section 393.1700, RSMo (Supp. 2021), to be included in the financing order?

Findings of Fact

- 176. Many details about the securitization bonds are not yet known and will not be known until the bonds are ready to be issued. The Commission needs to ensure that the securitization will likely provide quantifiable net present value to the benefit of the utility's customers. As a result, review and input from the Commission's Staff of the details of the securitization, as well as their collaboration with Liberty, is essential.²²¹
- 177. The securitization statute does allow the Commission to reject the securitization by disapproving the issuance advice letter just before the bonds are issued, but that would be a drastic action with material capital market implications. Thus, there is a need for Staff to be able to be involved in the process and to regularly update the Commission and transmit feedback as necessary.²²²
- 178. Staff's involvement in the structuring, marketing, and pricing phase on behalf of the Commission is important because the bond underwriters will not have any

²²¹ Davis Rebuttal, Ex. 107, Pages 7-8, Lines 18-22, 1-2.

²²² Davis Rebuttal, Ex. 107, Page 8, Lines 4-9.

fiduciary responsibility to protect the interests of customers.²²³ Similarly, the interests of the utility and the interests of the customers may not entirely align during the structuring, marketing, and pricing phase. As a result, it is important that the Commission have a seat at the table so it can protect customer's interests.²²⁴

179. The Commission must also be concerned about allowing the bond placement process to proceed without undue interference. The bond placing process must be quick moving and efficient to meet market expectations, so that potential investors do not choose to opt out of the process.²²⁵ In some situations, a decision will have to be made in a matter of minutes.²²⁶

180. In its proposed draft financing order, Staff included language creating what it termed a Finance Team, which would consist of one or more designated Staff representatives, financial advisors, and outside bond counsel. As proposed by Staff, such a Finance Team would be given authority to "review and approve" the securitized bonds and associated transactions. Further, the Finance Team would be allowed to "attend all meetings and participate in all calls, e-mails, and other communications relating to the structuring and pricing and issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds." 227

181. Liberty's witness, Goldman Sachs Managing Director and possible underwriter for the bonds, Katrina T. Niehaus, testified that she would be willing to work with a bond advisory team if directed to do so by the Commission.²²⁸ She further testified

²²³ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 536, Lines 17-20.

²²⁴ Transcript, Vol. 7, Pages 595-596, Lines 14-25, 1-12.

²²⁵ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 558-559, Lines 21-25, 1-7.

²²⁶ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 569, Lines 16-24.

²²⁷ Draft Financing Order, Pages 7-8.

²²⁸ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 553, Lines 9-24.

that she has worked with similar teams in the past and found them to be an effective way to alleviate concerns raised by staff or their financial advisors and to help them provide quidance to their commission.²²⁹

182. Liberty's witness, Michael Mosindy, pointed to one area of communications to which a Finance Team would not be able to participate. Communications with rating agencies are tightly controlled to comply with SEC rules. For that reason, communication with the ratings agencies will generally be limited to one person from Liberty and a representative from the lead underwriter.²³⁰ Staff's witness, Mark Davis, confirmed that practice²³¹ and indicated in that circumstance, Staff would receive access to the recorded calls.²³²

183. The applicable statutory provisions are designed to permit the bonds to be issued with triple-A ratings, using features generally consistent with precedent legislation enabling securitization of this type.²³³

Conclusions of Law

HHH. Section 393.1700.2(3)(h) RSMo, provides that before securitization bonds are issued, the electrical corporation is required to provide an "issuance advice letter" to the Commission describing the final terms of the bonds. The Commission is allowed only until noon on the fourth business day after it receives the issuance advice letter to issue a disapproval letter directing that the bond issuance as proposed should not proceed.

²²⁹ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 562, Lines 12-25.

²³⁰ Mosindy Surrebuttal, Ex. 15, Page 7, Lines 7-13.

²³¹ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 596, Lines 13-20.

²³² Transcript, Vol. 7, Pages 592-593, Lines 23-25, 1-9.

²³³ Niehaus Direct, Ex. 18, Page 9, Lines 14-16.

III. So that the Commission will have sufficient insight into the bond placing process to be able to evaluate the issuance advice letter in the short amount of time allowed, Section 393.1700.2(3)(h) RSMo, gives the Commission authority to:

designate a representative or representatives from commission staff, who may be advised by a financial advisor or advisors contracted with the commission, to provide input to the electrical corporation and collaborate with the electrical corporation in all facets of the process undertaken by the electrical corporation to place the securitized utility tariff bonds to market so the commission's representative or representatives can provide the commission with an opinion on the reasonableness of the pricing, terms, and conditions of the securitized utility tariff bonds on an expedited basis.

JJJ. Section 393.1700.2(3)(h) also expressly limits the authority of the Commission's representative or representatives, stating:

Neither the designated representative or representatives from the commission's staff nor one or more financial advisors advising commission staff shall have authority to direct how the electrical corporation places the bonds to market although they shall be permitted to attend all meetings convened by the electrical corporation to address placement of the bonds to market.

KKK. Importantly, Section 393.1700.2(3)(h) also allows the Commission to include provisions in the financing order "relating to the issuance advice letter process as the commission considers appropriate and as are not inconsistent with this section."

LLL. Section 393.1700.2(3)(a)b contemplates that the Commission may issue a financing order approving the petition "subject to conditions."

MMM. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)c requires a financing order to include:

A finding that the proposed structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds are reasonably expected to result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced and the terms of the financing order.

Decision

The Commission is faced with the challenge of balancing the need to be informed and involved with the bond placement process with the need to allow that process to proceed without undue delay or interference. The Commission finds that the concept of a Finance Team as described by Staff as including one or more designated Staff representatives, financial advisors, and outside counsel, is appropriate and within the bounds set by the securitization statute. However, while that team should be allowed to be involved in the process, it does not have authority to "approve" that process. Under the statute, the Finance Team can be given authority to review the process, provide input about the process, collaborate in the process, and report its findings and concerns about the process to the Commission. It is then up to the Commission to approve or disapprove the bond issuance through the statutory bond issuance letter process.

Similarly, a requirement that the Finance Team be allowed to attend and participate in all meetings and other communications is problematic. One example, communications with ratings agencies, was described by Liberty, and there could be other examples as well. Fundamentally, a requirement that the Finance Team be allowed to participate in every communication would be unwieldy and could lead to delays that would hamper the bond placement process.

The Commission will create a Finance Team as proposed by Staff, but will limit the authority granted to that team as described below.

To ensure, as required by Sections 393.1700.2(3)(c)c and 393.1700.2(3)(h), that the structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds are reasonably expected to result in the lowest securitized utility tariff bond charges consistent with market conditions

and the terms of this Financing Order, the Commission designates a Finance Team consisting of designated Commission Staff representatives, financial advisors, and outside counsel to review, provide input, and collaborate on marketing and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the associated transaction documents. Any costs incurred by the Finance Team in connection with its review of the securitized utility tariff bonds shall be treated as financing costs. The Finance Team shall provide oversight over and input to the structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bond transaction and review the material terms of the transaction to ensure the transaction provides quantifiable net present value benefits to customers compared to the use of traditional ratemaking and results in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced.

The Finance Team shall have the right to review, provide input, and collaborate on all facets of the structuring, marketing and pricing bond processes, including but not limited to, (1) the size, selection process, participants, allocations and economics of the underwriter and any other member of the syndicate group; (2) the structure of the bonds; (3) the bonds credit rating agency application; (4) the underwriters' preparation, marketing and syndication of the bonds; (5) the pricing of the bonds and the certifications provided by Liberty and the underwriters; (6) all associated costs, (including up front and ongoing financing costs), servicing and administrative fees and associated crediting; (7) bond maturities; (8) reporting templates; (9) the amount of any equity contributions; (10) credit enhancements; and (11) the initial calculations of the securitized utility tariff charges. The foregoing and other items may be reviewed during the entire course of the Finance Team's process. The pre-issuance review process will help ensure that the securitized

utility tariff bonds will be issued with material terms that meet the requirements of the Securitization Law. The Finance Team's review shall continue until the issuance advice letter is disapproved, approved, or takes effect by operation of law.

For the Commission to remain informed and updated throughout the pre-issuance review process, the Commission may require status meetings or phone conferences for the Finance Team and involved parties to communicate and update the Commission on the information being reviewed and prepared in the structuring and pricing process. The Commission may request access to the actual documents and information being reviewed by the Finance Team as needed. The Finance Team may submit written status reports to the Commission as the Finance Team deems appropriate or as requested by the Commission. If concerns arise during the process, such status meetings, conferences or updates can be requested by the Finance Team or other involved parties as needed.

No member of the Finance Team has authority to direct how Liberty places the securitized utility tariff bonds to market although they shall be permitted to attend all meetings convened by Liberty, and participate in all non-privileged calls, e-mails, and other communications relating to the structuring, pricing and issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds, or be subsequently informed of the substance of those communications.

In connection with the submission of the issuance advice letter, Liberty and the lead underwriters for the securitized utility tariff bonds shall provide a written certificate to the Commission certifying, and setting forth all calculations and assumptions used to support such calculations and certificate, that the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds (i) complies with this Financing Order, (ii) complies with all other applicable legal

requirements (including all requirements of Section 393.1700), (iii) that the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition of the securitized utility tariff charges are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds, and (iv) that the structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds will result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced and the terms of this Financing Order. Such certificates shall be a condition precedent to the submission of the issuance advice letter to the Commission.

In addition, the securitized tariff bonds issued in compliance with this Financing Order shall have a triple-A rating from at least two of the nationally recognized rating agencies.

8) How should securitized utility tariff charges be initially allocated among retail customer classes?

Findings of Fact

184. Based on the class revenue targets Liberty proposed in its most recent general rate case, it calculated the percentage of the company's total revenue requirement that would be contributed by each of Liberty's then existing rate classes and used the result to determine how much of the cost of the securitization bonds should be recovered from each class.²³⁴ MECG supports Liberty's method of allocation based on cost of service principles.²³⁵

²³⁵ Initial Brief of Midwest Energy Consumers Group, Page 4.

²³⁴ Emery Direct, Ex. 7, Page 23, Table CTE-5.

185. This table shows the allocation percentage Liberty would assign to each of its rate classes:

Class	Allocation Percentage
Residential	45.02%
Commercial	9.05%
Small Heating	2.02%
General Power	18.01%
Transmission	1.08%
Total Electric Building	7.62%
Feed Mill	0.02%
Large Power	15.83%
Misc. Service	0.00%
Street Lighting	0.63%
Private Lighting	0.70%
Special Lighting	0.02%
Total	100%

- 186. The allocation factors listed by Liberty are no longer accurate in that they do not incorporate the revisions made in Liberty's most recent rate case. In addition, they do not allocate a share to Liberty's Electrical Vehicle customer class.²³⁶
- 187. Liberty's proposal to allocate costs among the various customer classes also creates problems related to rate switching. That is larger customers may attempt to

²³⁶ Lange Rebuttal, Ex. 108, Page 6, Lines 1-3.

switch service to a different rate class to obtain a lower bill. That could leave fewer customers in a particular rate class to cover the same allocation, encouraging more rate switching. That could lead to under-collection of amounts sufficient to service the debt.²³⁷

- 188. Staff takes a different approach and recommends that the Securitized Utility Tariff Charge for all customers be calculated on the basis of loss-adjusted energy sales. That approach would not require allocation among the various customer classes.²³⁸
- 189. If Liberty's Winter Storm Uri related qualified extraordinary costs had been recovered through Liberty's Fuel Adjustment Clause in the absence of a securitization option, those costs would have been allocated to Liberty's customers proportionate to the energy usage, adjusted for losses.²³⁹
- 190. The benefits derived from closing Asbury are expected to flow to customers through decreased net costs of participation in Southwest Power Pool's Integrated Market. Those benefits are allocated to customers through the fuel adjustment clause on the basis of loss-adjusted energy usage. Therefore, Liberty's Asbury related energy transition costs should also be allocated on the basis of energy usage, adjusted for losses.²⁴⁰
- 191. Customer classes with relatively high energy consumption per customer will be the biggest beneficiaries of both the reduced operating costs and the reduced costs of obtaining energy to serve load that results from the closing of Asbury. Therefore,

²³⁷ Lange Rebuttal, Ex. 108, Page 18, Lines 1-10.

²³⁸ Lange Rebuttal, Ex 108, Page 2. Lines 10-15.

²³⁹ Lange Rebuttal, Ex. 108, Page 32, Lines 7-10.

²⁴⁰ Luebbert, Rebuttal, Ex. 106, Page 3, Lines 5-12, and Lange Rebuttal, Ex. 108, Page 27, Lines 1-6.

apportioning the cost of the Asbury retirement consistent with how the benefit of closing Asbury and including wind generation to replace it is flowed to customers is reasonable.²⁴¹

Conclusions of Law

NNN. Section 393.1700.2(3))(c)h RSMo requires this securitization order to determine "how securitized utility tariff charges will be allocated among retail customer classes."

OOO. The Commission has much discretion in determining the theory or method it uses in determining rates²⁴² and can make pragmatic adjustments called for by particular circumstances.²⁴³

PPP. Cost-allocation is a discretionary determination frequently delegated to an expert administrative agency such as the Commission. In that regard, the Missouri Court of Appeals quoted approvingly the United States Supreme Court as saying "[a]llocation of costs is not a matter for the slide-rule. It involves judgment on a myriad of fact. It has no claim to an exact science."²⁴⁴

QQQ. The definition of "securitized utility tariff charge" found at Section 393.1700.1(16) indicates that such charges are nonbypassable.

Decision

Cost allocation to the various customer classes is an important issue for the Midwest Energy Consumers Group, which advocated strongly for the sort of class

²⁴¹ Lange Rebuttal, Ex. 108, Page 27, Lines 15-18.

²⁴² State ex rel. Public Counsel v. Public Service Com'n, 274 S.W.3d 569, 586 (Mo. App. 2009).

²⁴³ State ex rel. U.S. Water/Lexington v. Missouri Public Service Com'n 795 S.W.2d 593, 597 (Mo. App. 1990)

^{Spire Missouri, Inc. v. Missouri Public Service Com'n 607 S.W.3d 759, 771 (Mo. App. 2020), quoting National Ass'n of Greeting Card Publishers v. U.S. Postal Service, 462 U.S. 810, 103 S.Ct 2727, 77 L.Ed. 2d 195 (1983). That decision was quoting an earlier United State Supreme Court decision, Colorado Interstate Gas Co. v. Federal Power Commission, 324 U.S. 581, 589, 65 S.Ct. 829, 833, 89 L.Ed. 1206 (1945).}

allocation proposed by Liberty. Their concern is that Staff's proposal will result in higher rates for industrial customers who use a lot of energy per customer. Nevertheless, the Commission finds that Staff's proposal to allocate costs on the basis of loss-adjusted energy sales is appropriate, and that allocation methodology will be implemented.

Non-contested Issues

The Commission makes the following findings of fact.

A) Identification and Procedure

Identification of Petitioner and Background

192. The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty is a Kansas corporation with its principal office and place of business at 602 Joplin Street, Joplin, Missouri. Liberty is qualified to conduct business and is conducting business in Missouri, as well as in the states of Arkansas, Kansas, and Oklahoma. Liberty is engaged, generally, in the business of generating, purchasing, transmitting, distributing, and selling electricity in portions of the referenced four states. Liberty's Missouri operations are subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission as provided by law.

B) Financing Costs and Amount of Securitized Utility Tariff Costs to be Financed

Identification

193. The proceeds from the sale of the securitized utility tariff property will be used by Liberty to recover the securitized utility tariff costs incurred by Liberty in response to the anomalous weather event Winter Storm Uri and in connection with retiring Asbury, including purchases of fuel or power, carrying charges, deferred legal expenses and upfront financing costs.

- 194. Liberty proposed that the securitized utility tariff charges related to the securitized utility tariff bonds will be recovered over a scheduled period of 13 years, but not more than 15 years from the date of issuance but that amounts due at or before the end of that period for securitized utility tariff charges allocable to the 15-year period may be collected after the conclusion of the 15-year period.
- 195. The proposed structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds are reasonably expected to result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced and the terms of this Financing Order.
- 196. For so long as the securitized utility tariff bonds are outstanding and until all financing costs have been paid in full, the imposition and collection of securitized utility tariff charges authorized under this Financing Order shall be nonbypassable and paid by all existing and future retail customers receiving electrical service from Liberty or its successors or assignees under Commission-approved rate schedules, even if a retail customer elects to purchase electricity from an alternative electric supplier following a fundamental change in regulation of public utilities in the State of Missouri. Liberty has no customers receiving electrical service under special contracts as of August 28, 2021.
- 197. The securitized utility tariff bonds will be secured by securitized utility tariff property that shall be created in favor of Liberty or its successors or assignees and that shall be used to pay or secure the securitized utility tariff bonds and approved financing costs. The securitized utility tariff property principally consists of the right to receive revenues from the securitized utility tariff charges.

- 198. It is appropriate that Liberty be authorized to establish the terms and conditions of the securitized utility tariff bonds, including, but not limited to, repayment schedules, expected interest rates, and other financing costs, except as expressly limited in this order. The Finance Team and the Commission will review the complete terms and conditions of the securitization utility tariff bonds, the calculations of the initial securitized utility tariff charges and the expected and actual financing costs set forth in the issuance advice letter.
- 199. After the final terms of the securitized utility tariff bonds have been established and before the issuance of such bonds, it is appropriate for Liberty to determine the resulting initial securitized utility tariff charge in accordance with this Financing Order, and that such initial charge be final and effective upon the issuance of such securitized utility tariff bonds with such charge to be reflected on a compliance tariff sheet bearing such charge.
- 200. Liberty proposed a method of tracing funds collected as securitized utility tariff charges, or other proceeds of securitized utility tariff property.
- 201. Liberty proposed that it shall earn a return, at the cost of capital authorized from time to time by the Commission in Liberty's rate proceedings, on any moneys advanced by Liberty to fund the capital subaccount established under the terms of the indenture, any ancillary agreement, or other financing documents pertaining to the securitized utility bonds.
- 202. It is appropriate that Liberty shall be authorized to issue securitized utility tariff bonds pursuant to this Financing Order for a period commencing with the date of this Financing Order and extending 24 months following the date on which this Financing

Order becomes final and no longer subject to any appeal. If, at any time during the effective period of this Financing Order, there is a severe disruption in the financial markets of the United States, it is appropriate for the effective period to be extended with the approval of the Commission to a date that is not less than 90 days after the date such disruption ends.

Issuance Advice Letter

As the actual structure and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds will be unknown at the time this Financing Order is issued, prior to the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds, Liberty will provide an issuance advice letter to the Commission following the determination of the final terms of the securitized utility tariff bonds no later than one day after the pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds. The issuance advice letter will include total upfront financing costs for the issuance. The form of such issuance advice letter, which shall indicate the final structure of the securitized utility tariff bonds and provide the best available estimate of total ongoing financing costs, is set out in Appendix A to this Financing Order. The issuance advice letter shall report the initial securitized utility tariff charges and other information specific to the securitized utility tariff bonds to be issued, as the Commission may require. The issuance advice letter shall demonstrate the ultimate amounts of quantifiable net present value savings. Liberty may proceed with the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds unless, prior to noon on the fourth business day after the Commission receives the issuance advice letter, the Commission issues a disapproval letter directing that the securitized utility tariff bonds as proposed shall not be issued and the basis for that disapproval.

204. If the actual upfront financing costs are less than the upfront financing costs included in the principal amount securitized, the periodic billing requirement, defined below, for the first annual true-up adjustment must be reduced by the amount of such unused funds (together with interest, if any, earned on the investment of such funds). If the actual upfront financing costs are more than the upfront financing costs included in the principal amount securitized, the periodic billing requirement for the first annual true-up adjustment may be increased by the amount of such unrecovered upfront financing costs.

C) Structure of the Proposed Securitization

BondCo

205. For purposes of issuing the securitized utility tariff bonds, Liberty will create a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity (referred to as BondCo), which will be a Delaware limited liability company with Liberty as its sole member. BondCo will be formed for the limited purpose of acquiring securitized utility tariff property, issuing securitized utility tariff bonds in one or more tranches, and performing other activities relating thereto or otherwise authorized by this Financing Order. BondCo will not be permitted to engage in any other activities and will have no assets other than securitized utility tariff property and related assets to support its obligations under the securitized utility tariff bonds. Obligations relating to the securitized utility tariff bonds will be BondCo's only material liabilities. Liberty has proposed and the Commission has accepted that these restrictions on the activities of BondCo and restrictions on the ability of Liberty to take action on BondCo's behalf are imposed to achieve the objective that BondCo will be bankruptcy remote and not affected by a bankruptcy of Liberty or any of its successors. BondCo will

be managed by a board of directors or a board of managers with rights and duties similar to those of a board of directors of a corporation. As long as the securitized utility tariff bonds remain outstanding, BondCo will be overseen by at least one independent director or manager whose approval will be required for certain major actions or organizational changes by BondCo. BondCo will not be permitted to amend the provisions of the organizational documents that relate to bankruptcy-remoteness of BondCo without the consent of the independent directors or managers. BondCo will not be permitted to institute bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings or to consent to the institution of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings against it, or to dissolve, liquidate, consolidate, convert, or merge without the consent of the independent directors or managers. Other restrictions to facilitate bankruptcy-remoteness may also be included in the organizational documents of BondCo as required by the rating agencies.

206. The initial capital of BondCo is expected to be not less than 0.50% of the original principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds issued by BondCo. Adequate funding of BondCo at this level is intended to protect the bankruptcy remoteness of BondCo. A sufficient level of capital is necessary to minimize this risk and, therefore, assist in achieving the lowest securitized utility tariff charges possible.

Statutory Requirements

207. BondCo will issue the securitized utility tariff bonds consisting of one or more tranches. The aggregate amount of all tranches of the securitized utility tariff bonds issued under this Financing Order must not exceed the principal amount approved by this Financing Order. BondCo will pledge to the indenture trustee, as collateral for payment of the securitized utility tariff bonds, the securitized utility tariff property, including

BondCo's right to receive the securitized utility tariff charges as and when collected, and certain other collateral described herein.

Concurrent with the issuance of any of the securitized utility tariff bonds, 208. Liberty will transfer to BondCo all of (a) Liberty's rights and interests under this Financing Order, including the right to impose, bill, charge, collect, and receive securitized utility tariff charges authorized under this Financing Order and to obtain periodic adjustments to such charges as provided in this Financing Order and (b) all revenues, collections, claims, rights to payments, payments, money, or proceeds arising from the rights and interests specified in this Financing Order, regardless of whether such revenues, collections, claims, rights to payment, payments, money, or proceeds are imposed, billed, received, collected, or maintained together with or commingled with other revenues, collections, rights to payment, payments, money, or proceeds. This transfer will be structured so that it will qualify as a true sale within the meaning of Section 393.1700.5.(3) and that such rights will become securitized utility tariff property concurrently with their sale to BondCo as provided in Section 393.1700.2.(3)(d). By virtue of the transfer, BondCo will acquire all of the right, title, and interest of Liberty in the securitized utility tariff property arising under this Financing Order.

Credit Enhancement and Arrangements to Enhance Marketability

209. Liberty has requested permission to use credit enhancements and arrangements to enhance marketability if such credit enhancements are required by the rating agencies to achieve the highest possible credit rating on the securitized utility tariff bonds. If the use of credit enhancements, or other arrangements is proposed by Liberty, Liberty must provide the Finance Team copies of all cost-benefit analyses performed by

or for Liberty that support the request to use such arrangements. This finding does not apply to the collection account or its subaccounts approved in this Financing Order.

Securitized Utility Tariff Property

210. Securitized utility tariff property and all other collateral will be held and administered by the indenture trustee under the indenture.

Servicer and the Servicing Agreement

Liberty will enter into a servicing agreement with BondCo. The servicing agreement may be amended, renewed or replaced by another servicing agreement subject to certain conditions set forth therein. The entity responsible for carrying out the servicing obligations under any servicing agreement is the servicer. Liberty will be the initial servicer but may be succeeded as servicer by another entity under certain circumstances detailed in the servicing agreement and as authorized by the Commission. Under the servicing agreement, the servicer is required to, among other things, impose and collect the securitized utility tariff charges for the benefit and account of BondCo, make the periodic true-up adjustments of securitized utility tariff charges required or permitted by this Financing Order, and account for and remit the securitized utility tariff charges to or for the account of BondCo in accordance with the remittance procedures contained in the servicing agreement and the indenture without any charge, deduction or surcharge of any kind. Under the terms of the servicing agreement, if any servicer fails to perform its servicing obligations in any material respect, the indenture trustee acting under the indenture to be entered into in connection with the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds, may, or, upon the instruction of the requisite percentage of holders of the outstanding amount of securitized utility tariff bonds, must, appoint an alternate party to replace the defaulting servicer, in which case the replacement servicer will perform the obligations of the servicer under the servicing agreement. Any such servicer replacement must not cause the then current credit ratings of the securitized utility tariff bonds to be suspended, withdrawn, or downgraded. The obligations of the servicer under the servicing agreement and the circumstances under which an alternate servicer may be appointed will be more fully described in the servicing agreement. The rights of BondCo under the servicing agreement will be included in the collateral pledged to the indenture trustee under the indenture for the benefit of holders of the securitized utility tariff bonds.

212. The obligations to continue to provide service and to collect and account for securitized utility tariff charges will be binding upon Liberty and any other entity that provides electrical services to a person that is a retail customer located within Liberty's Service Territory as it existed on the date of this Financing Order, or that became a retail customer for electric services within such area after the date of this Financing Order, and is still located within such area.

Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds

213. BondCo will issue and sell securitized utility tariff bonds consisting of one or more tranches. The legal final maturity date of the securitized utility tariff bonds will not exceed 15 years from the date of issuance. The legal final maturity date and principal amounts of each tranche will be finally determined by Liberty with input from the Finance Team, consistent with market conditions and indications of the rating agencies, at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced, but subject to ultimate Commission review through the issuance advice letter process. Subject to the conditions and criteria set forth in this Financing Order, Liberty will retain sole discretion regarding whether or

when to assign, sell, or otherwise transfer any rights concerning securitized utility tariff property arising under this Financing Order, or to cause the issuance of any securitized utility tariff bonds authorized in this Financing Order, subject to the right of the Commission to issue a disapproval letter to the issuance advice letter. BondCo will issue the securitized utility tariff bonds on or after the fifth business day after pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds unless, before noon on the fourth business day after the Commission receives the issuance advice letter, the Commission issues a disapproval letter directing that the securitized utility tariff bonds as proposed shall not be issued and the basis for that disapproval.

Security for Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds

214. The payment of the securitized utility tariff bonds and related charges authorized by this Financing Order is to be secured by the securitized utility tariff property created by this Financing Order and by certain other collateral as described herein. The securitized utility tariff bonds will be issued under an indenture administered by the indenture trustee. The indenture will include provisions for a collection account and subaccounts for the collection and administration of the securitized utility tariff charges and payment or funding of the principal and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and financing costs in connection with the securitized utility tariff bonds. In accordance with the indenture, BondCo will establish a collection account as a trust account to be held by the indenture trustee as collateral to ensure the payment of the principal, interest, and financing costs approved in this Financing Order related to the securitized utility tariff bonds in full and on a timely basis. The collection account will include the general

subaccount, the capital subaccount, and the excess funds subaccount, and may include other subaccounts.

The General Subaccount

215. The indenture trustee will deposit the securitized utility tariff charge remittances that the servicer remits to the indenture trustee for the account of BondCo into one or more segregated trust accounts and allocate the amount of those remittances to the general subaccount. The indenture trustee will on a periodic basis apply moneys in this subaccount to pay principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds, to pay ongoing financing costs, and to meet the funding requirements of the other subaccounts. The funds in the general subaccount will be invested by the indenture trustee in short-term high-quality investments, and such funds (including, to the extent necessary, investment earnings) will be applied by the indenture trustee to pay principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and all other components of the periodic payment requirement (as defined in finding of fact number 228), and otherwise in accordance with the terms of the indenture.

The Capital Subaccount

216. Liberty will make a capital contribution to BondCo, which BondCo will deposit into the capital subaccount. The amount of the capital contribution is expected to be not less than 0.50% of the original principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds, although the actual amount will depend on tax and rating agency requirements. The capital subaccount will serve as collateral to ensure timely payment of principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and all other components of the periodic payment requirement. Any funds drawn from the capital account to pay these amounts

due to a shortfall in the securitized utility tariff charge remittances will be replenished through future securitized utility tariff charge remittances. The funds in the capital subaccount will be invested by the indenture trustee in short-term high-quality investments, and such funds (including investment earnings) will be used by the indenture trustee to pay principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and all other components of the periodic payment requirement. Upon payment of the principal amount of all securitized utility tariff bonds and the discharge of all obligations that may be paid by use of securitized utility tariff charges, all amounts in the capital subaccount will be released to BondCo for payment to Liberty. Liberty will account for any recovery on earnings from its capital subaccount in a reconciliation in a future rate case to account for any capital subaccount earnings in excess of the rate of return already earned by Liberty in previous proceedings.

The Excess Funds Subaccount

217. The excess funds subaccount will hold any securitized utility tariff charge remittances and investment earnings on the collection account in excess of the amounts needed to pay current principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and to pay other periodic payment requirements (including, but not limited to, replenishing the capital subaccount). Any balance in or allocated to the excess funds subaccount on a true-up adjustment date will be subtracted from the periodic billing requirement (as defined in finding of fact number 229) for purposes of the true-up adjustment. The money in the excess funds subaccount will be invested by the indenture trustee in short-term high-quality investments, and such money (including investment earnings thereon) will be

used by the indenture trustee to pay principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and other periodic payment requirements.

Other Subaccounts

218. Other credit enhancements in the form of subaccounts may be utilized for the transaction provided that the use of such subaccounts is consistent with the statutory requirements. For example, Liberty does not propose use of an overcollateralization subaccount. Under Rev.Proc. 2002-49, as modified, amplified and superseded by Rev. Proc. 2005-62 issued by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), the use of an overcollateralization subaccount is not necessary for favorable tax treatment nor does it appear to be necessary to obtain AAA ratings for the proposed securitized utility tariff bonds. If Liberty subsequently determines in consultation with the Finance Team, however, that use of an overcollateralization subaccount or other subaccount are necessary to obtain AAA ratings or will otherwise increase the quantifiable benefits of the securitization, Liberty may implement such subaccounts to reduce securitized utility tariff bond charges.

General Provisions

219. The collection account and the subaccounts described above are intended to provide for full and timely payment of scheduled principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and all other components of the periodic payment requirement. If the amount of securitized utility tariff charges remitted to the general subaccount is insufficient to make all scheduled payments of principal and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and to make payment on all of the other components of the periodic payment requirement, the excess funds subaccount and the capital subaccount

will be drawn down, in that order, to make those payments. Any deficiency in the capital subaccount due to such withdrawals must be replenished to the capital subaccount on a periodic basis through the true-up process. In addition to the foregoing, there may be such additional accounts and subaccounts as are necessary to segregate amounts received from various sources, or to be used for specified purposes. Such accounts will be administered and utilized as set forth in the servicing agreement and the indenture. Upon the maturity of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the discharge of all obligations in respect thereof, remaining amounts in the collection account, other than amounts that were in the capital subaccount, will be released to BondCo and equivalent amounts will be credited by Liberty to customers. In addition, upon the maturity of the securitized utility tariff bonds any subsequently collected securitized utility tariff charges shall be distributed to retail customers.

Securitized Utility Tariff Charges—Imposition and Collection, Nonbypassability, and Alternative Electric Suppliers

- 220. If securitized utility tariff charges are collected by any third party billing servicer, such securitized utility tariff charges will be remitted to BondCo.
- 221. Securitized utility tariff charges will be identified on each customer's bill as a separate line item and include both the rate and the amount of the charge on each bill. Each customer bill shall include a statement to the effect that BondCo is the owner of the rights to securitized utility tariff charges and that Liberty is acting as servicer for BondCo. The tariff applicable to customers shall indicate the securitized utility tariff charge and the ownership of the charge.

- 222. If any customer does not pay the full amount it has been billed, the amount will be allocated first to the securitized utility tariff charges, unless a customer is in a repayment plan under the Commission's Cold Weather Rule, in which case payments will be prorated among charge categories in proportion to their percentage of the overall bill, with first dollars collected attributed to past due balances, if any.
- 223. Liberty will collect securitized utility tariff charges from all existing or future retail customers receiving electrical service from Liberty or its successors or assignees under Commission-approved rate schedules, even if a retail customer elects to purchase electricity from an alternative electricity supplier following a change in regulation of public utilities in Missouri.
- 224. Liberty's proposal related to imposition and collection of securitized utility tariff charges is reasonable and is necessary to ensure collection of securitized utility tariff charges sufficient to support recovery of the securitized utility tariff costs and financing costs approved in this Financing Order. It is reasonable to require that Liberty's Securitized Utility Tariff Charge Rider SUTC, reflecting estimated charges, be filed before any securitized utility tariff bonds are issued under this Financing Order.

Allocation of Financing Costs Among Missouri Retail Customers

225. The periodic payment requirement is the required periodic payment for a given period (e.g., annually, semi-annually, or quarterly) due under the securitized utility tariff bonds. Each periodic payment requirement includes: (a) the principal amortization of the securitized utility tariff bonds in accordance with the expected amortization schedule (including deficiencies of previously scheduled principal for any reason); (b) periodic interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds (including any accrued and unpaid

interest); and (c) ongoing financing costs consisting of the servicing fee, rating agencies' fees, trustee fees, legal and accounting fees, and other ongoing fees and expenses. The initial periodic payment requirement for the securitized utility tariff bonds issued under this Financing Order should be updated in the issuance advice letter.

226. The periodic billing requirement represents the aggregate dollar amount of securitized utility tariff charges that must be billed during a given period (e.g., annually, semi- annually, or quarterly) so that the securitized utility tariff charge collections will be sufficient to meet the periodic payment requirement for that period, given: (i) forecast usage data for the period; (ii) forecast uncollectibles for the period; and (iii) forecast lags in collection of billed securitized utility tariff charges for the period.

True-Up of Securitized Utility Tariff Charges

- 227. Under Section 393.1700.2.(3)(c)e., the servicer of the securitized utility tariff bonds will use a formula-based true-up mechanism to make periodic, expeditious adjustments, at least annually, to the securitized utility tariff charges to:
 - (a) correct any undercollections or overcollections that may have occurred and otherwise ensure that BondCo receives securitized utility tariff charges that are required to satisfy the debt service obligations, including without limitation any caused by defaults, during the preceding 12 months; and
 - (b) ensure the billing of securitized utility tariff charges necessary to generate the collection of amounts sufficient to timely provide all payments of scheduled principal and interest and any other amounts due in connection with the securitized utility tariff bonds (including financing

costs and amounts required to be deposited in or allocated to any collection account or subaccount) during the period for which such adjusted securitized utility tariff charges are to be in effect.

The servicer will make true-up adjustment filings with the Commission annually, and if the servicer forecasts undercollections semi-annually.

228. True-up filings will be based upon the cumulative differences, regardless of the reason, between the periodic payment requirement (including scheduled principal and interest payments on the securitized utility tariff bonds) and the amount of securitized utility tariff charge remittances to the indenture trustee. To assure adequate securitized utility tariff charge revenues to fund the periodic payment requirement over the life of the securitized utility tariff bonds and to avoid overcollections and undercollections over time, the servicer will reconcile the securitized utility tariff charges using Liberty's most recent forecast of electricity deliveries (i.e., forecasted billing units) and estimates of transactionrelated expenses. In the case of any adjustments occurring after the final scheduled payment date for the securitized utility tariff bonds, adjustments to the securitized utility tariff charges will be no less frequent than quarterly to correct for overcollections or undercollections by the earlier of the next bond payment date or the legal maturity date for the bonds. The calculation of the securitized utility tariff charges will also reflect both a projection of uncollectible securitized utility tariff charges and a projection of payment lags between the billing and collection of securitized utility tariff charges based upon Liberty's most recent experience regarding collection of securitized utility tariff charges.

- 229. The servicer will implement the true-up in the following manner, known as the standard true-up procedure:
 - (a) The level of actual sales for the subject period will be netted from the forecasted sales for that same period;
- (b) Undercollections or overcollections will be determined by multiplying the result from Step (a) by the rate in effect for the same period; and
- (c) The resulting dollar amount will be incorporated as a component of the subsequent period's recovery period amount, to be allocated consistent with this Financing Order or subsequent final and unappealable Rate Case Report and Order, whichever is most recent.

Interim True-Up

- 230. In addition to annual true-up adjustments, true-up adjustments may be made by the servicer more frequently at any time during the term of the securitized utility tariff bonds to correct any undercollection or, as provided for in this Financing Order, in order to assure timely payment of securitized utility tariff bonds. Further, the servicer must make a mandatory interim true-up adjustment semi-annually (or quarterly beginning 12 months prior to the final scheduled payment date of the last tranche of the securitized utility tariff bonds):
 - (a) if the servicer forecasts that securitized utility tariff charge collections will be insufficient to make all scheduled payments of principal, interest, and other amounts in respect of the securitized utility tariff bonds on a timely basis during the current or next succeeding payment period; or
 - (b) to replenish any draws upon the capital subaccount.

231. In the event an interim true-up (whether mandatory or optional) is necessary, the interim true-up adjustment must use the methodology utilized in the most recent annual true-up and be filed not less than 45 days before the first billing cycle of the month in which the revised securitized utility tariff charges will be in effect.

Additional True-Up Provisions

232. The true-up adjustment filing will set forth the servicer's calculation of the true-up adjustment to the securitized utility tariff charges. Each true-up adjustment must be filed not less than 45 days before the first billing cycle of the month in which the revised securitized utility tariff charges will be in effect. The Commission will have 30 days after the date of a true-up adjustment filing in which to confirm the mathematical accuracy of the servicer's adjustment. If the Commission determines any mathematical inaccuracy during its 30-day review, it will notify Liberty of the inaccuracy and Liberty will correct such inaccuracy in the securitized utility tariff charges that will go into effect on the effective date. Any true-up adjustment filed with the Commission should be effective on its proposed effective date, which must be not less than 45 days after filing. Liberty may adjust the actual true-up process in consultation with the Finance Team if necessary to ensure triple-A rating on the securitized utility tariff bonds.

Lowest Securitized Utility Tariff Charges

- 233. The proposed transaction structure includes (but is not limited to):
 - the use of BondCo as issuer of the securitized utility tariff bonds, limiting the risks to securitized utility tariff bond holders of any adverse impact resulting from a bankruptcy proceeding of Liberty or any of its affiliates;

- (b) the right to impose and collect securitized utility tariff charges that are nonbypassable and which must be trued-up annually or semi-annually, but may be trued-up more frequently, to assure the timely payment of the debt service and other ongoing financing costs;
- (c) additional collateral in the form of a collection account that includes a capital subaccount funded in cash in an amount equal to not less than 0.50% of the original principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds and other subaccounts resulting in greater certainty of payment of interest and principal to investors and that are consistent with the IRS requirements that must be met to receive the desired federal income tax treatment for the securitized utility tariff bond transaction;
- (d) protection of securitized utility tariff bondholders against potential defaults by a servicer that is responsible for billing and collecting the securitized utility tariff charges from existing or future retail customers;
- (e) benefits for federal income tax purposes including (i) the transfer of the rights under this Financing Order to BondCo not resulting in gross income to Liberty and the future revenues under the securitized utility tariff charges being included in Liberty's gross income under its usual method of accounting, (ii) the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the transfer of the proceeds of the securitized utility tariff bonds to Liberty not resulting in gross income to Liberty, and (iii) the securitized utility tariff bonds constituting obligations of Liberty; and

(f) the securitized utility tariff bonds will be marketed using a process reviewed in consultation with the Finance Team, through which market conditions and investors' preferences, with regard to the timing of the issuance, the terms and conditions, related maturities, and other aspects of the structuring, marketing and pricing, will be determined, evaluated and factored into the structuring, marketing and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds.

D) Use of Proceeds

234. Upon the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds, BondCo will use the net proceeds from the sale of the securitized utility tariff bonds (after payment of upfront financing costs) to pay Liberty the purchase price of the securitized utility tariff property. The proceeds from the sale of the securitized utility tariff property will be applied by Liberty to recover the securitized utility tariff costs incurred by Liberty in connection with Winter Storm Uri and the retirement of the Asbury Power Plant.

V. Conclusions of Law

The Commission makes the following conclusions of law.

- RRR. Liberty is an electrical corporation, as defined in Section 393.1700.1.(6).
- SSS. Liberty is entitled to file petitions for a financing order under Section 393.1700.
- TTT. The Commission has jurisdiction and authority over Liberty's petitions under Section 393.1700.2.
- UUU. The Commission has authority to approve this Financing Order under Section 393.1700.2.

VVV. Notices of Liberty's petitions were provided in compliance with Section 393.1700.2.(3)(a)b.

WWW. Energy transition costs are defined in Section 393.1700.1.(7) to include (a) pretax costs with respect to a retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility that is the subject of a petition for a financing order filed under the Securitization Law where such early retirement or abandonment is deemed reasonable and prudent by the Commission through a final order issued by the Commission, include, but are not limited to, the undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith, costs of decommissioning and restoring the site of the electric generating facility, other applicable capital and operating costs, accrued carrying charges, and deferred expenses, with the foregoing to be reduced by applicable tax benefits of accumulated and excess deferred income taxes, insurance, scrap and salvage proceeds, and may include the cost of retiring any existing indebtedness, fees, costs, and expenses to modify existing debt agreements or for waivers or consents related to existing debt agreements; and (b) pretax costs that an electrical corporation has previously incurred related to the retirement or abandonment of such an electric generating facility occurring before August 28, 2021. Qualified extraordinary costs are defined in Section 393.1700.1.(13) to include costs incurred prudently before, on, or after August 28, 2021, of an extraordinary nature which would cause extreme customer rate impacts if reflected in retail customer rates recovered through customary ratemaking, such as but not limited to those related to purchases of fuel or power, inclusive of carrying charges, during anomalous weather events.

Securitized utility tariff costs are defined Section 393.1700.1(17) to include either energy transition costs or qualified extraordinary costs, as the case may be. Financing costs are defined in Section 393.1700.1.(8) to include: (i) interest and acquisition, defeasance, or redemption premiums payable on securitized utility tariff bonds; (ii) any payment required under an ancillary agreement and any amount required to fund or replenish a reserve account or other accounts established under the terms of any indenture, ancillary agreement, or other financing documents pertaining to securitized utility tariff bonds; (iii) any other cost related to issuing supporting, repaying, refunding, and servicing securitized utility tariff bonds, including servicing fees, accounting and auditing fees, trustee fees, legal fees, consulting fees, structuring adviser fees, administrative fees, placement and underwriting fees, independent director and manager fees, capitalized interest, rating agency fees, stock exchange listing and compliance fees, security registration fees, filing fees, information technology programming costs, and any other costs necessary to otherwise ensure the timely payment of securitized utility tariff bonds or other amounts or charges payable in connection with the bonds, including costs related to obtaining the financing order; (iv) any taxes and license fees or other fees imposed on the revenues generated from the collection of securitized utility tariff charges or otherwise resulting from the collection of securitized utility tariff charges, in any such case whether paid, payable, or accrued; (v) any state and local taxes, franchise, gross receipts, and other taxes or similar charges, including Commission assessment fees, whether paid, payable, or accrued; and (vi) any costs associated with performance of the Commission's responsibilities under the Securitization Law in connection with approving, approving subject to conditions, or rejecting a petition for a financing order, and in performing its duties in connection with the issuance advice letter process, including costs to retain counsel, one or more financial advisors, or other consultants as deemed appropriate by the Commission and paid pursuant to the Securitization Law.

XXX. The Securitization Law permits an electrical corporation to request a Commission order authorizing it to finance securitized utility tariff costs, including its energy transition costs and qualified extraordinary costs.

YYY. BondCo will constitute an assignee of Liberty as defined in Section 393.1700.1.(2) when an interest in the securitized utility tariff property created under this Financing Order is transferred to BondCo.

ZZZ. The holders of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the indenture trustee will each be a financing party as defined in Section 393.1700.1.(10).

AAAA. BondCo may issue securitized utility tariff bonds in accordance with this Financing Order.

BBBB. The issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of securitized utility tariff charges approved in this Financing Order satisfies the requirements of Sections 393.1700.2.(3)(c)a., b. and c. mandating that (1) the amount of securitized utility tariff costs to be financed using securitized utility tariff bonds and the recovery of such costs is just and reasonable and in the public interest; (2) the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of securitized utility tariff charges are just and reasonable and in the public interest and are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds; and (3) the proposed structuring and pricing of

the securitized utility tariff bonds are reasonably expected to result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced and the terms of the financing order.

CCCC. Liberty is permitted to earn a return, at the cost of capital authorized from time to time by the Commission in Liberty's rate proceedings, but no more, on any moneys advanced by Liberty to fund reserves, if any, or capital accounts established under the terms of the indenture, any ancillary agreement, or other financing documents pertaining to the securitized utility tariff bond. Consequently, any earnings on the capital accounts in excess of the rate of return authorized by the Commission shall be accounted for in a future reconciliation pursuant to Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)k, RSMo (Cum. Supp. 2021).

DDDD. This Financing Order adequately describes the amount of financing costs that Liberty may recover through securitized utility tariff charges and specifies the period over which Liberty may recover securitized utility tariff charges and financing costs in accordance with the requirements of Section 393.1700.2.(3)(c)a.

EEEE. The method approved in this Financing Order for allocating the securitized utility tariff charges among retail customer classes satisfies the requirements of Section 393.1700.2.(3)(c)h.

FFF. As provided in Section 393.1700.2.(3)(f), at the time the securitized utility tariff property is transferred from Liberty to BondCo, this Financing Order is irrevocable and, except for changes made pursuant to the formula-based true-up mechanism authorized herein, the Commission may not amend, modify, or terminate the financing order by any subsequent action or reduce, impair, postpone, terminate, or otherwise adjust securitized utility tariff charges approved in this Financing Order.

GGGG. As provided in Section 393.1700.2.(3)(d), the securitized utility tariff property identified herein will become securitized utility tariff property under the Securitization Law when they are sold to BondCo.

HHHH. (a) All rights and interests of Liberty under this Financing Order, including the right to impose, bill, charge, collect, and receive securitized utility tariff charges authorized under this Financing Order and to obtain periodic adjustments to such charges as provided in this Financing Order and (b) all revenues, collections, claims, rights to payments, payments, money, or proceeds arising from the rights and interests specified in this Financing Order, regardless of whether such revenues, collections, claims, rights to payment, payments, money, or proceeds are imposed, billed, received, collected, or maintained together with or commingled with other revenues, collections, rights to payment, payments, money, or proceeds that are sold to BondCo under the securitized utility tariff property sale agreement, will be securitized utility tariff property within the meaning of Section 393.1700.1.(18).

IIII. Upon its sale to BondCo, the securitized utility tariff property specified in this Financing Order will constitute an existing, present intangible property right or interest therein, notwithstanding that the imposition and collection of securitized utility tariff charges depends on Liberty performing its servicing functions relating to the collection of securitized utility tariff charges and on future electricity consumption, as provided by Section 393.1700.5.(1)(a). The securitized utility tariff property will exist (a) regardless of whether or not the revenues or proceeds arising from the property have been billed, have accrued, or have been collected; and (b) notwithstanding the fact that the value or amount of the property is dependent on the future provision of service to customers by the

electrical corporation or its successors or assignees and the future consumption of electricity by customers.

JJJJ. The securitized utility tariff property specified in this Financing Order will continue to exist until the securitized utility tariff bonds issued pursuant to this Financing Order are paid in full and all financing costs and other costs of such securitized utility tariff bonds have been recovered in full as provided in Section 393.1700.5.(1)(b).

KKKK. Upon the transfer by Liberty of securitized utility tariff property to BondCo, BondCo will have all of the rights, title, and interest of Liberty with respect to such securitized utility tariff property, including the right to impose, bill, charge, collect, and receive the securitized utility tariff charges authorized by this Financing Order.

LLLL. The securitized utility tariff bonds issued under this Financing Order will be securitized utility tariff bonds within the meaning of Section 393.1700.1.(15), and the securitized utility tariff bonds and holders thereof will be entitled to all of the protections provided under Section 393.1700.11.

MMMM. Amounts that are authorized by this Financing Order as securitized utility tariff charges are securitized utility tariff charges as defined in Section 393.1700.1.(16).

NNNN. As provided in Section 393.1700.5.(1)(e), the interests of BondCo and the indenture trustee in the securitized utility tariff property specified in this Financing Order, and in the revenues and collections arising from the securitized utility tariff property will not be subject to setoff, counterclaim, surcharge, or defense by Liberty or any other person or in connection with the reorganization, bankruptcy, or other insolvency of Liberty or any other entity.

OOOO. The methodology approved in this Financing Order to true-up the securitized utility tariff charges satisfies the requirements of Section 393.1700.2.(3)(c)e.

PPPP. Upon the sale from Liberty to BondCo of the securitized utility tariff property, the servicer will be able to recover the securitized utility tariff charges associated with such securitized utility tariff property only for the benefit of BondCo in accordance with the servicing agreement.

QQQQ. As provided in Section 393.1700.3.(5), Liberty retains sole discretion regarding whether to cause the securitized utility tariff bonds to be issued, including the right to defer or postpone such sale, assignment, transfer, or issuance. Liberty may abandon the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds under this Financing Order by filing with the Commission a statement of abandonment and the reasons therefor.

RRRR. The sale of the securitized utility tariff property from Liberty to BondCo will be an absolute transfer and true sale of, and not a pledge of or secured transaction relating to, Liberty's right, title, and interest in, to, and under the securitized utility tariff property if the sale agreement governing such sale expressly states that the sale is a sale or other absolute transfer in accordance with Sections 393.1700.5.(3)(a) and (b). Upon the sale in accordance with the previous sentence, the characterization of the sale as an absolute transfer and true sale and the corresponding characterization of the property interest of BondCo will not be affected or impaired by the occurrence of (a) the commingling of securitized utility tariff charges with other amounts; (b) the retention by Liberty of (i) a partial or residual interest, including an equity interest, in the securitized utility tariff property, whether direct or indirect, or whether subordinate or otherwise, or (ii) the right to recover costs associated with taxes, franchise fees, or license fees imposed

on the collection of securitized utility tariff charges; (c) any recourse that BondCo may have against Liberty; (d) any indemnification rights, obligations, or repurchase rights made or provided by Liberty; (e) the obligation of Liberty to collect securitized utility tariff charges on behalf of BondCo; (f) Liberty acting as the servicer of the securitized utility tariff charges or the existence of any contract that authorizes or requires the electrical corporation, to the extent that any interest in securitized utility tariff property is sold or assigned, to contract with BondCo or any financing party that it will continue to operate its system to provide service to its customers, will collect amounts in respect of the securitized utility tariff charges for the benefit and account of BondCo or such financing party, and will account for and remit such amounts to or for the account of such assignee or financing party; (g) the treatment of the sale, conveyance, assignment, or other transfer for tax, financial reporting, or other purposes; (h) the granting or providing to bondholders a preferred right to the securitized utility tariff property or credit enhancement by the electrical corporation or its affiliates with respect to such securitized utility tariff bonds; or (i) any application of the formula- based true-up mechanism, in accordance with Section 393.1700.5.(3)(b).

SSSS. As provided in Section 393.1700.5.(2)(b), a valid and binding security interest in the securitized utility tariff property in favor of the indenture trustee will be created at the later of the time this Financing Order is issued, the indenture is executed and delivered by BondCo granting such security interest, BondCo has rights in the securitized utility tariff property or the power to transfer rights in the securitized utility tariff property, or value is received for the securitized utility tariff property. Upon the filing of a financing statement with the office of the secretary of state as provided in the

Securitization Law, a security interest in securitized utility tariff property shall be perfected against all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract, or otherwise against the person granting the security interest, and regardless of whether the parties have notice of the security interest in accordance with Section 393.1700.5.(2)(c). Without limiting the foregoing, upon such filing a security interest in securitized utility tariff property shall be perfected against all claims of lien creditors, and shall have priority over all competing security interests and other claims other than any security interest previously perfected in accordance with the Securitization Law.

TTTT. As provided in Section 393.1700.5.(3)(c), the transfer of an interest in securitized utility tariff property to BondCo will be perfected against all third parties, including subsequent judicial or other lien creditors, when a notice of that transfer has been given by the filing of a financing statement in accordance with Section 393.1700.7.

UUUU. The priority of the sale perfected under Section 393.1700.5. will not be impaired by any later modification of this Financing Order or securitized utility tariff property or by the commingling of funds arising from securitized utility tariff property with other funds. Any other security interest that may apply to those funds, other than a security interest perfected under Section 393.1700.5., is terminated when they are transferred to a segregated account for BondCo or a financing party. Any proceeds of the securitized utility tariff property shall be held in trust for BondCo.

VVVV. As provided in Section 393.1700.5.(2)(f), if a default occurs under the securitized utility tariff bonds that are securitized by the securitized utility tariff property, the indenture trustee may exercise the rights and remedies available to a secured party under the Missouri Uniform Commercial Code, including the rights and remedies available

under part 6 of article 9 of the Missouri Uniform Commercial Code, and (a) the Commission may order that amounts arising from the related securitized utility tariff charges be transferred to a separate account for the indenture trustee's benefit, to which their lien and security interest may apply and (b) on application by the indenture trustee, the district court of Jasper County, Missouri, will order the sequestration and payment to the indenture trustee of revenues arising from the securitized utility tariff charges.

WWWW. As provided by Section 393.1700.9., (a) neither the State of Missouri nor its political subdivisions are liable on the securitized utility tariff bonds approved under this financing order, and the securitized utility tariff bonds are not a debt or a general obligation of the State of Missouri or any of its political subdivisions, agencies, or instrumentalities, nor are they special obligations or indebtedness of the State of Missouri or any agency or political subdivision and (b) the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds approved under this Financing Order does not, directly, indirectly, or contingently, obligate the State of Missouri or any agency, political subdivision, or instrumentality of the state to levy any tax or make any appropriation for payment of the securitized utility tariff bonds, other than in their capacity as consumers of electricity.

XXXX. Under Section 393.1700.11.(1), the State of Missouri and its agencies, including the Commission, have pledged for the benefit and protection of bondholders, the owners of the securitized utility tariff property, other financing parties and Liberty, that the State and its agencies will not (a) alter the provisions of the Securitization Law, (b) take or permit any action that impairs or would impair the value of securitized utility tariff property or the security for the securitized utility tariff bonds or revises the securitized utility tariff costs for which recovery is authorized, (c) in any way impair the rights and

remedies of the bondholders, assignees, and other financing parties or (d) except for changes made pursuant to the true-up mechanism authorized under this Financing Order, reduce, alter, or impair securitized utility tariff charges until any and all principal, interest, premium, financing costs and other fees, expenses, or charges incurred, and any contracts to be performed, in connection with the securitized utility tariff bonds have been paid and performed in full. BondCo is authorized under Section 393.1700.11.(2) and this Financing Order to include this pledge in the securitized utility tariff bonds and related documents. The pledge does not preclude limitation or alteration if full compensation is made by law for the full protection of the securitized utility tariff charges collected pursuant to this Financing Order and of the bondholders and any assignee or financing party entering into a contract with Liberty.

YYYY. This Financing Order will remain in effect and unabated notwithstanding the reorganization, bankruptcy, or other insolvency proceedings, merger, or sale of Liberty, its successors, or assignees.

ZZZZ. Liberty retains sole discretion regarding whether to cause the issuance of any securitized utility tariff bonds authorized by this Financing Order, including the right to defer or postpone such issuance.

AAAAA. Pursuant to Section 393.1700.2.(3)(a)c., this Financing Order is subject to judicial review only in accordance with Sections 386.500 and 386.510.

BBBB. This Financing Order meets the requirements for a financing order under Section 393.1700.

IV. Ordering Paragraphs

In accordance with these findings of fact and conclusions of law, the Commission issues the following orders:

Approval

- 1. **Approval of Petition**. The petitions of Liberty for the issuance of a financing order under Sections 393.1700 are approved, subject to the conditions and criteria provided in this Financing Order.
- 2. Authority to Securitize. Liberty is authorized in accordance with this Financing Order to finance and to cause the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds with a principal amount equal to the securitized balance at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are issued that includes upfront financing costs, which includes (i) underwriters discounts and commissions, (ii) legal costs, (iii) rating agency fees, (iv) United States Securities and Exchange Commission registration fees and (v) any costs of the Commission associated with its responsibilities under the Securitization Law in connection with this Financing Order, and in performing its duties in connection with the issuance advice letter process, including costs of the Finance Team. The securitized balance as of any given date is equal to the balance of securitized utility tariff costs plus carrying costs of 5.16%, which reflects a weighted balance of 4.65% for Uri costs and 6.77% for Asbury costs through the date the securitized utility tariff bonds are issued. If the actual upfront financing costs are less than the upfront financing costs included in the aggregate principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds, the periodic billing requirement for the first annual true-up adjustment must be reduced by the amount of such unused funds (together with interest, if any, earned from the investment of such

funds). If the final upfront financing costs are more than the upfront financing costs included in the aggregate principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds, the periodic billing requirement for the first annual true-up adjustment may be increased by the amount of such unpaid upfront financing costs.

- 3. **Recovery of Securitized Utility Tariff Costs**. Liberty is authorized to recover \$199,561,572 of its extraordinary costs related to Winter Storm Uri and \$82,921,331 of energy transition costs related to the retirement of Asbury for a total recovery of \$282,482,662. The upfront financing costs are estimated to be \$7.9 million, which will be updated through the issuance advice process.
- 4. **Tracing Funds**. Liberty's proposed method of tracing funds collected as securitized utility tariff charges, or other proceeds of securitized utility tariff property shall be used to trace such funds and to determine the identifiable cash proceeds of any securitized tariff property subject to this Financing Order under applicable law.
- 5. **Third Party Billing**. If the State of Missouri or this Commission decides to allow billing, collection, and remittance of the securitized utility tariff charges by a third-party supplier within Liberty's Service Territory, such authentication will be consistent with the rating agencies' requirements necessary for the securitized utility tariff bonds to receive and maintain the targeted triple-A rating.
- 6. **Provision of Information**. Liberty shall take all necessary steps to ensure that the Commission and the Finance Team are provided sufficient and timely information as provided in this Financing Order in order to fulfill their obligations under the Securitization Law and this Financing Order.

7. Issuance Advice Letter. Liberty shall submit a draft issuance advice letter to the Finance Team for review not later than two weeks before the expected date of commencement of marketing the securitized utility tariff bonds. The Finance Team will review the issuance advice letter and provide timely feedback to Liberty based on the progression of structuring and marketing of the securitized utility tariff bonds. Not later than one day after the pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds and before issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds, Liberty shall provide the Commission an issuance advice letter in substantially the form of the issuance advice letter attached as Appendix A to this Financing Order. Liberty and the lead underwriters for the securitized utility tariff bonds shall provide to the Commission a written certificate, setting forth all calculations and assumptions used to support such calculations and certificate, certifying that the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds (i) complies with this Financing Order, (ii) complies with all other applicable legal requirements (including all requirements of Section 393.1700), (iii) that the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition of the securitized utility tariff charges are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds, and (iv) that the structuring, marketing and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds will result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced and the terms of this Financing Order. In addition, if credit enhancements, or arrangements to enhance marketability are used, the issuance advice letter must include certification that such credit enhancements, or other arrangements are reasonably

expected to provide benefits as required by this Financing Order. The issuance advice letter must be completed, must evidence the actual dollar amount of the initial securitized utility tariff charges and other information specific to the securitized utility tariff bonds to be issued. The issuance advice letter will demonstrate the ultimate amounts of quantifiable net present value savings. All amounts which require computation shall be computed using the mathematical formulas contained in the form of the issuance advice letter in Appendix A to this Financing Order and the Securitized Utility Tariff Charge Rider SUTC. Electronic spreadsheets with the formulas supporting the schedules contained in the issuance advice letter must be included with such letter. The Finance Team may request such revisions of the issuance advice letter as may be necessary to assure the accuracy of the calculations and information included and that the requirements of the Securitization Law and of this Financing Order have been met. The initial securitized utility tariff charges and the final terms of the securitized utility tariff bonds set forth in the issuance advice letter will become effective on the date of issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds (which may not occur before the fifth business day after pricing) unless before noon on the fourth business day after the Commission receives the issuance advice letter the Commission issues a disapproval letter directing that the securitized utility tariff bonds as proposed shall not be issued and the basis for that disapproval.

8. **Approval of Tariff**. Before the issuance of any securitized utility tariff bonds under this Financing Order, Liberty must file compliance tariff sheets that conform to the tariff provisions in this Financing Order, but with rate elements identified as estimates. With its submission of the issuance advice letter, Liberty shall also submit a compliance tariff sheet, bearing an effective date no earlier than five business days after its

submission, containing the rate elements of the securitized utility tariff charge. That compliance tariff sheet shall become effective on the date the securitized utility tariff bonds are issued with no further action of the Commission unless the Commission issues a disapproval letter as described in ordering paragraph 7.

Securitized Utility Tariff Charges

- 9. **Imposition and Collection**. The servicer is authorized to impose on and collect from all existing and future retail customers located within Liberty's Service Territory as it exists on the date this Financing Order is issued and other entities which, under the terms of this Financing Order or the tariffs approved hereby, are required to bill, pay, or collect securitized utility tariff charges, securitized utility tariff charges in an amount sufficient to provide for the timely recovery of the aggregate periodic payment requirements (including payment of principal and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds), as approved in this Financing Order. If there is a partial payment of an amount billed, the amount paid must first be allocated first between the indenture trustee and Liberty based on the ratio of the billed amount for the securitized utility tariff charge to the total billed amount, excluding any late fees, and second, any remaining portion of the payment must be allocated to late fees.
- 10. **BondCo's Rights and Remedies**. Upon the sale by Liberty of the securitized utility tariff property to BondCo, BondCo will have all of the rights and interest of Liberty with respect to the securitized utility tariff property.
- 11. **Collector of Securitized Utility Tariff Charges**. Liberty or any subsequent servicer of the securitized utility tariff bonds shall bill a customer or other entity, which, under the terms of this Financing Order or the tariffs approved hereby, is required to bill

or collect securitized utility tariff charges for the securitized utility tariff charges attributable to that customer.

- 12. **Collection Period**. The scheduled final payment of the last tranche of securitized utility tariff bonds may not exceed 13 years; *provided* that the legal final maturity of the securitized utility tariff bonds may extend to 15 years.
- 13. **Allocation**. Liberty must allocate the securitized utility tariff charges among rate classes in the manner described in this Financing Order.
- 14. **Nonbypassability**. Liberty shall collect and remit the securitized utility tariff charges, in accordance with this Financing Order.
- 15. **True-Ups**. Liberty shall file true-ups of the securitized utility tariff charges as described in this Financing Order.
- 16. **Ownership Notification**. Liberty shall ensure that each retail customer bill that includes the securitized utility tariff charge meets the notification of ownership and separate line item requirements set forth in this Financing Order.

Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds

- 17. **Issuance**. Liberty is authorized to issue one series of securitized utility tariff bonds as specified in this Financing Order. The securitized utility tariff bonds must be denominated in United States Dollars.
- 18. **Upfront Financing Costs**. Liberty may finance upfront financing costs in accordance with the terms of this Financing Order, which provides that the total amount for upfront financing cost, includes (i) underwriters discounts and commissions, (ii) legal costs, (iii) rating agency fees, (iv) United States Securities and Exchange Commission registration fees and (v) any costs of the Commission associated with its responsibilities

under the Securitization Law in connection with this Financing Order, and in performing its duties in connection with the issuance advice letter process, including costs of the Finance Team.

- 19. **Ongoing Financing Costs**. Liberty may recover its actual ongoing financing costs through its securitized utility tariff charges set forth in findings of fact for Issue 4 and Appendix B to this Financing Order. The estimated amount of ongoing financing costs is subject to updating in the issuance advice letter to reflect a change in the size of the securitized utility tariff bond issuance and other information available at the time of submission of the issuance advice letter. As provided in ordering paragraph 30, a servicer, other than Liberty or its affiliates, may collect a servicing fee higher than that set forth in Appendix B to this Financing Order, if such higher fee is approved by the Commission and the indenture trustee.
- 20. **Collateral**. All securitized utility tariff property and other collateral must be held and administered by the indenture trustee under the indenture as described in Liberty's petitions. BondCo must establish a collection account with the indenture trustee as described in finding of fact numbers 214 through 219. Upon payment of the principal amount of all securitized utility tariff bonds authorized in this Financing Order and the discharge of all obligations in respect thereof, all amounts in the collection account, including investment earnings, must be released by the indenture trustee to BondCo for distribution in accordance with ordering paragraph 21.
- 21. **Distribution Following Repayment**. Following repayment of the securitized utility tariff bonds authorized in this Financing Order and release of the funds held by the indenture trustee, the servicer, on behalf of BondCo, must distribute to retail

customers, the final balance of the collection account and all subaccounts (other than principal remaining in the capital subaccount), whether such balance is attributable to principal amounts deposited in such subaccounts or to interest thereon, remaining after all other financing costs have been paid. BondCo shall also distribute to retail customers any subsequently collected securitized utility tariff charges.

- 22. **Funding of Capital Subaccount**. The capital contribution by Liberty to be deposited into the capital subaccount shall be funded by Liberty and not from the proceeds of the sale of securitized utility tariff bonds at an amount not less than 0.50% of the original principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds. Upon payment of the principal amount of all securitized utility tariff bonds and the discharge of all obligations in respect thereof, all amounts in the capital subaccount will be released to BondCo for payment to Liberty, with any earnings to be accounted for a in a future reconciliation process under Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)k of the Securitization Statute.
- 23. **Original Issue Discount, Credit Enhancement**. Liberty may provide original issue discount or provide for various forms of credit enhancement, including letters of credit, an overcollateralization subaccount or other accounts, surety bonds, and other mechanisms designed to promote the credit quality or marketability of the securitized utility tariff bonds to the extent permitted by and subject to the terms of this Financing Order only if Liberty certifies that such arrangements are reasonably expected to provide benefits greater than their cost and such certifications are agreed with by the Finance Team. Except for a de minimis amount of original issue discount, any decision to use such arrangements to enhance credit or promote marketability must be made in consultation with the Finance Team. Liberty may not enter into an interest rate swap,

currency hedge, or interest rate hedging arrangement. This ordering paragraph does not apply to the collection account or its subaccounts approved in this Financing Order.

- 24. **Recovery Period**. The Commission authorizes Liberty to recover the securitized utility tariff costs and financing costs over a period not to exceed 15 years from the date the securitized utility tariff bonds are issued, although this does not prohibit recovery of securitized utility tariff charges for service rendered during the 15-year period but not actually collected until after the 15-year period.
- 25. **Amortization Schedule**. The securitized utility tariff bonds must be structured to provide a securitized utility tariff charge that is based on substantially levelized annual revenue requirements over the expected life of the securitized utility tariff bonds and utilize consistent allocation factors across rate classes, subject to modification in accordance with this Financing Order.
- 26. Finance Team Participation in Bond Issuance. The Commission, acting through the Finance Team, may participate with Liberty in discussions regarding the structuring, marketing and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds. The Finance Team has the right to provide input to Liberty and collaborate with Liberty in all facets of the structuring, marketing and pricing bond processes, including but not limited to, (1) the underwriter and any other member of the syndicate group size, selection process, participants, allocations and economics; (2) the structure of the bonds; (3) the bonds credit rating agency application; (4) the underwriters' preparation, marketing and syndication of the bonds; (5) the pricing of the bonds and the certifications provided by Liberty and the underwriters; (6) all associated costs, (including up front and ongoing financing costs), servicing and administrative fees and associated crediting; (7) bond

maturities; (8) reporting templates; (9) the amount of any equity contributions; (10) credit enhancements; and (11) the initial calculations of the securitized utility tariff charges. The foregoing and other items may be reviewed during the entire course of the Finance Team's process. The Finance Team's review will begin immediately following this Financing Order becoming non-appealable and will continue until the issuance advice letter becomes effective. No member of the Finance Team will have authority to direct how Liberty places the securitized utility tariff bonds to market although they shall be permitted to attend all meetings convened by Liberty, participate in all calls, e-mails, and other communications relating to the structuring, marketing, pricing and issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds, or to be informed of the contents of such calls, e-mails and communications except such matters as are privileged under law. The Commission retains authority over enforcing the terms of its Financing Order, and the Finance Team may petition the Commission for relief for any actual or threatened violation of the terms of the Financing Order.

- 27. **Use of BondCo**. Liberty shall use BondCo, a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity as proposed in its petitions, in conjunction with the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds authorized under this Financing Order. BondCo must be funded with an amount of capital that is sufficient for BondCo to carry out its intended functions and to avoid the possibility that Liberty would have to extend funds to BondCo in a manner that could jeopardize the bankruptcy remoteness of BondCo.
- 28. **Not State Obligations**. Each securitized utility tariff bonds shall contain on the face thereof a statement that: "Neither the full faith and credit nor the taxing power of

the State of Missouri is pledged to the payment of the principal of, or interest on, this bond."

Servicing

- 29. Servicing Agreement. The Commission authorizes Liberty to enter into the servicing agreement with BondCo and to perform the servicing duties approved in this Financing Order. Without limiting the foregoing, in its capacity as initial servicer of the securitized utility tariff property, Liberty is authorized to calculate, bill and collect for the account of BondCo, the securitized utility tariff charges authorized in this Financing Order, as adjusted from time to time to meet the periodic payment requirements as provided in this Financing Order; and to make such filings and take such other actions as are required or permitted by this Financing Order in connection with the periodic true-ups described in this Financing Order. The servicer will be entitled to collect servicing fees in accordance with the provisions of the servicing agreement, provided that, as set forth in Appendix B, the annual servicing fee payable to Liberty while it is serving as servicer (or to any other servicer affiliated with Liberty) must not at any time exceed 0.05% of the original principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds. The annual servicing fee payable to any other servicer not affiliated with Liberty must not at any time exceed 0.60% of the original principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds unless such higher rate is approved by the Commission under ordering paragraph 31.
- 30. **Administration Agreement**. The Commission authorizes Liberty to enter into an administration agreement with BondCo to provide the services covered by the administration agreements. The fee charged by Liberty as administrator under that agreement may not exceed \$50,000 per annum plus reimbursable third-party costs.

- 31. Replacement of Liberty as Servicer. Upon the occurrence of a servicer termination event under the servicing agreement, the financing parties may replace Liberty as the servicer in accordance with the terms of the servicing agreement. If the servicing fee of the replacement servicer will exceed the applicable maximum servicing fee specified in ordering paragraph 29, the replacement servicer must not begin providing service until the date the Commission approves the appointment of such replacement servicer. No entity may replace Liberty as the servicer in any of its servicing functions with respect to the securitized utility tariff charges and the securitized utility tariff property authorized by this Financing Order, if the replacement would cause any of the then current credit ratings of the securitized utility tariff bonds to be suspended, withdrawn, or downgraded.
- 32. Amendment of Agreements. The parties to the servicing agreement, administration agreement, indenture, and securitized utility tariff property purchase and sale agreement may amend the terms of such agreements; provided that no amendment to any such agreement increases the ongoing financing costs without the approval of the Commission. Any amendment to any such agreement that may have the effect of increasing ongoing financing costs must be provided by BondCo to the Commission along with a statement as to the possible effect of the amendment on the ongoing financing costs.
- 33. **Collection Terms**. The servicer must remit collections of the securitized utility tariff charges to BondCo or the indenture trustee for BondCo's account in accordance with the terms of the servicing agreement.

34. **Federal Securities Law Requirements**. Each other entity responsible for collecting securitized utility tariff charges from retail customers must furnish to BondCo or Liberty or to any successor servicer information and documents necessary to enable BondCo or Liberty or any successor servicer to comply with their respective disclosure and reporting requirements, if any, with respect to the securitized utility tariff bonds under federal securities laws.

Structure of the Securitization

35. **Structure**. Liberty shall structure the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of the securitized utility tariff charges as set forth in this Financing Order.

Use of Proceeds

36. **Use of Proceeds**. Upon the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds, BondCo shall pay the net proceeds from the sale of the securitized utility tariff bonds (after payment of upfront financing costs) to pay Liberty the purchase price of the securitized utility tariff property. Liberty will apply these net proceeds to recover the qualified extraordinary costs in connection with Winter Storm Uri and the energy transition costs in connection with retiring the Asbury Power Plant in accordance with the terms hereof.

Miscellaneous Provisions

37. **Continuing Issuance Right**. In accordance with Section 393.1700.2.(3)(c)n., Liberty has the continuing irrevocable right to cause the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds in accordance with this Financing Order for a period extending 24 months following the date on which this Financing Order becomes final and no longer subject to any appeal. If, at any time during the effective period of this Financing

Order, there is a severe disruption in the financial markets of the United States, the effective period may be extended with the approval of the Finance Team to a date which is not less than 90 days after the date such disruption ends.

- 38. **Binding on Successors**. This Financing Order, together with the securitized utility tariff charges authorized in it, shall be binding on Liberty and any successor to Liberty that provides transmission and distribution service directly to retail customers in Liberty's Service Territory as it exists on the date of this Financing Order.
- 39. **Flexibility**. Subject to compliance with the requirements of this Financing Order, Liberty and BondCo should be afforded flexibility in establishing the terms and conditions of the securitized utility tariff bonds, including the final structure of BondCo, repayment schedules, term, payment dates, collateral, credit enhancement, required debt service, interest rates, use of original issue discount, and other financing costs.
- 40. **Effectiveness of Order**. This Financing Order will become effective in ten days, given the need to for prompt resolution of any issues regarding this proceeding, as well as to allow Liberty flexibility in accessing the financial markets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no securitized utility tariff property is created hereunder, and Liberty is not authorized to impose, collect, and receive securitized utility tariff charges until the securitized utility tariff property has been sold to BondCo in conjunction with the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds.
- 41. **Regulatory Approvals**. All regulatory approvals within the jurisdiction of the Commission that are necessary for the recovery of the approved securitized utility tariff costs are the subject of the petitions and for all related transactions contemplated in the petitions are granted.

- 42. **Payment of Commission's Costs for Professional Services**. Liberty shall pay all of the costs of the Commission in connection with the petitions and this Financing Order, including, but not limited to, the Commission's outside attorneys' fees and the fees of the Finance Team from the proceeds of the securitized utility tariff bonds on the date of issuance.
- 43. **Effect**. This Financing Order constitutes a legal financing order for Liberty under the Securitization Law. A financing order gives rise to rights, interests, obligations, and duties as expressed in the Securitization Law. It is the Commission's express intent to give rise to those rights, interests, obligations, and duties by issuing this Financing Order. Liberty and the servicer are directed to take all actions as are required to effectuate the transactions approved in this Financing Order, subject to compliance with the conditions and criteria established in this Financing Order.
 - 44. This report and order shall become effective on October 2, 2022.



BY THE COMMISSION

Morris L. Woodruff Secretary

Silvey, Chm., Rupp, Coleman, Holsman, and Kolkmeyer CC., concur and certify compliance with the provisions of Section 536.080, RSMo (2016).

Woodruff, Chief Regulatory Law Judge

Attachment D

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI

In the Matter of the Petition of The Empire District)		
Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a)		
Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of)	Case No. EO-2022-004	40
Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for)		
Qualified Extraordinary Costs)		
In the Matter of the Petition of The Empire District)		
Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a)		
Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of)	Case No. EO-2022-019	93
Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for Energy)		
Transition Costs Related to the Asbury Plant)		

NOTICE OF ERRATA TO MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OR CLARIFICATIONAND/OR APPLICATION FOR REHEARING

COMES NOW The Empire District Electric Company, a Liberty company ("Liberty" or the "Company") and, pursuant to 20 CSR 4240-2.080, submits this *Notice of Errata to Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or Application for Rehearing* concerning Liberty's *Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or Application for Rehearing* (the "Motion") filed in the above-captioned matter on August 27, 2022.

On August 29, 2022, the Company discovered an unintentional error caused by a misentered formula in two demonstrative tables included in the motion, labeled as Table 3 and Table 4, on pages 8 and 9, respectively. The error resulted in the product of a demonstrative net present value calculation being shown as approximately \$30,000 higher than the correct value. Because the tables at issue were produced solely to illustrate the method of calculation required by statute, not to offer the result of a specific calculation, the unintentional error has no effect on the other parts of the Motion, including any of the substantive arguments made or other numbers presented.

The corrected versions of Tables 3 and 4 are as follows:

		Table 3 Tax Benefit of ADIT - Securitization - with NPV estment Revenue Tax Authorized Tax						
		Tax Benefit of ADIT - Securitization - with NPV						
	Investment	Revenue	Tax		Authorized	Tax		
Year	Balance	(taxable income)	Liability	ADIT Balance	Return	Benefit	NPV	
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	(G) = (E)*(F)	(H)	
0	93,567,922			(22,306,686)				
1	86,370,390	7,197,532	1,715,899	(20,590,787)	2.47%	(508,592)	(496,333)	
2	79,172,857	7,197,532	1,715,899	(18,874,888)	2.47%	(466,210)	(444,005)	
13	(0)	7,197,532	1,715,899	-	2.47%	-	0	
Total		93,567,922	22,306,686			(3,305,851)	(2,957,485)	

			Та	ble 4			
		Tax Ben	efit of ADIT - S	Securitization - with NP	٧		
					Step 1		
	Investment	Revenue	Tax		Authorized	Tax	
Year	Balance	(taxable income)	Liability	ADIT Balance	Return	Benefit	NPV
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	(G) = (E)*(F)	(H)
0	93,567,922			(22,306,686)			
1	86,370,390	7,197,532	1,715,899	(20,590,787)	2.47%	(508,592	(496,333)
2	79,172,857	7,197,532	1,715,899	(18,874,888)	2.47%	(466,210	(444,005)
13	(0)	7,197,532	1,715,899	-	2.47%	-	0
Total		93,567,922	22,306,686			(3,305,851)/ (2,957,485)/
					Step 2		Step 3

The sole difference between the corrected tables above and those contained in the Motion as filed is the value in the far right column of the "Total" row.

Respectfully submitted,

ATTORNEYS FOR THE EMPIRE DISTRICT ELECTRIC COMPANY D/B/A LIBERTY

Sarah B. Knowlton #71361 General Counsel, Liberty Utilities 116 North Main Street Concord, New Hampshire 03301 Telephone: (603) 724-2123

E-Mail: sarah.knowlton@libertyutilities.com

Diana C. Carter MBE #50527 The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty 428 E. Capitol Ave., Suite 303 Jefferson City, Missouri 65101 Joplin Office Phone: (417) 626-5976

Cell Phone: (573) 289-1961 E-Mail: Diana.Carter@LibertyUtilities.com

//S// Dean L. Cooper

Dean L. Cooper MBE #36592 BRYDON, SWEARENGEN & ENGLAND P.C.

312 E. Capitol Avenue

P. O. Box 456

Jefferson City, MO 65102 Telephone: (573) 635-7166

E-mail: dcooper@brydonlaw.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that the above document was filed in EFIS on this 31st day of August, 2022, and sent by electronic transmission to all counsel of record.

/s/ Dean L. Cooper

Attachment E

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI

In the Matter of the Petition of The Empire District)	
Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a)	
Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of)	Case No. EO-2022-0040
Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for)	
Qualified Extraordinary Costs)	
In the Matter of the Petition of The Empire District)	
Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a)	
Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of)	Case No. EO-2022-0193
Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for Energy)	
Transition Costs Related to the Asbury Plant)	

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OR CLARIFICATION AND/OR APPLICATION FOR REHEARING

COMES NOW The Empire District Electric Company, a Liberty company ("Liberty" or "Company") and, pursuant to RSMo. §386.500, submits its *Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or Application for Rehearing* concerning the *Report and Order* issued by the Missouri Public Service Commission ("Commission") in the above-captioned matter on August 18, 2022.

The *Report and Order* (the "Order") is unlawful, unreasonable, unjust, arbitrary, and an abuse of discretion for one or more or all of the reasons hereinafter set forth. For the reasons stated in the following paragraphs, the decision of the Commission should be reconsidered or reheard, and the Order should be amended or superseded to address and correct the matters of error raised by the Company.

The Commission's careful consideration of this rehearing application is especially important given that the Order is the first time that the Commission has applied the securitization statute that the Missouri legislature enacted in 2021. *See* RSMo. §393.1700. What the Commission does here not only has a serious effect on Liberty and its customers but also sets a

precedent for how the Commission will implement §393.1700 and what costs other Missouri utilities will be allowed to securitize. Liberty has identified a number of errors—including an objective error as to the "ADIT offset," Order, p. 52—in the Commission's approach to the new statute, which in total result in an improper reduction of the amount to be securitized here of more than \$72 million. If the Commission permits those errors to stand, then the incentive for Liberty to issue securitized bonds, which has very significant advantages for customers, is greatly reduced. See RSMo. §393.1700.3(5) (permitting a utility to choose to "abandon[] the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds under the financing order"). And the incentive for other utilities to seek authorization to proceed under the securitization statute is likewise greatly reduced. That seriously increases the risk that the benefits that the legislature intended to confer on customers (and others) through enactment of the securitization statute will be lost.

I. The Commission's Calculation of the ADIT Offset Amount Is Contrary to Law and Unreasonable

The Order addresses accumulated deferred income taxes ("ADIT") only briefly and conclusorily. The Order adopts the calculation of Staff's witness, which results in a "net present value of Liberty's ADIT offset of \$17,134,363." Order, p. 52 (Finding of Fact 107); see id. at 54. And the Order agrees with that witness that "Liberty's calculation of the net present value of its ADIT offset effectively and inappropriately discounted the ADIT twice by discounting the yearly amounts related to the remaining balance of ADIT, and then discounting the sum of the yearly amounts again." Order, p. 52. The Order recognizes that the exact amount of the ADIT offset will vary depending on the Commission's resolution of other issues affecting the starting point of the Asbury Energy Transition Cost Balance, the bond interest rate, and other inputs. Order, p. 52 (Findings of Fact 106, 110). By adopting the Staff calculation methodology, however, the Order deprives Liberty of the ability to securitize a substantial portion of energy transition costs that the

Commission agrees are otherwise fully appropriate for securitization under §393.1700—approximately \$14.1 million, by the Company's estimation.

The excessive ADIT offset the Order adopts reflects taxes that the Company will owe, and that customers have previously funded in rates, but that the Order effectively gives back to customers. The Order deprives the Company of the source of revenue for paying taxes that will be owed as customers pay principal on the securitized bonds.

That outcome is objectively wrong. The securitization statute does not shift the obligation to fund the payment of taxes as a cost of electric service from customers to the Company. But by deducting the full amount of Liberty's ADIT balance (discounted to present value), rather than deducting the *tax benefits* associated with that balance (discounted to present value), the Order does just that, contrary to the clear language of the securitization statute. That statute permits deduction only of the present value of the tax benefits associated with ADIT, namely, the deferral of the obligation to pay taxes. The statute provides step-by-step instructions for arriving at that value, which reflects the time value of that deferral, measured by the interest rate on the bonds. Staff's erroneous calculation plainly deviates from that statutory directive. The Order also reaches an unreasonable, unjust, and arbitrary result that amounts to an abuse of the Commission's discretion and will have seriously harmful consequences.

A. Statutory Violation

The flaw in the Order's treatment of ADIT is made manifest by the end result. Absent securitization, the amounts the Company has collected in rates, reflected in the ADIT balance, would be available as a source of funds to pay taxes. In contrast, the Order takes that ADIT balance away, meaning the Company would not recover its tax expense in full. That difference is due to the Order's erroneous decision to offset from the securitization principal the full amount of the

ADIT balance, discounted to present value. In effect, that decision returns to customers the full amount of taxes that the Company will pay in the future.

The securitization statute directs the Commission to reduce the amount of energy transition costs to be securitized "by applicable *tax benefits* of accumulated . . . deferred income taxes." RSMo. §393.1700.1(7)(a) (emphasis added); *see* RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(m) (stating that ADIT "shall be excluded from rate base in future general rate cases and the *net tax benefits* relating to amounts that will be recovered through the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds shall be credited to retail customers by reducing the amount of such securitized utility tariff bonds that would otherwise be issued") (emphasis added).

There is no question that the "tax benefits" associated with the ADIT balance are distinct from, and less than, the accumulated amount of that balance. ADIT arises because of a timing difference between when the Company collects revenue necessary to cover tax costs and when the Company uses that revenue to pay taxes. ADIT balances occur if, for a period of time after an asset goes into service, the depreciation or amortization expense for determining the revenue requirement for customers is smaller than the corresponding depreciation or amortization expense used for calculating taxable income. The result is that customers pay more to the Company during

¹ In an effort to explain how ADIT works as fully and straightforwardly as possible, the Company respectfully submits along with this rehearing request an affidavit from Bradley M. Seltzer, a tax attorney and former Global and U.S. Tax Leader for Energy and Natural Resources at Deloitte who is a recognized expert in how ADIT works. *See* Exhibit A (Seltzer affidavit). Even an otherwise highly qualified accountant likely would not have occasion to fully master ADIT-related issues, but Mr. Seltzer has done so. In submitting the affidavit, the Company does not in any way suggest that the nature of the Commission's error with respect to the ADIT offset is not already apparent from the securitization statute's language, the ADIT-related material in the existing record, and past decisions of Missouri courts and of this Commission discussing ADIT. Rather, the Company submits the affidavit to further aid the Commission's understanding of the nature of the error here and to underscore the importance of this issue to the Company and to all Missouri utilities.

that period for the Company to use in paying taxes than the Company actually pays in taxes, and an ADIT balance accumulates. *See Missouri-Am. Water Co. v. Missouri Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 602 S.W.3d 252, 255 (Mo. Ct. App. 2020) (ADIT represents the "difference between what is being paid by customers attributable to [the utility's] tax liability, and the amount actually being paid by [the utility] for taxes given the effect of accelerated depreciation").

But an ADIT balance with respect to a given asset is always temporary, and it always reflects an amount that the Company still will owe in taxes in the future. Over time, such an ADIT balance unwinds as the depreciation or amortization expense used for determining the revenue requirement for customers exceeds the depreciation or amortization expense used for calculating taxable income. When ratemaking depreciation/amortization expense exceeds tax depreciation/amortization expense, the Company collects less revenue than it needs to pay its taxes, which reduces the ADIT balance; eventually, the asset is fully depreciated or amortized. At that point, the total amount of revenue collected from customers to pay tax equals the total amount of taxes paid by the Company, and the ADIT balance declines to zero. *See, e.g., State ex rel. Util. Consumers Council of Missouri, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 606 S.W.2d 222, 224 (Mo. Ct. App. 1980) ("UCC").

For the period that it exists, an ADIT balance is, in effect, a "cost-free addition to capital," *UCC*, 606 S.W.2d at 224, because the Company can access the funds at no cost until such point as they are paid in taxes. The net benefit of ADIT is the time value of money—the ability to hold funds that a utility has collected in rates for purposes of paying a tax before the tax is due.

In traditional ratemaking, a utility gives customers the benefits of the ADIT balance by crediting them with an amount equal to the authorized rate of return multiplied by the ADIT balance. *See* Order, p. 34 (Finding of Fact 54) ("Customers do not receive the recorded amount of

the ADIT liability, instead, they benefit because ADIT liability reduces rate base and customers are charged *a lower revenue requirement reflecting the lower cost of capital*" (emphasis added)); *UCC*, 606 S.W.2d at 224 ("The [ADIT] reserve therefore inures to the benefit of the ratepayers in that the rates do not reflect any cost for the use of the money."); *see also State ex rel. KCP & L Greater Missouri Operations Co. v. Missouri Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 408 S.W.3d 153, 166 (Mo. Ct. App. 2013) (same). In this way, the benefit of holding ADIT is passed onto customers. Table 1 below shows how this ratemaking adjustment is implemented. The table uses, as an illustration, the \$93.6 million investment balance and \$22.3 million ADIT balance used by Staff recovered over 13 years:²

			Table 1			
		Tax Benefit of Al	DIT - Traditior	nal Ratemaking		
	Investment	Revenue	Тах		Authorized	Tax
Year	Balance	(taxable income)	Liability	ADIT Balance	Return	Benefit
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	(G) = (E)*(F)
0	93,567,922			(22,306,686)		
1	86,370,390	7,197,532	1,715,899	(20,590,787)	6.77%	(1,393,996)
2	79,172,857	7,197,532	1,715,899	(18,874,888)	6.77%	(1,277,830)
13	(0)	7,197,532	1,715,899	-	6.77%	-
Total		93,567,922	22,306,686			(9,060,976)

In the securitization context, the benefits of ADIT are measured in an analogous way. The Company must record as taxable income the principal payments on the bonds received from customers. *See* Order, p. 33 (Finding of Fact 53); Ex. 103, Bolin Surreb., p. 5, lines 2-9; IRS Revenue Procedure 2005-62. As the Company incurs a tax liability on that income, the ADIT balance is unwound. Once the bonds are fully repaid, the ADIT balance reduces to zero. The

² The Company disagrees with the investment and ADIT balances used by Staff. As noted, the actual amount of the investment and ADIT balances will depend on the Commission's resolution of other issues raised in this application. The total tax benefit shown in Table 1 is nominal (not present valued). As discussed below, the securitization statute requires the Commission to use the present value of the ADIT tax benefits as an offset.

benefit of the ADIT balance is the utility's possession of the cash previously collected in rates to cover the cost of taxes before the Company incurs those tax liabilities.

The securitization statute makes clear that customers will be credited with the benefit of ADIT in the same way as under traditional ratemaking—by multiplying the ADIT balance by the applicable financing cost, which is the bond interest rate instead of the authorized rate of return. Table 2 below shows how this operates, using the same \$93.6 million investment balance and \$22.3 million ADIT balance recovered over 13 years:

			Table 2						
	Tax Benefit of ADIT - Securitization								
	Investment	Revenue	Tax		Authorized	Тах			
Year	Balance	(taxable income)	Liability	ADIT Balance	Return	Benefit			
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	(G) = (E)*(F)			
0	93,567,922			(22,306,686)					
1	86,370,390	7,197,532	1,715,899	(20,590,787)	2.47%	(508,592)			
2	79,172,857	7,197,532	1,715,899	(18,874,888)	2.47%	(466,210)			
13	(0)	7,197,532	1,715,899	-	2.47%	-			
Total		93,567,922	22,306,686			(3,305,851)			

The securitization statute requires one further step to implement the ratemaking adjustment. Instead of providing that benefit as an ongoing credit on customer bills equal to the ADIT balance times the bond interest rate (which would be the precise analog to traditional ratemaking), the securitization statute gives customers that benefit up front by reducing the securitization amount by the present value of that stream of future benefits. *See* RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(m) ("the net *tax benefits*" of ADIT "relating to amounts that will be recovered through the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds shall be credited to retail customers by reducing the amount of such securitized utility tariff bonds that would otherwise be issued") (emphasis added). That is illustrated in Table 3 below, which is the same as Table 2 except for the addition of a final column showing the net present value calculation.

			Tal	ble 3			
		Tax Bene	fit of ADIT - S	ecuritization - with N	PV		
	Investment	Revenue	Tax		Authorized	Tax	
Year	Balance	(taxable income)	Liability	ADIT Balance	Return	Benefit	NPV
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	(G) = (E)*(F)	(H)
0	93,567,922			(22,306,686)			
1	86,370,390	7,197,532	1,715,899	(20,590,787)	2.47%	(508,592)	(496,333)
2	79,172,857	7,197,532	1,715,899	(18,874,888)	2.47%	(466,210)	(444,005)
13	(0)	7,197,532	1,715,899	-	2.47%	-	0
Total		93,567,922	22,306,686			(3,305,851)	(2,989,284)

The securitization statute contains detailed, step-by-step instructions for implementing that ratemaking adjustment. Specifically, the statute states that the net present value of the tax benefits that reduces the securitization amount is to be "calculated using [1] a discount rate equal to the expected interest rate of the securitized utility tariff bonds, for the estimated accumulated and excess deferred income taxes at the time of securitization including [2] timing differences created by the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds amortized over the period of the bonds [3] multiplied by the expected interest rate on such securitized utility tariff bonds." RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(m).

That statutory language directs the calculation to proceed through the following steps:

- 1. Use a "discount rate equal to the expected interest rate of the securitized utility tariff bonds." RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(m). That means that the ADIT balance in a particular year must be multiplied by the bond interest rate, yielding an amount representing the tax benefits *for that year*. In traditional ratemaking, the multiplier instead would be the allowed rate of return.
- 2. Consider "timing differences created by the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds amortized over the period of the bonds." RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(m). That means that the ADIT balance is unwound over the period the bonds are amortized, because that is the period over which the utility incurs tax liability. The statute recognizes that this time period may be different from the time period that would be relevant in traditional ratemaking. An ADIT balance is unwound in traditional ratemaking over the period the asset is depreciated or amortized, which could be different from the period the bonds are amortized. For each of the 13 years the bonds will be outstanding, the ADIT benefit is the remaining ADIT balance times the bond interest rate (see step 1).

3. Determine, and credit customers with, the "present value" of ADIT benefits, which represents the ADIT offset. RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(m). The amount equals the sum of the ADIT benefits for each of the 13 years the bonds will be outstanding (steps 1 and 2), discounted to present value determined by applying "the expected interest rate on such securitized utility tariff bonds." *Id*.

Table 4 shows this three-step procedure. The table is identical to the previous table, except that it labels each of the three steps:

			Tak	ole 4			
		Tax Bene	fit of ADIT - S	ecuritization - with N	PV		
	Step 1						
Year	Investment Balance	Revenue (taxable income)	Tax Liability	ADIT Balance	Authorized Return	Tax Benefit	NPV
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	(G) = (E)*(F)	(H)
0	93,567,922			(22,306,686)			
1	86,370,390	7,197,532	1,715,899	(20,590,787)	2.47%	(508,592)	(496,333)
2	79,172,857	7,197,532	1,715,899	(18,874,888)	2.47%	(466,210)	(444,005)
13	(0)	7,197,532	1,715,899	-	2.47%	-	0
Total		93,567,922	22,306,686			(3,305,851)	(2,989,284)
					Step 2		Step 3

Staff's calculation, as adopted by the Commission, entirely *skips* the critical statutory steps of calculating the *tax benefits* of the ADIT balance (steps 1 and 2). Instead, as shown in Table 5, Staff's calculation simply takes the full amount of the ADIT balance, which is not equivalent to the tax benefits of that balance, and discounts the full amount to present value using the interest rate of the securitized bonds (step 3). *See*, *e.g.*, Tr. Vol. 3, p. 241 (Bolin); Tr. Vol. 2, p. 59 (Staff counsel describing Staff's calculation). That is why the amount that Staff's calculation yields is far too large, producing a result that is unfair to the Company and irreconcilable with the statute.

			Table 5						
	Staff Position								
					Step 1 (OMITTED)				
	Investment	Revenue	Tax		Authorized	Тах			
Year	Balance	(taxable income)	Liability	ADIT Balance	Return	Benefit	NPV		
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	(G) = (E)*(F)	(H)		
0	93,567,922	7 107 522	1 715 900				1 640 003		
1	86,370,390	7,197,532	1,715,899			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1,649,903		
2	79,172,857	7,197,532	1,715,899				1,586,445		
13	(0)	7,197,532	1,715,899				1,030,524		
Гotal		93,567,922	22,306,686				17,134,363		
				Step 2 (OMITTED)			Step 3		

With that understanding of ADIT in mind, it is clear that Staff's witness's criticism of the Company's calculation, which faults the Company for supposedly "discount[ing] the ADIT twice by discounting the yearly amounts related to the remaining balance of ADIT, and then discounting the sum of the yearly amounts again," Order, p. 52, is objectively incorrect. The Company's calculation does *exactly what the statute provides*: it first determines the tax benefits of the ADIT balance and then discounts those benefits to present value. *See* Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., pp. 14-15.

As shown in Tables 1 and 2, steps 1 and 2 track the traditional ratemaking approach. Multiplying the ADIT balance by the bond interest rate for each of the thirteen years the bonds will be outstanding determines the amount of revenue to be credited to customers for each year to reflect the tax benefits of the ADIT balance—precisely the same as crediting customers the ADIT balance times the authorized rate of return in conventional ratemaking. The only difference between steps 1 and 2 and traditional ratemaking is that the bond interest rate is used instead of the authorized rate of return. As shown in Table 3, step 3 is needed to translate that stream of future credits into a present value that reduces the securitization amount. In other words, step 3 determines the present value of the total tax benefits by using the bond interest rate to discount back to present value each of the thirteen annual amounts of the tax benefits of the ADIT balance. The total present value is the "ADIT offset." Order, p. 52; see RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(m).

The Company's methodology does not discount the ADIT balance twice, as the Order finds. Order, p. 52. Steps 1 and 2 use the bond interest rate to quantify the ADIT benefit; Step 3 uses the bond interest rate to discount that benefit to present value. Step 3 is the first and only time discounting takes place. Using the same interest rate for two different purposes does not constitute discounting twice.

The proper calculation of the "ADIT offset," Order, p. 52, is not a matter for the Commission's discretion; it is a matter of statutory command, combined with basic mathematics. And in accepting Staff's erroneous calculation, the Commission has committed an indisputable error. Notably, the Commission did not purport to interpret the securitization statute to require the return to customers of the *full amount* of the ADIT balance (discounted to present value)—nor could the Commission have done so, because the plain language of the statute does not allow for any such interpretation. *See, e.g., Truman Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.*, 597 S.W.3d 362, 367 (Mo. App. W.D. 2020) (the "primary rule of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the legislative intent as reflected in the plain language of the statute at issue"). The Commission's error therefore reflects a grave misapplication of the securitization statute, as well as a fundamental misunderstanding what an ADIT balance is and what role it plays in the Company's finances.

The result of the error is that the Order permits the Company to securitize far less than the amount of its otherwise-approved Asbury-related energy transition costs. And that means that the Company is effectively being forced to return to customers amounts that customers have paid for taxes that the Company will *continue to owe in taxes*. *See, e.g.*, Tr. Vol. 3, p. 232 (Bolin agreeing that "those taxes will eventually be paid"). That outcome is far worse for the Company than the outcome under conventional ratemaking, in which the utility recovers from customers the full amount of its tax liabilities.

The securitization statute is not written to require that absurd result—and there is no possible way to interpret it to provide for such an absurdity. To the contrary, statutory interpretations that yield such absurd results are not permissible. *See, e.g., Townsend v. Jefferson Cnty. Sheriff's Dep't*, 602 S.W.3d 262, 265 (Mo. Ct. App. 2020), *reh'g and/or transfer denied* (June 18, 2020).

B. Unreasonableness

In addition to violating the statute, the Commission's treatment of the ADIT offset is unreasonable, unjust, arbitrary, and an abuse of discretion, for a number of reasons.

First, the Commission purports to be crediting customers with "net tax benefits relating to amounts that will be recovered through the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds," RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)m, while evincing no recognition that the Order fails to do so. Instead, as explained above, the Order credits customers with the full amount in the ADIT balance (discounted to present value)—that is, the full amount collected by the Company in order to make tax payments—and that amount does not represent "net tax benefits." The Commission's order therefore makes an arbitrary, unreasonable, and unjust mistake about how to perform a tax-benefit calculation. *Cf.*, *e.g.*, *Spire Missouri*, *Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 618 S.W.3d 225, 236 (Mo. 2021); *State ex rel. Missouri Power & Light Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of State of Mo.*, 669 S.W.2d 941, 945 (Mo. Ct. App. 1984).

Second, the Commission's conclusion is not supported by the evidence in the record and the Commission's explanation of that conclusion is not adequate. *See State ex rel. Monsanto Co. v. PSC*, 716 S.W.2d 791, 795 (Mo. banc 1986) ("Findings of fact that are completely conclusory, providing no insights into how controlling issues were resolved are inadequate."). In assessing whether there is sufficient evidence in the record to support a conclusion, the question is not simply whether there is *any* evidence in the record that points in the direction of the Commission's result.

Rather, the question is whether there is "competent and substantial evidence upon the *whole* record." *State ex rel. Pub. Couns. v. Missouri Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 289 S.W.3d 240, 251 (Mo. Ct. App. 2009); *see also, e.g., Spire*, 618 S.W.3d at 236 ("Viewed in isolation, there was evidence to support the PSC's decision in this respect, but this Court's review does not use this approach. . . . Instead, the PSC's decision must be supported by competent and substantial evidence on the whole record, including the evidence the PSC rejected.").

Here, the testimony of Staff witness Bolin, on which the Commission relied (without explaining her testimony in the body of the Order itself), is not sufficient to sustain the Commission's result in light of the whole record. Notably, witness Bolin's testimony on the Company's supposed ADIT double-discounting—which is the sole basis provided in the Order for deciding that the Company's ADIT offset calculation is incorrect—is entirely conclusory. Bolin's testimony mechanically states that Liberty multiplied by the securitization yield at two different points in the offset calculation, but does not even attempt to explain why doing so is inconsistent with what the statute requires or is otherwise improper as a matter of regulatory policy. *See* Ex. 102, Bolin Reb., p. 11, lines 10-14, *cited in* Order, p. 52 n.139; Tr. Vol. 3, p. 246 (Bolin); *see also id.* at p. 230 (Bolin describes herself as "*somewhat* of a tax authority" because she has "worked tax issues . . . on other rate cases") (emphasis added); *id.* at p. 234 (Bolin states that she is "*somewhat* familiar" with tax normalization rules) (emphasis added).

In contrast, witness Emery's testimony clearly and cogently explains why Bolin's accusation of double-discounting is just wrong in light of the statutory requirement that only the *tax benefits* of ADIT be deducted from the amount to be securitized. *See* Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., pp. 14-15. As witness Emery stated, "[i]t appears that Ms. Bolin believes that Liberty is discounting ADIT twice because the Company removed the ADIT applicable to securitization and

multiplied it by the securitization yield and then adjusted it again to obtain the [net present value]. However, this approach is correct, because it reflects the anticipated cash in-flows associated with the *benefits* of ADIT. This aligns with the approach taken in calculating an annual revenue requirement where Liberty customers receive the benefit of the requested rate of return and not the full amount of the ADIT, which is the amount paid to the IRS." Id. (emphasis added). The Commission failed entirely to grapple with witness Emery's explanation or to provide any reasoning for why that explanation is wrong. Indeed, given the objectively incorrect nature of witness Bolin's critique, no reasoned basis for rejecting witness Emery's explanation exists.

Third, the Commission's decision punishes the Company by forcing it to effectively return to customers amounts that it has collected from customers to pay a tax bill that the Company will continue to owe. The Company estimates that the amount at issue is nearly \$14.1 million—the difference between the Company's correct calculation of the ADIT offset and the Commission's erroneous conclusion that the ADIT offset is \$17,134,363 (representing an amount equal to the entire ADIT balance discounted to present value)—though the precise amount will be a function of the Commission's resolution of other issues and the bond interest rate. Applying the Commission's enormous offset number to prevent the Company from securitizing nearly \$14.1 million in energy transition costs that the Commission has otherwise found fully recoverable and securitizable is a severe, arbitrary, and unjust penalty. And it is likewise arbitrary and unjust to force the Company to return to customers the full amount of the ADIT balance, even though the Company will later owe that amount in taxes—which is exactly why the amount was collected from customers in the first place. In particular, the Commission's mistake arbitrarily and unjustly penalizes the Company for seeking recovery of its costs under the securitization statute rather than

under some other authority, even though nothing about securitization itself or the statute authorizing securitization here warrants that result.

Finally, the consequences of the Commission's error on the ADIT offset are severe for utilities in Missouri more generally. As noted above, this is the first Commission decision about ADIT under the new securitization statute, which the legislature enacted in 2021 as a way to allow utilities to recover costs in a manner that is less expensive and burdensome for customers than traditional ratemaking approaches. If the Commission does not rehear the Order and correct the error, then the Order will create serious disincentives for *all* utilities—each of which carries an ADIT balance for a particular asset for a period of time after that asset goes into service—to use the securitization statute with respect to qualified costs. That will, in turn, deprive customers of the benefits that the legislature intended the securitization statute to confer on the public.

The Company urges the Commission to reconsider, clarify, and/or rehear the Order as it relates to the ADIT offset and to order that the offset should be calculated pursuant to the methodology recommended by the Company, consistent with the securitization statute.

II. The Order's Application of Liberty's 95/5 Fuel Adjustment Clause to Fuel and Purchased Power Costs From Winter Storm Uri Is Arbitrary and Contrary to the Terms of the Securitization Statute

The Order addresses sub-issues 2.A-D as a single topic and limits Liberty's recovery, through securitization, of fuel and power purchase costs from Winter Storm Uri to only 95% of Liberty's incurred costs. The Order does not find that any of those costs were imprudent; on the contrary, it states that "prudence is not relevant" to the recovery of these costs. Order, p. 21. In other words, the Order reasons that 5% of these costs should be disallowed even assuming that 100% of the costs were prudently incurred.

The Commission reached that result by applying to the securitization process what it deemed the 95/5 "sharing mechanism" or "sharing provision" that applies under the Fuel

Adjustment Clause ("FAC") from Liberty's tariff. And the Commission based its decision to apply the 95/5 mechanism here on two theories: (1) that Liberty should not be permitted to recover more than it would through "traditional methods of rate making," which the Commission asserts would exclude 5% under the FAC, and (2) that disallowing Liberty's recovery of 5% of its fuel and purchased power costs is "just and reasonable." Order, p. 21.

The Commission's decision deprives the Company of the ability to securitize \$9,670,110 in costs. That decision is legally erroneous as well as unreasonable, unjust, and arbitrary. The decision rests on a misapplication of the principles underlying the FAC and a misreading of the securitization statute. The decision ultimately results in an arbitrary and systematic denial of costs prudently incurred for the benefit of ratepayers.

A. In the Securitization Context, the 95/5 "Sharing Provision" Results in an Arbitrary Denial of Costs

It is a fundamental principle of public utilities law that "a public utility is entitled to recover from ratepayers all its costs (plus a reasonable return on its investments)," usually through ratemaking. *Spire Missouri*, 618 S.W.3d at 232. A utility is not legally entitled to recover imprudently incurred costs. But the utility must be given a reasonable opportunity to recover in full costs that were prudently incurred in order to provide service to customers. *See, e.g., State ex rel. Associated Nat. Gas Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of Missouri*, 706 S.W.2d 870, 873 (Mo. Ct. App. 1985) (noting "the ratemaking function must provide sufficient income to cover the utility's operating expenses and debt service"); *see also, e.g., Fed. Power Comm'n v. Hope Nat. Gas Co.*, 320 U.S. 591, 603 (1944) (recognizing that it is important "that there be enough revenue not only for operating expenses but also for the capital costs of the business").

Under ordinary circumstances, the 95/5 mechanism contained within Liberty's FAC, which is derived from language found in RSMo. §386.266.1 permitting "incentives to improve the

efficiency and cost-effectiveness of [a utility's] fuel and purchased-power procurement activities," preserves the Company's ability to recover in full its fuel and purchased power costs. The FAC functions to reconcile differences between estimated and actual fuel costs. Rates are initially calculated using a base cost, which is a forecast of future fuel and purchased power costs. The base costs then are adjusted up or down twice yearly based on the difference between the base fuel costs and actually incurred fuel costs. See File No. ER-2019-0374 (Amended Report and Order, issued July 23, 2020), p. 60. Because actual costs may be higher or lower than the base costs, the fact that 5% of the differential in costs is not reconciled through the FAC process does not result in a per se disallowance of costs. Those ups and downs tend to net out over time, with the utility and ratepayers approximately breaking even. In 2020, the Commission noted that, over the previous 11 years, Liberty had collected (by various estimates) over 99.5% of FAC costs allocated to customers. See id. at p. 64. As a result, the utility continues to retain the opportunity to recover its costs under the normal operation of the 95/5 tariff provision, even as its 5% stake provides an incentive to manage fuel costs efficiently. Order, p. 17; see RSMo. §386.266.1; Tr. Vol. 3, p. 289, lines 18-25.

As the Order acknowledges, consistent with the incentive-based rationale behind an FAC, "extraordinary costs are not to be passed through the company's FAC." Order, p. 19; see 20 CSR 4240-20.090(8)(A)2.A(XI). By definition, an "extraordinary cost" represents a fuel and purchased power cost that is greater than the base cost forecast. The Company has no opportunity to offset extraordinary costs with equally substantial cost under-runs compared to forecast. Extending the 95/5 mechanism to "extraordinary costs" thus would systematically deprive the Company of the opportunity to fully recover its prudently incurred costs. In other words, applying a 95/5 mechanism to "extraordinary costs" will always result in a partial disallowance of recovery of such

costs incurred for the benefit of ratepayers, however prudently incurred. That outcome is contrary to the operation of the FAC and to basic principles of ratemaking.

For that reason, under traditional ratemaking, "extraordinary costs" are not subject to the FAC and instead are tracked in an AAO and reviewed in the utility's next rate case. The Order cites no precedent, and the Company is not aware of any, in which the Commission denied recovery of fuel and purchased power costs recorded in an AAO absent a finding that such costs were imprudently incurred.

The Order's suggestion that it is just and reasonable to disallow 5% of the Winter Storm Uri extraordinary fuel costs, even assuming those costs were prudently incurred, is arbitrary. Under the FAC, the potential 5% disallowance is counterbalanced by the possibility of actual fuel and purchased power costs being lower than the base cost forecast—but no similar opportunity exists with respect to extraordinary costs like those at issue here. Instead, extending the 95/5 mechanism to these costs imposes an arbitrary partial disallowance of an entire category of prudently incurred costs without even the possibility for recovery, which is contrary to the most basic principles of justness and reasonableness in the utility context. *See Hope Nat. Gas Co.*, 320 U.S. at 603.

The Order's reliance on *Spire Missouri, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 618 S.W.3d 225 (Mo. 2021), to conclude that utilities do not have a general right to recover prudently incurred costs is misplaced. Order, p. 20. The issue in that case was the Commission's disallowance of costs incurred by a utility in connection with the development of ratemaking proposals that benefitted shareholders. *Spire*, 618 S.W.3d at 229, 233. The Commission assumed that those costs were prudent, in the sense that the utility reasonably managed the amount spent on those activities. The Commission nevertheless concluded that it was just and reasonable to disallow those costs,

because they were solely for shareholder benefit. *See id.* In affirming that conclusion, the Missouri Supreme Court ruled that the Commission did not err in refusing to permit recovery of expenses that "served only to benefit shareholders and minimize shareholder risk with no accompanying benefit (or potential benefit) to ratepayers," because requiring ratepayers to pay costs solely for the benefit of shareholders would not be "just and reasonable." *Id.* at 233. Nothing in *Spire* upsets the general rule that a utility must be permitted at least the opportunity to recover operating expenses prudently incurred *for the benefit of ratepayers*. *Id.*; *see Hope Nat. Gas Co.*, 320 U.S. at 603.

In contrast to the costs at issue in *Spire*, the fuel and purchased power costs at issue here were unquestionably incurred for the benefit of customers. The Order specifically finds that "Liberty incurred [its] extraordinary fuel costs for its Missouri customers during Winter Storm Uri." Order, p. 17. And the Order concludes that Liberty's fuel and purchased power costs, *as a category of costs*, are recoverable through securitization. Order, pp. 12-14, 31-33. But the Order simply imposes a categorical 5% disallowance on that category of costs. Neither *Spire* nor any other authority supports the proposition that it is "just and reasonable" for the Commission to propose a blanket partial disallowance on recovery of a category of costs prudently incurred for the benefit of ratepayers.

B. The Commission's Decision To Import A 95/5 "Sharing Provision" Into The Securitization Statute Is Flawed On Additional Grounds

The Order's imposition of a 95/5 "sharing provision" in this context is also fatally flawed for a number of additional reasons.

First, Liberty's FAC, as it exists for purposes of ratemaking, is a creature of a statute that is very different than the statute at issue here. RSMo. §386.266.1 authorizes the Commission to "include in such rate schedules features designed to provide the electrical corporation with

incentives to improve the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of its fuel and purchased-power procurement activities." No similar language exists in the securitization statute to authorize the Commission to adopt rules such as a 95/5 sharing mechanism. The legislature knew how to authorize a sharing mechanism in the securitization statute if it wanted to, but it chose not to do so.

The legislature's decision not to include language authorizing a cost-sharing mechanism similar to the 95/5 mechanism in the securitization statute is consistent with the purpose of that statute as a whole. Contrary to the Commission's conclusion (Order, p. 17), the purpose of a cost-sharing mechanism—to create incentives for efficient cost management—does not hold in the context of extraordinary costs, which by definition arise from extraordinary events that are extremely hard to predict and plan for and that will naturally lead to higher-than-expected costs no matter how well a utility manages its costs in normal circumstances. And because there is no corresponding opportunity for the utility to *profit* from a sharing mechanism for extraordinary costs, applying a 95/5 rule to extraordinary costs results in a systematic and arbitrary cost disallowance for the utility—which is not a balanced incentive feature.

Second, the Commission's reliance on the notion that the securitization statute "direct[s]" the Commission to calculate the Company's recovery by "compar[ing] the results of the securitization to the results of a recovery of those costs using traditional (non-securitization) method," Order, p. 20; see id. at p. 21, is misplaced. Even if the statute called for that comparison, the Order does not conclude that, under traditional ratemaking, 5% of prudently incurred extraordinary costs booked in an AAO would be disallowed. As noted, the 95/5 mechanism applies only to the FAC, which would not apply to the Winter Storm Uri costs. In addition, the provision cited by the Order does not support the Commission's conclusion. The comparison

language on which the Commission relied is found in Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)(b), which states that a financing order shall include "[a] finding that the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of a securitized utility tariff charge are just and reasonable and in the public interest and are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds." That provision is separate from the immediately preceding provision calling on the Commission to make a determination of whether it is just and reasonable for the utility to "recover[]" a certain "amount" of those costs. RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(a). The mandated comparison therefore cannot be understood to go to the amount; it goes only to the question whether securitization, and the associated bond issuance and customer charges, is just and reasonable. In other words, the statute does not make the comparison a measure of how much the Company should recover. Rather, the comparison is a mechanical one that is required only insofar as it provides confirmation that securitization is more beneficial to customers than alternatives would be—and here, there is no dispute that securitization is more beneficial. See Order, pp. 77-78.

Finally, the Commission's application of a 95/5 "sharing provision" is unjust, reasonable, and arbitrary not only for the reason that the 5% disallowance is itself arbitrary (*see* p. 15, *supra*) but also for various other reasons, which individually and in combination are fatal to the Commission's conclusion. The Commission has imported into the securitization context a mechanism authorized by a different statute and implemented through a specific tariff that has no reasonable application under the different circumstances presented here. The Commission has suggested that the Company could somehow be incentivized *post hoc* to lower its fuel and purchased power costs incurred in connection with a truly extraordinary and unpredictable storm,

which is an irrational conclusion. *See* https://www.smithsonianmag.com/smart-news/how-winter-storm-uri-has-impacted-us-180977055/ (Winter Storm Uri was "extreme" event with unprecedented effects on provision of power to customers in many parts of the country). The Commission's decision *acknowledges* that under customary methods of ratemaking extraordinary costs like these would *not* be subject to the 95/5 tariff provision under the FAC because such costs would not pass through the FAC—but then immediately and contradictorily uses the procedures under the FAC as the basis for a comparison to what would happen under those customary methods, stating vaguely only that in that hypothetical world "Liberty would recover its Winter Storm Uri related fuel and purchased power costs by *starting with* its FAC." Order, p. 21 (emphasis added). In the end, the decision undermines the securitization statute by telling Liberty and other utilities that they will *never* recover the full amount of their extraordinary fuel and purchased power costs under that statute.

III. Certain of the Commission's Determinations with Respect to Carrying Charges Are Contrary to Law and Unreasonable

A. The Commission's Exclusion of Carrying Charges for Asbury for the Period Between Plant Retirement and June 2022 Is Contrary to Law and Unreasonable

In the Order, the Commission rejects Liberty's argument that carrying charges as to the Asbury plant "should be recovered for the period after the property was retired through the issuance of the securitized bonds." Order, p. 70. The Commission acknowledges that "the securitization statute specifically includes carrying costs within the definition of energy transition costs that can be recovered through securitization," but states that "nothing i[n] the statute . . . *mandates* that they be included for recovery." *Id.* at pp. 71-72 (emphasis added). The Commission then concludes that it is not just and reasonable for Liberty to "recover its full carrying costs on a generation facility that has not been used and useful since its effective retirement" and that "a more limited recovery of carrying costs for the period after the Asbury plant was removed from Liberty's rates, beginning in June 2022[,] is just and reasonable." *Id.* at p. 72.

That conclusion, which deprives Liberty of a substantial amount in carrying charges, violates the securitization statute. That statute cannot be read to permit a finding that recovery of carrying charges as to a retired plant is not just and reasonable *merely because* that plant is retired.³ Any such finding is contrary to the plain language and underlying purpose of the securitization statute relating to securitization of energy transition costs. The Commission's conclusion is also unreasonable, unjust, arbitrary, and an abuse of discretion. Among other things, the Commission has permitted carrying charges from June 2022 through bond issuance (projected to be December 2022), without justifying why carrying charges are permissible for that particular period but not

³ Liberty also seeks rehearing of the Commission's conclusion about the date of the Asbury plant's retirement, but discusses that issue separately below. *See* p. 39, *infra*. This section assumes, purely for purposes of argument, that the Commission's selection of the retirement date was correct.

for the earlier period from plant retirement through May 2022. After all, the plant could have been no more used and usable in the later period than it was in the earlier one.

1. Statutory violation

The legislature enacted the securitization statute in 2021 in order to permit utilities to obtain "a financing order to finance energy transition costs" or qualified extraordinary costs "through an issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds." RSMo. §393.1700.2(1). The statute defines "energy transition costs" as costs that arise "with respect to a retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility . . . where such early retirement or abandonment is deemed reasonable and prudent by the commission." RSMo. §393.1700.1(7)(a). And the statute specifically states that such costs include (among other things) "accrued carrying charges." *Id.* When this Commission issues a financing order, that order "shall include . . . [t]he amount of . . . costs to be financed using securitized utility tariff bonds and a finding that recovery of such costs is just and reasonable and in the public interest." RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(a).

Those provisions relating to the recovery and financing of carrying charges must be read together so that they work in harmony and all parts of the statute are given full effect. *See, e.g., Anderson ex rel. Anderson v. Ken Kauffman & Sons Excavating, L.L.C.*, 248 S.W.3d 101, 107 (Mo. Ct. App. 2008) ("[a] provision in a statute must be read in harmony with the entire section") (citation omitted); *id.* at 108; *State ex rel. Evans v. Brown Builders Elec. Co.*, 254 S.W.3d 31, 35 (Mo.banc 2008). The ultimate aim is "to ascertain the intent of the legislature from the language used." *Anderson*, 248 S.W.3d at 106 (citing *United Pharmacal Co. of Mo., Inc. v. Mo. Bd. of Pharmacy*, 208 S.W.3d 907, 909 (Mo. banc 2006)); *see Williams v. Nat'l Cas. Co.*, 132 S.W.3d 244, 249 (Mo. banc 2004) ("All canons of statutory construction are subordinate to the requirement that the court ascertain and apply a statute in a manner consistent with the legislative intent.").

Here, it is clear that the legislature expected that carrying charges can be recovered with respect to a retired plant, even though such a plant is *by definition* no longer used and useful. The legislature can be presumed to have been aware of case law in this state, predating the 2021 enactment of the securitization statute, discussing in the context of a general rate case whether a property must be used and useful in order for a return to be appropriate. *See* Order, p. 71 (citing a 1988 decision). But the legislature nevertheless included carrying charges in the securitization statute as among the costs that a utility can recover.

To be sure, the statute does ask this Commission to determine whether "recovery of such costs is just and reasonable and in the public interest." RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(a). It cannot be the case, however, that carrying charges are not just and reasonable *merely because of the fact* that they relate to a retired plant. If the Commission were to take that approach across the board as a matter of principle, the result would be that a utility could *never* securitize carrying charges for a retired asset. Such a self-defeating interpretation would place the provision asking for a "just and reasonable" determination in irreconcilable tension with the provision defining "energy transition costs" as costs that can be recovered in connection with a retired plant, rather than reading those provisions in harmony with each other. It also would render the statutory reference to carrying charges, and to energy transition costs more generally, entirely superfluous. The legislature could not have intended such a "meaningless act." *Anderson*, 248 S.W.3d at 109 (citing *Missouri ex rel. Bouchard v. Grady*, 86 S.W.3d 121, 123 (Mo. App. E.D. 2002)).

Read as a whole, the securitization statute reflects a different legislative intent: to recognize that where a utility saves customers money by prudently retiring an uneconomic asset, the utility should not be penalized for doing so. *See* Ex. 16, Graves Dir., pp. 4, 46-47; Ex. 17, Graves Surreb., Sched. FCG-2, pp. 6-16; Ex. 17, Graves Surreb., pp. 3-19. To be sure, that does

not mean that recovery of carrying charges always will be just and reasonable; there may conceivably be reasons why claimed carrying charges might be flawed under the circumstances in a particular case. But none of those reasons exist here, where the Commission specifically found that the retirement of the Asbury plant was prudent, *see* Order, pp. 47-48, and made no suggestion that the carrying charges at issue were in any way unusual or questionable. The Commission's only reason for denial of the carrying charges for an extended period of time after retirement was the *fact* of retirement, and that is the one reason for denial that is plainly impermissible under the securitization statute.

The Commission's citation of *State ex rel. Union Elec. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of State of Mo.*, 765 S.W.2d 618, 622 (Mo. App. W.D. 1988), *cited in* Order, p. 71, does not change that analysis. That case obviously does not involve interpretation of the securitization statute, which the legislature enacted many years after the case was decided; as noted, the fundamental purpose of the securitization statute is to encourage utilities to retire and replace uneconomic and environmentally challenged utility assets, which means allowing a carrying cost on retired assets as a cost of service to the utility. The case is also distinguishable on additional grounds. The utility in that case sought cancellation costs for a facility that it had begun construction on but had never completed. *Union Electric*, 765 S.W.2d at 620-23. Thus, the facility in that case was *never* used and useful at any point in time. That is a very different circumstance than the one presented here, where the question is a determination of recovery "in the context of existing assets that were used for many years, that were long deemed used and useful and that were generating customers benefits, but which have been retired once they became uneconomic due to changing economic circumstances." Ex. 17, Graves Surreb., Sched. FCG-2, p. 7.

2. Unreasonableness

The Commission's conclusion as to the carrying charges associated with the Asbury plant is also unreasonable, unjust, arbitrary, and an abuse of discretion. *See generally* Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., p. 24 ("Liberty has committed capital to funding the deferred fuel cost collections and the regulatory asset associated with Asbury that are the subject of this securitization application, and that commitment of capital warrants a reasonable return on capital until such time as Liberty's capital is paid off by the proceeds from securitization.").

First, the Order does not explain why carrying charges as to the period from plant retirement through May 2022 are unjust and unreasonable on the ground that the retired plant was not used and useful, but carrying charges as to the period from June 2022 through bond issuance are just and reasonable even though the plant was not used and useful at that time either. That distinction is arbitrary and unjust. The retired plant certainly is not more used and useful at a *later* date than it was at an *earlier* one. And the Commission's decision as to the later period demonstrates that the mere fact that a plant is retired is not, standing on its own, sufficient reason to deem recovery of carrying charges impermissible.

Second, the Order does not explain why June 2022 is the correct moment in time at which to draw a line between carrying charges that are recoverable and those that are not. That line-drawing is also arbitrary and unjust. Staff originally suggested that particular dividing line, on the ground that the carrying charges for Asbury were collected in rates from the date of plant retirement through May 2022. *See, e.g.*, Tr. Vol. 3, pp. 214-16 (McMellen); Tr. Vol. 2, p. 61 (Staff counsel stating that "Asbury was included in rates all the way up through May of 2022"). But that rationale for the Commission's recoverability determination is a red herring, and the Order—which rests instead on the distinct idea that a retired plan is not used and useful—ultimately does not rely

on Staff's rationale in any meaningful way. *But see* Order, p. 72 (referring in passing to "the period after the Asbury plant was removed from Liberty's rates, beginning in June 2022").

Nor could the Order reasonably do so. At Staff's urging, the Commission has *deducted* the amount of previously collected carrying charges from the amount of plant that the Company can securitize, by treating those carrying charges as part of an AAO liability balance. That deduction effectively forces the Company to *write off* carrying charges for the entire period from plant retirement through May 2022. *See* Tr. Vol. 2, p. 216 (McMellen) (agreeing that in Staff's view the return for Asbury that was built into rates up through May 2022 is "included in the Asbury liability" and therefore should be deducted from the amount to be securitized). Accordingly, the notion that the Company has already collected carrying charges through May 2022 cannot possibly serve as a justification for an effective disallowance of carrying charges for the period of time covered by the AAO. Because the Order appears to reflect reasoning that is constructed to adopt the date that Staff suggested, but without adopting Staff's (erroneous) rationale for choosing that date, the Order is arbitrary and unreasonable.

Indeed, had the Commission adopted Staff's rationale, then the outcome could not have been to prohibit recovery of carrying charges prior to June 2022. The Commission could have adopted the Company's primary recommendation, which was to allow the Company to keep the carrying charges it had collected in rates from plant retirement through May 2022, by removing the previously collected carrying charges from the AAO liability so that the Company could securitize the full amount of undepreciated plant consistent with the securitization statute.⁴ Or the

⁴ The Company requested in this proceeding that the amount of the carrying charges for that period not effectively be deducted from the amount to be securitized by treating those charges as part of an AAO liability balance. *See, e.g., Response to Commission Order*, pp. 3-4, EFIS Item No. 179 (filed August 9, 2022).

Commission could have adopted the Company's alternative recommendation, which was to order the Company to refund the carrying charges collected for the period up through May 2022 and to add that same amount of carrying charges to the regulatory asset to be securitized. *See* Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., pp. 20-21. That alternative approach would give effect to the statutory directive to include "accrued carrying charges" in the amount to be securitized. The carrying charges collected in rates represent the "accrued" carrying charges which, if refunded, would be securitized. The Order, however, follows neither path and instead denies the Company recovery of those carrying charges away entirely. That outcome is inconsistent with the securitization statute.

Third, the Order penalizes the Company millions of dollars despite the fact that the Company behaved prudently and protected customers by retiring a plant that is now uneconomic to operate. The Commission's determination that a significant (but arbitrary) amount of carrying charges as to a retired plant is unrecoverable precisely *because* the plant is retired discourages that kind of prudent decision making by the Company and by other utilities and therefore will deprive customers of better and less costly alternatives. *See* Ex. 16, Graves Dir., p.4; *see also, e.g., id.* at p. 51 ("Utility regulators and courts have long concluded that a utility may include prudent investments no longer being used to provide service in its rate base as long as the regulator reasonably balances consumers' interest in fair rates against investors' interest in maintaining financial integrity."); *see also State ex rel. Missouri Off. of Pub. Couns. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of State*, 293 S.W.3d 63, 76 (Mo. Ct. App. 2009) (utility may continue amortizing cost of software no longer in use); *Town of Norwood, Mass. v. FERC*, 80 F.3d 526, 531 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (noting that a "utility may include prudent but canceled investments in its rate base as long as the Commission reasonably balances consumers' interest in fair rates against investors' interest in

maintaining financial integrity and access to capital markets) (internal quotation marks omitted); p. 25, *supra* (distinguishing 1988 decision addressing the "used and useful" concept on which the Order relies).

For all of those reasons, the Commission should rehear the carrying charges issue discussed above and determine that the Company is entitled to recover carrying charges on Asbury from the date of retirement to the date when the bonds are issued. At a minimum, the Commission should clarify that the Company is entitled to seek recovery in a future proceeding of the carrying charges associated with the Asbury plant that are tracked in the AAO, without being prejudiced by any determination made in this proceeding.

B. The Commission's Rejection of the WACC as the Rate of Return to Be Applied to Carrying Charges Is Contrary to Law and Unreasonable

As discussed above, the securitization statute specifically provides for recovery of carrying charges. The statute defines "qualified extraordinary costs" as costs for the "purchase of fuel or power, inclusive of carrying charges, during anomalous weather events." RSMo. §393.1700.1(13). And the statute defines "energy transition costs," which are costs relating to retired or abandoned facilities, as including "accrued carrying charges." RSMo. §393.1700.1(7)(a).

Here, the Commission ruled that carrying charges both as to Winter Storm Uri and as to Asbury should be calculated at Liberty's long-term debt rate of 4.65 percent rather than at the Company's weighted average cost of capital ("WACC"). Both rulings are legally erroneous. Both rulings also are unreasonable, unjust, and arbitrary.

1. Winter Storm Uri

As to carrying charges related to Winter Storm Uri, the Commission stated that "[t]he Winter Storm Uri costs are operating costs, not capital improvements or replacements to existing plant and equipment. It is inappropriate for Liberty to be allowed a profit on expenditures for the

purchase of energy, as it would if carrying costs were calculated using its WACC." Order, p. 35. The Commission concluded that "Staff's proposal to calculate carrying costs for Winter Storm Uri related costs at Liberty's long-term debt rate of 4.65 percent is most appropriate because the costs to be securitized are not capital costs and there is no reason Liberty should be allowed to earn a profit on those costs." *Id.* at p. 36.

The Order's conclusion is contrary to the securitization statute and is arbitrary, unjust, and unreasonable. The phrase "carrying charges," as used in RSMo. §393.17001.(7)(a), should be interpreted in accordance with its ordinary meaning: a "cost associated with holding" an asset. See https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/carryingcharge.asp; see also Matter of Amend. of Commission's Rule Regarding Applications for Certificates of Convenience & Necessity, 618 S.W.3d 520, 528 (Mo. 2021), reh'g denied (Apr. 6, 2021). The statute therefore directs the Commission to permit securitization of an amount that reflects the Company's cost of financing the Winter Storm Uri costs.

The Order's observation that the Winter Storm Uri costs are not capital costs is misplaced. The relevant question is not whether the underlying costs, as to which application of carrying charges is necessary, are capital or operating costs, but rather the *time period* over which they are financed, which in turn determines how they are financed. In some cases, costs that will be recovered quickly may be expected to be financed at short-term debt rates. That is not the case here. The Winter Storm Uri costs were incurred in early 2021. Since then, the balance has been a component of Liberty's balance sheet, and Liberty has not been able to deploy the capital elsewhere, where it could have earned its authorized return. That state of affairs has been the expectation since the time that those costs were incurred. *See* Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., p. 22. As such, those costs were necessarily financed with long-term capital, and the cost to Liberty is based on

its authorized rate of return. Indeed, the Order itself acknowledges that these are long-term costs by authorizing a carrying cost based on the long-term debt rate rather than on a short-term debt rate.

The Order errs in allowing only a *portion* of the cost of financing long-term capital, namely, the cost of debt. The record shows without contradiction that the Company's long-term capital is financed with a combination of debt and equity. *See* Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., p. 22 ("[T]he Company "relies on a balanced mix of debt and equity to fund intermediate term and longer-term investments, operations, and emergencies, like Storm Uri. Short term sources of funding provide utilities with access to capital between long-term financings. They are one of a utility's sources of capital, not the entire source of capital."); *see also* Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p. 19. The actual carrying cost of Winter Storm Uri costs, like any other long-term financing, is therefore the Company's WACC. The long-term financing of those costs solely with long-term debt would undermine the Company's compliance with its authorized capital structure. *See* Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., p. 22 (referring to the Company's "balanced mix of debt and equity"); Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p.19.

The statutory language therefore clearly dictates use of the WACC here. But to the extent the relevant statutory language were to be deemed ambiguous, understanding "carrying charges" to refer to something other than the WACC is also inconsistent with the legislature's purpose in enacting the securitization statute. *See Anderson*, 248 S.W.3d at 106. The legislature intended to encourage utilities to use the securitization procedure so as to ensure greater benefits to customers than would be available in other kinds of cost-recovery proceedings. The Commission's ruling discourages use of securitization, since absent securitization the Company would "recover the

carrying costs it incurred between now and the time of the recovery, which would be calculated at its authorized WACC." Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p. 12; *see* Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., pp. 22-23.

In addition to running afoul of the "carrying charges" language in the securitization statute, the Commission's interpretation is arbitrary, unjust, and unreasonable. Using the WACC here is most consistent with principles regarding "fair return of capital deployed on behalf of customers." Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p. 20 (citing Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., pp. 21-22). Using the WACC also accords with the way that the Company actually funds emergencies like Winter Storm Uri—which means that using the long-term debt rate instead is unreasonable and gives rise to an arbitrary penalty. The Commission has previously used the WACC in calculating carrying charges for deferred storm expense balances that are analogous to the extraordinary costs related to Winter Storm Uri. In Case No. ER-2019-0374, the Commission approved the Company's recovery of deferred costs associated with the Joplin tornado using the WACC, by approving inclusion of the unamortized balance of storm costs in the Company's rate base. *See* Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p. 20; Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., p. 23. The Order provides no explanation for its failure to follow the same approach. In addition, the Commission's ruling creates an unjust and harmful disincentive to utilities' use of the securitization statute to recover and securitize extraordinary costs like the ones at issue here.

For all of those reasons, the Order should be corrected to permit the Company to securitize the costs it actually incurred to finance the Winter Storm Uri costs, which requires a calculation of those costs using the WACC.

2. Asbury

As to carrying charges related to Asbury, the Commission pointed to the same 1988 decision discussed above in connection with the period of time for which the Commission allowed recovery of Asbury carrying charges (*see* p. 25, *supra*): *State ex rel. Union Elec. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of State of Mo.* 765 S.W.2d 618 (Mo. App. W.D. 1988), which ruled that cancellation

costs as to construction of a facility that was never completed were not just and reasonable because the facility was not "used and useful." *Id.* at 622; *see* Order, pp. 71-72. The Commission noted that "the securitization statute specifically includes carrying costs within the definition of energy transition costs that can be recovered through securitization." *Id.* at p. 71. Nevertheless, the Commission concluded that "full recovery" of those charges is not "just and reasonable" because "Liberty is seeking to recover its full carrying costs on a generation facility that has not been used and useful since its effective retirement in December 2019." *Id.* at p. 72. For that reason, the Commission stated, it is "just and reasonable to allow Liberty to recover those carrying costs at its 4.65 percent cost of long-term debt rather than at [the] WACC." *Id.*

That decision is both legally erroneous and unreasonable for many of the same reasons discussed above in connection with the Commission's ruling on the period of time for which Asbury carrying charges are recoverable (p. 23, *supra*), and Liberty incorporates those reasons here by reference. The securitization statute cannot be interpreted to permit a finding that recovery of costs is unjust and unreasonable *precisely because* a plant is retired—and yet that is the only basis for the Commission's ruling that Liberty should recover carrying charges at the 4.65% cost of long-term debt rather than at the higher WACC. The "used and useful" concept has no application under the securitization statute, which the legislature intended to permit recovery of charges *specifically* with respect to assets that are not used or useful by definition. *See* p. 25, *supra*. And the statutory authorization of recovery of carrying costs should be interpreted to correspond to the costs the Company incurs to finance the assets in question, which is the WACC.

In addition, even if the Commission's determination that Liberty should not make a full recovery of its carrying charges were otherwise supportable, the decision to cut back Liberty's recovery by choosing a lower percentage rate is unreasonable. That decision is an arbitrary one

because there is no rationale for reducing the Company's recovery by the specific amount the Commission chose: the differential between application of the long-term debt rate and the WACC. The decision is not supported by the evidence in the record, since that evidence showed that using the WACC to calculate the carrying charges for the capital costs at issue is consistent with the Company's capital structure and with fundamental principles of fair return. *See* Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., pp. 22-24; Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p. 20. The decision is arbitrary because Asbury is clearly a capital investment as to which carrying charges would typically be calculated using the WACC, *see* Order, pp. 35-36, was used and useful for many years, and (as the Commission found) was prudently retired. And the decision is arbitrary and unjust because the precedent set by the Commission in choosing the long-term debt rate will serve to discourage Liberty and other utilities from retiring plants that are uneconomic or have problematic environmental impacts, which in turn harms the public. *See* p. 29, *supra*; Ex. 1, Reed Surreb., pp. 21-22. In contrast, securitization of the carrying charges using the WACC has significant benefits for customers. *See* Ex. 8, Emery Surreb., p. 20.

The decision is also legally erroneous and unreasonable for many of the same reasons discussed above in connection with the Commission's ruling on use of the long-term debt rate to calculate costs for Winter Storm Uri (p. 30, *supra*), and Liberty incorporates those reasons here by reference as well. Most notably, because the statute directs the Commission to permit securitization of an amount that reflects the Company's cost of financing, *see* p. 31, *supra*, the Commission's decision to use a different rate in its carrying-charge calculation, under the rubric of a "just and reasonable" determination, puts the portion of the statute calling for such a determination into serious tension with the statutory language stating that "accrued carrying charges" are part of the energy transition costs that a utility can recover and securitize. That

conclusion is underscored in the context of energy transition costs, because as to those costs the securitization statute uses the term "accrued carrying charges," RSMo. §393.1700.1(7)(a), and the Asbury carrying charges were in fact accrued in an AAO.

IV. Even Setting Aside the Errors Described Above with Respect to Asbury, the Commission's Finding of the Total Amount of Asbury Costs That Are Securitizable Contains a Calculation Error

Even apart from the various issues discussed above with respect to Asbury, Liberty believes that there is a calculation error in the amount of energy transition costs related to the retirement of Asbury that the Commission has authorized Liberty to securitize. The Commission found this amount to be \$81,241,471. Order, p. 16.

Without adjusting for the other matters raised in this application for rehearing (as to which Liberty reserves all of its rights), and taking the Order as issued, Liberty believes that the total amount of energy transition costs related to the retirement of Asbury that the Commission has authorized Liberty to securitize is actually \$82,921,331, and that the Order lists a lower total amount only as a result of an error in adding up all of the separate amounts that the order authorizes.

Liberty's calculation is based on the following categories, amounts, and references:

DESCRIPTION	AMOUNT	ORDER REFERENCE/SOURCE
Net Retired Asbury Plant	\$159,414,474	Order, p. 41 (that amount reflects that
		there are no carrying costs on the
		\$1,673,601 associated with abandoned
		environmental capital projects, Order,
		pp. 65-67)
Asbury Environmental Regulatory	\$1,643,357	Order, p. 50
Assets		
Asbury Fuel Inventories	\$1,532,832	Order, p. 51
Asbury Excess ADIT	(\$12,313,459)	Order, pp. 53, 54
Asbury AAO Liability	(\$78,691,414)	Order, p. 56
Asbury ADIT (NPV Value utilizing	(\$17,134,363)	Order, pp. 52, 54
13 years)		
Additional Asbury	\$3,541,054	Order, pp. 56, 58
Decommissioning Costs (Phase 2)		

Additional Asbury	\$1,500,522	Order, p. 58 (the specific balance is
Decommissioning Costs (Phase 3)		not identified in the Order; however,
_ , ,		this amount is identified on page 1 of
		Staff's Response to Commission
		Order of August 10, filed on August
		12, 2022)
Additional Asbury Asset Retirement	\$21,282,684	Order, p. 59
Obligation Costs – Asbestos/CCR		
Total Asbury Energy Transition	\$80,775,687	
Costs		
Asbury Carrying Costs	\$2,145,644	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
		not identified in the Order; this
		balance is derived by using the
		ordered 4.65% carrying cost rate for
		the period of June – December 2022,
		under the following calculation:
		(80,775,687 - 1,673,601) * (4.65/12*7)
		months) = $2,145,644$)
Total Asbury Costs to be	<u>\$82,921,331</u>	
Securitized		

As shown by the above, the amounts for individual issues do not add up to the \$81,241,471 cited by the Order. The difference between the amount identified in the Order and the sum above (\$82,921,331) is approximately \$1.7 million.

Accordingly, the amount of energy transition costs related to the retirement of Asbury that the Commission has authorized Liberty to securitize is unlawful and/or unreasonable and the Commission should reconsider or grant rehearing as to this issue, regardless of how it rules on the other issues contained in this application for rehearing.

V. Additional Issues

A. Carrying Costs for Abandoned Environmental Capital Projects (Issue 3.P)

The Commission found that Liberty could include in its securitization balance costs related to two Asbury environmental projects that were abandoned when the plant was closed. Order, pp.

65-67. However, the Commission decided that those costs "would not be includible in Liberty's ratebase and thus it may not recover a return on those investments." *Id.*, p. 67.

The Commission's decision to not permit a return on those investments is based on a statement in *State ex rel. Union Electric Co. v. Public Service Commission of State of Missouri.*, 765 S.W.2d 618 (Mo. App. W.D. 1988), that "[t]he utility property upon which a rate of return can be earned must be utilized to provide service to its customers. That is, it must be used and useful." *Id.* at 622; *see* Order, pp. 66-67.

The Commission's reliance on *Union Electric* is erroneous. That decision does not address the securitization statute, and the court's determination was made within the context of a traditional general rate case. The securitization statute was enacted to provide a process of recovery separate and apart from a general rate case. And, as discussed above in connection with the carrying charges argument covered in Part II.A of this rehearing request, *see* p. 16, *supra*, that statute necessarily contemplates that the investments associated with energy transition costs will concern a "retired or abandoned" "electric generating facility"—a facility that is by definition no longer "used and useful." RSMo. §393.1700.1(7)(a). The statute nevertheless requires inclusion of "accrued carrying charges" as part of "energy transition costs." *Id.* Thus, the "used and useful" concept as applied in general ratemaking does not carry over to decisions about energy transition costs made pursuant to the securitization statute.

Accordingly, the Commission should reconsider or grant rehearing as to this issue and, thereafter, issue its order providing for carrying costs as to the abandoned environmental capital projects.

B. Retirement Date of Asbury for Purposes of Calculating Depreciation Expense to Be Included in the Asbury AAO Liability (Issue 3.S)

The Commission erred in its determination of when Asbury should be deemed retired, and that error rendered incorrect the Commission's calculation of depreciation expense to be included in the Asbury AAO liability. The Commission's decision in this regard is legally erroneous because it cannot be reconciled with the Commission's own regulations. The decision is also unreasonable because it is contrary to undisputed facts in the record.

The Commission described its decision to use the Staff's calculation of depreciation expense associated with the Asbury plant as follows: "Asbury was *effectively retired* in December 2019, when it ceased producing electricity. Therefore, Staff's calculation of depreciation, which includes the months of January and February 2020, is appropriate and is adopted." Order, p. 70 (emphasis added). The Commission appears to rely on the finding that "Asbury's last day of generating power was December 12, 2019, when its [useable] coal supply was exhausted." *Id.*, p. 69.

That is not the appropriate test for determining when a plant is retired. The Uniform System of Accounts ("USOA"), as adopted by the Commission in 20 CSR 4240-20.030(1), defines "property retired" and states that the term, "as applied to electric plant, means property which has been removed, sold, abandoned, destroyed, or which for any cause has been withdrawn from service." Part 101, Definitions; No. 28. The USOA nowhere mentions the concept of a plant being "effectively" retired.

Here, under the applicable definition of retirement, Asbury was retired on March 1, 2020, and not before, because prior to that date it was not "removed, sold, abandoned, destroyed, or . . . for any cause . . . withdrawn from service." Part 101, Definitions; No. 28. It is true that Asbury last generated electricity in December of 2019. But it stood ready to do so after that date as well.

As Liberty witness Doll explained, in testimony that is uncontradicted in the record, at all times up until March 1, 2020, "Asbury was staffed and available to operate if economic fuel could have been procured in that timeframe." Ex. 4, Doll Surreb., p. 5. Moreover, "[t]he Company continued to monitor conditions, forward market prices, and evaluate economical fuel procurement options. If market conditions and forward market prices created an opportunity for Liberty to procure fuel at a price allowing Asbury to operate economically, fuel would have been purchased and the unit would have been offered to the market." *Id.*; *see id.* ("[s]imply because forward indications didn't warrant additional purchases and the Company did not believe it would be prudent to take additional coal deliveries and risk raising customers costs for unburned coal does not" indicate that the facility was retired at that time).

Consistent with that testimony, the record reflects that although in August 2019 Liberty notified the Southwest Power Pool ("SPP") of Asbury's coming retirement, Asbury was not officially de-designated as a network resource until March 1, 2020. Ex. 3, Doll Dir., p. 15. That was the earliest possible retirement date for Asbury per the SPP guidelines that were in place at the time. *See id.* And that is the earliest date on which Asbury could be deemed "removed" or "withdrawn from service." Part 101, Definitions; No. 28.

The Commission's decision as to the appropriate date of retirement for Asbury therefore cannot stand. The decision is both unlawful and unreasonable.

C. Designated Staff Representatives; Conditions to Be Included in the Financing Order (Issues 6 and 7)

Finally, Liberty seeks a clarification as to the part of the Order identifying the written certifications required in connection with the submission of the issuance advice letter. The Order states that "Liberty and the lead underwriters for the securitized utility tariff bonds shall provide a written certificate to the Commission certifying, and setting forth all calculations and

assumptions used to support such calculations and certificate," as to four items. Order, p. 85 and pp. 123-124 (Ordering para. 7) (emphasis added). The items that must be certified to are (i) compliance with the Financing Order; (ii) compliance with all other legal requirements; (iii) "that the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition of the securitized utility tariff charges are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery... absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds," and (iv) "that the structuring, marketing, and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds will result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced and the terms of this Financing Order." *Id.* The certificates are "a condition precedent to the submission of the issuance advice letter to the Commission." *Id.* at p. 85.

It is Liberty's expectation that the four items identified by the Commission would be addressed by a combination of certificates provided by Liberty and the lead underwriters. Liberty would provide a written certificate concerning all four items. However, the lead underwriters would provide a certificate only as to item (iv), regarding whether the structuring and pricing of the bonds results in the lowest securitized utility charges consistent with market conditions at the time of bond pricing and with the Order itself. (*See* Ex. 19, Niehaus Dir. (EO-2022-0193), Sched. KN-4, p. 39 of 87 (para. 69)).

In contrast, requiring the lead underwriters to certify as to all four items could create an untenable situation. The lead underwriters are not qualified to speak to legal issues such as compliance with the Commission's Order or with other applicable legal requirements. Nor are they qualified to certify as to the calculation of quantifiable net present benefits as compared to recovery of costs absent issuance of the bonds, since the latter question involves complex calculations based on information that is not in the lead underwriters' possession.

Nothing in the securitization statute requires the lead underwriters to provide any certification at all, let alone as to those items that are outside of their experience and knowledge. That is not surprising, given that underwriters would not commonly provide a certificate related to compliance with the financing order, compliance with state statutory requirements, or calculation of quantifiable net present value benefits.

In addition, nothing in the record suggests that the lead underwriters should be required to provide that broad set of certificates. Requiring certification by the lead underwriters only as to whether "the structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds will result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions" and the terms of the Order would be consistent with the evidence before the Commission, because that is the only certification that anyone told the Commission would in fact be provided by the lead underwriters. (*See* Ex. 19, Niehaus Dir. (EO-2022-0193), Sched. KN-4, p. 39 of 87 (para. 69)).

Liberty interprets the Order to permit a combination of certificates from the Company and the underwriters to satisfy Ordering Paragraph 7. Out of an abundance of caution, Liberty expresses that understanding now. Liberty respectfully suggests that, for the complete avoidance of doubt, the Commission confirm that Liberty's interpretation of the identified certification requirements is correct or, in the alternative, reconsider or rehear the matter and issue a decision making clear that the lead underwriters are required to provide a certificate only as to item (iv) noted above.

WHEREFORE, The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty respectfully submits this *Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or Application for Rehearing* for the Commission's consideration and requests that the Commission issue such orders as it should find to be reasonable and just.

Respectfully submitted,

ATTORNEYS FOR THE EMPIRE DISTRICT ELECTRIC COMPANY D/B/A LIBERTY

Sarah B. Knowlton #71361 General Counsel, Liberty Utilities 116 North Main Street Concord, New Hampshire 03301 Telephone: (603) 724-2123

E-Mail: sarah.knowlton@libertyutilities.com

Diana C. Carter MBE #50527 The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty 428 E. Capitol Ave., Suite 303 Jefferson City, Missouri 65101 Joplin Office Phone: (417) 626-5976

Cell Phone: (573) 289-1961

E-Mail: Diana.Carter@LibertyUtilities.com

//S// Dean L. Cooper

Dean L. Cooper MBE #36592 BRYDON, SWEARENGEN & ENGLAND P.C.

312 E. Capitol Avenue

P. O. Box 456

Jefferson City, MO 65102 Telephone: (573) 635-7166

E-mail: dcooper@brydonlaw.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that the above document was filed in EFIS on this 27th day of August, 2022, and sent by electronic transmission to all counsel of record.

/s/ Dean L. Cooper

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI

In the Matter of the Petition of The Empire District)	
Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a)	
Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of)	Case No. EO-2022-0040
Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for)	
Qualified Extraordinary Costs)	
In the Matter of the Petition of The Empire District)	
Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a)	
Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of)	Case No. EO-2022-0193
Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for Energy)	
Transition Costs Related to the Asbury Plant)	

AFFIDAVIT OF BRADLEY M. SELTZER

- 1. My name is Bradley M. Seltzer. Under penalty of perjury, I declare that the below is true and correct to the best of knowledge and belief.
- 2. I am an equity partner in the law firm of Eversheds Sutherland (U.S.) LLP. I specialize in the taxation of, and tax issues relating to, regulated public utilities, including the treatment of taxes for ratemaking purposes. Throughout my career I have provided tax advice primarily to regulated electric, gas, telephone, and water industry clients. I began my career at Sutherland, Asbill & Brennan in 1978, was later promoted to partner, joined Deloitte as a partner in 1997 and until 2016 served as Deloitte's Global and U.S. Tax Leader for Energy and Natural Resources. In 2016, I rejoined Sutherland as a partner shortly before its merger into what is now Eversheds Sutherland.
- 3. I have testified regarding tax, tax accounting and regulatory tax matters before state regulatory commissions in California, Missouri, Texas, Oklahoma, Arizona and before the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. In addition, I have assisted company-sponsored witnesses in preparation of their testimony in proceedings before the North Carolina, Alaska, Louisiana, Indiana and Texas commissions. I am also the Former Chair of the ABA Section of Taxation, Committee on Regulated Public Utilities and then served as the Former Chair of the ABA Section of Taxation's Normalization and Industry Specialization Subcommittee. A copy of my professional biography is attached to this affidavit.
- 4. This affidavit is offered in support of The Empire Electric District Company's Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification and/or Application for Rehearing ("Motion") in File No. EO-2022-0193.

Summary of Conclusions

- 5. In this Affidavit, I explain that the Order that is the subject of the Motion adopts an erroneous calculation of the net present value of the tax benefit of the Company's accumulated deferred income taxes ("ADIT") and thereby erroneously reduces the amount of securitized proceeds. The Order effectively and impermissibly converts a portion of the ADIT balance from a temporary timing difference into a permanent difference. The net effect of this error is to give back to customers money the Company still owes in taxes—that is, it deprives the Company of the designated source of revenue for paying the taxes that will be owed as customers pay principal on the bonds. The Order will discourage beneficial securitization transactions by requiring the utility to bear tax costs that it would otherwise recover in conventional ratemaking.
- 6. In support of the conclusions summarized above, this Affidavit specifically addresses the following issues: (a) how ADIT properly arise and reverse; (b) the impact of the proposed securitization transaction on ADIT; and (c) the proper calculation of the net present value of the tax benefits of ADIT under RSMo. §393.1700 that serves to reduce the amount of the securitization proceeds.

Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes

- 7. ADIT arise primarily from timing differences attributable to the use of a different method of computing depreciation expense as an element of cost of service (typically straight-line) than the depreciation method used in computing taxable income (typically accelerated depreciation). The taxes deferred by reason of accelerated depreciation are temporary in nature and will become due as the tax timing differences reverse, namely when depreciation expense for ratemaking purposes exceeds the deduction for depreciation on the income tax return. The deferred taxes, computed at the statutory tax rate, represent an interest-free loan from the federal government that is repaid over time as tax depreciation exceeds ratemaking depreciation. In other words, an ADIT balance represents money the Company has collected from customers as a source of funds to pay future taxes.
- 8. Under traditional cost of service ratemaking, and consistent with the Federal income tax rules for normalizing accelerated depreciation deductions, until the interest-free loan is fully repaid, the tax benefit of the deferred income tax liability represented by the ADIT balance is provided to customers by reducing the revenue requirement by an amount equal to the ADIT

balance multiplied by the utility's authorized rate of return, in the Company's case, 6.77%.

9. In the instant securitization situation, the tax benefit of the ADIT balance is amortized over the 13-year life of the bonds as the customers pay principal on the bonds (which is taxable to the Company) and the taxes become due. In other words, the ADIT balance serves as the Company's source of funds for the payment of taxes. If, as here, the amount of the net present value of the tax benefits of the ADIT balance is overstated, the reduction of the securitized amount will also be overstated, leaving a shortfall in the Company's source of funds to pay taxes on the taxable receipts from customers. Stated differently, any such shortfall essentially represents the impermissible conversion of what is intended to be a temporary timing difference into a permanent difference that will never be recovered from customers.

Securitization

10. When the cost of assets is securitized, the principal amount is recovered from customers over the life of the bonds. This is analogous to recovering the asset balance over a depreciation or amortization period in conventional ratemaking. Securitization does not change the Company's obligation to pay taxes or the Company's need to access the ADIT balance as a source of funds to pay such taxes.

11. Without securitization, under traditional cost of service ratemaking, the ADIT balance would have reversed over the period the remaining investment balance is recovered in rates, as the depreciation timing differences reversed. While the time period may be different, the securitization transaction effectively should achieve the same result by spreading the reversal of ADIT on a straight-line basis over the 13-year life of the bonds. As the revenue is received from customers for the amortization of the principal amount of the bonds, it generates taxable income to the Company. The ADIT balance serves as the Company's source of funds for the payment of taxes due as revenue is received for securitized bond payments. That amount of tax owed over the life of the bond on a nominal basis is equal to the amount of the ADIT balance. The ADIT balance will reduce to zero over the life of the bonds as the bond amortization creates periodic tax liabilities.

12. Just as in traditional ratemaking, if the ADIT balance is inadequate to meet the future tax liability that will be incurred as customers pay the cost of the Asbury plant (whether securitized or not), the Company will have insufficient revenue to cover those tax costs. For that reason, the tax

¹ IRS Revenue Procedure 2005-62.

benefit of the ADIT balance is not the balance itself, but just the avoided financing cost of the balance, which is the balance multiplied by the applicable financing cost.²

Calculation of the Proper Reduction of the Bond Proceeds

13. The required calculation methodology of the amount of the reduction of the bond proceeds by reason of the tax benefit of the ADIT balance is set forth in the Missouri Securitization statute as follows:

The accumulated deferred income taxes, including excess deferred income taxes, shall be excluded from rate base in future general rate cases and the net tax benefits relating to amounts that will be recovered through the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds shall be credited to retail customers by reducing the amount of such securitized utility tariff bonds that would otherwise be issued.

RSMo. § 393.1700.2(3)(c)(m).

14. As the Missouri securitization statute further specifies, the net present value of the tax benefits of ADIT is to be deducted from the issuance amount of the bonds. Thus, the critical calculation set forth in the statute is of the net tax benefit that is to reduce the issuance amount of the bonds:

The customer credit shall include the net present value of the tax benefits, calculated using a discount rate equal to the expected interest rate of the securitized utility tariff bonds, for the estimated accumulated and excess deferred income taxes at the time of securitization including timing differences created by the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds amortized over the period of the bonds multiplied by the expected interest rate on such securitized utility tariff bonds.

RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(m).

15. In RSMo. §393.1700.2(3)(c)(m), the securitization statute envisions a 3-step process for determining the net tax benefit that will reduce the amount of the securitized proceeds. First, it substitutes the bond interest rate for the authorized rate of return in computing the discount rate, *i.e.*, the ADIT balance is multiplied by the bond rate (2.47%) rather than the authorized rate of return (6.77%). Second, the amortization period substitutes the life of the bonds for the period of time over which the remaining balance of the retired assets would be recovered in conventional ratemaking. Third, the net present value of the ADIT benefits is computed using the interest rate

² The accelerated recovery of ADIT and the conversion of a portion of the ADIT from a temporary timing benefit to a permanent benefit would also, if uncorrected, bring into play the normalization provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. Those provisions, if violated, subject the Company to the loss of accelerated depreciation on all of its public utility property subject to MoPSC jurisdiction. *See* I.R.C. § 168(i)(9) and Treas. Reg. § 1.167(l)-1(h)(2). The loss of the right to claim accelerated depreciation on the Company's remaining Missouri public utility property would be extremely detrimental to customers.

EXHIBIT A

on the securitized bonds.

16. When these three steps are applied in the instant case, the ADIT balance amortizes at an annual rate equal to the balance multiplied by the bond interest rate for each of the thirteen years the bonds are outstanding. Then, to arrive at the present value of the tax benefit of the ADIT balance over the thirteen annual revenue requirements, the future values of the annual impacts of ADIT on the revenue requirements are discounted back at the bond interest rate to the date of securitization.

17. Contrary to the conclusion of the Order, this calculation does not discount the ADIT balance twice by the bond interest rate. Multiplying the ADIT balance by the bond interest rate to determine the annual tax benefit of the ADIT is not equivalent to discounting that balance to present value. Rather, multiplying the ADIT balance by the bond interest rate calculates the benefit to customers. For each year the bonds are outstanding, the benefit equates to the amount of avoided financing costs funded by the outstanding ADIT balance. That amount is recalculated each year based on the declining ADIT balance. In steps 1 and 2, the bond interest rate is used only to calculate the financing cost benefit, *i.e.*, the tax benefit. In the third step, the statute requires the use of the bond interest rate again, but for a different purpose: to discount the tax benefit derived from ADIT over the term of the bonds to present value. Step 3 is the first and only time discounting takes place. Using the same interest rate for two different purposes does not constitute discounting twice.

18. Witness Bolin's testimony, on which the Order relies, erroneously calculates the present value of the full ADIT balance for purposes of the reduction to the authorized securitization proceeds. But, as noted above, the statute expressly states that the reduction is not in the amount of the ADIT, but rather is in the amount of the tax benefit of the ADIT. Thus, the overstatement of the reduction prevents the Company from securitizing the full amount of the approved transition costs. Effectively, the Company will be returning to customers the amounts that they have previously paid for the Company's taxes, even though the Company will continue to owe those taxes in the future.

Under penalty of perjury, on this 27th day of August, 2022, I declare that the foregoing is true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief.

//S// Bradley M. Seltzer
Bradley M. Seltzer

Attachment F

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI



In the Matter of the Petition of The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for Qualified Extraordinary Costs

File No. EO-2022-0040

In the Matter of the Petition of The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty to Obtain a Financing Order that Authorizes the Issuance of Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds for Energy Transition Costs Related to the Asbury Plant

File No. EO-2022-0193

REPORT AND ORDER

Issue Date: August 18, 2022

Effective Date: August 28, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

COUNSEL
PROCEDURAL HISTORY
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIZATION
SEPARATE FINANCING ORDERS?1
CONTESTED ISSUES1
1) WHAT AMOUNTS SHOULD THE COMMISSION AUTHORIZE LIBERTY TO FINANCE USING SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF BONDS?
A) WHAT AMOUNTS OF QUALIFIED EXTRAODINARY COSTS SHOULD THE COMMISSION AUTHORIZE LIBERTY TO FINANCE FOR WINTER STORM URI?
B) WHAT AMOUNTS OF ENERGY TRANSITION COSTS SHOULD THE COMMISSION AUTHORIZE LIBERTY TO FINANCE FOR ASBURY?1
2) WINTER STORM URI10
A) WHAT AMOUNT OF COSTS, IF ANY, THAT LIBERTY IS SEEKING TO SECURITIZE WOULD LIBERTY RECOVER THROUGH CUSTOMARY RATEMAKING?
B) WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE METHOD OF CUSTOMARY RATEMAKING ABSENT SECURITIZATION10
C) UNDER RSMO 393.1700.2(2)(E), WHAT IS THE "CUSTOMARY METHOD OF FINANCING"? WHAT ARE THE COSTS THAT WOULD RESULT "FROM THE APPLICATION OF THE CUSTOMARY METHOD OF FINANCING AND REFLECTING THE QUALIFIED EXTRAORDINARY COSTS IN RETAIL CUSTOMER RATES"?
D) SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY INCLUDE MORE THAN 95% OF FUEL AND PURCHASED POWER COSTS?10
E) SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT AN OFFSET BASED ON HIGHER THAN NORMAL CUSTOMER REVENUES RECEIVED BY LIBERTY DURING WINTER STORM URI?

	F)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT AN OFFSET BASED ON REVENUES THAT LIBERTY'S RIVERTON 11 UNIT SHOULD HAVE GENERATED DURING WINTER STORM URI, AND IF SO, HOW MUCH?23
	G)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT A DISALLOWANCE BASED ON LIBERTY'S RESOURCE PLANNING?31
	H)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT A DISALLOWANCE FOR INCOME TAX DEDUCTIONS FOR WINTER STORM URI COSTS?33
	I)	WHAT ARE THE APPROPRIATE CARRYING COSTS FOR WINTER STORM URI?35
	J)	WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCOUNT RATE TO USE IN CALCULATING THE NET PRESENT VALUE OF WINTER STORM URI COSTS THAT WOULD BE RECOVERED THROUGH CUSTOMARY RATEMAKING?
3)	AS	BBURY37
	A)	HOW MUCH OF THE AMOUNTS, IF ANY, THAT LIBERTY IS SEEKING TO SECURITIZE FOR ASBURY WOULD LIBERTY RECOVER THROUGH TRADITIONAL RATEMAKING?37
	B)	WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE METHOD OF CUSTOMARY RATEMAKING ABSENT SECURITIZATION?38
	C)	UNDER RSMO 393.1700.2(1)(F), WHAT IS THE "TRADITIONAL METHOD OF FINANCING"? WHAT ARE THE COSTS THAT WOULD RESULT "FROM THE APPLICATION OF THE TRADITIONAL METHOD OF FINANCING AND RECOVERING THE UNDEPRECIATED INVESTMENT OF FACILITIES THAT MAY BECOME SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF COSTS FROM CUSTOMERS?
	D)	WHAT IS THE NET BOOK VALUE OF THE RETIRED ASBURY PLANT40
	E)	WAS IT REASONABLE AND PRUDENT FOR LIBERTY TO RETIRE ASBURY?
	F)	WHAT IS THE VALUE OF THE ASBURY ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATORY ASSETS?
	G) Q)	WHAT IS THE VALUE OF THE ASBURY FUEL INVENTORIES?50 SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY INCLUDE BASEMAT COAL AT ASBURY?50

H)	WHAT ARE THE VALUES OF THE ACCUMULATED DEFERRED INCOME TAX (ADIT) AND EXCESS ADIT?52
I) V	WHAT IS THE VALUE OF THE ASBURY AAO REGULATORY LIABILITY?54
J)	WHAT ARE THE LIKELY ASBURY DECOMMISSIONING COSTS?56
K)	WHAT ARE THE LIKELY ASBURY RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS?58
L)	WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE AMOUNT FOR CASH WORKING CAPITAL?
M)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT A DISALLOWANCE OF THE REMAINING COST OF THE AIR QUALITY CONTROL SYSTEM (ACQS), AND IF SO, HOW MUCH?
N)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT A DISALLOWANCE FOR INCOME TAX DEDUCTIONS FOR ASBURY ABANDONMENT?63
O)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY REFLECT A DISALLOWANCE FOR LABOR AT ASBURY?64
P)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY INCLUDE AMOUNTS FOR ABANDONED ENVIRONMENTAL CAPITAL PROJECTS?65
R)	SHOULD LIBERTY'S RECOVERY INCLUDE NON-LABOR ASBURY RETIREMENT COSTS?67
S)	WHAT IS THE AMOUNT OF DEPRECIATION EXPENSE68
T)	WHAT ARE THE APPROPRIATE CARRYING COSTS FOR ASBURY?70
U)	WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE RATE(S) OF RETURN THAT SHOULD BE USED TO CALCULATE THE AMOUNT OF RECOVERY?70
V)	WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCOUNT RATE TO USE TO CALCULATE THE NET PRESENT VALUE OF ASBURY COSTS THAT WOULD BE RECOVERED THROUGH TRADITIONAL RATEMAKING?72
AS AS	HAT ARE THE ESTIMATED UPFRONT AND ONGOING FINANCING COSTS SOCIATED WITH SECURITIZING QUALIFIED EXTRAORDINARY COSTS SOCIATED WITH ASPURY 2

4)

5)	WOULD ISSUANCE OF SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF BONDS AND IMPOSITION OF SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF CHARGES PROVIDE QUANTIFIABLE NET PRESENT VALUE BENEFITS TO CUSTOMERS AS COMPARED TO RECOVERY OF THE SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF COSTS THAT WOULD BE INCURRED ABSENT THE ISSUANCE OF BONDS?76
	A) WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCOUNT RATE TO USE TO CALCULATE NET PRESENT VALUE OF SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF COSTS THAT WOULD BE RECOVERED FOR WINTER STORM URI AND ASBURY THROUGH SECURITIZATION?
6)	REGARDING ANY DESIGNATED STAFF REPRESENTATIVES WHO MAY BE ADVISED BY A FINANCIAL ADVISOR OR ADVISORS, WHAT PROVISION OR PROCEDURES SHOULD THE COMMISSION ORDER TO IMPLEMENT THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 393.1700.2(3)(H)?78
7)	WHAT OTHER CONDITIONS, IF ANY, ARE APPROPRIATE AND NOT INCONSISTENT WITH SECTION 393.1700 RSMO SUPP. 2021, TO BE INCLUDED IN THE FINANCING ORDER?
8)	HOW SHOULD SECURITIZESD UTILITY TARIFF CHARGES BE INITIALLY ALLOCATED AMONG RETAIL CUSTOMER CLASSES?86
NC	N-CONTESTED ISSUES89
OF	RDERED PARAGRAPHS 121

COUNSEL

THE EMPIRE DISTRICT ELECTRIC COMPANY D/B/A LIBERTY:

Sarah B. Knowlton, General Counsel, Liberty Utilities, 116 North Main Street, Concord, New Hampshire 03301

Diana C. Carter, The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty, 428 E. Capitol Ave., Suite 303, Jefferson City, Missouri 65101.

Dean L. Cooper, BRYDON, SWEARENGEN & ENGLAND P.C., 312 E. Capitol Ave., P.O. Box 456, Jefferson City, Missouri 65102

STAFF OF THE MISSOURI PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION:

Curtis Stokes, Chief Deputy Counsel, Post Office Box 360, Governor Office Building, 200 Madison Street, Jefferson City, Missouri 65102.

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC COUNSEL:

Nathan Williams, Chief Deputy Public Counsel, Post Office Box 2230, Jefferson City, Missouri 65102.

MIDWEST ENERGY CONSUMERS GROUP:

Tim Opitz, Opitz Law Firm, LLC, 308 E. High St., Suite B101, Jefferson City, Missouri 65101.

RENEW MISSOURI ADVOCATES D/B/A RENEW MISSOURI:

Alissa Greenwald, P.O. Box 413071. Kansas City, Missouri 64141

CHIEF REGULATORY LAW JUDGE: Morris L. Woodruff

FINANCING ORDER

Procedural History

On January 19, 2022,¹ The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty (Liberty) filed a verified petition for financing order seeking authority to issue securitized utility tariff bonds regarding the extraordinary costs incurred by Liberty during the anomalous weather event of February 2021 commonly known as Winter Storm Uri. That petition was assigned Commission File No. EO-2022-0040.

Similarly, on March 21, Liberty filed a verified petition for financing order seeking authority to issue securitized utility tariff bonds to recover energy transition costs associated with retirement of Liberty's Asbury coal-fired generating plant. That petition was assigned Commission File No. EO-2022-0193.

Liberty filed a motion on April 18, asking the Commission to consolidate the two cases for all purposes. The Commission responded on April 27 with an order consolidating the two cases for purposes of the hearing and procedural schedule, but reserving the question of whether to issue one financing order for both cases, or to issue a separate financing order for each case.

The Midwest Energy Consumers' Group (MECG) was allowed to intervene in both cases. Renew Missouri Advocates d/b/a Renew Missouri (Renew Missouri) was allowed to intervene in EO-2022-0193, but did not apply to intervene in EO-2022-0040.

The parties prefiled direct, rebuttal, and surrebuttal testimony. An evidentiary hearing was held on June 13 through June 16. The parties filed post-hearing briefs on July 13, and reply briefs on July 20.²

¹ At dates refer to 2022, unless otherwise indicated.

² The case is considered submitted as of the date of the final brief. 20 CSR 4240-2.150(1).

Description of Securitization

Findings of Fact

- 1. Securitization is a financing technique in which certain assets are legally isolated within a special purpose entity. Investors then purchase securities that represent either debt or equity interest in the special purpose entity.³
- 2. The special purpose entity will issue bonds backed primarily by a statutory and regulatory right to receive a charge to be paid by a utility's customers. The securitized bonds are non-recourse to and bankruptcy remote from any operating company, in this case, Liberty.⁴
- 3. Securitization is a process authorized for the first time in Missouri by the legislature in the 2021 general legislative session.⁵
- 4. As authorized by the securitization statute, Liberty seeks authority from the Commission to create one or more wholly-owned special purpose entities, which will be incorporated as Delaware limited-liability companies with Liberty as the sole member. The special purpose entity, or entities, will serve as the issuer of the bonds. Liberty will then create and sell the right to impose, bill, and receive Securitized Utility Tariff Charges to the special purpose entities as issuer of the bonds. The special purpose entities will pay Liberty for the right to impose, bill, and receive the Securitized Utility Tariff Charges by issuing bonds, thereby acquiring all of Liberty's right, title, and interest to collect the Securitized Utility Tariff Charges from Liberty's ratepayers.⁶

³ Niehaus Direct, Ex. 18, Page 2, Lines 17-20.

⁴ Niehaus Direct, Ex. 18, Page 3, Lines 2-3.

⁵ HB 734, Section 393.1700, RSMo, effective August 28, 2021.

⁶ Niehaus Direct, Ex. 18, Page 8, Lines 12-20.

5. The goal of securitization is to structure the securities in a way that will allow them to achieve the highest bond rating possible. That will allow the issuer to set the price for those bonds at the lowest interest rate possible, thus saving ratepayers money compared to the amount they would have to pay if a traditional method of financing, at a higher interest rate, were used.⁷

Conclusions of Law

- A. Liberty is an electric corporation as defined in Section 386.020(15), RSMo 2016.
- B. Section 393.1700.2(1) allows an electrical corporation, which includes Liberty, to petition the Commission for a financing order to allow for issuance of "securitized utility tariff bonds" to finance "energy transition costs."
- C. "Energy transition costs" are defined by Section 393.1700.1(7) as including all of the following:
 - (a) Pretax costs with respect to a retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility that is the subject of a petition for a financing order filed under this section where such early retirement or abandonment is deemed reasonable and prudent by the commission through a final order issued by the commission, include, but are not limited to, the undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith, costs of decommissioning and restoring the site of the electric generating facility, other applicable capital and operating costs, accrued carrying charges, and deferred expenses, with the foregoing to be reduced by applicable tax benefits of accumulated and excess deferred income taxes, insurance, scrap and salvage proceeds, and may include the cost of retiring any existing indebtedness, fees, costs, and expenses to modify existing debt agreements or for waivers or consents related to existing debt agreements;
 - (b) Pretax costs that an electrical corporation has previously incurred related to the retirement or abandonment of such an electrical generating facility occurring before August 28, 2021;

⁷ DeCourcey Direct, Ex. 5, Page 6, Lines 7-13.

- D. Liberty sought to securitize "energy transition costs" associated with the retirement of its Asbury coal-fired electric generating plant in its petition in File No. EO-2022-0193.
- E. Section 393.1700.2(2) allows an electrical corporation, which includes Liberty, to petition the Commission for a financing order to allow for issuance of "securitized utility tariff bonds" to finance "qualified extraordinary costs."
 - F. "Qualified extraordinary costs" are defined Section 393.1700.1(13) as:

Costs incurred prudently before, on, or after August 28, 2021, of an extraordinary nature which would case extreme customer rate impacts if reflected in retail customer rates recovered through customary ratemaking, such as but not limited to purchases of fuel or power, inclusive of carrying charges, during anomalous weather events;

G. Liberty sought to securitize "qualified extraordinary costs" associated with the anomalous weather event of February 2021, known as Winter Storm Uri, in its petition in File No. EO-2022-0040.

Should the Commission issue separate financing orders for Liberty's petition for securitization of energy transition costs and its petition for securitization of qualified extraordinary costs? Or should it issue a combined financing order for the two petitions?

This issue was not identified by the parties. Rather it was raised by the Commission in deciding that the two petitions filed by Liberty would not be consolidated for all purposes.

Findings of Fact

6. Larger utility securitization issuances tend to benefit from improved investor marketability and secondary liquidity, which can support lower pricing of the issuance, resulting in lower costs for ratepayers.⁸

7. In addition, there are a number of transaction costs associated with the issuance of the securities that are fixed costs that do not vary with the amount being securitized. Issuing a single bond issue in a combined transaction would avoid duplication of those fixed costs.⁹ Avoiding the duplication of those fixed transaction costs could save over \$1 million in transaction costs.¹⁰

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

Decision

Given the likelihood of increased costs that would result from separate securitizations, the Commission will issue a single financing order regarding both energy transition costs and qualified extraordinary costs.

The Issues

The securitization statute¹¹ mandates that the Commission's order regarding the petitions for securitization authority include certain findings and other provisions. This order will meet all requirements of the statute. Not all of those requirements are contested.

⁸ Davis Rebuttal, Ex. 107, Page 9, Lines 20-21. *See also*, Ex. 24 and Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 530, Lines 12-18.

⁹ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 530, Lines 5-12., *See also*, Ex. 24 and Davis Rebuttal, Ex. 107, Pages 9-10, Lines 22-23, 1-2.

¹⁰ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 545, Lines 3-7. See also, Ex. 24.

¹¹ Section 393.1700, RSMo 2016

The order will first address the issues contested by the parties and then will address the additional statutory requirements that were not contested.

1) What amounts should the Commission authorize Liberty to finance using securitized utility tariff bonds?

Findings of Fact

This issue is simply a summation of all other issues identified in this order. As such there are no additional findings of fact applicable to this issue.

Conclusions of Law

- H. Section 393.1700.2(3)k RSMo requires this securitization order to include:
- "[a] statement specifying a future ratemaking process to reconcile any differences between the actual securitized utility tariff costs financed by securitized utility tariff bonds and the final securitized utility tariff costs incurred by the electrical corporation or assignee provided that any such reconciliation shall not affect the amount of securitized utility tariff bonds or the associated securitized utility tariff charges paid by customers.

Decision

This amount is the sum of the amounts of qualified extraordinary costs determined in issue 1A and the amount of energy transition costs determined in issue 1B, plus the amount of upfront financing costs determined in issue 4. That total is \$288,703,043.

A) What amounts of qualified extraordinary costs should the Commission authorize Liberty to finance for Winter Storm Uri?

Findings of Fact

8. Between February 13 and 20, 2021, three severe winter storms struck portions of the United States. That winter weather event has been termed Winter Storm Uri. Much of the Midwest, including Liberty's service area, experienced unseasonably

cold temperatures, resulting in rolling electrical blackouts and extreme natural gas price spikes.¹²

- 9. During the peak price period of February 16 and 17, the price of natural gas escalated because of high demand and limited availability of natural gas due to production problems resulting from the extreme cold. Similarly, power prices for electricity with the Southwest Power Pool (SPP) also surged during Winter Storm Uri. SPP on-peak day ahead locational marginal prices for February 15 through 19 averaged 11,280 percent higher than the five-year average for the period, hitting \$3,821.05 per megawatt hour for February 18 delivery.¹³
- 10. During Winter Storm Uri, Liberty experienced natural gas pressure limitations that affected production at its natural gas-powered electrical production units.¹⁴
- 11. Liberty incurred approximately \$193 million in extraordinary fuel costs for service to Missouri customers arising from Winter Storm Uri. 15 Liberty seeks to recover those extraordinary fuel costs as "Qualified Extraordinary Costs" under the securitization statute.
- 12. Recovery of those fuel costs under the six-month recovery period established in Liberty's Fuel Adjustment Clause would create extreme customer rate impacts. 16
- 13. In total, Liberty seeks authority to securitize \$221,645,532 for costs related to Winter Storm Uri. This amount includes approximately \$193,402,000 for fuel costs,

¹² Olsen Direct, Ex. 9, Schedule JO-3, Page 6.

¹³ Olsen Direct, Ex. 9, Schedule JO-3, Page 15.

¹⁴ Olsen Direct, Ex. 9, Schedule JO-3, Pages 27-35.

¹⁵ Doll Direct, Ex. 2, Page 13, Lines 4-6.

¹⁶ DeCourcey Direct, Ex. 5, Page 5, Lines 1-8.

\$24,169,000 for Carrying Costs, \$419,000 for Deferred Legal Costs, and \$3,655,000 for Upfront Costs.¹⁷

Conclusions of Law

I. Section 393.1700.1(13) defines "Qualified Extraordinary Costs as:

Costs incurred prudently before, on, or after August 28, 2021, of an extraordinary nature which would cause extreme customer rate impacts if reflected in retail customer rates recovered through customary ratemaking, such as but not limited to those related to purchases of fuel or power, inclusive of carrying charges, during anomalous weather events.

J. Section 393.1700.2(2), RSMo sets out the content that must be included in a utility's petition for a financing order to finance qualified extraordinary costs.

Decision¹⁸

The Commission finds that Liberty's cost in the amount of \$199,561,572 incurred by Liberty in relation to Winter Storm Uri are prudently incurred costs of an extraordinary nature that would cause extreme customer rate impacts if reflected in customer rates recovered through customary ratemaking and as such are "Qualified Extraordinary Costs" as defined in Section 393.1700.1(13), RSMo. The Commission further finds that Winter Storm Uri was an "anomalous weather event" within the meaning of that statutory definition.

¹⁷ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 10, Figure CTE-2.

¹⁸ The number indicated in this section is derived from the Commission decisions on particular issues described subsequently in this order.

B) What amounts of energy transition costs should the Commission authorize Liberty to finance for Asbury?

Findings of Fact

- 14. Asbury Unit 1 was a coal-fired Babcock & Wilcox cyclone steam generator that was commissioned in 1970. When it began operations, it had a nominal rating of 206 MW and sourced its coal onsite via mine mouth operation. In 1990, the plant was converted to use a blend of low-sulfur Wyoming coal and local bituminous coal¹⁹
- 15. A selective catalytic reduction system was installed at Asbury in 2008 to reduce nitrogen oxide emissions. In 2014, the Asbury plant was retrofitted with an Air Quality Control System (AQCS) to comply with federal environmental regulations.²⁰
- 16. Asbury was retired near the beginning of 2020, and decommissioning and dismantling of the plant is ongoing.²¹
- 17. Liberty seeks to recover \$140,774,376 in energy transition costs for Asbury.²²

Conclusions of Law

- K. Section 393.1700.1(7) defines "Energy Transition Costs" as including all of the following:
 - (a) Pretax costs with respect to a retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility that is the subject of a petition for a financing order filed under this section where such early retirement or abandonment is deemed reasonable and prudent by the commission through a final order issued by the commission, include, but are not limited to, the undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith, costs of decommissioning and restoring the site of the electric generating facility,

¹⁹ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 3, Lines 12-18.

²⁰ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 4, Lines 11-20.

²¹ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 5, Lines 15-20.

²² Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 1, Lines 20-21.

other applicable capital and operating costs, accrued carrying charges, and deferred expenses, with the foregoing to be reduced by applicable tax benefits of accumulated and excess deferred income taxes, insurance, scrap and salvage proceeds, and may include the cost of retiring any existing indebtedness, fees, costs, and expenses to modify existing debt agreements or for waivers or consents related to existing debt agreements:

- (b) Pretax costs that an electrical corporation has previously incurred related to the retirement or abandonment of such an electric generating facility occurring before August 28, 2021.
- L. Section 393.1700.2(1), RSMo sets out the content that must be included in a utility's petition for a financing order to finance energy transition costs.

Decision²³

The Commission finds that Liberty's energy transition costs related to the retirement of its Asbury electrical generating plant in the amount of \$81,241,471 may be financed using securitized utility tariff bonds and recovery of such is just and reasonable.

2) Winter Storm Uri

- A) What amount of costs, if any, that Liberty is seeking to securitize would Liberty recover through customary ratemaking?
- B) What is the appropriate method of customary ratemaking absent securitization?
- C) Under RSMo 393.1700.2(2)(e), what is the "customary method of financing"? What are the costs that would result "from the application of the customary method of financing and reflecting the qualified extraordinary costs in retail customer rates"? and
- D) Should Liberty's recovery include more than 95% of fuel and purchased power costs?

These four sub-issues are interrelated and the Commission will address them together.

²³ The number indicated in this section is derived from the Commission decisions on particular issues described subsequently in this order.

Findings of Fact

- 18. Liberty incurred approximately \$193 million in extraordinary fuel costs for its Missouri customers during Winter Storm Uri.²⁴
- 19. Absent securitization, Liberty would recover its fuel and purchased power costs through a combination of its general rates and the Fuel Adjustment Clause (FAC) which is established within its tariff.²⁵
- 20. Liberty's FAC does not allow the company to recover 100 percent of its fuel and purchased power costs. Rather, the FAC includes a 95/5 sharing mechanism by which the company is allowed to recover only 95 percent of its fuel and purchased power costs through the FAC.²⁶
- 21. The Commission included the 95/5 sharing mechanism in Liberty's FAC to provide the company an incentive to operate at an optimal efficiency while still providing the company an opportunity to earn a fair return on its investment.²⁷
- 22. The same sharing incentive would give Liberty an incentive to plan for and to efficiently manage extraordinary events that could lead to a request to securitize extraordinary fuel costs.²⁸
- 23. Because of the extraordinary amount of the fuel and purchased power costs associated with Winter Storm Uri, Liberty did not seek to recover those costs through its FAC. Instead, it requested an Accounting Authority Order (AAO) in Commission File No. EU-2021-0274, seeking recovery of the Winter Storm Uri related costs as well as the

²⁴ Doll Direct, Ex. 2, Page 13, Lines 4-6.

²⁵ Mastrogiannis Rebuttal, Ex. 104, Pages 7-8, Lines 20-21, 1-2.

²⁶ Mastrogiannis Rebuttal, Ex. 104, Page 8, Lines 2-18.

²⁷ Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 289, Lines 18-25.

²⁸ Mantle Rebuttal, Ex. 200, Page 29, Lines 13-16.

remaining five percent of those February 2021 fuel and purchased power costs, carrying costs and other storm related costs, including outside legal fees. Following the passage of the securitization statute, Liberty sought to recover those costs it would have deferred through the AAO through the securitization proposed in this case.²⁹ Liberty's request for an AAO remains pending before the Commission, but is being held in abeyance pending resolution of this case.³⁰

24. Under an AAO, the utility is allowed to defer extraordinary costs for possible recovery in a future rate case. The Commission could allow recovery under an appropriate amortization period with the utility being allowed appropriate carrying costs during the period of amortization. Under these circumstances, Staff would likely recommend at least a ten-year amortization period, with carrying costs calculated at the company's long-term debt rate.³¹

25. If an AAO was established, Staff would not recommend deferral or recovery of the five percent of the utility's share of fuel and purchased power costs under the FAC. Staff contends it is appropriate to expect Liberty's shareholders to share in the financial impact of Winter Storm Uri.³²

Conclusions of Law

M. Section 386.266.1, RSMo allows an electrical corporation to apply to the Commission to approve rate schedules that allow for "periodic rate adjustments outside of general rate proceedings to reflect increases and decreases in its prudently incurred fuel and purchased power costs." That section also allows the Commission to "include in

²⁹ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 3, Lines 2-21.

³⁰ See, EU-2021-0274, Order Directing Filing, Issued April 4, 2022.

³¹ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 4, Lines 1-19.

³² Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Pages 4-5, Lines 20-23, 1-8.

such rate schedules features designed to provide the electrical corporation with incentives to improve the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of its fuel and purchased power procurement activities." The 95/5 sharing provision in Liberty's FAC tariff is designed to provide such an incentive.

- N. In its report and order that initially established Liberty's FAC, the Commission found that "a prudence review can be expected to evaluate the major decisions a utility makes. However, a utility makes thousands of small decisions every hour regarding fuel, purchased power, and off-system sales. It is not practical to expect a prudence review to uncover and evaluate every one of those decisions."³³
- O. Commission Rule 20 CSR 4240-20.090(8)(A)2.A(XI) provides that extraordinary costs are not to be passed through the company's FAC.
- P. The securitization statute, Section 393.1700.2(3)(c) requires a financing order issued by the Commission to include all of the following elements:
 - a. The amount of securitized utility tariff costs to be financed using securitized utility tariff bonds and a finding that recovery of such costs is just and reasonable and in the public interest. The commission shall describe and estimate the amount of financing costs that may be recovered through securitized utility tariff charges and specify the period over which securitized utility tariff costs and financing costs may be recovered;
 - b. A finding that the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of a securitized utility tariff charge are just and reasonable and in the public interest and are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds. Notwithstanding any provisions of this section to the contrary, in considering whether to find the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of a securitized utility tariff charge are just and reasonable and in the public interest, the commission may consider previous instances where it has issued financing orders to the petitioning

³³ In the Matter of The Empire District Electric Company's Tariffs to Increase Rates for Electric Service Provided to Customers in the Missouri Service Area of the Company, 17, Mo. P.S.C. 631, 667 (2008)

electrical corporation and such electrical corporation has previously issued securitized utility tariff bonds; ... (emphasis added)

There are two important provisions of this section of the statute that should be noted. First, the section explicitly requires the Commission to determine that the imposition and collection of the utility tariff charge that will result from the securitization of these costs will be just and reasonable and in the public interest. Second, in making its determination as to whether the securitization of these costs is just and reasonable and in the public interest, the Commission is directed to compare the results of the securitization to the results of a recovery of those costs using traditional (non-securitization) methods.

Q. Liberty asserts that it has a general right to recover all prudently incurred costs. The Missouri Supreme Court has found otherwise. In a 2021 case, *Spire Missouri, Inc. v. Public Service Commission*,³⁴ Spire Missouri challenged the Commission's decision to disallow a portion of the company's prudently incurred cost of pursuing its general rate case. In upholding the Commission's decision, the Supreme Court said:

In terms of their reasonableness, these expenditures were entitled to a presumption of prudence, and the *prudence* of the expenditures was never called into question. Nonetheless, the PSC concluded that including all of these expenditures in setting Spire's future rates was not *just* because some of the expenses were not fair to ratepayers in that they were incurred to benefit (if anyone) Spire's shareholders. Implicit in Spire's argument is an assertion that it is entitled to recover all prudent expenditures in its rates. This is not so. In setting rates the PSC has broad discretion to include or exclude expenditures to arrive at rates it deems to be 'just and reasonable,' subject, of course, to judicial review that the PSC's conclusions are supported by competent and substantial evidence and not arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion. (Internal citations omitted. Emphasis in original.)

³⁴ 618 S.W.3d 225 (Mo. banc 2021).

Decision

Under customary methods of ratemaking, Liberty would recover its Winter Storm Uri related fuel and purchased power costs by starting with its FAC. Liberty's FAC includes a 95/5 sharing provision by which the company recovers 95 percent of those costs. In the rate cases in which Liberty's FAC was established, the Commission found that the sharing mechanism was necessary to ensure the company had sufficient financial incentive and motivation to operate at maximum efficiency. The same financial incentives and motivations apply in the situation facing Liberty during Winter Storm Uri.

The prudence of Liberty's decisions relating to Winter Storm Uri will be addressed in subsequent issues, but for this issue, prudence is not relevant. The securitization statute specifically requires the Commission to compare the results of securitization to the results under traditional methods of cost recovery. It also requires the Commission to find that the imposition and collection of the utility tariff charge resulting from the securitization of these costs will be just and reasonable and in the public interest.

The Commission finds that allowing Liberty to use securitization to recover the five percent of its fuel and purchased power costs related to Winter Storm Uri that it would not be permitted to recover under traditional methods of rate making is not just and reasonable, nor is it in the public interest.

E) Should Liberty's recovery reflect an offset based on higher than normal customer revenues received by Liberty during Winter Storm Uri?

Findings of Fact

26. During the abnormally cold weather resulting from Winter Storm Uri, Liberty sold more electricity than it would have sold during a normal February. Staff compared

Liberty's actual revenues to its expected revenues during a normal February and concluded that Liberty collected \$2,760,686 in "excess" revenues. Staff proposes to use this amount of "excess" revenue to partially offset the "Qualified Extraordinary Costs" incurred by Liberty.³⁵

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

Decision

As the Commission previously concluded, the securitization statute requires the Commission to find that the recovery of costs to be financed using securitized utility tariff bonds is just and reasonable and in the public interest. Staff seeks to use this requirement to justify the offset of \$2,760,688 in "excess" revenues. Staff's proposal is not justified.

The securitization statute defines what is to be treated as a qualified extraordinary cost and that definition does not call for any offset of revenues against those costs. This is the same argument that Liberty raised against the inclusion of a five percent reduction in fuel and purchased power discussed in the previous issue. But that argument is applicable here, while it was not in the other circumstance.

The difference is that Staff's theory of offsetting revenue would not be a part of the company's recovery under traditional ratemaking. In traditional ratemaking no revenue adjustment is made for the effect of past weather. If a summer is hot and an electric company sells a lot of electricity to run air conditioners, no adjustment is made to reduce the company's rates to retroactively claw back that "excess" revenue. Similarly, the company would not be allowed to increase its rates to remedy the shortfall in expected

³⁵ Lange Rebuttal, Ex. 108, Page 33, Lines 11-16. *See also, McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 5, Lines 12-17.*

revenue that would result from a cooler than normal summer. Going forward a company's future rates would be normalized to account for the effect of weather, but that weather normalization would affect future rates, and would not be used to balance out the effect on revenue resulting from past weather.

Staff's proposal is not founded in traditional ratemaking and the proposed offsetting of qualified extraordinary costs eligible for securitization under the securitization statute would not be just and reasonable. Staff's proposed offset is rejected.

F) Should Liberty's recovery reflect an offset based on revenues that Liberty's Riverton 11 unit should have generated during Winter Storm Uri, and, if so, how much?

Findings of Fact

- 27. Riverton Unit 11 is a 1966 Westinghouse W191 dual fuel turbine that Liberty purchased used. The turbine was placed into service in 1988 at the Riverton generating station in Riverton, Kansas.³⁶
- 28. Riverton Unit 11, and its sister unit, Riverton Unit 10, each with a generating capacity of 15 MW, run on natural gas as a primary fuel, but are capable for running on fuel oil (diesel) as a backup fuel source.³⁷
- 29. Due to air permit restrictions imposed by the Kansas Department of Health and Environment, Riverton Units 10 and 11 do not routinely operate on fuel oil.³⁸

³⁶ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 5, Lines 1-3.

³⁷ Hull Rebuttal, Ex. 105, Page 2, Lines 3-7.

³⁸ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 5, Lines 20-26.

- 30. The use of fuel oil in Riverton Units 10 and 11 is permitted only under the following conditions:
 - a. The natural gas delivery system must break down and the required gas supply become unavailable to Liberty;
 - b. The power requirements from the Riverton station cannot be assumed by power generating equipment other than Unit 10 and Unit 11; and
 - c. The owner or operator shall be permitted to use distillate fuel oils as needed to meet the black start testing requirements by any Federal or State regulatory agency. Water injection will not be required during black start testing. None of the electricity produced during the black start testing shall be sold on the bulk electric system.³⁹
- 31. Riverton Unit 10 was on forced outage beginning on February 8, 2021, before Winter Storm Uri, and was not available for use at any time during the storm.⁴⁰
- 32. On February 12, 2021, at the start of Winter Storm Uri, Riverton Unit 11 was forced into outage due to a limited natural gas supply.⁴¹
- 33. Liberty notified the Kansas Department of Health and Environment of the emergency conditions on the morning of February 15, 2021, and the Kansas authorities authorized the use of fuel oil to power Riverton Unit 11 at that time.⁴²
- 34. After receiving permission to use fuel oil to power Riverton Unit 11, Liberty unsuccessfully attempted to start that unit, beginning at 12:01 p.m. on February 15, 2021. Liberty tried to start the unit another 26 times over the next 28 hours but it would not start.⁴³

³⁹ Hull Rebuttal, Ex. 105, Page 3, Lines 12-22. These limitations are found in the Kansas air permit, pages 11-12. That permit is attached to Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Schedule BM-2.

⁴⁰ Hull Rebuttal, Ex. 105, Page 3, Lines 3-5.

⁴¹ Hull Rebuttal, Ex. 105, Page 3, Lines 6-7.

⁴² Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 7, Lines 11-15.

⁴³ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 7, Lines 11-17

- 35. At the time Liberty began trying to start Riverton Unit 11 the temperature as measured by the plant's weather station was -0.7 degrees Fahrenheit. These are difficult conditions in which to start a turbine on diesel fuel.⁴⁴ The extreme cold was likely the reason the unit would not start.⁴⁵
- 36. Electric production from Riverton Unit 11 would have been very valuable during Winter Storm Uri. Staff calculated that Liberty had enough fuel oil in storage at Riverton to allow Riverton Unit 11 to run for a set number of hours during Winter Storm Uri. Staff then calculated a price for that available run time from February 15 using hourly day ahead locational market prices published by the SPP integrated resource market at Liberty's Riverton node. Staff took the sum of the prices for the amount of hours Riverton Unit 11 could have run and multiplied it by the 15 MW of electricity that the unit could have produced if it has been able to start, and calculated that Liberty had lost the opportunity to earn several million dollars in sales revenue for its customers if Riverton Unit 11 had been able to start. Staff proposed that the amount that Liberty might have earned if Riverton Unit 11 had been started be disallowed from Liberty's recovery because Liberty's failure to tune the unit for operation in winter ambient temperatures was imprudent.
- 37. Public Counsel noted that Staff's proposed disallowance was based on the number of hours that Riverton Unit 11 could have run using the amount of available fuel oil. The fuel oil tanks at Riverton were not full at the start of Winter Storm Uri. If the fuel

⁴⁴ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 7, Lines 18-24.

⁴⁵ Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 197, Lines 6-13.

⁴⁶ Hull Rebuttal, Ex. 105, Page 7, Lines 3-17. The description of the disallowance proposed by Staff and Public Counsel is deliberately vague because the details of Liberty's black start capabilities and the related numbers are designated as confidential or highly confidential.

⁴⁷ Hull Rebuttal, Ex. 105, Page 8, Lines 8-11.

oil tanks had been full, Riverton Unit 11 could have been run longer and earned more money. On the basis that Liberty's failure to keep its fuel oil tanks full was imprudent, Public Counsel calculated that the disallowance proposed by Staff should have been substantially larger. Public Counsel proposed a disallowance in that larger amount. ⁴⁸

38. Liberty's witness, Dr. Brian Mushimba, who is the Senior Director for Generation Operations – Central Region for Liberty, and holds a Ph.D. in engineering,⁴⁹ credibly explained:

tuning a generation turbine is a complex task of adjustment or modification of the internal combustion of the engine of the unit to yield optimal performance and efficiency at given ambient temperatures. It's an iterative process that ensures that at a given ambient temperature, the fuel-oxygen ratio and the subsequent combustion is optimal and the resultant energy output is maximized while controlling undesirable byproducts of the combustion, such as emissions.⁵⁰

- 39. The tuning process requires several months of advance planning to implement.⁵¹ Further, in order to tune the unit for use at a particular temperature, the ambient air must be at that temperature. In other words, to tune the unit to sub-zero temperatures, the air temperature must be sub-zero.⁵²
- 40. Tuning a unit to operate on natural gas does not improve the performance of the unit when operating on fuel oil.⁵³

⁴⁸ Robinett Surrebuttal, Ex. 211, Pages 4-5, Lines 3-22, 1-18.

⁴⁹ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 1, Lines 12-13. In contrast to Dr. Mushimba's training as an engineer and experience regarding operation of electrical generating units, Staff's witness, Jordan T. Hull, has a degree in biological engineering, and has never been responsible for tuning or starting a combustion turbine such as Riverton Unit 11. Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 310, Lines 16-19.

⁵⁰ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 5, Lines 5-12.

⁵¹ Transcript, Vol. 3, Pages 202-203, 2-25, 1-6.

⁵² Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 194, Lines 3-10.

⁵³ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 7, Lines 1-10.

- 41. Liberty's air permit from the Kansas Department of Health and Environment did not authorize the burning of fuel oil for the purpose of tuning Riverton Unit 11.⁵⁴
- 42. As previously found, Liberty's air permit does allow for the burning of fuel oil to meet black start testing requirements.⁵⁵
- 43. A black start is a circumstance in which a utility must restart its electrical generating system after a blackout. Most electrical generating units require flowing electricity to be able to start. In a total blackout no flowing electricity will be available, so a black start unit must be able to begin generating electricity on its own, which it can then send into the distribution system to restart additional generation units.⁵⁶
- 44. Black start testing is not the same as tuning and is an involved process that cannot be undertaken in an emergency situation.⁵⁷
- 45. Riverton Unit 11 was not designated with SPP as a black start unit at the time of Winter Storm Uri.⁵⁸

Conclusions of Law

R. The disallowance proposed by Staff and Public Counsel challenges the prudence of Liberty's decision not to tune Riverton Unit 11 to operate at the extremely cold temperatures experienced during Winter Storm Uri. The Commission has described its prudence standard as follows:

The company's conduct should be judged by asking whether the conduct was reasonable at the time, under all circumstances, considering that the

⁵⁴ Mushimba, Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Page 6, Lines 6-7.

⁵⁵ As previously indicated much of the testimony surrounding black start capabilities is confidential or highly confidential.

⁵⁶ Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 192, Lines 13-22.

⁵⁷ Transcript, Vol. 4 (confidential), Pages. 3-15. Dr. Mushimba described the black start testing requirements in detail during in camera portions of the hearing.

⁵⁸ Mushimba Surrebuttal, Ex. 10, Pages 8-9, Lines 7-24, 1-16. Dr. Mushimba provides much more detail about the designation of black start units in his testimony, but that testimony is designated as confidential.

company had to solve its problems prospectively rather than in reliance on hindsight. In effect, our responsibility is to determine how reasonable people would have performed the tasks that confronted the company.⁵⁹

- S. The Commission's prudence standard also presumes that a utility's costs have been prudently incurred. However, that presumption does not survive a showing of inefficiency or improvidence. If some other participant in the proceeding creates "a serious doubt as to the prudence of an expenditure, then the applicant has the burden of dispelling these doubts and proving the questioned expenditure to have been prudent." 60
- T. The Commission's prudence standard has subsequently been recognized by reviewing courts.⁶¹
- U. Liberty's witness, John J. Reed, provides a succinct description of the regulatory prudence standard in his surrebuttal testimony. The Commission will adopt that description:

The standard for the evaluation of whether costs are, or are not, prudently incurred is built on four principles. First, prudence relates to actions and decisions. Costs themselves are neither prudent nor imprudent. It is the decision or action that led to cost incurrence that must be reviewed and assessed, not the results of those decisions. In other words, prudence is a measure of the quality of decision-making, and does not reflect how the decisions turned out. The second feature is a presumption of prudence, which is often referred to as a rebuttable presumption. The burden of showing that a decision is outside of the reasonable bounds falls, at least initially, on the party challenging the utility's actions. The third feature is the total exclusion of hindsight from a properly constructed prudence review. A utility's decisions must be judged based upon what was known or reasonably knowable at the time of the decision being made by the utility.

⁶⁰ Union Electric. at 193

⁵⁹ In the Matter of Union Electric Company of St. Louis, Missouri, for authority to file tariffs increasing rates for electric service provided to customers in the Missouri service area of the Company, and In the Matter of the determination of in-service criteria for the Union Electric Company's Callaway Nuclear Plant and Callaway rate base and related issues, 27 Mo. P.S.C. (N.S.) 164, 194 (1984), quoting, In re. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. 45 P.U.R., 4th, 1982.

⁶¹ See, e.g., State ex rel. Associated Natural Gas Co. v. Pub. Serv. Com'n, 954 S.W. 2d 520 (Mo. App. W.D. 1997. See also. Office of Public Counsel v. Mo. Pub. Serv. Com'n, 409 S.W.3d 371 (Mo. banc 2013) (A presumption of prudence is appropriately applied in arms-length transactions, but not in transactions with affiliates.)

Information that was not known or reasonably knowable at the time of the decision being made cannot be considered in evaluating the reasonableness of a decision and subsequent information on "how things turned out" cannot influence the evaluation of the prudence of a decision. The final feature is that decisions being reviewed need to be compared to a range of reasonable behavior; prudence does not require perfection, nor does prudence require achieving the lowest possible cost. This standard recognizes that reasonable people can differ and that there is a range of reasonable actions and decisions that is consistent with prudence. Simply put, a decision can only be labelled as imprudent if it can be shown that such a decision was outside the bounds of what a reasonable person would have done under those circumstances.⁶²

Decision

Liberty could have made substantial off-system sales if it had been able to start operating Riverton Unit 11 on fuel oil during the supply disruptions and resulting high electricity market prices occasioned by Winter Storm Uri. Staff and Public Counsel argue that Liberty would have been able to start that unit on fuel oil if it had properly tuned the unit on fuel oil to the type of temperatures likely to be encountered in the winter months. That argument is not supported by the evidence.

First, Liberty's air permit from the Kansas Department of Health and Environment did not allow Liberty to burn fuel oil in Riverton Unit 11 except in specified emergency conditions, the most important being that the natural gas supply for the turbine must have become unavailable. During Winter Storm Uri the natural gas supply did indeed become unavailable and the Kansas authorities responded by allowing Liberty to burn fuel oil in that unit. Unfortunately, despite repeated efforts, Liberty was unable to start the unit on fuel oil.

⁶² Reed Surrebuttal, Ex. 1, Pages 7-8, Lines 5-24, 1-2.

The Kansas air permit did allow Liberty to burn fuel oil to "meet the black start testing requirements by any Federal or State regulatory agency." However, Riverton Unit 11 was not designated as a black start unit with SPP at the time of Winter Storm Uri, so no black start testing requirements would have been applicable to that unit. As a result, the exceptions contained in the Kansas air permit would not have applied, and Liberty was forbidden to burn fuel oil in the unit.

In any event, black start testing is not the same as tuning. There was no evidence that black start testing would have to be done at any particular time of the year. Thus, black start testing could have been performed during the summer, or even during more moderate winter weather, and Liberty still would not have discovered that the unit would not start on fuel oil at sub-zero temperatures.

In summary, Liberty's air permit from Kansas authorities did not allow Liberty to burn fuel oil in Riverton Unit 11 for purpose of tuning that unit to operate during extremely cold weather. The Commission will not find that Liberty was imprudent for failing to violate that air permit. Even if Liberty had been permitted to tune the unit using fuel oil rather than natural gas, there is no indication that tuning the unit would have made any difference in Liberty's ability to start the unit on fuel oil in sub-zero temperatures.

Public Counsel's argument that Liberty was imprudent in not ensuring that its fuel oil tanks at Riverton were kept full before Winter Storm Uri is an extension of Staff's argument that Liberty was imprudent in failing to tune Riverton Unit 11 to operate in winter weather conditions. Since Staff's argument fails, Public Counsel's extension of that argument must also fail.

There was no evidence presented that would support a finding of imprudence, and the Commission will make no adjustments on that basis.

G) Should Liberty's recovery reflect a disallowance based on Liberty's resource planning?

Findings of Fact

- 46. Liberty is a member of the Southwest Power Pool (SPP).
- 47. Utilities that are members of an RTO commonly rely on market purchases as one source of generation in their portfolio.⁶³
- 48. Liberty is in compliance with SPP's Resource Adequacy requirements,⁶⁴ meaning Liberty needs to have accredited capacity 12 percent greater than its forecasted peak load.⁶⁵
- 49. SPP uses complex and accepted methodologies to develop its resource adequacy requirements, including a biennial Loss of Load Expectation study with a "one day in ten year" criterion for determining reserve margins for resource adequacy requirements.⁶⁶
- 50. Near the start of 2020,⁶⁷ Liberty retired its 200 MW Asbury coal plant.⁶⁸ The prudence of that retirement will be addressed in more detail later in this order with regard to securitization of Energy Transition Costs.

⁶³ Reed Surrebuttal, Ex. 1, Page 15, Lines 16-17.

⁶⁴ Doll Direct, Ex. 2, Page 8, Lines 4-5.

⁶⁵ Mantle Rebuttal, Ex. 200, Page 24, Lines 6-7.

⁶⁶ Doll Surrebuttal, Ex. 4, Page 17, Lines 11-14.

⁶⁷ The exact retirement date is at issue in other aspects of this case.

⁶⁸ Doll Surrebuttal, Ex. 4, Page 4, Line 20.

51. Liberty undertook an analysis of Asbury's economics in both 2017 and 2019, finding in its 2019 Integrated Resource Plan that retiring Asbury would result in significant savings for Liberty's customers.⁶⁹

Conclusions of Law

V. The Commission's electric utility resource planning rule, 20 CSR 4240-22.010(2) states in part:

The fundamental objective of the resource planning process at electric utilities shall be to provide the public with energy services that are safe, reliable, and efficient, at just and reasonable rates, in compliance with all legal mandates, and in a manner that serves the public interest and is consistent with state energy and environmental policies. ...

Decision

Public Counsel argues that Liberty's decision to retire its Asbury coal-fired plant was imprudent. The aspect of that decision that is at issue regarding Liberty's recovery of Winter Storm Uri fuel costs is Public Counsel's allegation that Liberty imprudently failed to plan to secure and retain sufficient capacity that it controls to meet the needs of its customers independent of its membership in, and purchases from, SPP. Public Counsel points to the unique circumstances that occurred during Winter Storm Uri to argue that Liberty should not have relied on the collective capacity available in the SPP market to serve its load, because, as shown by the events of Uri, that capacity can become very expensive when SPP's available capacity becomes strained.

No doubt, if Liberty had more capacity available to sell into the SPP market during Winter Storm Uri, it could have earned enough from those sales to offset the fuel costs that it now seeks to securitize. But that fact is entirely based on perfect hindsight. Liberty

⁶⁹ Doll Direct, Ex. 3, Page 3, Lines 20-22.

planned to have sufficient capacity to meet all requirements established by SPP. Other than showing a bad result, Public Counsel has not demonstrated any imprudence in Liberty's planning process. The Commission will not impose the disallowance proposed by Public Counsel.

H) Should Liberty's recovery reflect a disallowance for income tax deductions for Winter Storm Uri costs?

Findings of Fact

52. Public Counsel asserts that Liberty expects to claim a Missouri jurisdictional tax deduction of \$204,500,939 on the 2021 consolidated income tax return,⁷⁰ resulting in a tax savings due to the Winter Storm Uri loss of \$48,753,024. Public Counsel would gross that amount up to \$64,012,720 and add carrying charges to bring the total reduction to \$68,346,382.⁷¹ Public Counsel argues this tax benefit should be recognized as a reduction in the amount of securitization.⁷²

53. Public Counsel incorrectly asserts that the proceeds Liberty will receive from the securitization bonds are not taxable, so the company will be compensated, yet still enjoy a tax break for the loss.⁷³ In fact, the charges that will be used to pay the bonds is taxed as income to the utility.⁷⁴ Public Counsel's witness acknowledged that fact in his testimony at the hearing.⁷⁵

54. The tax treatment of Winter Storm Uri losses may create a tax timing issue that will result in an adjustment of Accumulate Deferred Income Tax (ADIT) as an offset

⁷⁰ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 21, Lines 10-11.

⁷¹ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 21, Lines 15-19.

⁷² Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 21, Lines 12-13

⁷³ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 22, Lines 11-13.

⁷⁴ Bolin Surrebuttal, Ex. 103, Page 5, Lines 5-9.

⁷⁵ Transcript, Vol. 5, Page 391, Lines 6-14.

to Liberty's rate base. Customers do not receive the recorded amount of the ADIT liability, instead, they benefit because ADIT liability reduces rate base and customers are charged a lower revenue requirement reflecting the lower cost of capital.⁷⁶

Conclusions of Law

- W. Public Counsel's witness cites two provisions of the securitization statute to support his suggestion to use Liberty's asserted tax deduction as an offset to the amount to be securitized for Qualified Extraordinary Costs related to Winter Storm Uri. First, he cites the definition of "Energy Transition Costs" in Section 393.1700.1(7), RSMo, which includes some provisions relating to tax benefits of accumulated and excess deferred income taxes. However, the Winter Storm Uri costs are Qualified Extraordinary Cost, not Energy Transition Costs, and the definition of such costs, found at Section 393.1700.1(13), RSMo, contains no provisions regarding income taxes.
- X. Public Counsel's witness also cites Section 393.1700.1(8), RSMo, which includes various taxes within the definition of "Financing Costs." Again, the costs in question are qualified extraordinary costs, not financing costs.
- Y. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)m calls for special treatment of ADIT, but only for energy transition costs and qualified extraordinary expenses that include retired or abandoned facility costs. Those provision do not apply to Winter Storm Uri costs.
- Z. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)k, RSMo. requires that this order provide for a reconciliation process that would require Liberty to account for any potential tax benefits that may lower its actual securitized utility tariff costs associated with Winter Storm Uri through a future rate case.

⁷⁶ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 38, Lines 12-19.

Decision

Public Counsel's proposal that income tax deductions for Winter Storm Uri costs be disallowed from the costs to be securitized is not supported by the facts or the law, and the Commission will not make that disallowance.

I) What are the appropriate carrying costs for Winter Storm Uri? Findings of Fact

- 55. Liberty incurred Winter Storm Uri costs in February, 2021, but has not yet recovered those costs from its customers. The securitization statute allows Liberty to securitize and recover carrying costs. Liberty contends those carrying costs should be calculated at its Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC), 6.77 percent, which the Commission set in Liberty's 2019 rate case, File No. ER-2019-0374.⁷⁷
- 56. Staff agrees that Liberty must be allowed to recover carrying costs for Winter Storm Uri, but contends those carrying costs should be calculated using Liberty's long-term debt rate of 4.65 percent.⁷⁸
- 57. The Winter Storm Uri costs are operating costs, not capital improvements or replacements to existing plant and equipment. It is inappropriate for Liberty to be allowed a profit on expenditures for the purchase of energy, as it would if carrying costs were calculated using its WACC.⁷⁹
- 58. Public Counsel contends carrying costs should be recovered at Liberty's short-term cost of debt as they will, in fact be carried for less than two years.⁸⁰

⁷⁷ Hall Direct, Ex. 6, Page 4, Lines 14-20.

⁷⁸ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 4, Lines 11-16. (As corrected at Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 211.)

⁷⁹ Murray Rebuttal, Ex. 206, Page 3, Lines 20-23.

⁸⁰ Murray Rebuttal, Ex. 206, Page 6, Lines 1-17.

59. Public Counsel argues the short-term debt rate used should be Liberty's parent company's (LUCo's) average short-term debt rate for each month, starting with the financing of Winter Storm Uri costs in February 2021 until the securitized bonds are issued.⁸¹

Conclusions of Law

AA. Section 393.1700.1(13), which defines "qualified extraordinary costs" for purposes of the securitization statute, specifically states that such costs include carrying charges. The statute does not further define carrying charges.

Decision

The Commission believes that Staff's proposal to calculate carrying costs for Winter Storm Uri related costs at Liberty's long-term debt rate of 4.65 percent is most appropriate because the costs to be securitized are not capital costs and there is no reason Liberty should be allowed to earn a profit on those costs. Public Counsel's proposal to use monthly short-term debt rates for the purposes of calculating carrying costs is also inappropriate as the term to which the short-term debt rates would be applied is a period approaching two years.

J) What is the appropriate discount rate to use in calculating the net present value of Winter Storm Uri costs that would be recovered through customary ratemaking?

Findings of Fact

60. Staff's witness, Mark Davis, an investment banker, offered his opinion that a reasonable discount rate to use for Winter Storm Uri costs is the company's long-term cost of debt of 4.65 percent.⁸²

⁸¹ Murray Rebuttal, Ex. 206, Pages 7-8, Lines 12-15, 1-4. (As corrected at Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 501.)

⁸² Transcript, Vol. 7, Pages 614-615, Lines 22-25-1.

Conclusions of Law

BB. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)b requires that this financing order make a finding that the proposed securitization is expected to "provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers" as compared to recovery of those costs without the issuance of the securitized bonds. In order to make that comparison, the Commission must determine the appropriate discount rate to be used in the calculations of the amounts that would be recovered without securitization.

Decision

This issue simply asks what discount rate should be plugged into a formula to determine whether securitization would be a benefit to Liberty's customers. It does not have a direct impact on the amount that Liberty should be allowed to recover through securitization. The Commission believes the appropriate discount rate to use in calculating the net present value of Winter Storm Uri costs that would be recovered through customary ratemaking is Liberty's long-term debt rate of 4.65 percent as proposed by Staff witness Mark Davis.

3) Asbury

A) How much of the amounts, if any, that Liberty is seeking to securitize for Asbury would Liberty recover through traditional ratemaking?

Findings of Fact

61. Staff witness Amanda McMellen testified that Liberty's total energy transition costs, including carrying costs, should be \$66,107,823.83

⁸³ Ex. 113, Page 1, Line 1.

Conclusions of Law

CC. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)b, RSMo requires the Commission to find that the securitization process are expected to provide net present value benefits to customers when compared to recovery of costs through other, traditional methods of ratemaking.

Decision

It is not clear why this question was identified as a separate issue by the parties. Staff suggests that Liberty should not be allowed to recover energy transition costs aside from what it would be able to recover through traditional ratemaking. Staff then argues that the amount Liberty should be allowed to recover will be determined by the answers to the other identified issues. No other party addresses this issue in their briefs. The Commission agrees that the total energy transition costs will be determined by the answers to the other identified issues and concludes a separate finding about this particular issue is not needed.

- B) What is the appropriate method of customary ratemaking absent securitization? and
- C) Under RSMo 393.1700.2(1)(f), what is the "traditional method of financing"? What are the costs that would result "from the application of the traditional method of financing and recovering the undepreciated investment of facilities that may become securitized utility tariff costs from customers"?

Findings of Fact

62. In compliance with the Commission's order in the company's 2019 rate case, File No. ER-2019-0374, Liberty established a regulatory liability account to track the costs associated with the retiring of Asbury.⁸⁴

⁸⁴ Emery Direct, Ex. 7, Page 6, Lines 4-24.

63. In traditional ratemaking, Liberty would include the various components of the Asbury retirement costs as regulatory asset and liability balances in its rate base total or in its proposed revenue requirements. Those costs would be amortized over a period of time.⁸⁵ Liberty suggests that amortization would be over a thirteen-year period,⁸⁶ and that amortization period was accepted by Staff.⁸⁷

Conclusions of Law

DD. Section 393.1700.2(1)(f) requires a petition to securitize energy transition costs to include:

A comparison between the net present value of the cost to customers that are estimated to result from the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the costs that would result from the application of the traditional method of financing and recovering the undepreciated investment of facilities that may become securitized utility tariff costs from customers. The comparison should demonstrate that the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition of securitized utility tariff charges are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers.

EE. Similarly, Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)b, RSMo requires the Commission to find that the securitization process is expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers when compared to recovery of costs through other, traditional methods of ratemaking.

Decision

The question presented in these issues is essentially the same, so they will be addressed together. The traditional method of ratemaking would occur through a general rate case and would entail amortization of the costs to be recovered over a period of years with the company being allowed to recover its carrying costs during the period of

⁸⁵ Emery Direct, Ex. 7, Page 7, Lines 8-16.

⁸⁶ Emery Direct, Ex. 7, Page 20, Lines 5-9.

⁸⁷ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 8, Lines 18-19.

amortization. In this case, the parties agree that a thirteen-year amortization would be appropriate. The amount that would be recovered will be determined through the answers to subsequent issues. The net present value comparison required by the statute will be addressed in issue number five.

D) What is the net book value of the retired Asbury plant?

Findings of Fact

- 64. Liberty's witness, Charlotte Emery, credibly testified that the net book value of the retired Asbury plant is \$159,414,474. That number is comprised of a net retired plant balance of \$157,740,873, and \$1,673,601 representing the value of two Asbury environmental capital projects that were abandoned when the plant was retired.⁸⁸
 - 65. Staff accepts the net book value amount proposed by Liberty. 89
- 66. Public Counsel's witness, John S. Riley, proposed to use a net book value of \$155,044,297. He took that number from testimony submitted by a Liberty witness in the company's recent rate case.⁹⁰
- 67. Liberty's witness testified that the number referenced by Public Counsel represented the company's projection of how much of the Asbury generating plant would be retained compared to the actual net book value of the plant as of January 2020.⁹¹
- 68. The net book value of the Asbury plant is a factor in the calculation of the Asbury securitization revenue requirement.⁹²

⁸⁸ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 26, Lines 1-13. The environmental capital projects are addressed in issue 3 P of this order.

⁸⁹ Ex. 113, Page 2, Line 1.

⁹⁰ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 7, Lines 10-13.

⁹¹ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 25, Lines 14-23.

⁹² Ex. 113, Page 2, Line 1.

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

Decision

The \$159,414,474 net book value of the Asbury plant proposed by Liberty and accepted by Staff is the more reasonable calculation of that value. Public Counsel's reliance on an alternative number drawn from testimony in another case that is not part of the record in this case, is not reliable.

E) Was it reasonable and prudent for Liberty to retire Asbury?

Findings of Fact

- 69. Asbury Unit 1 was a coal-fired Babcock & Wilcox cyclone steam generator that was commissioned in 1970. When it began operations, it had a nominal rating of 206 MW and sourced its coal onsite via mine mouth operation. In 1990, the plant was converted to use a blend of low-sulfur Wyoming coal and local bituminous coal⁹³
- 70. A selective catalytic reduction system was installed at Asbury in 2008 to reduce nitrogen oxide emissions at a cost of \$33 million.⁹⁴ In 2014, the Asbury plant was retrofitted with an AQCS to comply with the federal Mercury Air Toxic Standards and the Cross State Air Pollution Rule.⁹⁵
- 71. The AQCS included the addition of a circulating dry scrubber to reduce sulfur dioxide emissions, a pulsejet fabric filter to reduce particulate emissions, powder activated carbon injection to control mercury emissions, conversion from forced draft to

⁹³ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 3, Lines 12-18.

⁹⁴ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 6, Lines 8-9.

⁹⁵ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 4, Lines 11-20.

balanced draft, a new stack, and the upgrade of the steam turbine to increase efficiency.

The upgraded steam turbine increased nominal output of the unit to 218 MW.⁹⁶

- 72. The AQCS cost \$141 million in 2014.97
- 73. Asbury was de-designated from the SPP and officially retired in March of 2020.98
- 74. Both the selective catalytic reduction system and the AQCS were reviewed by the Commission and allowed into Liberty's rate base.⁹⁹ Together, these systems account for 73 percent of Liberty's total undepreciated investment in Asbury.¹⁰⁰
- 75. Liberty's 2016 Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) study favored continued operation of Asbury until 2035. But, beginning in 2017, studies showed less economic support for continued operation of Asbury. By 2019, Liberty's IRP showed that retirement of Asbury became the less expensive option when compared to continuing to operate the plant. According to that study, retiring Asbury resulted in savings over maintaining Asbury until its end of life, 94 percent of the time, on a probability-weighted basis. Calculated savings ranged from \$18 million to \$144 million, with an estimated savings of \$93 million on a 20-year expected value basis.
- 76. In 2019, when the decision was made to retire Asbury, Liberty had a winter peak reserve margin of 391 MW, about 35 percent more than is typically needed. That

⁹⁶ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 4, Lines 15-20.

⁹⁷ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 6, Line 10.

⁹⁸ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 5, Lines 15-17.

⁹⁹ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 6, Lines 17-18.

¹⁰⁰ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Pages 6-7, Lines 22, 1-2.

¹⁰¹ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Pages 9-10, Lines 9-23, 1-16.

¹⁰² Doll Direct, Ex. 3, Page 16, Lines 15-21.

meant that if Asbury were retired, Liberty would still have reserve margins above the reliability requirement throughout the projected 20-year planning window.¹⁰³

77. Power plants are scheduled and dispatched to collectively provide the right amount of power needed across a large area at any instant in time. The market system, operated by SPP, generally dispatches the least costly generating plant to satisfy total load. The result of this process is generally to dispatch the cheapest plants first. Hydro power or renewables such as wind and solar, which have no fuel costs, are often dispatched first, followed by nuclear and whichever coal or efficient gas plant is next cheapest. Finally, relatively inefficient, older plants will be dispatched. In a market region like SPP, the marginal costs of the last plant dispatched in any hour sets the market price paid to all the units then operating.¹⁰⁴

78. Asbury's position on the SPP supply curve grew progressively worse between 2010 and 2019, primarily due to decreasing natural gas prices and declining cost and increasing penetration of renewable generation.¹⁰⁵ In addition, Asbury's marginal cost to operate had become higher than the majority of coal units in SPP. That meant it had become uneconomic for Liberty to run Asbury for much of the time.¹⁰⁶

79. Before 2016, Liberty had self-committed Asbury to operate as a baseload plant. It did that to meet the obligations of its coal transportation contract, which required Liberty to take minimum delivery quantities. In 2016, Liberty renegotiated its coal

¹⁰³ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 14, Lines 5-14.

¹⁰⁴ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 17, Footnote 19.

¹⁰⁵ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Pages 26-27, Lines 15-19, 1-7.

¹⁰⁶ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 27, Lines 8-12.

transportation contract to remove the minimum delivery requirements. Thereafter, Asbury was dispatched in response to market signals.¹⁰⁷

- 80. Self-commitment allowed Asbury to operate more consistently, but it also increased the risk that the unit would operate uneconomically. When a utility self-commits a particular unit, it is telling the market that this unit will run no matter what. That commitment also means that the self-committed unit will be paid at the market rate, not at its actual cost to operate. So, if the market rate is set by a lower-cost unit, such as a renewable resource, the self-committed unit will operate at a loss.¹⁰⁸
- 81. By 2015, Asbury was showing negative net operating margins, and Liberty stopped self-committing Asbury in October 2016. 110
- 82. After it discontinued self-committing Asbury, the unit's annual capacity factor began to decline as the market selected units with better heat rates, lower fuel costs, shorter start durations, shorter minimum downtimes, and faster ramp rates.¹¹¹
- 83. Despite efforts to improve its efficiency,¹¹² by 2019, Asbury's net capacity factor (a measure of how much a unit generates over time compared to how much it could generate if it ran at the top of its net capacity in that time) had dropped to 46.97 percent, compared to 76.42 percent in 2010.¹¹³
- 84. Based on heat rate, Asbury was the least efficient coal-fired unit in Liberty's fleet.¹¹⁴

¹⁰⁷ Rooney Direct, Ex. 11, Page 4, Lines 1-10.

¹⁰⁸ Transcript, Page 175-176, Lines 17-25, 1.

¹⁰⁹ Doll Direct, Ex. 3, Page 8, Lines 18-13.

¹¹⁰ Doll Direct, Ex. 3, Page 8, Lines 10-14.

¹¹¹ Rooney Direct, Ex. 11, Page 4, Lines 10-13.

¹¹² Doll Direct, Ex. 3, Page 12, Lines 6-20.

¹¹³ Doll Direct, Ex. 3, Page 11, Table AJD-2 and Lines 3-9.

¹¹⁴ Rooney Surrebuttal, Ex. 12, Page 2, Lines 19-20. See also, Transcript, Page 177, Lines 10-11.

- 85. The market forces that made Asbury's operation increasingly uneconomic also apply to other coal plants in the United States, such that a third of the U.S. coal fleet that was operating in 2012 has now retired.¹¹⁵
- 86. Liberty's 2019 IRP found that retiring Asbury in 2019 and replacing it with a mix of solar and storage would result in savings amounting to \$93 million on a 20-year expected value basis.¹¹⁶
- 87. Electric utilities choose resource options because they are expected to have the lowest costs in most, but not all circumstances. A prudent resource plan should be understood to be partially exposed to other alternatives that turn out to have lower costs in some, but not the majority of reasonably foreseeable planning scenarios.¹¹⁷
- 88. A utility's level of earnings is subject to periodic review and approval by regulators. If investments made by a utility result in unexpected gains through avoided costs or reduced risks, the utility will not be able to keep the upside profits beyond its next rate case. As a result, it would be unfair to assign downside losses to the utility simply because the investment loses its economic advantages before its costs are fully recovered from ratepayers, even if the particular investment is no longer used and useful.¹¹⁸
- 89. Had Liberty continued to operate Asbury, it was reasonable to anticipate that its customers would have paid more for the plant's increasingly higher costs relative to alternative resources. 119

¹¹⁵ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 29, Lines 11-13.

¹¹⁶ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 21, Lines 10-18.

¹¹⁷ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 43, Lines 13-21.

¹¹⁸ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Pages 45-46, Lines 20-24, 1-3.

¹¹⁹ Graves Surrebuttal, Ex. 17, Page 13, Lines 18-20.

- 90. Had Asbury continued to operate, Liberty would have had to spend an additional \$20 million to upgrade its coal ash handling facilities to comply with federal regulations. That additional investment was avoided when Asbury was closed. 120
- 91. A study relied upon by Liberty determined that by the time the decision was made to close Asbury, the plant had a \$134 million negative valuation, meaning if it were sold, Liberty would have to pay the "buyer" a substantial sum to purchase and operate the facility and assume all associated liabilities.¹²¹
- 92. Staff believes the early retirement of Asbury was just, reasonable and in the public interest, and the costs of that retirement should be recovered through securitization.¹²²
- 93. Renew Missouri believes securitizing the unrecovered costs related to the early retirement of Asbury serves the public interest and should be approved. 123

Conclusions of Law

The Commission's prudence standard was previously described in the Conclusions of Law relating to Winter Storm Uri costs in issue 2(F). That description will not be repeated here.

FF. The Commission's Electric Utility Resource Planning Rule, 20 CSR 4240-22, (the IRP rule), requires Missouri's investor-owned electric utilities, including Liberty, to file triennial reports identifying a preferred resource plan and resource

¹²⁰ Landoll Surrebuttal, Ex. 14. Page 8, Lines 5-16.

Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 11, Lines 7-11. The valuation number was described as confidential in Landoll's testimony, but was revealed in Doll Surrebuttal, Ex. 4, Page 5, Lines 13-16.

¹²² McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 6, Lines 1-3.

¹²³ Owen Surrebuttal, Ex. 400, Page 21, Lines 11-13.

acquisition strategy. The rule also requires the electric utilities to file annual update reports about those plans.

GG. The definition of "Energy Transition Costs" found in Section 393.1700.1(7)(a), RSMo requires that to qualify as such a cost, the retirement or abandonment of the subject electric generating facility must have been deemed reasonable and prudent by the commission through a final order issued by the commission.

HH. The definition of "Energy Transition Costs" found in Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) specifically states that such costs include the "undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith ..." That means such costs can be recovered through securitization even if a plant was retired or abandoned before its cost was fully depreciated because of an early retirement.

II. Missouri's anti-CWIP statute, Section 393.135, RSMo, does not preclude the Commission from allowing recovery of the cost of abandoned utility property. 124

Decision

The Commission's prudence standard requires that the prudence of Liberty's decision to close the Asbury plant be judged by asking whether the conduct was reasonable at the time it was made, based on the knowledge available to the decision makers while they were making their decision. A decision does not need to be perfect. Rather, that decision must fall within a range of reasonable decisions.

¹²⁴ State ex rel. Union Elec. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Com'n, 687 S.W.2d 162 (Mo. banc. 1985)

The facts, as the Commission has found them, demonstrate that Asbury was a fifty-year old coal-fired generating plant that could no longer effectively compete in the electrical generation marketplace. As a result, its continued operation had become uneconomic and a drain on both the company and its ratepayers.

The prudence of Liberty's decision to retire Asbury is challenged only by Public Counsel. Public Counsel argues in broad terms that Liberty deliberately chose to make Asbury uncompetitive in the SPP energy marketplace so that it could justify the building of what it describes as competing wind generation resources in order to pump up the utility's rate base. In addition, Public Counsel, largely relying on hindsight, contends that Liberty imprudently failed to account for the need for reliably dispatched generation in a Winter Storm Uri type situation. Neither argument is supported by the evidence in the record.

Based on the evidence that is in the record, the Commission deems Liberty's decision to retire Asbury when it did to be reasonable and prudent.

F) What is the value of the Asbury environmental regulatory assets? Findings of Fact

94. The amount at issue relates to the amounts paid by Liberty for removal of asbestos at Asbury, and costs associated with the operation of ash ponds at Asbury. Liberty recorded them in its books as a regulatory asset as it was ordered to do by the Commission in an earlier rate case. Since these were costs spent by Liberty for environmental activities at the Asbury plant, Staff agrees with Liberty that they be included in the Asbury securitized balance. 126

¹²⁵ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 27, Lines12-14.

¹²⁶ Bolin Surrebuttal, Ex. 103, Page 2, Lines 1-20.

- 95. Public Counsel's witness, John S. Riley, did not oppose recovery of these costs, but expressed concern that this amount is also included in an Asset Retirement Obligation (ARO) related to Coal Combustion Residual impoundment for which Liberty is also seeking recovery.¹²⁷
- 96. An ARO is an obligation, legal or non-legal, associated with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset for the cost of returning a piece of property to its original condition. AROs can be recognized either when the asset is placed in service or during its operational life when its removal obligation is incurred.¹²⁸
- 97. In her surrebuttal testimony, Liberty's witness, Charlotte Emery, explained that the amount at issue is related to the Asbury environmental regulatory asset costs that have been settled and paid by Liberty. The other ARO described by Public Counsel's witness represents additional costs Liberty expects to incur to complete the ARO for the coal ash ponds. The amount at issue will not be included in the other ARO.¹²⁹
 - 98. The amount at issue, updated through May 2022, is \$1,643,357.¹³⁰

JJ. The securitization statute, Section 393.1700.2,(3)(c)k allows the Commission to "specify a future rate making process to reconcile any differences between the actual securitized utility tariff costs financed by securitized utility tariff bonds and the final securitized utility tariff costs incurred by the electrical corporation. ..."

¹²⁷ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Pages 9-10, Lines 3-13, 1-9.

¹²⁸ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 9, Lines 8-11.

¹²⁹ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 28, Lines 12-18.

¹³⁰ Ex. 21, Schedule CTE-9 Asbury.

Decision

The Commission finds it is appropriate to allow Liberty to include the amount of \$1,643,357 in its securitized costs for Asbury environmental regulatory assets, as that amount is not also included in another ARO.

- G) What is the value of the Asbury fuel inventories? and
- Q) Should Liberty's recovery include basemat coal at Asbury?

These are the same issue stated in different ways and the Commission will address them together.

Findings of Fact

- 99. The coal pile at Asbury, or any other coal-fired generating facility includes a mat upon which the coal is piled. That mat is initially constructed of packed rock and or clay. The coal that is piled on the mat will, over the years, compress and mix into the mat as more coal is piled on top of the old coal.¹³¹
- 100. Basemat coal is the coal that has become compressed and mixed into the mat. As the utility scrapes the bottom of the pile it gets into the basemat coal/rock/clay mixture and the mixture can no longer be safely burned in the unit.¹³²
- 101. The cost of the coal that mixed into the basemat was incurred while the plant was operational, was necessary to operation of the plant, and its cost would not otherwise be recovered by Liberty.¹³³
- 102. There was no usable coal remaining at Asbury when it retired, but there was \$1,924,886 of basemat coal, of which the Missouri jurisdictional portion is \$1,532,832.¹³⁴ Liberty proposes to include this amount in the securitized costs associated with Asbury.

¹³¹ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 31, Lines 7-18.

¹³² Transcript, Vol. 2, Page 110, Lines 1-10.

¹³³ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 31,Lines 16-18.

¹³⁴ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 31, Line 1.

103. In Liberty's 2019 rate case, just before Asbury closed, the Commission allowed \$3,947,465 as coal inventory within the company's rate base, representing a 60-days burn of fuel. 135

104. In a stipulation and agreement in File No. ER-2020-0311, approved by the Commission on October 7, 2020, the parties agreed to defer the unrecoverable coal to FERC Account 182.3 for future ratemaking consideration.¹³⁶

105. Staff contends Liberty used the proper amount of \$1,532,832 as the value of the basemat coal to offset the \$3,947,465 coal inventory value within the AAO.¹³⁷

Conclusions of Law

KK. Energy transition costs as defined at Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) include "the undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned ... electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith."

Decision

There was no usable coal supply at Asbury at the commencement of the AAO tracker, but the unusable basemat coal was still there. The basemat coal was acquired by Liberty over the years and was included in the company's rate base along with the rest of its coal pile inventory. It would have recovered the value of that coal as an expense when the coal was burned. But, since the basemat coal was never burned, Liberty never recovered its cost. Consequently, the value of the basemat coal, \$1,532,832, falls within the statutory definition of energy transition costs and may be securitized.

¹³⁵ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Pages 11-12, Lines 23-25, 1-2.

¹³⁶ McMellen Surrebuttal, Ex. 101, Page 3, Liines 3-7.

¹³⁷ McMellen Surrebuttal, Ex. 101, Page 2, Lines 6-7.

H) What are the values of the Accumulated Deferred Income Tax (ADIT) and Excess ADIT?

Findings of Fact ADIT

- 106. The amounts calculated for the level of ADIT will vary depending upon the starting point of the calculated Asbury Energy Transition Cost Balance.¹³⁸
- 107. Staff's witness, Kimberly K. Bolin, who is an accountant and serves as Director of the Financial and Business Analysis Division for the Commission, calculated a net present value of Liberty's ADIT offset of \$17,134,363.
- 108. Bolin credibly explained that Liberty's calculation of the net present value of its ADIT offset effectively and inappropriately discounted the ADIT twice by discounting the yearly amounts related to the remaining balance of ADIT, and then discounting the sum of the yearly amounts again.¹³⁹
- 109. Public Counsel's witness, John S. Riley, testified that in his "uninformed" 140 opinion the requirements of the securitization statute are not applicable at this time. 141
- 110. Until all inputs, including the interest rates that the securitized bonds will carry, are determined, it is not possible to calculate the exact amount of ADIT offset at this time.¹⁴²

¹³⁸ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 10, Lines 16-22.

¹³⁹ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 11, Lines 10-14.

¹⁴⁰ Riley testified that "I see this recalculation as a confiscatory act, but that is my uninformed opinion as I have not sought the advice of counsel regarding what this new law requires or allows". Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 13, Lines 6-8.

¹⁴¹ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 13, Lines 6-10.

¹⁴² Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 236, Lines 4-9.

Excess ADIT

- 111. Excess ADIT represents an amount to be returned to customers as established in Liberty's 2019 rate case, ER-2019-0374. That offset should reflect the value established in that case reduced by the customer collections received for that amount while rates established by that case were in effect, a period between September 16, 2020 and June 1, 2022.¹⁴³
- 112. Staff and Liberty agree that the Excess ADIT offset should be \$12,313,459.144
- 113. Public Counsel proposed that the Excess ADIT offset should be \$16,934,393, which is the amount established in ER-2019-0374 without any adjustment for amounts collected in the rates established in that rate case. Public Counsel asserts that "[o]nce the plant associated with the deferred taxes is retired, the clock stops on the deferred taxes as well." Public Counsel cites no authority for that statement. 145

Conclusions of Law

LL. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)m requires a financing order to include:

[A] procedure for the treatment of accumulated deferred income taxes and excess deferred income taxes in connection with the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility, or in connection with retired or abandoned facilities included in qualified extraordinary costs. The accumulated deferred income taxes, including excess deferred income taxes, shall be excluded from rate base in future general rate cases and the net tax benefits relating to amounts that will be recovered through the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds shall be credited to retail customers by reducing the amount of such securitized utility tariff bonds that could otherwise be issued. The customer credit shall include the net present value of the tax benefits, calculated using a discount rate equal to the expected interest rate of the securitized utility tariff bonds, for the estimated accumulated and excess deferred income taxes at the time of securitization

¹⁴³ Bolin Surrebuttal, Ex. 103, Page 4, Lines 15-22.

¹⁴⁴ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 12, Lines 6-8. See also, Transcript, Vol 3, Page 237, Lines 6-8.

¹⁴⁵ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 14, Lines 8-12.

including timing differences created by the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds amortized over the period of the bonds multiplied by the expected interest rate on such securitized utility tariff bonds.

This provision ensures that ADIT and Excess ADIT are excluded from Liberty's ratebase in future general rate cases. Thus, ratepayers no longer benefit from the ADIT and Excess ADIT balance in future rate cases after receiving a credit for those balances in this securitization case.

Decision

The ADIT offset to the Asbury Energy Transition Cost balance is properly calculated using the methodology used by Staff witness Kim Bolin. Public Counsel's witness proposes to simply ignore the requirements of the statute, and the Commission finds his testimony to be not credible.

The Excess ADIT offset is \$12,313,459. Public Counsel's suggestion that the Excess ADIT amount established in ER-2019-0374 should not be adjusted by the amounts collected in the rates established in that case is not supported by the law or the facts.

I) What is the value of the Asbury AAO regulatory liability?

Findings of Fact

114. When Asbury ceased generating power the costs associated with operating it had been included in the rates established in Liberty's 2019 general rate case, ER-2019-0374. The financial impact of the closure was unknown at that time so a stipulation and agreement approved by the Commission listed specific rate elements that

were to be tracked by Liberty to reflect the impact of the closure of Asbury, beginning January 1, 2020.¹⁴⁶

115. The rate components included in the AAO liability are the return on the unrecovered Asbury investment, depreciation expense, all non-fuel/non-labor operating and maintenance expenses, property taxes, and non-labor Asbury retirement/decommissioning costs.¹⁴⁷

116. The return on the Asbury component of the regulatory liability should be used to offset Liberty's net balance of costs to be securitized. Including that component recognizes that Liberty's customers have been paying a full return on Asbury in rates since the unit was effectively retired in December 2019, and that amount should be returned to customers.¹⁴⁸

117. Public Counsel challenged Liberty's calculation of the amount of property taxes to be included in the AAO regulatory liability. Public Counsel contended three full years of taxes should be included in the calculation, even though recovery from ratepayers for those taxes only occurred for 29 months during the pendency of the rates established in ER-2019-0374. Public Counsel abandoned this position in its initial brief and now accepts the amount of taxes calculated by Liberty. 150

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

¹⁴⁶ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Pages 8-9, Lines 21-23, 1-2.

¹⁴⁷ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 9, Lines 5-7.

¹⁴⁸ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 9, Lines 13-20.

¹⁴⁹ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Pages 18-19, Lines 23-25, 1-2.

¹⁵⁰ The Office of the Public Counsel's Initial Brief, Page 28.

Decision

This issue is largely a determination of a number to be used to offset a portion of the Asbury related energy transition cost balance to reflect the costs that were recovered from ratepayers after the unit was closed. The number will be impacted by resolution of several other issues addressed in this order. Based on the decisions made regarding those other issues, the value of the Asbury AAO regulatory liability is \$78,691,414.

J) What are the likely Asbury decommissioning costs?

Findings of Fact

118. Although Asbury is closed, Liberty is still working to decommission and dismantle the plant.¹⁵¹

119. Liberty developed a three-phase plan for final disposition of the Asbury facility. Phase 1 was a study phase, Phase 2 includes development of work plans, schedules, engineering plans and specifications, etc., concluding with bid documents for the demolition of the selected facilities. Phase 3 is planned to include finalization of bid documents, revision of cost estimates, bid administration, construction management, demolition of the facilities, reporting, and project accounting. Phase 3 is tentatively scheduled to be completed in 2024.¹⁵²

120. Liberty provided estimates of costs for Phase 2 and Phase 3.¹⁵³ Those estimates are \$4 million for Phase 2 (\$3,541,054 Missouri jurisdictional) and \$6.4 million in direct costs (\$5,665,687 Missouri jurisdictional) for Phase 3.¹⁵⁴

¹⁵¹ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 5, Lines 19-20.

¹⁵² Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Pages. 9-10, Lines 19-24, 1-14.

¹⁵³ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 15, Lines 10-11.

¹⁵⁴ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Schedule CTE-2 Asbury.

- 121. Liberty's cost estimates for Phase 3 do not include a salvage value that Liberty will receive for the demolished assets. 155
- 122. Staff proposes to include \$4 million for Phase 2 costs, but would partially offset the Phase 3 costs with the salvage value estimated in a study prepared by Black & Veatch. 156
- 123. Liberty does not necessarily oppose inclusion of salvage value, but suggests it may be more beneficial to ratepayers to not include the salvage value in the securitization bond amount and instead allow for its recovery in a future rate case.¹⁵⁷
- 124. Public Counsel proposed to include \$5,665,687 (Missouri jurisdictional) for Phase 3, offset by the salvage value. Or in the alternative, Public Counsel would exclude Phase 3 costs entirely. 158

MM. The definition of "energy transition costs" in Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) includes "costs of decommissioning and restoring the site of the electric generating facility."

NN. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)k, RSMo, requires that this order provide for a reconciliation process that would require Liberty to reconcile any differences between the actual securitized utility tariff costs financed by securitized utility tariff bonds and the final securitized tariff costs incurred by the utility through a future rate case.

¹⁵⁵ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 8, Lines 2-3.

¹⁵⁶ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 8, Lines 6-7. The number used by Staff is confidential, but it can be found in Black & Veatch's report, which is found at Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Schedule DWL-2, Page 8 of 9. *See also*, Landoll Surrebuttal, Ex. 14, Page 5, Lines 10-11.

¹⁵⁷ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 13, Lines 9-18.

¹⁵⁸ The Office of the Public Counsel's Initial Brief, Page 26.

Decision

The numbers associated with this issue are only estimates for inclusion in the securitized costs. The actual costs will be reconciled in a future rate case. There is no disagreement among the parties about inclusion of the estimated decommissioning costs for Phase 2. The only disagreement about Phase 3 decommissioning costs is whether to partially offset those anticipated costs with anticipated salvage proceeds. The Commission finds that it is appropriate to offset the estimated decommissioning costs with the anticipated salvage proceeds rather than waiting to credit those proceeds to ratepayers in a future rate case. If not offset, the Commission would be asking ratepayers to pay now for money Liberty may not spend for several years, but would be making them wait until a future rate case to have the salvage proceeds credited to them.

K) What are the likely Asbury retirement obligations?

Findings of Fact

125. An Asset Retirement Obligation (ARO) is an obligation, legal or non-legal, associated with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset for the cost of returning a piece of property to its original condition. AROs can be recognized either when the asset is placed in service or during its operational life when its removal obligation is incurred.¹⁵⁹

126. Liberty included AROs in the total amount of \$21,282,684 (Missouri jurisdictional) for asbestos removal and coal combustion residuals impoundment in its proposed securitization balance for the retirement of Asbury. 160

127. Staff initially opposed inclusion of either the asbestos or the coal combustion residuals ARO in the securitization balance. However, after reviewing the

¹⁵⁹ Bolin Rebuttal, Ex. 102, Page 9, Lines 8-11.

¹⁶⁰ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Schedule CTE-2 Asbury.

surrebuttal testimony of Liberty, Staff agreed that Liberty should be allowed to include an ARO for the coal combustion residuals in the amount of \$16,995,561.¹⁶¹

- 128. The AROs are estimates of future costs. Any variance from actual costs incurred will be tracked by Liberty and reconciled in a future rate case. 162
- 129. Inclusion of the AROs in the securitization balance will benefit ratepayers in that if Liberty recovered these costs through traditional ratemaking it would also recover carrying costs until the time of recovery.¹⁶³

Conclusions of Law

The conclusions of law for this issue are the same as for issue 3J and will not be repeated.

Decision

Staff and Public Counsel continue to oppose inclusion of the ARO for asbestos removal, arguing that the amount of the ARO has not been properly documented. However, the estimates and the actual costs incurred will be reconciled, and allowing Liberty to recover these costs through securitization will reduce the amount that would be paid by ratepayers if they are not securitized. The Commission will allow Liberty to include AROs totaling \$21,282,684 within its securitization balance.

¹⁶¹ Transcript, Vol. 3, Page 231, Lines 17-21.

¹⁶² Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Pages 12-13, Lines 23-24, 1-4.

¹⁶³ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 12, Lines 9-16.

L) What is the appropriate amount for Cash Working Capital?

Findings of Fact

130. The Commission's order in Liberty's 2019 rate case that established an AAO directed Liberty to track the monthly impact of Asbury's retirement on cash working capital.¹⁶⁴

131. Since Liberty did not have an authorized cash working capital amount specific to Asbury, it made a reasonable estimate by taking the Asbury baseline revenue requirement amounts and determining what percentage it was of the total base rate revenue requirement amount authorized in that prior rate case. Liberty then applied that percentage to the total amount of cash working capital approved in that rate case to determine the amount of cash working capital in base rates that was associated with Asbury.¹⁶⁵

132. Public Counsel's witness, John S. Riley, calculated a cash working capital amount by making multiple assumptions and adjustment to calculate a new cash working capital value for the retired Asbury plant. 166

133. Public Counsel's calculation of cash working capital is inappropriate in that it does not factor in what Liberty's customers were actually paying for cash working capital related to Asbury during the period covered by the AAO.¹⁶⁷

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

¹⁶⁴ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Pages 29-30, Lines 24, 1-2.

¹⁶⁵ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 30, Lines 2-9.

¹⁶⁶ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 8, Lines 1-20.

¹⁶⁷ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 30, Lines 9-11.

Decision

The AAO that directed Liberty to track the costs associated with the retirement of Asbury was intended to allow future rate adjustments to compensate ratepayers for costs included in rates to pay for operation of the closed Asbury plant. For that reason, the calculation of the cash working capital associated with Asbury must take into account the actual amounts paid by ratepayers and should not be an attempt to recalculate a hypothetical cash working capital amount for the closed plant as was performed by Public Counsel's witness. The Commission finds that the amount of cash working capital calculated by Liberty and accepted by Staff is appropriate.

M) Should Liberty's recovery reflect a disallowance of the remaining cost of the Air Quality Control System (ACQS), and if so, how much?

Findings of Fact

134. A selective catalytic reduction system was installed at Asbury in 2008 to reduce nitrogen oxide emissions at a cost of \$33 million. In 2014, the Asbury plant was retrofitted with an AQCS to comply with the federal Mercury Air Toxic Standards and the Cross State Air Pollution Rule.

135. The AQCS included the addition of a circulating dry scrubber to reduce sulfur dioxide emissions, a pulsejet fabric filter to reduce particulate emissions, powder activated carbon injection to control mercury emissions, conversion from forced draft to balanced draft, a new stack, and the upgrade of the steam turbine to increase efficiency. The upgraded steam turbine increased nominal output of the unit to 218 MW.¹⁷⁰

¹⁶⁸ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 6, Lines 8-9.

¹⁶⁹ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 4, Lines 11-20.

¹⁷⁰ Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 4, Lines 15-20.

- 136. The AQCS cost \$141 million in 2014.¹⁷¹
- 137. Asbury was de-designated from the SPP and officially retired in March of 2020.¹⁷²
- 138. Both the selective catalytic reduction system and the AQCS were reviewed by the Commission and allowed into Liberty's rate base.¹⁷³ Together, these systems account for 73 percent of Liberty's total undepreciated investment in Asbury.¹⁷⁴
- 139. Public Counsel did not challenge the prudence of Liberty's decision to invest in the AQCS and other environmental upgrades at the time and does not challenge the prudence of that decision now.¹⁷⁵
- 140. Public Counsel challenges Liberty's recovery of the costs of the AQCS on principles of "used and useful", matters of equity and fairness, and because the retirement was entirely the result of actions taken by Liberty's management from the excess capacity it momentarily created.¹⁷⁶

OO. The definition of "Energy Transition Costs" found in Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) specifically states that such costs include the "undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith ..." That means such costs can be recovered through securitization even if a plant was retired or abandoned before its cost was fully depreciated because of an early retirement.

¹⁷¹ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 6, Line 10.

¹⁷² Landoll Direct, Ex. 13, Page 5, Lines 15-17.

¹⁷³ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Page 6, Lines 17-18.

¹⁷⁴ Graves Direct, Ex. 16, Pages 6-7, Lines 22, 1-2.

¹⁷⁵ Marke Rebuttal, Ex. 204, Page 8, Lines 8-10.

¹⁷⁶ Marke Rebuttal, Ex. 204, Page 45, Lines 14-18.

Decision

The Commission has previously determined that Liberty's decision to retire Asbury was prudent (see issue 3E). This issue is just a statement of the means by which Public Counsel asks the Commission to remedy the alleged imprudence of the decision to retire Asbury. As such, there is no need for the Commission to revisit that decision. Consistent with its decision in issue 3E, the Commission will not disallow the remaining cost of the AQCS.

N) Should Liberty's recovery reflect a disallowance for income tax deductions for Asbury abandonment?

Findings of Fact

141. Public Counsel asserts that Liberty has enjoyed a tax benefit because it wrote-off Asbury in 2020 and the last three months of 2019. Public Counsel asserts this is a benefit directly associated with the retirement of Asbury and should be included in the AAO totals established to track the costs associated with that retirement. Public Counsel calculated a tax benefit of \$16.5 million, which it applied to the AAO liability.¹⁷⁷

142. This tax benefit is a normal timing item that is treated the same as any ADIT item in rates. A regulatory asset was established for the net book value of Asbury. This regulatory asset has deferred taxes associated with it. As this regulatory asset gets amortized, the amortization expense is added back for taxable income purposes with no corresponding tax deduction because Asbury qualified as an abandonment for tax purposes already.¹⁷⁸

¹⁷⁷ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 19, Lines 7-16.

¹⁷⁸ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 37, Lines 1-12.

PP. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)m requires a financing order to include:

[A] procedure for the treatment of accumulated deferred income taxes and excess deferred income taxes in connection with the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility, or in connection with retired or abandoned facilities included in qualified extraordinary costs. The accumulated deferred income taxes, including excess deferred income taxes, shall be excluded from rate base in future general rate cases and the net tax benefits relating to amounts that will be recovered through the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds shall be credited to retail customers by reducing the amount of such securitized utility tariff bonds that could otherwise be issued. The customer credit shall include the net present value of the tax benefits, calculated using a discount rate equal to the expected interest rate of the securitized utility tariff bonds, for the estimated accumulated and excess deferred income taxes at the time of securitization including timing differences created by the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds amortized over the period of the bonds multiplied by the expected interest rate on such securitized utility tariff bonds.

Decision

Public Counsel's proposed disallowance for income tax deductions for Asbury abandonment is unnecessary and will not be imposed.

O) Should Liberty's recovery reflect a disallowance for labor at Asbury? Findings of Fact

143. In the 2019 rate case, ratepayers funded labor expenses at Asbury that were not incurred after the plant was closed. That expense was tracked in the AAO and Public Counsel argues those costs should be included in the amount of the AAO offset to securitized costs.¹⁷⁹ Public Counsel calculated the amount of the proposed disallowance as \$6,988,710.¹⁸⁰

¹⁷⁹ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 18, Lines 7-14.

¹⁸⁰ Riley Surrebuttal, Ex. 209, Schedule JSR-S-01, Page 2.

144. All Asbury employees were retained and were either transferred to other departments within the company or stayed at Asbury to work on the decommissioning.¹⁸¹ These employees filled positions elsewhere at Liberty that were needed to provide safe and adequate service to ratepayers.¹⁸²

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

Decision

The labor costs identified by Public Counsel were not spent to provide service to ratepayers at an operating Asbury plant. But those costs were still used to provide service to those ratepayers through other operations of Liberty. Public Counsel's proposed disallowance for labor at Asbury is unnecessary and will not be imposed.

P) Should Liberty's recovery include amounts for abandoned environmental capital projects?

Findings of Fact

145. In addition to the net retired plant balance for the Asbury plant, Liberty included in its proposed securitization balance the amount of \$1,673,601 in costs related to two Asbury environmental projects that were abandoned when the plant was closed. These costs were included in both construction work in progress (CWIP) and removal work in progress (RWIP) accounts.¹⁸³

¹⁸¹ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 36, Lines 6-8.

¹⁸² McMellen Surrebuttal, Ex. 101, Page 4, Lines 2-5.

¹⁸³ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 26, Lines 3-6.

146. Public Counsel's witness, John S. Riley, contends these amounts are CWIP that was abandoned and should be excluded from Liberty's recovery by authority of Section 393.135, RSMo.¹⁸⁴

Conclusions of Law

QQ. Section 393.135, RSMo, 2016 states:

Any charge made or demanded by an electrical corporation for service, or in connection therewith, which is based on the costs of construction in progress upon any existing or new facility of the electrical corporation, or any other cost associated with owning, operating, maintaining, or financing any property before it is fully operational and used for service, is unjust and unreasonable, and is prohibited.

RR. The Missouri Supreme Court has held that Section 393.135, RSMo, 2016 does not "have the purpose, and does not have the effect, of divesting the Commission of the authority to make any allowance at all on account of construction which is definitely abandoned.¹⁸⁵

SS. The Missouri Court of Appeals has held that "the utility property upon which a rate of return can be earned must be utilized to provide service to customers. That is, it must be used and useful." 186

TT. The fact that a cost item is no longer used and useful does not prevent a utility from recovering the cost of that item so long as it is not seeking to earn a return on that investment.¹⁸⁷

¹⁸⁴ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Page 6, Lines 5-10.

¹⁸⁵ State ex rel. Union Elec. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Com'n, 687 S.W.2d 162, 168 (Mo. banc 1985). (emphasis in original).

¹⁸⁶ State ex rel. Union Elec. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Com's of State of Mo. 765 S.W.2d 618, 622 (Mo. App. W.D. 1988.

¹⁸⁷ State ex rel. Missouri Office of Pub. Counsel v. Pub. Serv. Com'n, 293 S.W.3d 63 (Mo. App. S.D. 2009_

UU. Energy transition costs as defined at Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) include "the undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned ... electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith."

Decision

The cost of the abandoned environmental projects at Asbury meet the definition of energy transition costs as defined by the securitization statute. As such those costs may be recovered through securitization. However, those costs would not be includible in Liberty's ratebase and thus it may not recover a return on those investments

- Q) Should Liberty's recovery include basemat coal at Asbury?

 This issue was previously considered and resolved along with issue 3G.
- R) Should Liberty's recovery include non-labor Asbury retirement costs? Findings of Fact
- 147. Liberty and Staff included \$3,936,502 in the AAO balance as non-labor Asbury Retirement Decommissioning Costs. Liberty was ordered to track those costs in Liberty's 2019 rate case, ER-2019-0374.¹⁸⁸
- 148. Public Counsel did not challenge the number, but offered an opinion that the costs should not be included in the final AAO calculation, but should instead be addressed in Liberty's next general rate case.¹⁸⁹

¹⁸⁸ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 36, Lines 18-23.

¹⁸⁹ Riley Surrebuttal, Ex, 209, Page 6, Lines 9-13.

VV. The definition of "energy transition costs" in Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) includes "costs of decommissioning and restoring the site of the electric generating facility."

Decision

The non-labor Asbury retirement costs fall within the statutory definition of energy transition costs that may be recovered through securitization. Other than a bare statement, Public Counsel has not offered any explanation of why they should not be recovered in that manner. The Commission will allow these costs to be recovered through securitization.

S) What is the amount of depreciation expense?

Findings of Fact

149. In Liberty's 2019 rate case, ER-2019-0374, the Commission ordered Liberty to establish an AAO to track costs associated with the recently closed Asbury plant.

Among the items to be tracked was accumulated depreciation, starting January 1, 2020.¹⁹⁰

150. Staff calculated accumulated depreciation for that period as (\$24,349,929.)¹⁹¹

151. Liberty calculated the amount of depreciation expense to be included in the Asbury regulatory liability to be (\$23,480,289).¹⁹²

¹⁹⁰ Emery Direct, Ex 7, Page 6, Lines 6-24.

¹⁹¹ Ex. 113, Page 3, Line 14, Column f and Ex. 116, Page 2, Line 14.

¹⁹² Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 36, Lines 9-16. Ex 21, Schedule CTE-6

- 152. Asbury's last day of generating power was December 12, 2019, when its coal supply was exhausted.¹⁹³
- 153. Asbury was officially retired on March 1, 2020, after Liberty notified SPP of the planned retirement.¹⁹⁴
- 154. Staff included January and February 2020 Asbury costs and benefits in its calculations of the Asbury AAO asset and liability.¹⁹⁵
- 155. Public Counsel calculated depreciation using Staff's depreciation rates from Liberty's 2019 rate case of \$11,179,375 per year, less the remaining plant expense established in the 2021 case of \$314,035 per year. The result is \$10,865,340 per year. Taking the monthly average and extending it out for 30 months provides a total depreciation expense for the AAO period of \$27,163,350.¹⁹⁶
- 156. Public Counsel's calculation improperly utilizes the remaining plant balance established in the 2021 rate case, which does not represent the amount embedded in the rates established in the 2019 rate case that were the basis for the AAO.¹⁹⁷ In addition, the period of the AAO was from January 1, 2020 through May 2022, a period of 29, not 30 months.

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

¹⁹³ Mantle Rebuttal, Ex. 200, Page 19, Footnote 13.

¹⁹⁴ Doll Surrebuttal, Ex. 4, Page 4, Lines 19-22.

¹⁹⁵ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 6, Lines 13-14.

¹⁹⁶ Riley Rebuttal, Ex. 208, Pages 17-18, Lines 22-24-1-2.

¹⁹⁷ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Page 36, Lines 13-16.

Decision

The Commission finds that Asbury was effectively retired in December 2019, when it ceased producing electricity. Therefore, Staff's calculation of depreciation, which includes the months of January and February 2020, is appropriate and is adopted.

T) What are the appropriate carrying costs for Asbury?

U) What is the appropriate rate(s) of return that should be used to calculate the amount of recovery?

These two issues are closely related and will be addressed together.

Findings of Fact

157. Liberty proposes to include within the energy transition costs to be recovered through securitization carrying charges based on its WACC, which the Commission set at 6.77 percent in Liberty's 2019 rate case, File No. ER-2019-0374. Liberty contends those carrying charges should be recovered for the period after the property was retired through the issuance of the securitized bonds. 199

158. Staff agrees that Liberty should be allowed to recovery carrying costs, but contends recovery at Liberty's long-term debt rate of 4.65 percent is more appropriate for the relatively short period of time the carrying costs would be applied. Staff proposes that the carrying costs be allowed only beginning in May 2022 until the issuance of the securitized bonds.²⁰⁰

159. Public Counsel proposes that Liberty should not be allowed any carrying costs on Asbury undepreciated assets.²⁰¹

¹⁹⁸ Emery Direct, Page 15, lines 11-13.

¹⁹⁹ Emery Surrebuttal, Page 20, Lines 17-19.

²⁰⁰ McMellen Rebuttal, Ex. 100, Page 8, Lines 1-3.

²⁰¹ Murray Rebuttal, Ex. 206, Page 9, Lines 1-11.

WW. The definition of "energy transition costs" found in Section 393.1700.1(7)(a) RSMo, includes "accrued carrying charges" as a cost that may be recovered.

XX. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)a RSMo, requires that a financing order issued by the Commission include a finding that recovery of securitized utility tariff costs to be financed using securitized utility tariff bonds is "just and reasonable".

YY. In a 1988 case, the Missouri Court of Appeals upheld a Commission decision to deny rate recovery of \$106.3 million for cancellation costs related to the abandoned Callaway II nuclear plant. The Commission had found that such cancellation costs were not a just and reasonable expense to be placed in rates and charged to ratepayers. In upholding the Commission's decision, the Court of Appeals held that "the utility property upon which a rate of return can be earned must be utilized to provide service to customers. That is, it must be used and useful." 202

Decision

There are three issues to be resolved. The first is whether Liberty should be allowed to include any carrying costs within its securitization. The second is the rate of return that should be applied to any allowed carrying costs. The third is a determination of the period for which carrying costs will be recovered through the securitization.

As the Commission has concluded above, Missouri law generally holds that for a utility to be able to recover a return on a property, that property must be used and useful. However, the securitization statute specifically includes carrying costs within the definition of energy transition costs that can be recovered through securitization. Nevertheless,

²⁰² State ex rel. Union Elec. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Com's of State of Mo. 765 S.W.2d 618, 622 (Mo. App. W.D. 1988.

nothing is the statute defines carrying costs or mandates that they be included for recovery through securitization. Further, the securitization statute also requires the Commission find that the amount to be securitized is just and reasonable.

Here, Liberty is seeking to recover its full carrying costs on a generation facility that has not been used and useful since its effective retirement in December 2019. The Commission finds that such full recovery is not just and reasonable. Under these circumstances a more limited recovery of carrying costs for the period after the Asbury plant was removed from Liberty's rates, beginning in June 2022 is just and reasonable.

For the same reason, the Commission finds it just and reasonable to allow Liberty to recover those carrying costs at its 4.65 percent cost of long-term debt rather than at is WACC.

V) What is the appropriate discount rate to use to calculate the net present value of Asbury costs that would be recovered through traditional ratemaking?

Findings of Fact

- 160. Liberty uses its WACC of 6.77 percent to calculate the net present value of Asbury cost that would be recovered through traditional rate making.²⁰³
- 161. Staff concurred in the use of Liberty's WACC of 6.77 percent to make that comparison.²⁰⁴
- 162. Public Counsel argues the comparison should be made using a discount rate based on the bond rate on the securitized bonds. This comparison would show little value to the securitization.²⁰⁵

²⁰³ Emery Direct, Ex. 7, Page 20, Lines 1-9.

²⁰⁴ Davis Rebuttal, Ex. 107, Page 5, Lines 4-7.

²⁰⁵ Murray Rebuttal, Ex. 206, Page 15, Lines 1-14.

ZZ. Section 393.1700.2(1)(f) requires an applicant for authority to securitize energy transition costs to include in their application:

A comparison between the net present value of the costs to customers that are estimated to result from the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the costs that would result from the application of the traditional method of financing and recovering the undepreciated investment of facilities that may become securitized utility tariff costs from customers. This comparison should demonstrate that the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition of securitized utility tariff charges are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers.

Liberty fulfilled this legal requirement and its net present value comparison showed a benefit to customers of approximately \$48.3 million.²⁰⁶

AAA. Section 393.1700.2(2)(e) imposes a similar requirement on an applicant for authority to securitize qualified extraordinary costs. Liberty fulfilled this legal requirement and its net present value comparison showed a benefit to customers of approximately \$65.6 million.²⁰⁷

BBB. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)b requires that this order include:

A finding that the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of a securitized utility tariff charge are just and reasonable and in the public interest and are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds. ...

Decision

The purpose of the net present value comparison required by the statute is to estimate what, if any, savings will be delivered to customers if the securitization proceeds.

To accomplish that purpose a reasonable discount rate should be used in the net present

²⁰⁶ Emery Direct, Ex 7, Page 20, Line 8.

²⁰⁷ Hall Direct, Ex. 6, Page 10, Lines 6-7.

value calculation of the estimated costs for traditional financing absent securitization. Public Counsel's suggested discount rate would not result in a reasonable comparison and is rejected. The WACC of 6.77 percent suggested by Liberty and Staff is appropriate and is adopted.

4) What are the estimated upfront and ongoing financing costs associated with securitizing qualified extraordinary costs associated with Winter Storm Uri and the energy transition costs associated with Asbury?

Findings of Fact

163. Liberty estimates that the upfront financing cost associated with securitizing the Winter Storm Uri costs is \$3,655,297, excluding the cost of the Commission's consultants. Liberty estimated the ongoing financing costs to be \$410,850 per year, or \$34,237 per month.²⁰⁸

164. Liberty estimates that the upfront financing costs associated with securitizing the Asbury costs is \$3,264,961, excluding the cost of the Commission's consultants. The ongoing financing costs for Asbury were estimated to be \$343,039 per year, or \$28,587 per month.²⁰⁹

165. Liberty is seeking to securitize only the upfront financing costs, not the ongoing financing costs.²¹⁰

166. It is customary to include upfront financing costs in the principal amount of securitized utility tariff bonds.²¹¹

²⁰⁸ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Schedule CTE-1 Storm Uri.

²⁰⁹ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex. 8, Schedule CTE-1 Asbury.

²¹⁰ Emery Surrebuttal, Ex 8, Schedule CTE-2

²¹¹ Davis Rebuttal, Ex. 107, Page 6, Lines 6-8.

- 167. Upfront and ongoing financing costs of securitization are comprised of a mix of costs that are fixed and less dependent on deal size and costs that are variable and tied to the size of the deal.²¹²
- 168. Considering that the Commission has ordered lower securitization amounts and will be issuing a single, combined financing order, the upfront financing costs should be somewhat lower than originally estimated by Liberty. Liberty estimates that upfront financing cost associated with consolidating the securitization of Asbury and Winter Storm Uri costs range from \$5.4 million to \$5.6 million, excluding the cost of the Commission's consultants.²¹³
- 169. Staff estimates that the costs of its consultants are approximately \$2.3 million.²¹⁴
- 170. Combined, Staff estimates total upfront financing costs of approximately \$6.2 million, plus approximately \$37,000 per month in on-going financing costs.²¹⁵

CCC. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)a RSMo, requires the Commission to include in its securitization order a description and estimate of the amount of financing costs that may be recovered through securitized utility tariff charges.

DDD. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)e RSMo, requires the Commission to include in its securitization order:

A formula-based true-up mechanism for making, at least annually, expeditious periodic adjustments in the securitized utility tariff charges that customers are required to pay pursuant to the financing order and for making any adjustments that are necessary to correct for any overcollection

²¹² Davis Rebuttal, Ex 107, Page 6, Lines 11-13.

²¹³ Ex. 24.

²¹⁴ Ex. 113.

²¹⁵ Davis Rebuttal, Ex 107, Schedule MD-1.

or undercollection of the charges or to otherwise ensure the timely payment of securitized utility tariff bonds and financing costs and other required amounts and charges payable under the securitized utility tariff bonds.

EEE. A list of items meeting the definition of "Financing Costs" is found at Section 393.1700.1(8) RSMo.

FFF. Section 393.1700.1(16) RSMo includes "financing costs" as items that may be included in a "securitized utility tariff charge." Subsection 393.1700.1(16)(f) authorizes the Commission to employ financial advisors and legal counsel to assist it in processing a financing application and to include the associated costs as financing costs.

Decision

As previously concluded, the securitization statute requires only an estimate of financing costs. The final financing costs will not be known until the bonds are issued. The Commission will use Liberty's estimate that reflects the benefits of consolidation in the amount of \$5.6 million for upfront financing costs plus Staff's estimate of the upfront financing costs associated with their consultant in the amount of \$2.3 million for a total of \$7.9 million in estimated upfront financing costs. The Commission will use approximately \$37,000 per month in ongoing financing costs.

5) Would issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and imposition of securitized utility tariff charges provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the securitized utility tariff costs that would be incurred absent the issuance of bonds?

Findings of Fact

171. In its direct testimony, filed along with its application, Liberty calculated a benefit to customers from securitizing energy transition costs amounting to approximately \$48.3 million.²¹⁶

²¹⁶ Emery Direct, Ex. 7, Page 20, Line 8.

172. In its direct testimony, filed along with its application, Liberty calculated a benefit to customers from securitizing qualified extraordinary costs amounting to approximately \$65.6 million.²¹⁷

173. Staff concurred that in most of the scenarios it analyzed, customers will benefit from securitizing energy transition costs and qualified extraordinary costs, including benefits from consolidating securitization of those costs in a single bond offering.²¹⁸

Conclusions of Law

GGG. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)b requires that this order include:

A finding that the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of a securitized utility tariff charge are just and reasonable and in the public interest and are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds. ...

The statute does not require the order to include a quantification of the amount of savings.

Rather, it simply requires a finding that there will be expected savings.

Decision

Based on the calculations prepared by Liberty and Staff, the Commission finds that the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers has compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds. This conclusion remains true despite the

²¹⁷ Hall Direct, Ex. 6, Page 10, Lines 6-7.

²¹⁸ Ex. 118.

Commission's decisions to use inputs that differ from those proposed by the parties, as demonstrated in the multiple scenarios described by Staff.

A) What is the appropriate discount rate to use to calculate net present value of securitized utility tariff costs that would be recovered for Winter Storm Uri and Asbury through securitization?

Findings of Fact

174. The bond markets are continuing to change and as a result, the actual bond rates are not yet knowable and will likely change between now and when the bonds are issued. By the time of the hearing in June 2022, the expected weighted bond interest rate, which was 2.47 percent in January 2022, had risen to 4.28 percent.²¹⁹

175. Staff suggests the discount rate for Winter Storm Uri costs should also be evaluated based on the short-term or long-term cost of debt, and the discount rate for Asbury should be evaluated based on the authorized WACC of 6.77 percent, resulting in a weighted blended interest rate of 5.16 percent.²²⁰

Conclusions of Law

There are no additional conclusions of law for this issue.

Decision

The Commission finds that the weighted blended interest rate of 5.16 percent proposed by Staff is appropriate.

- 6) Regarding any designated staff representatives who may be advised by a financial advisor or advisors, what provision or procedures should the Commission order to implement the requirements of Section 393.1700.2(3)(h)?
- 7) What other conditions, if any, are appropriate and not inconsistent with Section 393.1700, RSMo (Supp. 2021), to be included in the financing order?

²¹⁹ Transcript, Vol. 7, Pages 525-526, Lines 23-25, 1-21.

²²⁰ Ex. 118.

Findings of Fact

176. Many details about the securitization bonds are not yet known and will not be known until the bonds are ready to be issued. The Commission needs to ensure that the securitization will likely provide quantifiable net present value to the benefit of the utility's customers. As a result, review and input from the Commission's Staff of the details of the securitization, as well as their collaboration with Liberty, is essential.²²¹

177. The securitization statute does allow the Commission to reject the securitization by disapproving the issuance advice letter just before the bonds are issued, but that would be a drastic action with material capital market implications. Thus, there is a need for Staff to be able to be involved in the process and to regularly update the Commission and transmit feedback as necessary.²²²

178. Staff's involvement in the structuring, marketing, and pricing phase on behalf of the Commission is important because the bond underwriters will not have any fiduciary responsibility to protect the interests of customers.²²³ Similarly, the interests of the utility and the interests of the customers may not entirely align during the structuring, marketing, and pricing phase. As a result, it is important that the Commission have a seat at the table so it can protect customer's interests.²²⁴

179. The Commission must also be concerned about allowing the bond placement process to proceed without undue interference. The bond placing process must be quick moving and efficient to meet market expectations, so that potential

²²¹ Davis Rebuttal, Ex. 107, Pages 7-8, Lines 18-22, 1-2.

²²² Davis Rebuttal, Ex. 107, Page 8, Lines 4-9.

²²³ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 536, Lines 17-20.

²²⁴ Transcript, Vol. 7, Pages 595-596, Lines 14-25, 1-12.

investors do not choose to opt out of the process.²²⁵ In some situations, a decision will have to be made in a matter of minutes.²²⁶

180. In its proposed draft financing order, Staff included language creating what it termed a Finance Team, which would consist of one or more designated Staff representatives, financial advisors, and outside bond counsel. As proposed by Staff, such a Finance Team would be given authority to "review and approve" the securitized bonds and associated transactions. Further, the Finance Team would be allowed to "attend all meetings and participate in all calls, e-mails, and other communications relating to the structuring and pricing and issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds."²²⁷

181. Liberty's witness, Goldman Sachs Managing Director and possible underwriter for the bonds, Katrina T. Niehaus, testified that she would be willing to work with a bond advisory team if directed to do so by the Commission.²²⁸ She further testified that she has worked with similar teams in the past and found them to be an effective way to alleviate concerns raised by staff or their financial advisors and to help them provide guidance to their commission.²²⁹

182. Liberty's witness, Michael Mosindy, pointed to one area of communications to which a Finance Team would not be able to participate. Communications with rating agencies are tightly controlled to comply with SEC rules. For that reason, communication with the ratings agencies will generally be limited to one person from Liberty and a

²²⁵ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 558-559, Lines 21-25, 1-7.

²²⁶ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 569, Lines 16-24.

²²⁷ Draft Financing Order, Pages 7-8.

²²⁸ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 553, Lines 9-24.

²²⁹ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 562, Lines 12-25.

representative from the lead underwriter.²³⁰ Staff's witness, Mark Davis, confirmed that practice²³¹ and indicated in that circumstance, Staff would receive access to the recorded calls.²³²

183. The applicable statutory provisions are designed to permit the bonds to be issued with triple-A ratings, using features generally consistent with precedent legislation enabling securitization of this type.²³³

Conclusions of Law

HHH. Section 393.1700.2(3)(h) RSMo, provides that before securitization bonds are issued, the electrical corporation is required to provide an "issuance advice letter" to the Commission describing the final terms of the bonds. The Commission is allowed only until noon on the fourth business day after it receives the issuance advice letter to issue a disapproval letter directing that the bond issuance as proposed should not proceed.

III. So that the Commission will have sufficient insight into the bond placing process to be able to evaluate the issuance advice letter in the short amount of time allowed, Section 393.1700.2(3)(h) RSMo, gives the Commission authority to:

designate a representative or representatives from commission staff, who may be advised by a financial advisor or advisors contracted with the commission, to provide input to the electrical corporation and collaborate with the electrical corporation in all facets of the process undertaken by the electrical corporation to place the securitized utility tariff bonds to market so the commission's representative or representatives can provide the commission with an opinion on the reasonableness of the pricing, terms, and conditions of the securitized utility tariff bonds on an expedited basis.

²³⁰ Mosindy Surrebuttal, Ex. 15, Page 7, Lines 7-13.

²³¹ Transcript, Vol. 7, Page 596, Lines 13-20.

²³² Transcript, Vol. 7, Pages 592-593, Lines 23-25, 1-9.

²³³ Niehaus Direct, Ex. 18, Page 9, Lines 14-16.

JJJ. Section 393.1700.2(3)(h) also expressly limits the authority of the Commission's representative or representatives, stating:

Neither the designated representative or representatives from the commission's staff nor one or more financial advisors advising commission staff shall have authority to direct how the electrical corporation places the bonds to market although they shall be permitted to attend all meetings convened by the electrical corporation to address placement of the bonds to market.

KKK. Importantly, Section 393.1700.2(3)(h) also allows the Commission to include provisions in the financing order "relating to the issuance advice letter process as the commission considers appropriate and as are not inconsistent with this section."

LLL. Section 393.1700.2(3)(a)b contemplates that the Commission may issue a financing order approving the petition "subject to conditions."

MMM. Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)c requires a financing order to include:

A finding that the proposed structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds are reasonably expected to result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced and the terms of the financing order.

Decision

The Commission is faced with the challenge of balancing the need to be informed and involved with the bond placement process with the need to allow that process to proceed without undue delay or interference. The Commission finds that the concept of a Finance Team as described by Staff as including one or more designated Staff representatives, financial advisors, and outside counsel, is appropriate and within the bounds set by the securitization statute. However, while that team should be allowed to be involved in the process, it does not have authority to "approve" that process. Under the statute, the Finance Team can be given authority to review the process, provide input

about the process, collaborate in the process, and report its findings and concerns about the process to the Commission. It is then up to the Commission to approve or disapprove the bond issuance through the statutory bond issuance letter process.

Similarly, a requirement that the Finance Team be allowed to attend and participate in all meetings and other communications is problematic. One example, communications with ratings agencies, was described by Liberty, and there could be other examples as well. Fundamentally, a requirement that the Finance Team be allowed to participate in every communication would be unwieldy and could lead to delays that would hamper the bond placement process.

The Commission will create a Finance Team as proposed by Staff, but will limit the authority granted to that team as described below.

To ensure, as required by Sections 393.1700.2(3)(c)c and 393.1700.2(3)(h), that the structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds are reasonably expected to result in the lowest securitized utility tariff bond charges consistent with market conditions and the terms of this Financing Order, the Commission designates a Finance Team consisting of designated Commission Staff representatives, financial advisors, and outside counsel to review, provide input, and collaborate on marketing and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the associated transaction documents. Any costs incurred by the Finance Team in connection with its review of the securitized utility tariff bonds shall be treated as financing costs. The Finance Team shall provide oversight over and input to the structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bond transaction and review the material terms of the transaction to ensure the transaction provides quantifiable net present value benefits to customers compared to the use of traditional

ratemaking and results in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced.

The Finance Team shall have the right to review, provide input, and collaborate on all facets of the structuring, marketing and pricing bond processes, including but not limited to, (1) the size, selection process, participants, allocations and economics of the underwriter and any other member of the syndicate group; (2) the structure of the bonds; (3) the bonds credit rating agency application; (4) the underwriters' preparation, marketing and syndication of the bonds; (5) the pricing of the bonds and the certifications provided by Liberty and the underwriters; (6) all associated costs, (including up front and ongoing financing costs), servicing and administrative fees and associated crediting; (7) bond maturities; (8) reporting templates; (9) the amount of any equity contributions; (10) credit enhancements; and (11) the initial calculations of the securitized utility tariff charges. The foregoing and other items may be reviewed during the entire course of the Finance Team's process. The pre-issuance review process will help ensure that the securitized utility tariff bonds will be issued with material terms that meet the requirements of the Securitization Law. The Finance Team's review shall continue until the issuance advice letter is disapproved, approved, or takes effect by operation of law.

For the Commission to remain informed and updated throughout the pre-issuance review process, the Commission may require status meetings or phone conferences for the Finance Team and involved parties to communicate and update the Commission on the information being reviewed and prepared in the structuring and pricing process. The Commission may request access to the actual documents and information being reviewed by the Finance Team as needed. The Finance Team may submit written status reports to

the Commission as the Finance Team deems appropriate or as requested by the Commission. If concerns arise during the process, such status meetings, conferences or updates can be requested by the Finance Team or other involved parties as needed.

No member of the Finance Team has authority to direct how Liberty places the securitized utility tariff bonds to market although they shall be permitted to attend all meetings convened by Liberty, and participate in all non-privileged calls, e-mails, and other communications relating to the structuring, pricing and issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds, or be subsequently informed of the substance of those communications.

In connection with the submission of the issuance advice letter, Liberty and the lead underwriters for the securitized utility tariff bonds shall provide a written certificate to the Commission certifying, and setting forth all calculations and assumptions used to support such calculations and certificate, that the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds (i) complies with this Financing Order, (ii) complies with all other applicable legal requirements (including all requirements of Section 393.1700), (iii) that the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition of the securitized utility tariff charges are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds, and (iv) that the structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds will result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced and the terms of this Financing Order. Such certificates shall be a condition precedent to the submission of the issuance advice letter to the Commission.

In addition, the securitized tariff bonds issued in compliance with this Financing Order shall have a triple-A rating from at least two of the nationally recognized rating agencies.

8) How should securitized utility tariff charges be initially allocated among retail customer classes?

Findings of Fact

184. Based on the class revenue targets Liberty proposed in its most recent general rate case, it calculated the percentage of the company's total revenue requirement that would be contributed by each of Liberty's then existing rate classes and used the result to determine how much of the cost of the securitization bonds should be recovered from each class.²³⁴ MECG supports Liberty's method of allocation based on cost of service principles.²³⁵

185. This table shows the allocation percentage Liberty would assign to each of its rate classes:

Class	Allocation Percentage
Residential	45.02%
Commercial	9.05%
Small Heating	2.02%
General Power	18.01%
Transmission	1.08%
Total Electric Building	7.62%
Feed Mill	0.02%

²³⁴ Emery Direct, Ex. 7, Page 23, Table CTE-5.

²³⁵ Initial Brief of Midwest Energy Consumers Group, Page 4.

Class	Allocation Percentage
Large Power	15.83%
Misc. Service	0.00%
Street Lighting	0.63%
Private Lighting	0.70%
Special Lighting	0.02%
Total	100%

- 186. The allocation factors listed by Liberty are no longer accurate in that they do not incorporate the revisions made in Liberty's most recent rate case. In addition, they do not allocate a share to Liberty's Electrical Vehicle customer class.²³⁶
- 187. Liberty's proposal to allocate costs among the various customer classes also creates problems related to rate switching. That is larger customers may attempt to switch service to a different rate class to obtain a lower bill. That could leave fewer customers in a particular rate class to cover the same allocation, encouraging more rate switching. That could lead to under-collection of amounts sufficient to service the debt.²³⁷
- 188. Staff takes a different approach and recommends that the Securitized Utility Tariff Charge for all customers be calculated on the basis of loss-adjusted energy sales. That approach would not require allocation among the various customer classes.²³⁸
- 189. If Liberty's Winter Storm Uri related qualified extraordinary costs had been recovered through Liberty's Fuel Adjustment Clause in the absence of a securitization

²³⁶ Lange Rebuttal, Ex. 108, Page 6, Lines 1-3.

²³⁷ Lange Rebuttal, Ex. 108, Page 18, Lines 1-10.

²³⁸ Lange Rebuttal, Ex 108, Page 2. Lines 10-15.

option, those costs would have been allocated to Liberty's customers proportionate to the energy usage, adjusted for losses.²³⁹

190. The benefits derived from closing Asbury are expected to flow to customers through decreased net costs of participation in Southwest Power Pool's Integrated Market. Those benefits are allocated to customers through the fuel adjustment clause on the basis of loss-adjusted energy usage. Therefore, Liberty's Asbury related energy transition costs should also be allocated on the basis of energy usage, adjusted for losses.²⁴⁰

191. Customer classes with relatively high energy consumption per customer will be the biggest beneficiaries of both the reduced operating costs and the reduced costs of obtaining energy to serve load that results from the closing of Asbury. Therefore, apportioning the cost of the Asbury retirement consistent with how the benefit of closing Asbury and including wind generation to replace it is flowed to customers is reasonable.²⁴¹

Conclusions of Law

NNN. Section 393.1700.2(3))(c)h RSMo requires this securitization order to determine "how securitized utility tariff charges will be allocated among retail customer classes."

OOO. The Commission has much discretion in determining the theory or method it uses in determining rates²⁴² and can make pragmatic adjustments called for by particular circumstances.²⁴³

²³⁹ Lange Rebuttal, Ex. 108, Page 32, Lines 7-10.

²⁴⁰ Luebbert, Rebuttal, Ex. 106, Page 3, Lines 5-12, and Lange Rebuttal, Ex. 108, Page 27, Lines 1-6.

²⁴¹ Lange Rebuttal, Ex. 108, Page 27, Lines 15-18.

²⁴² State ex rel. Public Counsel v. Public Service Com'n, 274 S.W.3d 569, 586 (Mo. App. 2009).

²⁴³ State ex rel. U.S. Water/Lexington v. Missouri Public Service Com'n 795 S.W.2d 593, 597 (Mo. App. 1990)

PPP. Cost-allocation is a discretionary determination frequently delegated to an expert administrative agency such as the Commission. In that regard, the Missouri Court of Appeals quoted approvingly the United States Supreme Court as saying "[a]llocation of costs is not a matter for the slide-rule. It involves judgment on a myriad of fact. It has no claim to an exact science."²⁴⁴

QQQ. The definition of "securitized utility tariff charge" found at Section 393.1700.1(16) indicates that such charges are nonbypassable.

Decision

Cost allocation to the various customer classes is an important issue for the Midwest Energy Consumers Group, which advocated strongly for the sort of class allocation proposed by Liberty. Their concern is that Staff's proposal will result in higher rates for industrial customers who use a lot of energy per customer. Nevertheless, the Commission finds that Staff's proposal to allocate costs on the basis of loss-adjusted energy sales is appropriate, and that allocation methodology will be implemented.

Non-contested Issues

The Commission makes the following findings of fact.

A) Identification and Procedure

Identification of Petitioner and Background

192. The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty is a Kansas corporation with its principal office and place of business at 602 Joplin Street, Joplin, Missouri. Liberty

²⁴⁴ Spire Missouri, Inc. v. Missouri Public Service Com'n 607 S.W.3d 759, 771 (Mo. App. 2020), quoting National Ass'n of Greeting Card Publishers v. U.S. Postal Service, 462 U.S. 810, 103 S.Ct 2727, 77 L.Ed. 2d 195 (1983). That decision was quoting an earlier United State Supreme Court decision, Colorado Interstate Gas Co. v. Federal Power Commission, 324 U.S. 581, 589, 65 S.Ct. 829, 833, 89 L.Ed. 1206 (1945).

is qualified to conduct business and is conducting business in Missouri, as well as in the states of Arkansas, Kansas, and Oklahoma. Liberty is engaged, generally, in the business of generating, purchasing, transmitting, distributing, and selling electricity in portions of the referenced four states. Liberty's Missouri operations are subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission as provided by law.

B) Financing Costs and Amount of Securitized Utility Tariff Costs to be Financed

Identification

- 193. The proceeds from the sale of the securitized utility tariff property will be used by Liberty to recover the securitized utility tariff costs incurred by Liberty in response to the anomalous weather event Winter Storm Uri and in connection with retiring Asbury, including purchases of fuel or power, carrying charges, deferred legal expenses and upfront financing costs.
- 194. Liberty proposed that the securitized utility tariff charges related to the securitized utility tariff bonds will be recovered over a scheduled period of 13 years, but not more than 15 years from the date of issuance but that amounts due at or before the end of that period for securitized utility tariff charges allocable to the 15-year period may be collected after the conclusion of the 15-year period.
- 195. The proposed structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds are reasonably expected to result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced and the terms of this Financing Order.
- 196. For so long as the securitized utility tariff bonds are outstanding and until all financing costs have been paid in full, the imposition and collection of securitized utility

tariff charges authorized under this Financing Order shall be nonbypassable and paid by all existing and future retail customers receiving electrical service from Liberty or its successors or assignees under Commission-approved rate schedules, even if a retail customer elects to purchase electricity from an alternative electric supplier following a fundamental change in regulation of public utilities in the State of Missouri. Liberty has no customers receiving electrical service under special contracts as of August 28, 2021.

- 197. The securitized utility tariff bonds will be secured by securitized utility tariff property that shall be created in favor of Liberty or its successors or assignees and that shall be used to pay or secure the securitized utility tariff bonds and approved financing costs. The securitized utility tariff property principally consists of the right to receive revenues from the securitized utility tariff charges.
- 198. It is appropriate that Liberty be authorized to establish the terms and conditions of the securitized utility tariff bonds, including, but not limited to, repayment schedules, expected interest rates, and other financing costs, except as expressly limited in this order. The Finance Team and the Commission will review the complete terms and conditions of the securitization utility tariff bonds, the calculations of the initial securitized utility tariff charges and the expected and actual financing costs set forth in the issuance advice letter.
- 199. After the final terms of the securitized utility tariff bonds have been established and before the issuance of such bonds, it is appropriate for Liberty to determine the resulting initial securitized utility tariff charge in accordance with this Financing Order, and that such initial charge be final and effective upon the issuance of

such securitized utility tariff bonds with such charge to be reflected on a compliance tariff sheet bearing such charge.

- 200. Liberty proposed a method of tracing funds collected as securitized utility tariff charges, or other proceeds of securitized utility tariff property.
- 201. Liberty proposed that it shall earn a return, at the cost of capital authorized from time to time by the Commission in Liberty's rate proceedings, on any moneys advanced by Liberty to fund the capital subaccount established under the terms of the indenture, any ancillary agreement, or other financing documents pertaining to the securitized utility bonds.
- 202. It is appropriate that Liberty shall be authorized to issue securitized utility tariff bonds pursuant to this Financing Order for a period commencing with the date of this Financing Order and extending 24 months following the date on which this Financing Order becomes final and no longer subject to any appeal. If, at any time during the effective period of this Financing Order, there is a severe disruption in the financial markets of the United States, it is appropriate for the effective period to be extended with the approval of the Commission to a date that is not less than 90 days after the date such disruption ends.

Issuance Advice Letter

203. As the actual structure and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds will be unknown at the time this Financing Order is issued, prior to the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds, Liberty will provide an issuance advice letter to the Commission following the determination of the final terms of the securitized utility tariff bonds no later than one day after the pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds. The

issuance advice letter will include total upfront financing costs for the issuance. The form of such issuance advice letter, which shall indicate the final structure of the securitized utility tariff bonds and provide the best available estimate of total ongoing financing costs, is set out in Appendix A to this Financing Order. The issuance advice letter shall report the initial securitized utility tariff charges and other information specific to the securitized utility tariff bonds to be issued, as the Commission may require. The issuance advice letter shall demonstrate the ultimate amounts of quantifiable net present value savings. Liberty may proceed with the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds unless, prior to noon on the fourth business day after the Commission receives the issuance advice letter, the Commission issues a disapproval letter directing that the securitized utility tariff bonds as proposed shall not be issued and the basis for that disapproval.

204. If the actual upfront financing costs are less than the upfront financing costs included in the principal amount securitized, the periodic billing requirement, defined below, for the first annual true-up adjustment must be reduced by the amount of such unused funds (together with interest, if any, earned on the investment of such funds). If the actual upfront financing costs are more than the upfront financing costs included in the principal amount securitized, the periodic billing requirement for the first annual true-up adjustment may be increased by the amount of such unrecovered upfront financing costs.

C) Structure of the Proposed Securitization

BondCo

205. For purposes of issuing the securitized utility tariff bonds, Liberty will create a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity (referred to as BondCo), which will be a

Delaware limited liability company with Liberty as its sole member. BondCo will be formed for the limited purpose of acquiring securitized utility tariff property, issuing securitized utility tariff bonds in one or more tranches, and performing other activities relating thereto or otherwise authorized by this Financing Order. BondCo will not be permitted to engage in any other activities and will have no assets other than securitized utility tariff property and related assets to support its obligations under the securitized utility tariff bonds. Obligations relating to the securitized utility tariff bonds will be BondCo's only material liabilities. Liberty has proposed and the Commission has accepted that these restrictions on the activities of BondCo and restrictions on the ability of Liberty to take action on BondCo's behalf are imposed to achieve the objective that BondCo will be bankruptcy remote and not affected by a bankruptcy of Liberty or any of its successors. BondCo will be managed by a board of directors or a board of managers with rights and duties similar to those of a board of directors of a corporation. As long as the securitized utility tariff bonds remain outstanding, BondCo will be overseen by at least one independent director or manager whose approval will be required for certain major actions or organizational changes by BondCo. BondCo will not be permitted to amend the provisions of the organizational documents that relate to bankruptcy-remoteness of BondCo without the consent of the independent directors or managers. BondCo will not be permitted to institute bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings or to consent to the institution of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings against it, or to dissolve, liquidate, consolidate, convert, or merge without the consent of the independent directors or managers. Other restrictions to facilitate bankruptcy-remoteness may also be included in the organizational documents of BondCo as required by the rating agencies.

206. The initial capital of BondCo is expected to be not less than 0.50% of the original principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds issued by BondCo. Adequate funding of BondCo at this level is intended to protect the bankruptcy remoteness of BondCo. A sufficient level of capital is necessary to minimize this risk and, therefore, assist in achieving the lowest securitized utility tariff charges possible.

Statutory Requirements

207. BondCo will issue the securitized utility tariff bonds consisting of one or more tranches. The aggregate amount of all tranches of the securitized utility tariff bonds issued under this Financing Order must not exceed the principal amount approved by this Financing Order. BondCo will pledge to the indenture trustee, as collateral for payment of the securitized utility tariff bonds, the securitized utility tariff property, including BondCo's right to receive the securitized utility tariff charges as and when collected, and certain other collateral described herein.

208. Concurrent with the issuance of any of the securitized utility tariff bonds, Liberty will transfer to BondCo all of (a) Liberty's rights and interests under this Financing Order, including the right to impose, bill, charge, collect, and receive securitized utility tariff charges authorized under this Financing Order and to obtain periodic adjustments to such charges as provided in this Financing Order and (b) all revenues, collections, claims, rights to payments, payments, money, or proceeds arising from the rights and interests specified in this Financing Order, regardless of whether such revenues, collections, claims, rights to payment, payments, money, or proceeds are imposed, billed, received, collected, or maintained together with or commingled with other revenues, collections, rights to payment, payments, money, or proceeds. This transfer will be

structured so that it will qualify as a true sale within the meaning of Section 393.1700.5.(3) and that such rights will become securitized utility tariff property concurrently with their sale to BondCo as provided in Section 393.1700.2.(3)(d). By virtue of the transfer, BondCo will acquire all of the right, title, and interest of Liberty in the securitized utility tariff property arising under this Financing Order.

Credit Enhancement and Arrangements to Enhance Marketability

209. Liberty has requested permission to use credit enhancements and arrangements to enhance marketability if such credit enhancements are required by the rating agencies to achieve the highest possible credit rating on the securitized utility tariff bonds. If the use of credit enhancements, or other arrangements is proposed by Liberty, Liberty must provide the Finance Team copies of all cost-benefit analyses performed by or for Liberty that support the request to use such arrangements. This finding does not apply to the collection account or its subaccounts approved in this Financing Order.

Securitized Utility Tariff Property

210. Securitized utility tariff property and all other collateral will be held and administered by the indenture trustee under the indenture.

Servicer and the Servicing Agreement

211. Liberty will enter into a servicing agreement with BondCo. The servicing agreement may be amended, renewed or replaced by another servicing agreement subject to certain conditions set forth therein. The entity responsible for carrying out the servicing obligations under any servicing agreement is the servicer. Liberty will be the initial servicer but may be succeeded as servicer by another entity under certain circumstances detailed in the servicing agreement and as authorized by the Commission.

Under the servicing agreement, the servicer is required to, among other things, impose and collect the securitized utility tariff charges for the benefit and account of BondCo, make the periodic true-up adjustments of securitized utility tariff charges required or permitted by this Financing Order, and account for and remit the securitized utility tariff charges to or for the account of BondCo in accordance with the remittance procedures contained in the servicing agreement and the indenture without any charge, deduction or surcharge of any kind. Under the terms of the servicing agreement, if any servicer fails to perform its servicing obligations in any material respect, the indenture trustee acting under the indenture to be entered into in connection with the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds, may, or, upon the instruction of the requisite percentage of holders of the outstanding amount of securitized utility tariff bonds, must, appoint an alternate party to replace the defaulting servicer, in which case the replacement servicer will perform the obligations of the servicer under the servicing agreement. Any such servicer replacement must not cause the then current credit ratings of the securitized utility tariff bonds to be suspended, withdrawn, or downgraded. The obligations of the servicer under the servicing agreement and the circumstances under which an alternate servicer may be appointed will be more fully described in the servicing agreement. The rights of BondCo under the servicing agreement will be included in the collateral pledged to the indenture trustee under the indenture for the benefit of holders of the securitized utility tariff bonds.

212. The obligations to continue to provide service and to collect and account for securitized utility tariff charges will be binding upon Liberty and any other entity that provides electrical services to a person that is a retail customer located within Liberty's Service Territory as it existed on the date of this Financing Order, or that became a retail

customer for electric services within such area after the date of this Financing Order, and is still located within such area.

Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds

BondCo will issue and sell securitized utility tariff bonds consisting of one or more tranches. The legal final maturity date of the securitized utility tariff bonds will not exceed 15 years from the date of issuance. The legal final maturity date and principal amounts of each tranche will be finally determined by Liberty with input from the Finance Team, consistent with market conditions and indications of the rating agencies, at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced, but subject to ultimate Commission review through the issuance advice letter process. Subject to the conditions and criteria set forth in this Financing Order, Liberty will retain sole discretion regarding whether or when to assign, sell, or otherwise transfer any rights concerning securitized utility tariff property arising under this Financing Order, or to cause the issuance of any securitized utility tariff bonds authorized in this Financing Order, subject to the right of the Commission to issue a disapproval letter to the issuance advice letter. BondCo will issue the securitized utility tariff bonds on or after the fifth business day after pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds unless, before noon on the fourth business day after the Commission receives the issuance advice letter, the Commission issues a disapproval letter directing that the securitized utility tariff bonds as proposed shall not be issued and the basis for that disapproval.

Security for Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds

214. The payment of the securitized utility tariff bonds and related charges authorized by this Financing Order is to be secured by the securitized utility tariff property

created by this Financing Order and by certain other collateral as described herein. The securitized utility tariff bonds will be issued under an indenture administered by the indenture trustee. The indenture will include provisions for a collection account and subaccounts for the collection and administration of the securitized utility tariff charges and payment or funding of the principal and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and financing costs in connection with the securitized utility tariff bonds. In accordance with the indenture, BondCo will establish a collection account as a trust account to be held by the indenture trustee as collateral to ensure the payment of the principal, interest, and financing costs approved in this Financing Order related to the securitized utility tariff bonds in full and on a timely basis. The collection account will include the general subaccount, the capital subaccount, and the excess funds subaccount, and may include other subaccounts.

The General Subaccount

215. The indenture trustee will deposit the securitized utility tariff charge remittances that the servicer remits to the indenture trustee for the account of BondCo into one or more segregated trust accounts and allocate the amount of those remittances to the general subaccount. The indenture trustee will on a periodic basis apply moneys in this subaccount to pay principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds, to pay ongoing financing costs, and to meet the funding requirements of the other subaccounts. The funds in the general subaccount will be invested by the indenture trustee in short-term high-quality investments, and such funds (including, to the extent necessary, investment earnings) will be applied by the indenture trustee to pay principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and all other components of the

periodic payment requirement (as defined in finding of fact number 228), and otherwise in accordance with the terms of the indenture.

The Capital Subaccount

216. Liberty will make a capital contribution to BondCo, which BondCo will deposit into the capital subaccount. The amount of the capital contribution is expected to be not less than 0.50% of the original principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds, although the actual amount will depend on tax and rating agency requirements. The capital subaccount will serve as collateral to ensure timely payment of principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and all other components of the periodic payment requirement. Any funds drawn from the capital account to pay these amounts due to a shortfall in the securitized utility tariff charge remittances will be replenished through future securitized utility tariff charge remittances. The funds in the capital subaccount will be invested by the indenture trustee in short-term high-quality investments, and such funds (including investment earnings) will be used by the indenture trustee to pay principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and all other components of the periodic payment requirement. Upon payment of the principal amount of all securitized utility tariff bonds and the discharge of all obligations that may be paid by use of securitized utility tariff charges, all amounts in the capital subaccount will be released to BondCo for payment to Liberty. Liberty will account for any recovery on earnings from its capital subaccount in a reconciliation in a future rate case to account for any capital subaccount earnings in excess of the rate of return already earned by Liberty in previous proceedings.

The Excess Funds Subaccount

217. The excess funds subaccount will hold any securitized utility tariff charge remittances and investment earnings on the collection account in excess of the amounts needed to pay current principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and to pay other periodic payment requirements (including, but not limited to, replenishing the capital subaccount). Any balance in or allocated to the excess funds subaccount on a true-up adjustment date will be subtracted from the periodic billing requirement (as defined in finding of fact number 229) for purposes of the true-up adjustment. The money in the excess funds subaccount will be invested by the indenture trustee in short-term high-quality investments, and such money (including investment earnings thereon) will be used by the indenture trustee to pay principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and other periodic payment requirements.

Other Subaccounts

218. Other credit enhancements in the form of subaccounts may be utilized for the transaction provided that the use of such subaccounts is consistent with the statutory requirements. For example, Liberty does not propose use of an overcollateralization subaccount. Under Rev.Proc. 2002-49, as modified, amplified and superseded by Rev. Proc. 2005-62 issued by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), the use of an overcollateralization subaccount is not necessary for favorable tax treatment nor does it appear to be necessary to obtain AAA ratings for the proposed securitized utility tariff bonds. If Liberty subsequently determines in consultation with the Finance Team, however, that use of an overcollateralization subaccount or other subaccount are necessary to obtain AAA ratings or will otherwise increase the quantifiable benefits of the

securitization, Liberty may implement such subaccounts to reduce securitized utility tariff bond charges.

General Provisions

The collection account and the subaccounts described above are intended to provide for full and timely payment of scheduled principal of and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and all other components of the periodic payment requirement. If the amount of securitized utility tariff charges remitted to the general subaccount is insufficient to make all scheduled payments of principal and interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds and to make payment on all of the other components of the periodic payment requirement, the excess funds subaccount and the capital subaccount will be drawn down, in that order, to make those payments. Any deficiency in the capital subaccount due to such withdrawals must be replenished to the capital subaccount on a periodic basis through the true-up process. In addition to the foregoing, there may be such additional accounts and subaccounts as are necessary to segregate amounts received from various sources, or to be used for specified purposes. Such accounts will be administered and utilized as set forth in the servicing agreement and the indenture. Upon the maturity of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the discharge of all obligations in respect thereof, remaining amounts in the collection account, other than amounts that were in the capital subaccount, will be released to BondCo and equivalent amounts will be credited by Liberty to customers. In addition, upon the maturity of the securitized utility tariff bonds any subsequently collected securitized utility tariff charges shall be distributed to retail customers.

Securitized Utility Tariff Charges—Imposition and Collection, Nonbypassability, and Alternative Electric Suppliers

- 220. If securitized utility tariff charges are collected by any third party billing servicer, such securitized utility tariff charges will be remitted to BondCo.
- 221. Securitized utility tariff charges will be identified on each customer's bill as a separate line item and include both the rate and the amount of the charge on each bill. Each customer bill shall include a statement to the effect that BondCo is the owner of the rights to securitized utility tariff charges and that Liberty is acting as servicer for BondCo. The tariff applicable to customers shall indicate the securitized utility tariff charge and the ownership of the charge.
- 222. If any customer does not pay the full amount it has been billed, the amount will be allocated first to the securitized utility tariff charges, unless a customer is in a repayment plan under the Commission's Cold Weather Rule, in which case payments will be prorated among charge categories in proportion to their percentage of the overall bill, with first dollars collected attributed to past due balances, if any.
- 223. Liberty will collect securitized utility tariff charges from all existing or future retail customers receiving electrical service from Liberty or its successors or assignees under Commission-approved rate schedules, even if a retail customer elects to purchase electricity from an alternative electricity supplier following a change in regulation of public utilities in Missouri.
- 224. Liberty's proposal related to imposition and collection of securitized utility tariff charges is reasonable and is necessary to ensure collection of securitized utility tariff charges sufficient to support recovery of the securitized utility tariff costs and financing

costs approved in this Financing Order. It is reasonable to require that Liberty's Securitized Utility Tariff Charge Rider SUTC, reflecting estimated charges, be filed before any securitized utility tariff bonds are issued under this Financing Order.

Allocation of Financing Costs Among Missouri Retail Customers

225. The periodic payment requirement is the required periodic payment for a given period (e.g., annually, semi-annually, or quarterly) due under the securitized utility tariff bonds. Each periodic payment requirement includes: (a) the principal amortization of the securitized utility tariff bonds in accordance with the expected amortization schedule (including deficiencies of previously scheduled principal for any reason); (b) periodic interest on the securitized utility tariff bonds (including any accrued and unpaid interest); and (c) ongoing financing costs consisting of the servicing fee, rating agencies' fees, trustee fees, legal and accounting fees, and other ongoing fees and expenses. The initial periodic payment requirement for the securitized utility tariff bonds issued under this Financing Order should be updated in the issuance advice letter.

226. The periodic billing requirement represents the aggregate dollar amount of securitized utility tariff charges that must be billed during a given period (e.g., annually, semi- annually, or quarterly) so that the securitized utility tariff charge collections will be sufficient to meet the periodic payment requirement for that period, given: (i) forecast usage data for the period; (ii) forecast uncollectibles for the period; and (iii) forecast lags in collection of billed securitized utility tariff charges for the period.

True-Up of Securitized Utility Tariff Charges

- 227. Under Section 393.1700.2.(3)(c)e., the servicer of the securitized utility tariff bonds will use a formula-based true-up mechanism to make periodic, expeditious adjustments, at least annually, to the securitized utility tariff charges to:
 - (a) correct any undercollections or overcollections that may have occurred and otherwise ensure that BondCo receives securitized utility tariff charges that are required to satisfy the debt service obligations, including without limitation any caused by defaults, during the preceding 12 months; and
 - (b) ensure the billing of securitized utility tariff charges necessary to generate the collection of amounts sufficient to timely provide all payments of scheduled principal and interest and any other amounts due in connection with the securitized utility tariff bonds (including financing costs and amounts required to be deposited in or allocated to any collection account or subaccount) during the period for which such adjusted securitized utility tariff charges are to be in effect.

The servicer will make true-up adjustment filings with the Commission annually, and if the servicer forecasts undercollections semi-annually.

228. True-up filings will be based upon the cumulative differences, regardless of the reason, between the periodic payment requirement (including scheduled principal and interest payments on the securitized utility tariff bonds) and the amount of securitized utility tariff charge remittances to the indenture trustee. To assure adequate securitized utility tariff charge revenues to fund the periodic payment requirement over the life of the

securitized utility tariff bonds and to avoid overcollections and undercollections over time, the servicer will reconcile the securitized utility tariff charges using Liberty's most recent forecast of electricity deliveries (i.e., forecasted billing units) and estimates of transaction-related expenses. In the case of any adjustments occurring after the final scheduled payment date for the securitized utility tariff bonds, adjustments to the securitized utility tariff charges will be no less frequent than quarterly to correct for overcollections or undercollections by the earlier of the next bond payment date or the legal maturity date for the bonds. The calculation of the securitized utility tariff charges will also reflect both a projection of uncollectible securitized utility tariff charges and a projection of payment lags between the billing and collection of securitized utility tariff charges based upon Liberty's most recent experience regarding collection of securitized utility tariff charges.

- 229. The servicer will implement the true-up in the following manner, known as the standard true-up procedure:
 - (a) The level of actual sales for the subject period will be netted from the forecasted sales for that same period;
- (b) Undercollections or overcollections will be determined by multiplying the result from Step (a) by the rate in effect for the same period; and
- (c) The resulting dollar amount will be incorporated as a component of the subsequent period's recovery period amount, to be allocated consistent with this Financing Order or subsequent final and unappealable Rate Case Report and Order, whichever is most recent.

Interim True-Up

- 230. In addition to annual true-up adjustments, true-up adjustments may be made by the servicer more frequently at any time during the term of the securitized utility tariff bonds to correct any undercollection or, as provided for in this Financing Order, in order to assure timely payment of securitized utility tariff bonds. Further, the servicer must make a mandatory interim true-up adjustment semi-annually (or quarterly beginning 12 months prior to the final scheduled payment date of the last tranche of the securitized utility tariff bonds):
 - (a) if the servicer forecasts that securitized utility tariff charge collections will be insufficient to make all scheduled payments of principal, interest, and other amounts in respect of the securitized utility tariff bonds on a timely basis during the current or next succeeding payment period; or
 - (b) to replenish any draws upon the capital subaccount.
- 231. In the event an interim true-up (whether mandatory or optional) is necessary, the interim true-up adjustment must use the methodology utilized in the most recent annual true-up and be filed not less than 45 days before the first billing cycle of the month in which the revised securitized utility tariff charges will be in effect.

Additional True-Up Provisions

232. The true-up adjustment filing will set forth the servicer's calculation of the true-up adjustment to the securitized utility tariff charges. Each true-up adjustment must be filed not less than 45 days before the first billing cycle of the month in which the revised securitized utility tariff charges will be in effect. The Commission will have 30 days after the date of a true-up adjustment filing in which to confirm the mathematical accuracy of

the servicer's adjustment. If the Commission determines any mathematical inaccuracy during its 30-day review, it will notify Liberty of the inaccuracy and Liberty will correct such inaccuracy in the securitized utility tariff charges that will go into effect on the effective date. Any true-up adjustment filed with the Commission should be effective on its proposed effective date, which must be not less than 45 days after filing. Liberty may adjust the actual true-up process in consultation with the Finance Team if necessary to ensure triple-A rating on the securitized utility tariff bonds.

Lowest Securitized Utility Tariff Charges

- 233. The proposed transaction structure includes (but is not limited to):
 - (a) the use of BondCo as issuer of the securitized utility tariff bonds, limiting the risks to securitized utility tariff bond holders of any adverse impact resulting from a bankruptcy proceeding of Liberty or any of its affiliates;
 - (b) the right to impose and collect securitized utility tariff charges that are nonbypassable and which must be trued-up annually or semi-annually, but may be trued-up more frequently, to assure the timely payment of the debt service and other ongoing financing costs;
 - (c) additional collateral in the form of a collection account that includes a capital subaccount funded in cash in an amount equal to not less than 0.50% of the original principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds and other subaccounts resulting in greater certainty of payment of interest and principal to investors and that are consistent with the IRS requirements that must be met to receive the desired federal income tax treatment for the securitized utility tariff bond transaction;

- (d) protection of securitized utility tariff bondholders against potential defaults by a servicer that is responsible for billing and collecting the securitized utility tariff charges from existing or future retail customers;
- (e) benefits for federal income tax purposes including (i) the transfer of the rights under this Financing Order to BondCo not resulting in gross income to Liberty and the future revenues under the securitized utility tariff charges being included in Liberty's gross income under its usual method of accounting, (ii) the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the transfer of the proceeds of the securitized utility tariff bonds to Liberty not resulting in gross income to Liberty, and (iii) the securitized utility tariff bonds constituting obligations of Liberty; and
- (f) the securitized utility tariff bonds will be marketed using a process reviewed in consultation with the Finance Team, through which market conditions and investors' preferences, with regard to the timing of the issuance, the terms and conditions, related maturities, and other aspects of the structuring, marketing and pricing, will be determined, evaluated and factored into the structuring, marketing and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds.

D) Use of Proceeds

234. Upon the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds, BondCo will use the net proceeds from the sale of the securitized utility tariff bonds (after payment of upfront financing costs) to pay Liberty the purchase price of the securitized utility tariff property. The proceeds from the sale of the securitized utility tariff property will be applied by Liberty

to recover the securitized utility tariff costs incurred by Liberty in connection with Winter Storm Uri and the retirement of the Asbury Power Plant.

V. Conclusions of Law

The Commission makes the following conclusions of law.

RRR. Liberty is an electrical corporation, as defined in Section 393.1700.1.(6).

SSS. Liberty is entitled to file petitions for a financing order under Section 393.1700.

TTT. The Commission has jurisdiction and authority over Liberty's petitions under Section 393.1700.2.

UUU. The Commission has authority to approve this Financing Order under Section 393.1700.2.

VVV. Notices of Liberty's petitions were provided in compliance with Section 393.1700.2.(3)(a)b.

WWW. Energy transition costs are defined in Section 393.1700.1.(7) to include (a) pretax costs with respect to a retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility that is the subject of a petition for a financing order filed under the Securitization Law where such early retirement or abandonment is deemed reasonable and prudent by the Commission through a final order issued by the Commission, include, but are not limited to, the undepreciated investment in the retired or abandoned or to be retired or abandoned electric generating facility and any facilities ancillary thereto or used in conjunction therewith, costs of decommissioning and restoring the site of the electric generating facility, other applicable capital and operating costs, accrued carrying charges, and deferred expenses, with the foregoing to be reduced by

applicable tax benefits of accumulated and excess deferred income taxes, insurance, scrap and salvage proceeds, and may include the cost of retiring any existing indebtedness, fees, costs, and expenses to modify existing debt agreements or for waivers or consents related to existing debt agreements; and (b) pretax costs that an electrical corporation has previously incurred related to the retirement or abandonment of such an electric generating facility occurring before August 28, 2021. Qualified extraordinary costs are defined in Section 393.1700.1.(13) to include costs incurred prudently before, on, or after August 28, 2021, of an extraordinary nature which would cause extreme customer rate impacts if reflected in retail customer rates recovered through customary ratemaking, such as but not limited to those related to purchases of fuel or power, inclusive of carrying charges, during anomalous weather events. Securitized utility tariff costs are defined Section 393.1700.1(17) to include either energy transition costs or qualified extraordinary costs, as the case may be. Financing costs are defined in Section 393.1700.1.(8) to include: (i) interest and acquisition, defeasance, or redemption premiums payable on securitized utility tariff bonds; (ii) any payment required under an ancillary agreement and any amount required to fund or replenish a reserve account or other accounts established under the terms of any indenture, ancillary agreement, or other financing documents pertaining to securitized utility tariff bonds; (iii) any other cost related to issuing supporting, repaying, refunding, and servicing securitized utility tariff bonds, including servicing fees, accounting and auditing fees, trustee fees, legal fees, consulting fees, structuring adviser fees, administrative fees, placement and underwriting fees, independent director and manager fees, capitalized interest, rating agency fees, stock exchange listing and compliance fees, security registration fees, filing

fees, information technology programming costs, and any other costs necessary to otherwise ensure the timely payment of securitized utility tariff bonds or other amounts or charges payable in connection with the bonds, including costs related to obtaining the financing order; (iv) any taxes and license fees or other fees imposed on the revenues generated from the collection of securitized utility tariff charges or otherwise resulting from the collection of securitized utility tariff charges, in any such case whether paid, payable, or accrued; (v) any state and local taxes, franchise, gross receipts, and other taxes or similar charges, including Commission assessment fees, whether paid, payable, or accrued; and (vi) any costs associated with performance of the Commission's responsibilities under the Securitization Law in connection with approving, approving subject to conditions, or rejecting a petition for a financing order, and in performing its duties in connection with the issuance advice letter process, including costs to retain counsel, one or more financial advisors, or other consultants as deemed appropriate by the Commission and paid pursuant to the Securitization Law.

XXX. The Securitization Law permits an electrical corporation to request a Commission order authorizing it to finance securitized utility tariff costs, including its energy transition costs and qualified extraordinary costs.

YYY. BondCo will constitute an assignee of Liberty as defined in Section 393.1700.1.(2) when an interest in the securitized utility tariff property created under this Financing Order is transferred to BondCo.

ZZZ. The holders of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the indenture trustee will each be a financing party as defined in Section 393.1700.1.(10).

AAAA.BondCo may issue securitized utility tariff bonds in accordance with this Financing Order.

BBBB. The issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of securitized utility tariff charges approved in this Financing Order satisfies the requirements of Sections 393.1700.2.(3)(c)a., b. and c. mandating that (1) the amount of securitized utility tariff costs to be financed using securitized utility tariff bonds and the recovery of such costs is just and reasonable and in the public interest; (2) the proposed issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of securitized utility tariff charges are just and reasonable and in the public interest and are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds; and (3) the proposed structuring and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds are reasonably expected to result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced and the terms of the financing order.

CCCC. Liberty is permitted to earn a return, at the cost of capital authorized from time to time by the Commission in Liberty's rate proceedings, but no more, on any moneys advanced by Liberty to fund reserves, if any, or capital accounts established under the terms of the indenture, any ancillary agreement, or other financing documents pertaining to the securitized utility tariff bond. Consequently, any earnings on the capital accounts in excess of the rate of return authorized by the Commission shall be accounted for in a future reconciliation pursuant to Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)k, RSMo (Cum. Supp. 2021).

DDDD. This Financing Order adequately describes the amount of financing costs that Liberty may recover through securitized utility tariff charges and specifies the period over which Liberty may recover securitized utility tariff charges and financing costs in accordance with the requirements of Section 393.1700.2.(3)(c)a.

EEEE. The method approved in this Financing Order for allocating the securitized utility tariff charges among retail customer classes satisfies the requirements of Section 393.1700.2.(3)(c)h.

FFFF. As provided in Section 393.1700.2.(3)(f), at the time the securitized utility tariff property is transferred from Liberty to BondCo, this Financing Order is irrevocable and, except for changes made pursuant to the formula-based true-up mechanism authorized herein, the Commission may not amend, modify, or terminate the financing order by any subsequent action or reduce, impair, postpone, terminate, or otherwise adjust securitized utility tariff charges approved in this Financing Order.

GGGG. As provided in Section 393.1700.2.(3)(d), the securitized utility tariff property identified herein will become securitized utility tariff property under the Securitization Law when they are sold to BondCo.

HHHH. (a) All rights and interests of Liberty under this Financing Order, including the right to impose, bill, charge, collect, and receive securitized utility tariff charges authorized under this Financing Order and to obtain periodic adjustments to such charges as provided in this Financing Order and (b) all revenues, collections, claims, rights to payments, payments, money, or proceeds arising from the rights and interests specified in this Financing Order, regardless of whether such revenues, collections, claims, rights to payment, payments, money, or proceeds are imposed, billed, received,

collected, or maintained together with or commingled with other revenues, collections, rights to payment, payments, money, or proceeds that are sold to BondCo under the securitized utility tariff property sale agreement, will be securitized utility tariff property within the meaning of Section 393.1700.1.(18).

IIII. Upon its sale to BondCo, the securitized utility tariff property specified in this Financing Order will constitute an existing, present intangible property right or interest therein, notwithstanding that the imposition and collection of securitized utility tariff charges depends on Liberty performing its servicing functions relating to the collection of securitized utility tariff charges and on future electricity consumption, as provided by Section 393.1700.5.(1)(a). The securitized utility tariff property will exist (a) regardless of whether or not the revenues or proceeds arising from the property have been billed, have accrued, or have been collected; and (b) notwithstanding the fact that the value or amount of the property is dependent on the future provision of service to customers by the electrical corporation or its successors or assignees and the future consumption of electricity by customers.

JJJJ. The securitized utility tariff property specified in this Financing Order will continue to exist until the securitized utility tariff bonds issued pursuant to this Financing Order are paid in full and all financing costs and other costs of such securitized utility tariff bonds have been recovered in full as provided in Section 393.1700.5.(1)(b).

KKKK. Upon the transfer by Liberty of securitized utility tariff property to BondCo, BondCo will have all of the rights, title, and interest of Liberty with respect to such securitized utility tariff property, including the right to impose, bill, charge, collect, and receive the securitized utility tariff charges authorized by this Financing Order.

LLLL. The securitized utility tariff bonds issued under this Financing Order will be securitized utility tariff bonds within the meaning of Section 393.1700.1.(15), and the securitized utility tariff bonds and holders thereof will be entitled to all of the protections provided under Section 393.1700.11.

MMMM. Amounts that are authorized by this Financing Order as securitized utility tariff charges are securitized utility tariff charges as defined in Section 393.1700.1.(16).

NNNN. As provided in Section 393.1700.5.(1)(e), the interests of BondCo and the indenture trustee in the securitized utility tariff property specified in this Financing Order, and in the revenues and collections arising from the securitized utility tariff property will not be subject to setoff, counterclaim, surcharge, or defense by Liberty or any other person or in connection with the reorganization, bankruptcy, or other insolvency of Liberty or any other entity.

OOOO. The methodology approved in this Financing Order to true-up the securitized utility tariff charges satisfies the requirements of Section 393.1700.2.(3)(c)e.

PPPP. Upon the sale from Liberty to BondCo of the securitized utility tariff property, the servicer will be able to recover the securitized utility tariff charges associated with such securitized utility tariff property only for the benefit of BondCo in accordance with the servicing agreement.

QQQQ. As provided in Section 393.1700.3.(5), Liberty retains sole discretion regarding whether to cause the securitized utility tariff bonds to be issued, including the right to defer or postpone such sale, assignment, transfer, or issuance. Liberty may abandon the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds under this Financing Order by filing with the Commission a statement of abandonment and the reasons therefor.

RRRR. The sale of the securitized utility tariff property from Liberty to BondCo will be an absolute transfer and true sale of, and not a pledge of or secured transaction relating to, Liberty's right, title, and interest in, to, and under the securitized utility tariff property if the sale agreement governing such sale expressly states that the sale is a sale or other absolute transfer in accordance with Sections 393.1700.5.(3)(a) and (b). Upon the sale in accordance with the previous sentence, the characterization of the sale as an absolute transfer and true sale and the corresponding characterization of the property interest of BondCo will not be affected or impaired by the occurrence of (a) the commingling of securitized utility tariff charges with other amounts; (b) the retention by Liberty of (i) a partial or residual interest, including an equity interest, in the securitized utility tariff property, whether direct or indirect, or whether subordinate or otherwise, or (ii) the right to recover costs associated with taxes, franchise fees, or license fees imposed on the collection of securitized utility tariff charges; (c) any recourse that BondCo may have against Liberty; (d) any indemnification rights, obligations, or repurchase rights made or provided by Liberty; (e) the obligation of Liberty to collect securitized utility tariff charges on behalf of BondCo; (f) Liberty acting as the servicer of the securitized utility tariff charges or the existence of any contract that authorizes or requires the electrical corporation, to the extent that any interest in securitized utility tariff property is sold or assigned, to contract with BondCo or any financing party that it will continue to operate its system to provide service to its customers, will collect amounts in respect of the securitized utility tariff charges for the benefit and account of BondCo or such financing party, and will account for and remit such amounts to or for the account of such assignee or financing party; (g) the treatment of the sale, conveyance, assignment, or other transfer

for tax, financial reporting, or other purposes; (h) the granting or providing to bondholders a preferred right to the securitized utility tariff property or credit enhancement by the electrical corporation or its affiliates with respect to such securitized utility tariff bonds; or (i) any application of the formula- based true-up mechanism, in accordance with Section 393.1700.5.(3)(b).

SSSS. As provided in Section 393.1700.5.(2)(b), a valid and binding security interest in the securitized utility tariff property in favor of the indenture trustee will be created at the later of the time this Financing Order is issued, the indenture is executed and delivered by BondCo granting such security interest, BondCo has rights in the securitized utility tariff property or the power to transfer rights in the securitized utility tariff property, or value is received for the securitized utility tariff property. Upon the filing of a financing statement with the office of the secretary of state as provided in the Securitization Law, a security interest in securitized utility tariff property shall be perfected against all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract, or otherwise against the person granting the security interest, and regardless of whether the parties have notice of the security interest in accordance with Section 393.1700.5.(2)(c). Without limiting the foregoing, upon such filing a security interest in securitized utility tariff property shall be perfected against all claims of lien creditors, and shall have priority over all competing security interests and other claims other than any security interest previously perfected in accordance with the Securitization Law.

TTTT. As provided in Section 393.1700.5.(3)(c), the transfer of an interest in securitized utility tariff property to BondCo will be perfected against all third parties,

including subsequent judicial or other lien creditors, when a notice of that transfer has been given by the filing of a financing statement in accordance with Section 393.1700.7.

UUUU. The priority of the sale perfected under Section 393.1700.5. will not be impaired by any later modification of this Financing Order or securitized utility tariff property or by the commingling of funds arising from securitized utility tariff property with other funds. Any other security interest that may apply to those funds, other than a security interest perfected under Section 393.1700.5., is terminated when they are transferred to a segregated account for BondCo or a financing party. Any proceeds of the securitized utility tariff property shall be held in trust for BondCo.

VVVV. As provided in Section 393.1700.5.(2)(f), if a default occurs under the securitized utility tariff bonds that are securitized by the securitized utility tariff property, the indenture trustee may exercise the rights and remedies available to a secured party under the Missouri Uniform Commercial Code, including the rights and remedies available under part 6 of article 9 of the Missouri Uniform Commercial Code, and (a) the Commission may order that amounts arising from the related securitized utility tariff charges be transferred to a separate account for the indenture trustee's benefit, to which their lien and security interest may apply and (b) on application by the indenture trustee, the district court of Jasper County, Missouri, will order the sequestration and payment to the indenture trustee of revenues arising from the securitized utility tariff charges.

WWWW. As provided by Section 393.1700.9., (a) neither the State of Missouri nor its political subdivisions are liable on the securitized utility tariff bonds approved under this financing order, and the securitized utility tariff bonds are not a debt or a general obligation of the State of Missouri or any of its political subdivisions, agencies, or

instrumentalities, nor are they special obligations or indebtedness of the State of Missouri or any agency or political subdivision and (b) the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds approved under this Financing Order does not, directly, indirectly, or contingently, obligate the State of Missouri or any agency, political subdivision, or instrumentality of the state to levy any tax or make any appropriation for payment of the securitized utility tariff bonds, other than in their capacity as consumers of electricity.

XXXX. Under Section 393.1700.11.(1), the State of Missouri and its agencies, including the Commission, have pledged for the benefit and protection of bondholders, the owners of the securitized utility tariff property, other financing parties and Liberty, that the State and its agencies will not (a) alter the provisions of the Securitization Law, (b) take or permit any action that impairs or would impair the value of securitized utility tariff property or the security for the securitized utility tariff bonds or revises the securitized utility tariff costs for which recovery is authorized, (c) in any way impair the rights and remedies of the bondholders, assignees, and other financing parties or (d) except for changes made pursuant to the true-up mechanism authorized under this Financing Order, reduce, alter, or impair securitized utility tariff charges until any and all principal, interest, premium, financing costs and other fees, expenses, or charges incurred, and any contracts to be performed, in connection with the securitized utility tariff bonds have been paid and performed in full. BondCo is authorized under Section 393.1700.11.(2) and this Financing Order to include this pledge in the securitized utility tariff bonds and related documents. The pledge does not preclude limitation or alteration if full compensation is made by law for the full protection of the securitized utility tariff charges collected pursuant to this Financing Order and of the bondholders and any assignee or financing party entering into a contract with Liberty.

YYYY. This Financing Order will remain in effect and unabated notwithstanding the reorganization, bankruptcy, or other insolvency proceedings, merger, or sale of Liberty, its successors, or assignees.

ZZZZ. Liberty retains sole discretion regarding whether to cause the issuance of any securitized utility tariff bonds authorized by this Financing Order, including the right to defer or postpone such issuance.

AAAAA. Pursuant to Section 393.1700.2.(3)(a)c., this Financing Order is subject to judicial review only in accordance with Sections 386.500 and 386.510.

BBBBB. This Financing Order meets the requirements for a financing order under Section 393.1700.

IV. Ordering Paragraphs

In accordance with these findings of fact and conclusions of law, the Commission issues the following orders:

Approval

- 1. **Approval of Petition**. The petitions of Liberty for the issuance of a financing order under Sections 393.1700 are approved, subject to the conditions and criteria provided in this Financing Order.
- 2. **Authority to Securitize**. Liberty is authorized in accordance with this Financing Order to finance and to cause the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds with a principal amount equal to the securitized balance at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are issued that includes upfront financing costs, which includes (i) underwriters

discounts and commissions, (ii) legal costs, (iii) rating agency fees, (iv) United States Securities and Exchange Commission registration fees and (v) any costs of the Commission associated with its responsibilities under the Securitization Law in connection with this Financing Order, and in performing its duties in connection with the issuance advice letter process, including costs of the Finance Team. The securitized balance as of any given date is equal to the balance of securitized utility tariff costs plus carrying costs of 5.16%, which reflects a weighted balance of 4.65% for Uri costs and 6.77% for Asbury costs through the date the securitized utility tariff bonds are issued. If the actual upfront financing costs are less than the upfront financing costs included in the aggregate principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds, the periodic billing requirement for the first annual true-up adjustment must be reduced by the amount of such unused funds (together with interest, if any, earned from the investment of such funds). If the final upfront financing costs are more than the upfront financing costs included in the aggregate principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds, the periodic billing requirement for the first annual true-up adjustment may be increased by the amount of such unpaid upfront financing costs.

- 3. **Recovery of Securitized Utility Tariff Costs**. Liberty is authorized to recover \$199,561,572 of its extraordinary costs related to Winter Storm Uri and \$81,241,471 of energy transition costs related to the retirement of Asbury for a total recovery of \$280,803,043. The upfront financing costs are estimated to be \$7.9 million, which will be updated through the issuance advice process.
- 4. **Tracing Funds**. Liberty's proposed method of tracing funds collected as securitized utility tariff charges, or other proceeds of securitized utility tariff property shall

be used to trace such funds and to determine the identifiable cash proceeds of any securitized tariff property subject to this Financing Order under applicable law.

- 5. **Third Party Billing**. If the State of Missouri or this Commission decides to allow billing, collection, and remittance of the securitized utility tariff charges by a third-party supplier within Liberty's Service Territory, such authentication will be consistent with the rating agencies' requirements necessary for the securitized utility tariff bonds to receive and maintain the targeted triple-A rating.
- 6. **Provision of Information**. Liberty shall take all necessary steps to ensure that the Commission and the Finance Team are provided sufficient and timely information as provided in this Financing Order in order to fulfill their obligations under the Securitization Law and this Financing Order.
- 7. **Issuance Advice Letter**. Liberty shall submit a draft issuance advice letter to the Finance Team for review not later than two weeks before the expected date of commencement of marketing the securitized utility tariff bonds. The Finance Team will review the issuance advice letter and provide timely feedback to Liberty based on the progression of structuring and marketing of the securitized utility tariff bonds. Not later than one day after the pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds and before issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds, Liberty shall provide the Commission an issuance advice letter in substantially the form of the issuance advice letter attached as Appendix A to this Financing Order. Liberty and the lead underwriters for the securitized utility tariff bonds shall provide to the Commission a written certificate, setting forth all calculations and assumptions used to support such calculations and certificate, certifying that the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds (i) complies with this Financing Order, (ii)

complies with all other applicable legal requirements (including all requirements of Section 393.1700), (iii) that the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition of the securitized utility tariff charges are expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits to customers as compared to recovery of the components of securitized utility tariff costs that would have been incurred absent the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds, and (iv) that the structuring, marketing and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds will result in the lowest securitized utility tariff charges consistent with market conditions at the time the securitized utility tariff bonds are priced and the terms of this Financing Order. In addition, if credit enhancements, or arrangements to enhance marketability are used, the issuance advice letter must include certification that such credit enhancements, or other arrangements are reasonably expected to provide benefits as required by this Financing Order. The issuance advice letter must be completed, must evidence the actual dollar amount of the initial securitized utility tariff charges and other information specific to the securitized utility tariff bonds to be issued. The issuance advice letter will demonstrate the ultimate amounts of quantifiable net present value savings. All amounts which require computation shall be computed using the mathematical formulas contained in the form of the issuance advice letter in Appendix A to this Financing Order and the Securitized Utility Tariff Charge Rider SUTC. Electronic spreadsheets with the formulas supporting the schedules contained in the issuance advice letter must be included with such letter. The Finance Team may request such revisions of the issuance advice letter as may be necessary to assure the accuracy of the calculations and information included and that the requirements of the Securitization Law and of this Financing Order have been met. The initial securitized utility

tariff charges and the final terms of the securitized utility tariff bonds set forth in the issuance advice letter will become effective on the date of issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds (which may not occur before the fifth business day after pricing) unless before noon on the fourth business day after the Commission receives the issuance advice letter the Commission issues a disapproval letter directing that the securitized utility tariff bonds as proposed shall not be issued and the basis for that disapproval.

8. **Approval of Tariff**. Before the issuance of any securitized utility tariff bonds under this Financing Order, Liberty must file compliance tariff sheets that conform to the tariff provisions in this Financing Order, but with rate elements identified as estimates. With its submission of the issuance advice letter, Liberty shall also submit a compliance tariff sheet, bearing an effective date no earlier than five business days after its submission, containing the rate elements of the securitized utility tariff charge. That compliance tariff sheet shall become effective on the date the securitized utility tariff bonds are issued with no further action of the Commission unless the Commission issues a disapproval letter as described in ordering paragraph 7.

Securitized Utility Tariff Charges

9. **Imposition and Collection**. The servicer is authorized to impose on and collect from all existing and future retail customers located within Liberty's Service Territory as it exists on the date this Financing Order is issued and other entities which, under the terms of this Financing Order or the tariffs approved hereby, are required to bill, pay, or collect securitized utility tariff charges, securitized utility tariff charges in an amount sufficient to provide for the timely recovery of the aggregate periodic payment requirements (including payment of principal and interest on the securitized utility tariff

bonds), as approved in this Financing Order. If there is a partial payment of an amount billed, the amount paid must first be allocated first between the indenture trustee and Liberty based on the ratio of the billed amount for the securitized utility tariff charge to the total billed amount, excluding any late fees, and second, any remaining portion of the payment must be allocated to late fees.

- 10. **BondCo's Rights and Remedies**. Upon the sale by Liberty of the securitized utility tariff property to BondCo, BondCo will have all of the rights and interest of Liberty with respect to the securitized utility tariff property.
- 11. **Collector of Securitized Utility Tariff Charges**. Liberty or any subsequent servicer of the securitized utility tariff bonds shall bill a customer or other entity, which, under the terms of this Financing Order or the tariffs approved hereby, is required to bill or collect securitized utility tariff charges for the securitized utility tariff charges attributable to that customer.
- 12. **Collection Period**. The scheduled final payment of the last tranche of securitized utility tariff bonds may not exceed 13 years; *provided* that the legal final maturity of the securitized utility tariff bonds may extend to 15 years.
- 13. **Allocation**. Liberty must allocate the securitized utility tariff charges among rate classes in the manner described in this Financing Order.
- 14. **Nonbypassability**. Liberty shall collect and remit the securitized utility tariff charges, in accordance with this Financing Order.
- 15. **True-Ups**. Liberty shall file true-ups of the securitized utility tariff charges as described in this Financing Order.

16. **Ownership Notification**. Liberty shall ensure that each retail customer bill that includes the securitized utility tariff charge meets the notification of ownership and separate line item requirements set forth in this Financing Order.

Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds

- 17. **Issuance**. Liberty is authorized to issue one series of securitized utility tariff bonds as specified in this Financing Order. The securitized utility tariff bonds must be denominated in United States Dollars.
- 18. **Upfront Financing Costs**. Liberty may finance upfront financing costs in accordance with the terms of this Financing Order, which provides that the total amount for upfront financing cost, includes (i) underwriters discounts and commissions, (ii) legal costs, (iii) rating agency fees, (iv) United States Securities and Exchange Commission registration fees and (v) any costs of the Commission associated with its responsibilities under the Securitization Law in connection with this Financing Order, and in performing its duties in connection with the issuance advice letter process, including costs of the Finance Team.
- 19. **Ongoing Financing Costs**. Liberty may recover its actual ongoing financing costs through its securitized utility tariff charges set forth in findings of fact for Issue 4 and Appendix B to this Financing Order. The estimated amount of ongoing financing costs is subject to updating in the issuance advice letter to reflect a change in the size of the securitized utility tariff bond issuance and other information available at the time of submission of the issuance advice letter. As provided in ordering paragraph 30, a servicer, other than Liberty or its affiliates, may collect a servicing fee higher than that set

forth in Appendix B to this Financing Order, if such higher fee is approved by the Commission and the indenture trustee.

- 20. **Collateral**. All securitized utility tariff property and other collateral must be held and administered by the indenture trustee under the indenture as described in Liberty's petitions. BondCo must establish a collection account with the indenture trustee as described in finding of fact numbers 214 through 219. Upon payment of the principal amount of all securitized utility tariff bonds authorized in this Financing Order and the discharge of all obligations in respect thereof, all amounts in the collection account, including investment earnings, must be released by the indenture trustee to BondCo for distribution in accordance with ordering paragraph 21.
- 21. **Distribution Following Repayment**. Following repayment of the securitized utility tariff bonds authorized in this Financing Order and release of the funds held by the indenture trustee, the servicer, on behalf of BondCo, must distribute to retail customers, the final balance of the collection account and all subaccounts (other than principal remaining in the capital subaccount), whether such balance is attributable to principal amounts deposited in such subaccounts or to interest thereon, remaining after all other financing costs have been paid. BondCo shall also distribute to retail customers any subsequently collected securitized utility tariff charges.
- 22. **Funding of Capital Subaccount**. The capital contribution by Liberty to be deposited into the capital subaccount shall be funded by Liberty and not from the proceeds of the sale of securitized utility tariff bonds at an amount not less than 0.50% of the original principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds. Upon payment of the principal amount of all securitized utility tariff bonds and the discharge of all obligations in

respect thereof, all amounts in the capital subaccount will be released to BondCo for payment to Liberty, with any earnings to be accounted for a in a future reconciliation process under Section 393.1700.2(3)(c)k of the Securitization Statute.

- 23. **Original Issue Discount, Credit Enhancement**. Liberty may provide original issue discount or provide for various forms of credit enhancement, including letters of credit, an overcollateralization subaccount or other accounts, surety bonds, and other mechanisms designed to promote the credit quality or marketability of the securitized utility tariff bonds to the extent permitted by and subject to the terms of this Financing Order only if Liberty certifies that such arrangements are reasonably expected to provide benefits greater than their cost and such certifications are agreed with by the Finance Team. Except for a de minimis amount of original issue discount, any decision to use such arrangements to enhance credit or promote marketability must be made in consultation with the Finance Team. Liberty may not enter into an interest rate swap, currency hedge, or interest rate hedging arrangement. This ordering paragraph does not apply to the collection account or its subaccounts approved in this Financing Order.
- 24. **Recovery Period**. The Commission authorizes Liberty to recover the securitized utility tariff costs and financing costs over a period not to exceed 15 years from the date the securitized utility tariff bonds are issued, although this does not prohibit recovery of securitized utility tariff charges for service rendered during the 15-year period but not actually collected until after the 15-year period.
- 25. **Amortization Schedule**. The securitized utility tariff bonds must be structured to provide a securitized utility tariff charge that is based on substantially levelized annual revenue requirements over the expected life of the securitized utility tariff

bonds and utilize consistent allocation factors across rate classes, subject to modification in accordance with this Financing Order.

26. Finance Team Participation in Bond Issuance. The Commission, acting through the Finance Team, may participate with Liberty in discussions regarding the structuring, marketing and pricing of the securitized utility tariff bonds. The Finance Team has the right to provide input to Liberty and collaborate with Liberty in all facets of the structuring, marketing and pricing bond processes, including but not limited to, (1) the underwriter and any other member of the syndicate group size, selection process, participants, allocations and economics; (2) the structure of the bonds; (3) the bonds credit rating agency application; (4) the underwriters' preparation, marketing and syndication of the bonds; (5) the pricing of the bonds and the certifications provided by Liberty and the underwriters; (6) all associated costs, (including up front and ongoing financing costs), servicing and administrative fees and associated crediting; (7) bond maturities; (8) reporting templates; (9) the amount of any equity contributions; (10) credit enhancements; and (11) the initial calculations of the securitized utility tariff charges. The foregoing and other items may be reviewed during the entire course of the Finance Team's process. The Finance Team's review will begin immediately following this Financing Order becoming non-appealable and will continue until the issuance advice letter becomes effective. No member of the Finance Team will have authority to direct how Liberty places the securitized utility tariff bonds to market although they shall be permitted to attend all meetings convened by Liberty, participate in all calls, e-mails, and other communications relating to the structuring, marketing, pricing and issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds, or to be informed of the contents of such calls, e-mails and

communications except such matters as are privileged under law. The Commission retains authority over enforcing the terms of its Financing Order, and the Finance Team may petition the Commission for relief for any actual or threatened violation of the terms of the Financing Order.

- 27. **Use of BondCo**. Liberty shall use BondCo, a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity as proposed in its petitions, in conjunction with the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds authorized under this Financing Order. BondCo must be funded with an amount of capital that is sufficient for BondCo to carry out its intended functions and to avoid the possibility that Liberty would have to extend funds to BondCo in a manner that could jeopardize the bankruptcy remoteness of BondCo.
- 28. **Not State Obligations**. Each securitized utility tariff bonds shall contain on the face thereof a statement that: "Neither the full faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State of Missouri is pledged to the payment of the principal of, or interest on, this bond."

Servicing

29. **Servicing Agreement**. The Commission authorizes Liberty to enter into the servicing agreement with BondCo and to perform the servicing duties approved in this Financing Order. Without limiting the foregoing, in its capacity as initial servicer of the securitized utility tariff property, Liberty is authorized to calculate, bill and collect for the account of BondCo, the securitized utility tariff charges authorized in this Financing Order, as adjusted from time to time to meet the periodic payment requirements as provided in this Financing Order; and to make such filings and take such other actions as are required or permitted by this Financing Order in connection with the periodic true-ups described in

this Financing Order. The servicer will be entitled to collect servicing fees in accordance with the provisions of the servicing agreement, provided that, as set forth in Appendix B, the annual servicing fee payable to Liberty while it is serving as servicer (or to any other servicer affiliated with Liberty) must not at any time exceed 0.05% of the original principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds. The annual servicing fee payable to any other servicer not affiliated with Liberty must not at any time exceed 0.60% of the original principal amount of the securitized utility tariff bonds unless such higher rate is approved by the Commission under ordering paragraph 31.

- 30. **Administration Agreement**. The Commission authorizes Liberty to enter into an administration agreement with BondCo to provide the services covered by the administration agreements. The fee charged by Liberty as administrator under that agreement may not exceed \$50,000 per annum plus reimbursable third-party costs.
- 31. Replacement of Liberty as Servicer. Upon the occurrence of a servicer termination event under the servicing agreement, the financing parties may replace Liberty as the servicer in accordance with the terms of the servicing agreement. If the servicing fee of the replacement servicer will exceed the applicable maximum servicing fee specified in ordering paragraph 29, the replacement servicer must not begin providing service until the date the Commission approves the appointment of such replacement servicer. No entity may replace Liberty as the servicer in any of its servicing functions with respect to the securitized utility tariff charges and the securitized utility tariff property authorized by this Financing Order, if the replacement would cause any of the then current credit ratings of the securitized utility tariff bonds to be suspended, withdrawn, or downgraded.

- 32. Amendment of Agreements. The parties to the servicing agreement, administration agreement, indenture, and securitized utility tariff property purchase and sale agreement may amend the terms of such agreements; provided that no amendment to any such agreement increases the ongoing financing costs without the approval of the Commission. Any amendment to any such agreement that may have the effect of increasing ongoing financing costs must be provided by BondCo to the Commission along with a statement as to the possible effect of the amendment on the ongoing financing costs.
- 33. **Collection Terms**. The servicer must remit collections of the securitized utility tariff charges to BondCo or the indenture trustee for BondCo's account in accordance with the terms of the servicing agreement.
- 34. **Federal Securities Law Requirements**. Each other entity responsible for collecting securitized utility tariff charges from retail customers must furnish to BondCo or Liberty or to any successor servicer information and documents necessary to enable BondCo or Liberty or any successor servicer to comply with their respective disclosure and reporting requirements, if any, with respect to the securitized utility tariff bonds under federal securities laws.

Structure of the Securitization

35. **Structure**. Liberty shall structure the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds and the imposition and collection of the securitized utility tariff charges as set forth in this Financing Order.

Use of Proceeds

36. **Use of Proceeds**. Upon the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds, BondCo shall pay the net proceeds from the sale of the securitized utility tariff bonds (after payment of upfront financing costs) to pay Liberty the purchase price of the securitized utility tariff property. Liberty will apply these net proceeds to recover the qualified extraordinary costs in connection with Winter Storm Uri and the energy transition costs in connection with retiring the Asbury Power Plant in accordance with the terms hereof.

Miscellaneous Provisions

- 37. **Continuing Issuance Right**. In accordance with Section 393.1700.2.(3)(c)n., Liberty has the continuing irrevocable right to cause the issuance of securitized utility tariff bonds in accordance with this Financing Order for a period extending 24 months following the date on which this Financing Order becomes final and no longer subject to any appeal. If, at any time during the effective period of this Financing Order, there is a severe disruption in the financial markets of the United States, the effective period may be extended with the approval of the Finance Team to a date which is not less than 90 days after the date such disruption ends.
- 38. **Binding on Successors**. This Financing Order, together with the securitized utility tariff charges authorized in it, shall be binding on Liberty and any successor to Liberty that provides transmission and distribution service directly to retail customers in Liberty's Service Territory as it exists on the date of this Financing Order.
- 39. **Flexibility**. Subject to compliance with the requirements of this Financing Order, Liberty and BondCo should be afforded flexibility in establishing the terms and conditions of the securitized utility tariff bonds, including the final structure of BondCo,

repayment schedules, term, payment dates, collateral, credit enhancement, required debt service, interest rates, use of original issue discount, and other financing costs.

- 40. **Effectiveness of Order**. This Financing Order will become effective in ten days, given the need to for prompt resolution of any issues regarding this proceeding, as well as to allow Liberty flexibility in accessing the financial markets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no securitized utility tariff property is created hereunder, and Liberty is not authorized to impose, collect, and receive securitized utility tariff charges until the securitized utility tariff property has been sold to BondCo in conjunction with the issuance of the securitized utility tariff bonds.
- 41. **Regulatory Approvals**. All regulatory approvals within the jurisdiction of the Commission that are necessary for the recovery of the approved securitized utility tariff costs are the subject of the petitions and for all related transactions contemplated in the petitions are granted.
- 42. **Payment of Commission's Costs for Professional Services**. Liberty shall pay all of the costs of the Commission in connection with the petitions and this Financing Order, including, but not limited to, the Commission's outside attorneys' fees and the fees of the Finance Team from the proceeds of the securitized utility tariff bonds on the date of issuance.
- 43. **Effect**. This Financing Order constitutes a legal financing order for Liberty under the Securitization Law. A financing order gives rise to rights, interests, obligations, and duties as expressed in the Securitization Law. It is the Commission's express intent to give rise to those rights, interests, obligations, and duties by issuing this Financing Order. Liberty and the servicer are directed to take all actions as are required to effectuate

the transactions approved in this Financing Order, subject to compliance with the conditions and criteria established in this Financing Order.

44. This report and order shall become effective on August 28, 2022.



BY THE COMMISSION

Morris L. Woodruff Secretary

Silvey, Chm., Rupp, Coleman, Holsman, and Kolkmeyer CC., concur and certify compliance with the provisions of Section 536.080, RSMo (2016).

Woodruff, Chief Regulatory Law Judge

App	e	ndi	X	A
Page	1	of	14	4

FORM OF ISSUANCE ADVICE LETTER

day,	, 2022
------	--------

Case Nos. EO-2022-0040 and EO-2022-0193

MISSOURI PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

SUBJECT: ISSUANCE ADVICE LETTER FOR SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF BONDS

Pursuant to the Financing Order adopted in *Petitions of The Empire District Electric Company d/b/a Liberty for a Financing Order*, Case Nos. EO-2022-0040 and EO-2022-0193 (the "Financing Order"), THE EMPIRE DISTRICT ELECTRIC COMPANY D/B/A LIBERTY ("Petitioner") hereby submits, no later than the day after the pricing date of the Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds, the information referenced below. This Issuance Advice Letter is for the 20[•] Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds, tranches A-1 through A-_. Any capitalized terms not defined in this letter have the meanings ascribed to them in the Financing Order.

PURPOSE

This filing establishes the following:

- (a) the total amount of Securitized Utility Tariff Costs and Financing Costs being financed;
- (b) the amounts of quantifiable net present value savings;
- (c) confirmation of compliance with issuance standards;
- (d) the actual terms and structure of the Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds being issued;
- (e) the initial Securitized Utility Tariff Charge for retail customers; and
- (f) the identification of the Special Purpose Entity (SPE).

SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF COSTS AND FINANCING COSTS BEING FINANCED

The total amount of Securitized Utility Tariff Costs and Financing Costs being financed (the "Securitized Costs") is presented in Attachment 1.

COMPLIANCE WITH ISSUANCE STANDARDS

The Financing Order requires Petitioner to confirm, using the methodology approved therein, that the actual terms of the Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds result in compliance with the standards set forth in the Financing Order. These standards are:

- 1. The financing of Energy Transition Costs, Qualified Extraordinary Costs and Financing Costs will provide quantifiable net present value benefits to retail customers, greater than would be achieved compared to (a) the traditional method of financing with respect to the Energy Transition Costs and (b) the customary method of financing with respect to the Qualified Extraordinary Costs, collectively, in retail customer rates (See Attachment 2, Schedule D-1 and Schedule D-2).
- 2. The Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds will be issued in one or more tranches having a scheduled final payment of __years and legal final maturities not exceeding __years from the date of issuance (See Attachment 2, Schedule A).
- 3. The Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds may be issued with an original issue discount, additional credit enhancements, or arrangements to enhance marketability provided that the Petitioner certifies that the original issue discount is reasonably expected to provide quantifiable net present value benefits greater than its cost.
- 4. The structuring, marketing and pricing of the Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds is certified by the Petitioner to result in the lowest Securitized Utility Tariff Charges consistent with market conditions at the time the Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds were priced and the terms of the Financing Order (See Attachment 4).
- 5. The amount of [Securitized Utility Tariff Costs] to be financed using Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds are \$_____.
- 6. The recovery of such [Securitized Utility Tariff Costs] is just and reasonable and in the public interest.
- 7. The estimate of the amount of Financing Costs that may be recovered through Securitized Utility Tariff Charges is \$_____.
- 8. The period over which the Securitized Utility Tariff Costs and Financing Costs may be recovered is_years.
- 9. [Add other findings from Section 393.1700.2.(3)(c).]

ACTUAL TERMS OF ISSUANCE

Securitized Utility Tariff Bond:
Securitized Utility Tariff Bond Issuer: [BondCo]
Trustee:
Closing Date:, 20[●]
Bond Ratings: S&P AAA(sf), Moody's Aaa(sf)
Amount Issued: \$
Securitized Utility Tariff Bond Upfront Financing Costs: See Attachment 1, Schedule
Securitized Utility Tariff Bond Ongoing Financing Costs: See Attachment 2, Schedule

Tranche	Coupon Rate	Scheduled Final Payment	Legal Final Maturity
A-1	%		

Effective Annual Weighted Average Interest	
Rate of the Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds:	[]%
Weighted Average Life:	years
Target Amortization Schedule:	Attachment 2, Schedule A
Scheduled Final Payment Dates:	Attachment 2, Schedule A
Legal Final Maturity Dates:	Attachment 2, Schedule A
Payments to Investors:	Semi-annually Beginning, 20
Initial annual Servicing Fee as a percent of	
original Securitized Utility Tariff Bond	
principal balance:	[0.05]%

INITIAL SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF CHARGE

Table I below shows the current assumptions for each of the variables used in the calculation of the initial Securitized Utility Tariff Charges.

TABLE I			
Input Values For Initial Securitized Utility Tariff Charges			
Applicable recovery period: from to			
Voltage-adjusted forecasted retail kWh sales at meter for the			
applicable recovery period:	\$		
Voltage-adjusted forecasted retail kWh sales for the subsequent			
recovery period:			
1/13 of Securitized Utility Tariff Amount:	\$		
Revenue Adjustment amount for the initial recovery period:	\$		
Projected transaction costs for the initial recovery period:	\$		
Total recovery period amounts for initial recovery period:	\$		

Allocation of the recovery period amount is to each applicable customer on the basis of total company projected energy sales at meter adjusted to a consistent voltage. See Attachment 3.

Based on the foregoing, the initial Securitized Utility Tariff Charges calculated for retail users are as follows:

TABLE II			
Voltage Level	Initial Securitized Utility Tariff Charge		
Primary Secondary	\$ /kWh \$ /kWh		
Transmission	\$ /kWh		

IDENTIFICATION OF SPE

The owner of the Securitized Utility Tariff Property will be: [Bon
--

EFFECTIVE DATE

In accordance with the Financing Order, the Securitized Utility Tariff Charge shall be automatically effective upon the Petitioner's receipt of payment in the amount of \$______from [BondCo], following Petitioner's execution and delivery to [BondCo] of the Bill of Sale transferring Petitioner's rights and interests under the Financing Order and other rights and interests that will become Securitized Utility Tariff Property upon transfer to [BondCo] as described in the Financing Order.

NOTICE

Copies of this filing are being furnished to the parties on the attached service list. Notice to the public is hereby given by filing and keeping this filing open for public inspection at Petitioner's corporate headquarters.

AUTHORIZED OFFICER

The undersigned is an officer of Petitioner and authorized to deliver this Issuance Advice Letter on behalf of Petitioner.

Respectfully submitted,
THE EMPIRE DISTRICT ELECTRIC COMPANY D/B/A LIBERTY
By:
Name:
Title:

Appendix A Page 7 of 14

ATTACHMENT 1 SCHEDULE A CALCULATION OF SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF COSTS AND FINANCING COSTS

TOTAL COSTS TO BE FINANCED	\$
Upfront Financing Costs	\$
Securitized Utility Tariff Costs to be financed:	\$

ATTACHMENT 1 SCHEDULE B ESTIMATED UPFRONT FINANCING COSTS

UPFRONT FINANCING COSTS	
Legal Fees (Company, Issuer, and Underwriter)	\$
Trustee's/Trustee Counsel's Fees and Expenses	\$
Underwriters' Fees	\$
Auditor Fees	\$
Miscellaneous	\$
SPE Setup Costs	\$
Costs of the Commission	\$
SEC Registration Fees	\$
Rating Agency Fees	\$
Printing/EDGARizing	\$
	\$
TOTAL UPFRONT FINANCING COSTS FINANCED	\$

Note: Differences that result from the Estimated Upfront Financing Costs financed being more or less than the Actual Upfront Financing Costs incurred will be resolved through the process described in the Financing Order.

ATTACHMENT 2 SCHEDULE A SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF BOND REVENUE REQUIREMENT INFORMATION

TRANCHE				
Payment Date	Principal Balance	Interest	Principal	Total Payment
	\$			
		\$	\$	\$

TRANCHE				
Payment Date	Principal Balance	Interest	Principal	Total Payment
	\$	\$	\$	\$

ATTACHMENT 2 SCHEDULE B ONGOING FINANCING COSTS

	ANNUAL AMOUNT
Servicing Fee (Liberty as Servicer) (0.05% of initial Securitized	
Utility Tariff Bond principal amount)	\$
Independent Director or Manager's Fee	\$
Administration Fee	\$
Trustee's/Trustee's Counsel Fees and Expenses	\$
Accountant's Fee	\$
Legal Fees for Issuer's Counsel	\$
Rating Agency Fees	\$
Printing/EDGARizing	\$
Miscellaneous	
TOTAL ONGOING FINANCING COSTS (with Liberty as	
Servicer)	<u> </u>
Ongoing Servicers Fee (Third Party as Servicer) (0.60% of	
principal amount)	\$
TOTAL ONGOING FINANCING COSTS (Third Party as	
Servicer	\$

Note: The amounts shown for each category of operating expense on this attachments are the expected expenses for the first year of the Securitized Utility Tariff Bonds. Securitized Utility Tariff Charges will be adjusted at least annually to reflect any changes in Ongoing Financing Costs through the true-up process described in the Financing Order.

ATTACHMENT 2 CALCULATION OF SECURITIZED UTILITY TARIFF CHARGES

Year	Securitized Utility Tariff Bond Payments ¹	Ongoing Costs ²	Total Nominal Securitized Utility Tariff Charge Requirement ³	Present Value of Securitized Utility Tariff Charges ⁴
1	\$	\$	\$	\$
2	\$	\$	\$	\$
3	\$	\$	\$	\$
4	\$	\$	\$	\$
5	\$	\$	\$	\$
6	\$	\$	\$	\$
7	\$	\$	\$	\$
8	\$	\$	\$	\$
9	\$	\$	\$	\$
10	\$	\$	\$	\$
11	\$	\$	\$	\$
12	\$	\$	\$	\$
13	\$	\$	\$	\$
14	\$	\$	\$	\$
	\$	\$	\$	\$
Total	\$	\$	\$	\$

 ¹ From Attachment 2, Schedule A.
 ² From Attachment 2, Schedule B.
 ³ Sum of Securitized Utility Tariff Bond payments and ongoing costs.

⁴ Calculated in accordance with the methodology cited in the Financing Order.

ATTACHMENT 2 SCHEDULE D-1 COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 393.1700

Quantifiable Benefits Test:⁵

	Range of Traditional Financing with respect to Energy Transition Costs	Securitization Financing with respect to Energy Transition Costs ⁶	Range of Savings/(Cost) of Securitization Financing with respect to Energy Transition Costs	
Nominal	\$million - \$million	\$million	\$million - \$million	
Present Value	\$million - \$million	\$million	\$million - \$million	

ATTACHMENT 2 SCHEDULE D-2 COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 393.1700

Quantifiable Benefits Test:⁷

					Range of	f Savings/(Cost)	
	Range of Customary				of Securitization		
	Financing with respect		Securitization Financing		Financing with respect		
	to	to Qualified		with respect to Qualified		to Qualified	
	Extra	ordinary Costs	Extraordinary Costs ⁸		Extraordinary Costs		
	\$	million -			\$	million -	
Nominal	\$	million	\$	million	\$	million	
Present	\$	million -			\$	million -	
Value	\$	million	\$	million	\$	million	

⁵ Calculated in accordance with the methodology cited in the Financing Order.

⁶ From Attachment 2, Schedule C.

⁷ Calculated in accordance with the methodology cited in the Financing Order.

⁸ From Attachment 2, Schedule C.

Appendix A Page 13 of 14

ATTACHMENT 3

INITIAL ALLOCATION OF COSTS ON BASIS OF LOSS-ADJUSTED ENERGY

Allocation of the recovery period amount is to each applicable customers on the basis of total company projected energy sales at meter adjusted to a consistent voltage.

ATTACHMENT 4 FORM OF PETITIONER'S CERTIFICATION9

⁹ To be structured with the Finance Team.

ESTIMATED UPFRONT FINANCING COSTS

UPFRONT FINANCING COSTS	
Legal Fees (Company, Issuer, and Underwriter)	\$ [3,800,000]
Trustee's/Trustee Counsel's Fees and Expenses	\$ TBD
Underwriters' Fees	\$ [1,390,038]
Auditor Fees	\$ [400,000]
Structuring Advisor	\$ [510,000]
Miscellaneous	\$ [100,000]
Commission's Financial Advisor Fees, Counsel Fees and other fees	\$ TBD
and expenses	
SEC Registration Fees	[0.00927%]
Rating Agency Fees	[0.1150%]
Printing/EDGARizing	\$ TBD
TOTAL UPFRONT FINANCING COSTS FINANCED	\$ [6,920,258]

ONGOING FINANCING COSTS

	AN	NUAL AMOUNT
Servicing Fee (Liberty as Servicer) (0.05% of initial Securitized		
Utility Tariff Bond principal amount)	\$	[181,210]
Independent Director or Manager's Fee	\$	TBD
Administration Fee	\$	[50,000]
Trustee's Fees and Expenses	\$	[10,000]
Accountant's Fee	\$	[75,000]
Legal Fees for Issuer's Counsel	\$	[35,000]
Rating Agency Fees	\$	[40,000]
Miscellaneous	\$	[10,000]
TOTAL ONGOING FINANCING COSTS (with Liberty as		
Servicer)	\$	[441,210]
Ongoing Servicers Fee (Third Party as Servicer) ([0.60]% of		
principal amount)	\$	[2,174,520]
TOTAL ONGOING FINANCING COSTS (Third Party as		
Servicer	\$	[2,698,769]

STATE OF MISSOURI

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

I have compared the preceding copy with the original on file in this office and I do hereby certify the same to be a true copy therefrom and the whole thereof.

WITNESS my hand and seal of the Public Service Commission, at Jefferson City, Missouri, this 18th day of August, 2022.

SION OF THE OF T

Morris L. Woodruff Secretary

MISSOURI PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION August 18, 2022

File/Case No. EO-2022-0040 and EO-2022-0193

Missouri Public Service Commission

Staff Counsel Department 200 Madison Street, Suite 800 P.O. Box 360 Jefferson City, MO 65102 staffcounselservice@psc.mo.gov

Office of the Public Counsel

Marc Poston 200 Madison Street, Suite 650 P.O. Box 2230 Jefferson City, MO 65102 opcservice@opc.mo.gov

Liberty (Empire)

Diana C Carter 428 E. Capitol Avenue, Suite 303 Jefferson City, MO 65101 Diana.Carter@LibertyUtilities.com

Liberty (Empire)

Dean L Cooper 312 East Capitol P.O. Box 456 Jefferson City, MO 65102 dcooper@brydonlaw.com

Liberty (Empire)

Sarah Knowlton 116 North Main Street Concord, NH 03301 sarah.knowlton@libertyutilities.com

Midwest Energy Consumers Group

Tim Opitz 308 E. High Street, Suite B101 Jefferson City, MO 65101 tim.opitz@opitzlawfirm.com

Midwest Energy Consumers Group Missouri Public Service

David Woodsmall 1650 Des Peres Road, Suite 303 Des Peres, MO 63131 dwoodsmall@cswrgroup.com

Commission

Curtis Stokes 200 Madison Street, Suite 800 P.O. Box 360 Jefferson City, MO 65102 curtis.stokes@psc.mo.gov

Renew Missouri

Alissa Greenwald P.O. Box 413071 Kansas City, MO 64141 alissa@renewmo.org

Renew Missouri

Andrew J Linhares 3115 S. Grand Ave Suite 600 St. Louis, MO 63118 Andrew@renewmo.org

Enclosed find a certified copy of an Order or Notice issued in the above-referenced matter(s).

Sincerely,

Morris L. Woodruff

Secretary

Recipients listed above with a valid e-mail address will receive electronic service. Recipients without a valid e-mail address will receive paper service.